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Foreword

George Bernard Shaw quoted the German philosopher
Hegel that ““People and governments never have learned
anything from history, or acted on principles deduced
fromit”’.

Henry Ford said flatly, *“History is bunk!”’

Why then, should there be a ‘“History of the National
Parks of Canada?”’

Shaw and Ford may have been famous, but they were
not necessarily right. Winston Churchill insisted. *“We
cannot say ‘the past is past” without surrendering the
future”. History helps us remember the past, and some-
times inspires the future.

History teaches not only that our predecessors made
mistakes which we would do well to avoid, but it also
records that men and women with vision and dedication
have been able to accomplish great and enduring results.

The history of the National Parks of Canada is a story
of adventure and achievement whose rewards are a
perpetual heritage to be enjoyed by all Canadians, now
and in the future.

The author of this history, W. Fergus Lothian, has
drawn on his own experience and knowledge acquired
during almost 40 years as a Parks Canada employee, and
on the records and recollections of Parks employees, past
and present.

This volume is a reference document which describes
the administrative, legislative and political circum-
stances surrounding the creation and development of the
National Parks of Canada.

Among the principal figures in this history are the
persons and organization whose efforts have made Can-
ada’s National Park System what it is today.

This unabridged limited edition of the history of the
National Parks of Canada has been produced primarily
for internal distribution within Parks Canada and to
meet the needs of serious students as a basic reference
document. Shorter versions, intended for a wider public,
will be published in the future.

Canada’s national park system represents one of the
amazing social developments of the present century.
From a single reserve of ten square miles, established in
1885 to preserve for public use a small part of the
magnificent Canadian Rockies, it has grown to a system
of 28 national parks that includes outstanding natural
areas in every province and both territories.

As individuals, Canadians are learning that the qual-
ity of life which we seek for ourselves and our children
cannot be achieved through material success alone. We
need places to relate to the natural world, where each of
us can sense the link between ourselves and the world we
live in.

The Lothian History of the National Parks of Canada
will, I am sure, be a valued and enduring reference point
for all those who share the objectives of Parks Canada to
preserve the national parks of Canada for the people of
Canada for their benefit, education and enjoyment, to be
maintained and made use of, so as to leave them
unimpaired for the enjoyment of future generations.

The Hon. Warren Allmand,
Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs,
the Minister responsible for Parks Canada



Preface

The compilation of a history of Canada’s National Parks
was conceived and initiated by J.R.B. Coleman while
Chief of the National Parks Service. The continued
growth of the park system, an accelerated development
of the parks in the years following World War 2; a
drastic reduction in the space devoted to national parks
i_n the annual report of the Department; and the loss of
many early files under the departmental records reten-
tion and disposal plan, all indicated the need of a
permanent record. Consequently, the Park Superintend-
ents were requested in 1956 to co-operate in the prepara-
tion of material that would assist in the completion of a
concise history of outstanding events and developments
in each park. :

By 1961, brief histories or historical sketches of all
fully-developed parks had been prepared. A review of
this material disclosed that in many parks, much valu-
able and interesting information had been assembled
from available records. In other parks, a dearth of
pertinent historical information seemed evident. Desir-
able and necessary particulars of departmental adminis-
tration, park legislation, and park policy appeared to be
available only from records and files in Ottawa. Co-
ordination of the historical data on hand with that still to
be assembled, presented a problem. Available staff, faced
with consuming day-to-day assignments, could not be
spared for an additional project. As a result, the compila-
tion of the proposed history had to be deferred.

Eventually, the task was assigned. Following his re-
tirement in 1968 from the Public Service of Canada,
W.F. Lothian was engaged under contract in 1969 to
undertake the preparation of a history of national park
development in Canada. The original plan providing for
a detailed history of each park was discarded. Instead, a
proposal that successive phases of national park estab-
lishment, administration and development be outlined
in a series of chapters was adopted. Consequently,
Chapter 1 outlines events leading to the establishment of
the first national park and the early park reserves.
Chapters 2 and 3 contain brief histories of the develop-
ment of the parks established prior to 1969. Chapter 4
provides details of national park administration, legisla-
tion, and some of the attendant problems. Subsequent
chapters when completed, will describe park land use,
townsite and highway development, visitor services
centres, wild life conservation, facilities for recreation,
interpretation services, and extensions to the national
park system.

The preparation of this history has been complicated
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by the march of time. Since 1967, when title to the lands
comprising Kejimkujik National Park was accepted by
Canada, 10 additional areas have been set aside for the
purposes of national parks. Appropriations for the devel-
opment of new parks and for improvements to older ones
have been substantially increased, and an extensive
reorganization of the Conservation Program involving
national park administration has been announced. In
view of the continuing character of park programs, it is
impractical to record indefinitely the changes involved.
Consequently, the events chronicled, unless otherwise
indicated, will conclude with those of 1972, and refer to
parks established prior to 1969.

The author wishes to acknowledge the value of the
historical information and supporting data provided by
the park superintendents. Appreciation also is expressed
for assistance received from the Departmental Librarian,
Mrs. M.R. Watson, and her staff; from Dr. J.R. Bonar,
retired archivist of the Canadian Pacific Railway Com-
pany: from the Librarian, Canadian National Railways:
from the Director, Archives of the Canadian Rockies at
Banff, Mrs. M.H. Stewart; from T.R. McCloy of the
Glenbow Alberta Institute, Calgary; and from many
others. The encouragement and support of J.R.B.
Coleman, formerly Director, National and Historic
Parks Branch, and of J.I. Nicol, Director-General. Parks
Canada, also are greatly appreciated.
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Chapter 1
The Early Years

~UP TO 1900 ~



Introduction

The year 1885 was a momentous one for Canadians. Its
annals recorded the fulfilment of a long-cherished na-
tional dream—the linking of eastern Canada with the
Pacific coast by a transcontinental railway. It witnessed
the early settlement of the Prairies and the suppression of
an armed rebellion by Indians and half-breed residents
of the North West Territories against the Government of
Canada. The closing months of the year also chronicled
the reservation for public use of mineral hot springs in
the Rocky Mountains near the railway station of Banff,
the first step in the development of Canada’s unique and
wide-spread system of National Parks.

Over the years, the term ““park’’ has enjoyed a broad
definition, ranging from small landscaped enclosures to
extensive primitive areas. In mediaeval Europe, parks,
some of substantial size, were a recognized institution.
The New Forest in southwestern Hampshire, England,
afforested by William the Conquerer in 1079, and the
Great Park at Windsor are examples. The first edition of
the Encyclopaedia Britannica, published at Edinburgh in
1771, defines **park ™ as ““a large enclosure privileged for
wild beasts of chace (sic) either by prescription or the
King’s grant™.! Since these early parks functioned as
hunting areas for a privileged minority, their preser-
vation was essential and obviously they helped to perpet-
uate native wildlife and a necessary wilderness condi-
tion. Outside these reserves, arable land was generally
cultivated intensively and most original forms of wildlife
risked extinction.

The National Park Idea

Happily, over the years, the word “park’” has earned a
wider connotation, and in North America, **National
Park’” defines an area set aside as a public heritage or
trust, to preserve forever outstanding examples of a
nation’s scenery, wilderness, geology, natural phenom-
ena or native flora and fauna. Instead of forming private
preserves, these parks are dedicated to public use and
enjoyment by the citizens of the country to which they
belong. Since its inception during the latter part of the
nineteenth century, the national park movement has
spread until every continent and most large nations now
have national parks.

Canada’s first national park owed its creation to far-
sighted legislators who realized that natural phenomena
in the midst of scenic magnificence should be preserved
and administered as a public rather than a private
enterprise. The construction of the first transcontinental
railway had brought hundreds of adventurous and am-
bitious young men across the western plains to the Rocky
Mountains. Here among the towering peaks, some of
them discovered mineral hot springs flowing from the
mountainside. Conflicting claims of discovery brought
these remarkable discoveries to the attention of the
Government of Canada. With the option of granting title
and the privilege of development to private individuals,
the Minister of the Interior decided instead to retain the
springs and surrounding lands as a national possession,
in order that they might have the greatest possible use
and enjoyment at minimum cost by Canadians and their
guests. A backward glance over the events which pre-
ceded this historic decision may be of interest.

Early Exploration

Less than a decade before the coming of the railway, the
mountain region of Western Canada embracing the
Canadian Rockies was relatively unknown, except to the
native Indians and to the traders, explorers and others
who had penetrated its forbidding passes. Early travel-
lers including David Thompson, Sir George Simpson,
Father Pierre de Smet and Dr. James Hector of the
Palliser Expedition had left written records of their
experiences, but to others, lacking the stimulus and the
resources for planned exploration, the lofty summits,
deep valleys and primeval forests west of the great plains
were an unknown country, primitive, trackless and
virtually inaccessible.

Although the “search for the western sea’” had been
carried on by North American explorers from the earli-
est days, only in the early part of the nineteenth century
were the central Canadian Rockies first explored. Alex-
ander Mackenzie had reached the Pacific coast in 1793
from Fort Chipewyan on Lake Athabasca by way of the
Pine, Peace, Parsnip, Fraser, Blackwater and Bella Coola
Rivers.? David Thompson and Duncan McGillivray, in
the employ of the North West Company, penetrated the
eastern Rockies up Bow River in 1800 to a point near
present-day Exshaw.? Later in 1807. Thompson. an
indefatigable traveller, crossed the Rockies from Rocky
Mountain House just north of Lake Windermere, head-
waters of the Columbia River.* Thompson’s reputation
as an explorer was further enhanced by his discovery and



crossing of the Athabasca Pass in the winter of 1810-11.
The summit was reached in January, 1811, when camp
was made on twenty feet of snow. This crossing estab-
lished a route used in later years by the annual fur
brigades on their way to Fort Edmonton from the Pacific
Coast.

The tortuous route over Athabasca Pass known as the
*“Athabasca Trail”’ later was supplanted by an easier one
over Yellowhead Pass to the north. This new access to the
Pacific, by way of Fraser River, appears to have come
into use about 1826.% Years later in the twentieth
century, it was to be selected as the route for the trans-
continental lines of the Grand Trunk and Canadian
Northern railway companies, since amalgamated as
Canadian National Railways.

A new route across the central Rockies was pioneered
in 1841 by Sir George Simpson, Governor of the
Hudson’s Bay Company in the course of his journey
around the world. Simpson’s account of his travels form
the first documented account of the penetration of the
Bow River Valley past the present town of Banff.® Led by
a Cree Indian guide, Simpson followed an Indian trail
through Devil’s Gap, circled Lake Minnewanka, and
followed Bow River westerly to the mouth of Healy
Creek. From there, the creek was followed to a point on
the continental divide now known as Simpson Pass.
Simpson was enchanted with the alpine uplands and his
description of the area expressed his delight in observing
the presence of mountain heather.

“From the vicinity of perpetual snow we estimated the
elevation of the height of land to be seven or eight
thousand feet above the level of the sea, while the
surrounding peaks appeared to rise nearly half of that
altitude over our heads ... In addition to the physical
magnificence of the scene I here met an unexpected
reminiscence of my own native hills in the shape of a
plant which appeared to me to be the very heather of
the Hi glz/ands' of Scotland and I might well regard the
reminiscence as unexpected in as much as in all my
wanderings for more than twenty years, I had never
Sfound anything of the kind in North America. As I
took a considerable degree of interest in the question
of the supposed identity, I carried away two speci-
mens, which, however, proved upon minute compari-
son to differ from the genuine staple of the brown
heaths of the “land o’cakes”’

More than 80 years later James Brewster of Banff
discovered in the pass, a fallen tree trunk bearing the
initials GS-JR 1841, believed to be those of&mpson and
James Rowand, Chief Factor of the Company, who
accompanied Sir George on the mountain crossing from
Fort Edmonton to Kootenay River and the company
posts on the Columbia River and Pacific Coast.

Missionary Travels

Four years after Simpson’s traverse of the Rockies,
Father Pierre de Smet, a Jesuit missionary, crossed

White Man’s Pass on his journey from Oregon Territory

to the western plains, where he had p lanned to visit the

Blackfeet Indians. On his return journey from Fort

Edmonton, Father de Smet selected Athabasca Pass as
his return route across the Rockies, by way of the
Athabasca, Whirlpool and Wood Rivers. His journey up
the Athabasca Valley was broken by a stop-over in the
vicinity of Jasper House, a North West Company trading
post. Here he spent more than three weeks, baptizing (md
marrying the native Indians, and incidentally, fasting to
reduce his weight for the strenuous passage across “the
mountains. As his party made the ascent of the pass, they
met a fur brigade of the Hudson’s Bay Company from
Fort Vancouver in charge of Edward Ermatinger.*

Another missionary, the Reverend Robert T. Rundle,
left in his journal, a record of a visit to the present site of
Banff in 1847. Rundle had reached Bow River outside
the mountains in 1841, and six years later his Indian
guides brought him to the foot of Cascade Mountain
where he camped for several days.” Although the records
left by these pioneer missionaries do not contain much
scientific information, the accounts of their travels
through primitive wilderness regions now included in
national parks provide an interesting commentary on
means of transportation, the physical effort involved,
and the dependence on native fish and game for daily
sustenance.

The Palliser Expedition

Shortly after the middle of the nineteenth century, the
scientific exploration of western Canada including the
mountain region beyond the plains was undertaken by
the Palliser Expedition. Authorized by the Government
of Great Britain, it was organized to explore the North
West Territories of Canada for opportunities of immi-
gration and settlement, and also to find if possible, a
suitable route for a road or railway across the Rocky
Mountains to connect posts and settlements on the
western coast with the eastern colonies. Motivating this
broad program in part were the explorations undertaken
south of the International Boundary by the United States
Government. In 1853, the Secretary of War had been
authorized by the President of the United States to carry
on explorations and surveys that would determine the
most practical and economic route for a railroad from
the Missippipi River to the Pacific Ocean and thus
connect the states on the Atlantic with those on the
Pacific Coast. As Captain Palliser pointed out in the
foreword to his report, successive parties organized by
the United States Government had compiled reports
which, on publication, had filled ““twelve large quarto
volumes abounding with valuable information of every
kind respecting the country and embellished with views
of scenery””.'" Conversely, the physical characteristics of
some portions of British North America lying between
the western shore of Lake Superior and Okanagan Lake
and north of the International Boundary were well
known, especially in the vicinity of Red River where the
Selkirk settlement had been made. Also known were the
valleys of the Assiniboine and the North Saskatchewan
Rivers along which the Hudson’s Bay Company had
established trading posts. The southerly portion of the
country along the South Saskatchewan River remained
comparatively unknown. Although Sir George Simpson
had described his crossing of the Rockies in 1841, and
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James Sinclair had guided parties over the same route to
Oregon Territory on the Pacific Coast, specific informa-
tion on the difficulties encountered and how they could
be avoided or removed was not available. Captain
Palliser’s program included exploration of the portion of
British North America which lay between the north
branch of the Saskatchewan River and the International
Boundary and the Red River and Rocky Mountains. He
was also instructed to “‘ascertain whether one or more
practical passes existed over the Rocky Mountains
within British Territory and south of that known to exist
between Mount Brown and Mount Hooker (Athabasca
Pass). Palliser also was authorized, if he so desired, to
proceed westward from the Rocky Mountains to Van-
couver Island””. "

As leader of the expedition, Captain Palliser had as
associates, Dr. James Hector, a geologist; Lieutenant
Thomas Blakiston, Royal Artillery; Eugene Bourgeau, a
botanist; and John W. Sullivan, who served as secretary
of the expedition. The first season’s work in 1857 was
confined mainly to the Great Western Plains while in
1858 exploration was extended westward into the Rocky
Mountains and beyond. Most of the known passes over
the continental divide north of the International Bound-
ary were explored by parties of the expedition. Palliser
led his group in 1858 from Fort Carlton to the Bow
River and over Kananaskis Pass to the Kootenay River,
returning to Fort Edmonton by way of Kootenay Pass,
farther south. The following year, Palliser explored
territory west of North Kootenay Pass to the Columbia
River. Later he made his way to the Pacific Coast and
reached Fort Vancouver on the Columbia River. From
that point he sailed to Fort Victoria on Vancouver
Island. Lieutenant Blakiston’s expedition explored the
area east and west of the North and South Kootenay
Passes, including lands now included in Waterton Lakes
National Park.

Dr. Hector’s Discoveries

The most interesting explorations, in the light of later
developments in the Canadian Rockies, were those
undertaken by Dr. (later Sir James) Hector. Dr. Hector’s
explorations in 1858, on which. he was accompanied by
Eugene Bourgeau, the expedition’s botanist, took him up
Bow River past the future site of Banff.'> On August 15,
he camped on the “‘little prairie”” at the foot of the
““mountain where the water falls”” (sic Cascade Moun-
tain). A detour made southwesterly over Vermilion Pass
brough him to the Vermilion and Kootenay Rivers over
a route to be selected more than 50 years later for the
Banff-Windermere Highway. Hector then pushed his
way northeasterly up the Kootenay to its source, then
down the Beaverfoot River to the Kicking Horse River,
so named as a result of an accident sustained by Hector.
This is how he described the incident that led to the
naming of one of the most famous and much-travelled
passes in Canada.

“August 29th . ..
our pack horses, to escape the fallen timber, plunged
into the stream, luckily where it formed an eddy, but
the banks were so steep that we had great difficulty in

A little way above this fall, one of

getting him out. In attempting to recatch my own
horse, which had strayed off while we were engaged
with the one in the water, he kicked me on the chest,
but I had luckily got close to him before he struck out,
so that I did not get the full force of the blow. However
it knocked me down and rendered me senseless for
some time. This was unfortunate as we had seen no
tracks of game in the neighbourhood and we were now
without food; but I was so hurt that we could not
proceed further that day at least. My men covered me
up under a tree am[ I sent them all off to try and raise
something to eat”. August 31st—After travelling a
mile alng the /e// bank of the river from the nor th-
west, which because of the accident the men had
named Kicking Horse River, we crossed to the oppo-
site side.”"

At the time of Hector’s accident, his party had run
short of food. Living off the land, Hector discovered that
game was very scarce on the western side of the continen-
tal divide, and only a small amount of pemmican
remained of their stores. Proceeding easterly up the
river, the party crossed the continental divide. During an
overnight stop in Kicking Horse Pass, Hector was on the
point of killing one of his horses for food when his
Indian guide, Nimrod, fortunately shot a moose.

Hector next turned northerly up Bow River, following
the future route of the Banff-Jasper Highway to the
North Saskatchewan River. After a digression westward
to Glacier Lake, Hector and his party descended the
North Saskatchewan to Rocky Mountain House, and
from there went on to Fort Edmonton. During the latter
part of the journey through the mountains. game was
quite prevalent and the party fared well. The guide.
Nimrod, recalled the presence of buffalo in numbers
along the North Saskatchewan well within the moun-
tains, before they had died out, along with other species
of game during what must have been an outbreak of
disease.'

Early in 1859, Hector set out from Fort Edmonton in
winter for Jasper House on the Athabasca River. This
proved to be rigorous excursion along the route now
followed closely by the Canadian National Railway.
Most of the journey was made on snowshoes with
supplies transported on sleds drawn by dogs. Before
reaching the Hudson’s Bay Company post which had
recently been reopened for trading, the party waded the
Athabasca River waist deep with the temperature at 15
degrees below zero (January 31). Following this icy
crossing, the party reached Jasper House at 10:00 p.m.
where they were welcomed by a Mr. Moberley. the
company trader. From Jasper House, Hector and his
party made several excursions including trips up Snake
Indian, Whirlpool and Athabasca rivers during which he
named many of the mountains in the Athabasca Valley
in the vicinity of Jasper. The return to Edmonton was
made between February 16 and March 6 in the same
year.

Hector’s second trip up the Bow River Valley was
undertaken in August, 1859, from a camp at the site of
OIld Bow Fort. That year the party turned north from a
point near the present Lake Louise Station, crossed



Pipestone River and followed its valley to Pipestone
Pass. Descending the Siffleur River to the North Sas-
katchewan, the party turned westerly and explored the
icefields at the head of Howse River. crossed Howse Pass
and reached the Columbia River by descending the
Blaeberry. Hector then followed the Columbia to its
headwaters. and made his way to Fort Colville, where he
rejoined Captain Palliser. In the course of his explora-
tions over two years, Hector had travelled routes which,
long years after, were to be utilized in both railway and
highway construction across the Rockies.

Captain Palliser’s Conclusions

In his report to the Colonial office in London, Captain
Palliser expressed the opinion that four passes provided
opportunity for the construction of wagon roads over the
Rockies that would provide connection between the
plains of Saskatchewan and the Columbia River valley.
These included the North Kootenay, Kananaskis, Ver-
milion and Kicking Horse passes. Of the four, the
Vermilion Pass was favoured, as the ascent to the summit
was the most gradual of them all. Palliser also reported
that although a connection of the Saskatchewan plains
with a known route through British Columbia had been
effected by the expedition, without passing through any
portion of United States territory, available knowledge

of the country would never lead him to advocate a line of

communication from Canada across the continent to the
Pacific exclusively through British territory.!” Fortu-
nately, this opinion in years to come would be disproved
many times.

Postscript to Dr. Hector’s Travels

Dr. Hector (now Sir James) returned to the scene of his
explorations in the Canadian Rockies more than forty
years later. In 1903, he sailed from New Zealand across
the Pacific to Canada, accompanied by his younger son
Douglas. He was a guest of the Canadian Pacific Railway
Company at Glacier House in Glacier National Park. On
arrival at the hotel on August 12 the son showed
symptoms of illness and was taken to the hospital in
Revelstoke. There he died and was buried in the shadow
of the mountains bordering the Columbia River which
his father had explored many years earlier. Dr. Hector’s
visit was recorded in the Glacier House Register by Mrs.
Charles Schaffer who concluded her account of the
tragedy as follows:

“The father, his heart too heavy to continue his
Journey, or to carry out his plans, that night turned his
Sface westward, returning to New Zealand by the
vessel that had borne both to the Canadian shore’’.'¢

Before leaving, Sir James had his photograph taken with
Edward Whymper, the famous Alpine climber, and first
conquerer of the Matterhorn, whom he had just met for
the first time.

Exploration Beyond the Mountains

From the early part of the nineteenth century, the
Hudson’s Bay Company and its rival, the North West
Company, had been extending the fur trade beyond the

mountains of British North America. The union of the
two companies in 1821 had ended ruinous competition
and the surviving Hudson’s Bay Company had expanded
its operations to the Pacific. The establishment of posts
along the rivers flowing into the Pacific including the
Columbia, had established for Britain a claim to what
was known as the Oregon Territory. The Oregon Treaty
of 1846, however, had determined the 49th parallel as
the International Boundary between British North
America and the United States. and while confirming
Vancouver Island as British territory, had ended British
sovereignty over the Oregon region.

The Hudson’s Bay Company had established Fort
Victoria at the southern end of Vancouver Island in
1843.'7 In 1849, the Imperial Government in London.
concerned with the desirability of colonizing at least a
part of the Pacific coast, made a grant of the entire island
to the Company with the latter responsible for colonizing
the island." Following the depletion of the gold fields in
California, miners had turned their eyes northerly when
gold was discovered in the sandbars of the Fraser River
in British territory. In August, 1858, Governor Douglas
of Vancouver Island estimated there were 10,000 miners
in the valley of the Fraser.!” Concerned over the influx of
Americans into British territory, Governor Douglas.
without authority, took steps to control mining and trade
on the mainland. Steps were taken by the Imperial
Government to constitute the mainland a Crown Colony
and this was accomplished in August 1858. Later in
1866, the two colonies were united by an Imperial Act of
Parliament.

British Columbia Enters Confederation

By 1860, both the British Government and that of
Canada were concerned with the need of communication
between the Crown Colony of British Columbia and
Vancouver Island and the provinces of Upper and Lower
Canada. The indefensible position of the British Colum-
bia colonies lying separate without railway communica-
tion along the United States border also was a matter of
concern. Among solutions discussed by promoters with
the Colonial office in London were the purchase of the
Hudson’s Bay Company lands in western British North
America; the creation of a new Crown colony, and the
extension of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway westerly
to the Pacific coast. However, only after the movement
for the union of the British North American colonies in
eastern Canada was successful and confederation
achieved in 1867, had the prospect of either railway or
road connection appeared possible. In 1869, the Hud-
son’s Bay Company surrendered its charter to Her
Majesty the Queen and Rupert’s Land again became
Crown domain. In 1870, Great Britain transferred by
Imperial Order in Council, both Rupert’s Land and the
North West Territory to the Dominion of Canada. The
Company retained its posts and certain specific lands.
and continued to carry on an extensive fur trade and
mercantile business. Canada paid to the Company, as
compensation, the sum of £300,000. Out of the surren-
dered lands, Manitoba became, on July 15, 1870. the
fifth province of Canada.



Transcontinental Railway Projected

In 1868, the Crown Colony of British Columbia had
made formal application for admission to Confedera-
tion. The Colonial office at London, however, held the
view that Rupert’s Land and the North West Territory
must be included in the Dominion before the admission
of British Columbia could become practicable. After
protracted negotiations in which financial arrangements
played a prominent part, British Columbia was admitted
to Confederation on July 20, 1871. Under the terms of
the union, other than financial, Canada was to com-
mence the construction of a transcontinental railway
within two years and complete it in ten years. In turn,
British Columbia would grant to Canada public lands for
the construction of a railway not to exceed 20 miles on
each side of the line for which Canada would pay the
Province $100,000 per year in perpetuity. The relevant
clause of the agreement dated July 7, 1870 reads:

“The Government of the Dominion undertake to
secure the commencement simultaneously, within two
years from the date of the union, of the construction of
a railway from the Pacific towards the Rocky Moun-
tains, and from such point as may be selected east of
the Rocky Mountains towards the Pacific, to connect
the seaboard of British Columbia with the railways
system of Canada, and further, to secure the comple-
tion of such railway within ten years from the date of
union” .2’

Sandford Fleming, a Scot, who had gained extensive
railway engineering experience in eastern Canada, was
appointed chief engineer of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way. Fleming organized a general survey on a compre-
hensive scale, detailing 21 divisions employing 800 men.
Walter Moberly, a Toronto engineer, with extensive road
construction experience in British Columbia, was ap-
pointed district engineer. Moberly, who had discovered
Eagle Pass in the Gold Range, favoured a route west-
ward over Howse Pass, around the big bend of the
Columbia River, over Eagle Pass, and on to the coast by
way of Shuswap Lake, Thompson River and Fraser
River to Burrard Inlet. As expected, he located a practical
line over this route. Working in co-operation with
Moberly, Roderick McLean, a former Inter-colonial
Railway engineer, located an alternative route through
Yellowhead Pass along Albreda Lake and the North
Thompson River. In April 1872, Moberly was notified
by Sandford Fleming that the Government had decided
to adopt the route through Yellowhead Pass.

It was the intention of the Government then headed by
Sir John A. Macdonald that the railway would be built
by a private company that would have to be assisted by
grants of land in which the provinces concerned would
share.

Two financial groups in eastern Canada were bidding
for the contract of construction—one headed by Sir
Hugh Allan of Montreal and the other by the Hon. David
L. Macpherson of Toronto. Following the federal elec-
tion of 1872, won by Prime Minister Macdonald, a
charter was awarded to a company headed by Allan.
Discussion of railway matters in Parliament in the
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session of 1873 precipitated the appointment of a Royal
Commission. Its report disclosed that prior to the elec-
tion, the Conservative Government headed by Macdon-
ald had accepted substantial contributions from Allan
for political purposes. Out of the disclosures developed
the ““Pacific Scandal”’, culminating in the resignation of
Sir John A. Macdonald in November, 1873, and the
accession of a Liberal Government headed by Alexander
Mackenzie. The contract for the construction of the
railway was surrendered, and Mackenzie endeavoured to
obtain a successor to Sir Hugh Allan. The terms offered
brought no bidders, and consequently the new Govern-
ment decided to build the railway by contract under the
supervision of the Department of Public Works.

Government Railway Construction

Construction of the railway as a Government enterprise
got under way a few miles west of Fort William on June
1, 1875. The general election of 1878 resulted in the
return of a Conservative Government under Macdonald,
and Sandford Fleming was instructed to commence
construction in British Columbia. Fleming recom-
mended a route along the Thompson and Fraser Rivers
to Burrard Inlet. Contracts were let for 127 miles of
railway along the Fraser River to Andrew Onderdonk,
an American engineer with a record of accomplishment.
Onderdonk had financial backing from a syndicate of
Americans and started work on the Pacific leg of the
railway on May 14, 1879.2' Progress of the railway
under government supervision from the Great Lakes
westward was to be disappointing, although lines had
been constructed from Selkirk eastward and also south-
erly to connect with an American railway at the Interna-
tional Boundary, which would make possible a connec-
tion between Winnipeg and St. Paul. By 1880, Prime
Minister Macdonald had decided, in view of the diffi-
culty in raising funds for railway purposes, to have
construction taken over by private enterprise subsidized
by the Government of Canada. Macdonald induced
George Stephen, a wealthy merchant of Montreal and
President of the St. Paul, Minneapolis and Minnesota
Railway, to form a syndicate that would complete the
Canadian transcontinental line. Negotiations were com-
menced in April, 1880, and the final contract was signed
at Ottawa on October 21, 1880.?? Prime Minister Mac-
donald obtained approval in Parliament in February.
1881, for a bill ratifying the contract which provided for
a subsidy of $25,000,000 and 25,000,000 acres of land.
and completed sections of railroad from Selkirk to Lake
Superior and from Kamloops to Port Moody.?* The
syndicate, incorporated as the Canadian Pacific Railway
Company, undertook to complete and equip the railway
from the western terminus of the Canada Central Rail-
way near the eastern end of Lake Nipissing, to Port
Moody on the Fraser River by May 1, 1891.

Rogers Pass Selected

The new company decided to relocate the crossing of the
Rockies from Yellowhead Pass to a more southerly route,
as it was believed a location nearer the International
Boundary would result in a profitable traffic from the
outset. Sandford Fleming was now out of favour and



Major A.B. Rogers, an American engineer with wide
railway construction experience, was placed in charge of
the mountain division. Rogers was directed to find the
shortest practical route from Savona’s Ferry in British
Columbia to Moose Jaw in the North West Territories.
In May, 1881, Rogers located the pass over the Selkirk
Mountains which bears his name and in July, 1882,
made his way from the Columbia River by way of Beaver
Creek to the summit of Rogers Pass and into the valley of
the Illecillewaet River. In a letter addressed to W.C. Van
Horne, general manager of the railway company, dated
Jdnuary 10, 1883, Rogers reported as follows:

“On Monday, July 17th, (1882) I started from the
Columbia with two white men and three Indians for
another trip into the Selkirks by way of Beaver Creek;
on the 24th I had succeeded in finding a practical line
across the summit and into the east branch of the
Hlecillewaet and returned to camp on the 6th of
August” .2

Following a thorough examination of the Bow River
Valley by Major Rogers, the Kicking Horse Pass—first
discovered by Hector in 1858 —was selected as the most
feasible route over the Rockies. By November, 1882,
Rogers had completed the location of the railway east-
ward from the summit of Kicking Horse Pass for 40
miles, and also westerly from the summit for a distance
of eight miles, the section covering the heaviest work in
the vicinity of the Columbia River. Final surveys in the
Kicking Horse Valley were completed in 1883.2%

Rocky Mountains Crossed

Although railway construction had proceeded with
amazing speed across the prairies and the line had
reached Calgary in August, 1883, doubt still existed in
government circles that the route over Kicking Horse
and Rogers passes had advantages over the Yellowhead
Pass route. Sandford Fleming, who had been Chief
Engineer of the government-sponsored railway from
1871 to 1881, was engaged to examine and report on the
new location. Starting from Port Arthur in August, 1883,
Fleming was accompanied by his son Sandford and Dr.
G. M. Grant, principal of Queens University, Kingston.
The party travelled over the completed railway route to
Calgary. From there, Kicking Horse Pass was reached by
wagon road. From the summit westerly, the route was
uvoed The Kicking Horse River was followed down
stream past the present site of Field, and through the
tortuous lower canyon on horseback and on foot to the
Columbia River, where the group was joined by Major
Rogers.?® Rogers escorted Fleming and his party over
Rogers Pass and down the Illecillewaet River to Albert
Canyon over a trail cut for their benefit. From there on.
the party struggled through a virgin wilderness to the
Columbia River where they were met by a party from
Kamloops. Fleming and his companions continued on
their way to the coast by way of Eagle Pass, Kamloops
and Fraser River. The successful completion of Flem-
ing’s inspection marked the first continuous journey
made over the route selected for the Canadian Pacific
Railway, and dispelled further concern about the suit-

ability of the location chosen for the enterprise.’” A
detailed account of Fleming’s journey is contained in his
book “England and Canada, a Summer Tour between
Old and New Westminster.”’

With the route through the Rocky and Selkirk moun-
tains confirmed, railway construction in the mountain
section was pressed to the limit. At the close of 1883,
railhead was at Laggan, now known as Lake Louise
Station. By June, 1884, the track had been laid westerly
to Field, British Columbia. The company had acquired
operating railway lines between Montreal and Ottawa,
and between Ottawa and Callander. Construction of the
difficult Lake Superior section from Callander to Fort
William was completed late in 1885 and opened for
traffic on November 2.2% On November 7, 1885, the last
spike in the mountain section was driven at Craigella-
chie Station in Eagle Pass, British Columbia, completing
a continuous line from Montreal to Port Moody, British
Columbia. The following year, the line was extended to a
new western terminus at Vancouver. The fulfillment of
the contract to complete the main line of the railroad,
four and a half years in advance of the stipulated date.
was an epochal achievement. It not only provided the
long-cherished connection between the Pacific Coast and
the eastern provinces of Canada, but in years to come
was to help extend civilization, promote commerce, and
bring prosperity to many parts of Canada.

Scientific Exploration
The anticipated completion of a trans-continental rail-
way had stimulated exploration and scientific surveys in
Western Canada. The Department of the Interior, re-
sponsible for the administration of public lands in the
North West Territories, sponsored extensive topographi-
cal and geological surveys in the early “eighties’”. These
studies revealed the location and extent of the country’s
valuable natural resources and also assisted in the loca-
tion of routes of transportation. By 1882, topographical
survey parties were stretched across the country from
Winnipeg to the foot of the Rockies. Geological surveys
in western Canada were inaugurated in 1881 under Dr.
George M. Dawson and over the following five years,
extensive exploration was carried out in the Rockies by
Dr. Dawson, J. B. Tyrell, James White and R. J. McCon-
nell. In 1881, Dawson and McConnell proved the exis-
tence of extensive coal deposits on the eastern slope of the
Rockies which later were to provide substantial indus-
tries at Canmore and Banff. From the combined efforts
of these surveys, Dawson compiled in 1886 a geological
map of the portion of the Rocky Mountains which now
includes Banff National Park. This evidence of minerals
in the mountains brought a wave of prospectors, miners,
promoters and developers, all eager to profit from the
exploitation of available natural resources. Numerous
mining claims were staked and applications made for the
right to cut the dense stands of virgin timber found in
many of the valleys. With this increasing flow of human-
ity also came some of the blights of civilization, as forest
fires raged along the lower slopes of areas bordering the
route of the railway.

In 1881, two years before steel rails were laid to Banff.
copper and silver were discovered in the vicinity of
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Castle Mountain. now known as Mount Eisenhower.
According to local legend. Joseph “Joe* Healy acquired
specimens of ore (rom an Indian and hrouOht them to
Calgary and Fort Benton. Montana. Would-be miners
reached the site in 1883 before the railway and a

“boom™ camp of tents and shanties sprang up. Known
as Silver City. it boasted a population reported to
number over 1.000 at the height of its fame. Its buildings.
mostly of log construction. accommodated stores. hotels.
a bakery. barber shop. rooming houses and restaurants.*”
Four mines were in operation at one time. Shares were

sold in a “*salted”” gold mine but the promoters made off

with the proceeds before the fraud was discovered. Legal
surveys of the townsite of Silverton were made in 1884
and 1885 by officers of the Topographical Surveys
Branch. but the prospects of workable copper and silver
deposits had faded. and most of the inhabitants left to
partake in a new strike near Golden. British Columbia.?"
Alone survivor of the original camp. James Smith. better
known as ““Joe ™ lived on in the deserted ““city’” for over
half a century. At the age of 86, Smith was persuaded in
1937 to leave his homestead where he had squatted for
54 years. Sad to relate. he survived in his new abode at
the Lacombe Home in Midnapore for barely a month. As
the Superintendent of Banff National Park advised in an
official report to Ottawa. the sudden change in Smith’s
mode of living was probably more than his constitution
could stand. The last vestiges of Silver City were razed in
1938 by park authorities.

Hot Springs Discovered

As rail construction left Calgary behind and moved
through the foothills into the mountains, a new world
was opened up to those engaged in construction. They
came from as far east as the Atlantic provinces and. no
doubt inspired to seek adventure in the wilderness
surroundings. many made a practice of prospecting and
hunting during their spare time or ““off*” days. On a cool
November day in 1883, Frank McCabe, a section fore-
man, and William McCardell. who was working on
construction under McCabe, discovered what are now

known as the Cave and Basin Hot Springs. On the day of

their find, fixed by McCabe as November 8. they had
come up the newly-laid line by hand car from Padmore,
and crossed the Bow River on a rough raft to examine the
foot of Terrace (now Sulphur) Mountain.?' Here they
literally stumbled on the basin pool, fed by a hot spring.
and the cave spring, entry to which was gained by a hole
in the roof of the cavern. A few weeks later, McCardell
built a rude cabin at the springs which he visited
occasionally during the following winter, accompanied
by McCabe and at other times by his brother Tom.
During an excursion in the vicinity of the springs,
McCabe and McCardell observed vapour rising from the
hillside above Spray River Valley. An attempt to reach
what were believed to be more hot springs was given up
owing to weather conditions, but McCardell claimed to
have visited later the upper or **hot’” spring, but left no
evidence of discovery.

Knowledge of the hot springs rapidly spread among
railway construction workers. Strangely, McCabe and
McCardell expended little effort in protecting their

18

interest or in attempting development until others work-
ing in the vicinity erected shacks and made use of the hot
waters at both the lower and upper springs. One of the
most enterprising was David Keefe who. in October.
1884. on information supplied by McCabe, located the

“hot” spring and cut a trail up the slope of the mountain
above Spm_\ River. Shacks were erected at the upper or
hot springs in 1884 and 1885 by Theodore Sebring.
George Whitman, and Frank McCabe. Those engaged in
railway construction were comparably young. McCabe
and McCardell both were 26 years of age when they
located the hot springs. The former was a native of Nova
Scotia and had come west to Manitoba in 1880. McCar-
dell was born in Stratford. Ontario. and had worked in
Western Canada since 1882 on railway construction in
Manitoba and on the Prairies. before meeting and
working with McCabe in 1883. Their early failure to
press for a title to their discoveries can be attributed to
several factors. Primarily. they did not realize the value
of the springs as a future tourist attraction. Moreover.
they did not have the capital to exploit their discovery.
McCabe testified later at a general inquiry that they had
been advised by an intermediary that before the springs
could be staked as a mining claim, a survey would be
required. As the lands in the vicinity were unsurveyed
and reference points not available, the cost of a survey
line from Morleyville to the springs, a distance of 20
miles. was beyond their means financially.

Claims of Ownership
Goaded by the knowledge that others were planning to
file a claim on the springs. McCabe early in 1885 finally
sought title to his discovery. This action took the form of
a letter dated March 20 addressed to the Minister of the
Interior at Ottawa. in which application was made on
behalf of McCabe, McCardell, Archie McNeil and
C.W.H. Sansom.?* A few days later the Minister received
another communication dated March 27 from Theodore
Sebring who claimed to have discovered the *“hot™
spring where he had built a house. McCabe evidently
heard of Sebring’s correspondence for on May 18 he
again wrote the Minister disputing Sebring’s claim and
affirming his own interest by reason of prior discovery.
These letters, which were acknowledged by the Assist-
ant Deputy Minister of the Interior, prompted instruc-
tions for an inspection of the site of the discoveries by a
field officer of the Department. This was undertaken by
JM. Gordon, Agent of Dominion Lands at Calgary who
on June 23, 1885, reported to Ottawa on his investi-
gation. His description of the springs, the first to be
received by the Department at Ottawa, is worth repeat-
ing.

“These Springs were visited by me on the first instant
and are situated as nearly as I can estimate on the east
half of section 28, Township 25, Range 12 west of the
[fifth meridian. The Springs are two in number and
they are only separated from each other by a wall of
rock. One of them is in the open air and flows into a
basin about 15 feet in diameter. The other is enclosed
in a cave and is reached by ascending about 40 feet up
the face of the hill and then descending about 45 feet



through a small hole. The water flowing from this is
caught in the basin between 25 and 30 feet in
diameter and having a depth of about 3 1/2 feet. The
water in both springs is very strongly impregnated
with sulpher—the outer one being the stronger. The
temperature of the water is I should think about 90
degrees.”

“Frank McCabe and his partner William McCardell
are acknowledged by all in the vicinity of the Springs
to be the discoverers, and though //101 have done little
or nothing towards developing I/w same, would appear
to be entitled to first claim. The approach to the
springs is at present anything but pleasant, necessitat-
ing as it does a rough walk 0/ about three miles to the
B(m River, crossing the river on a small log raft, and
then a further walk of about three quarters of a mile
partly through a swamp ankle-deep in water. The
ground in the vicinity of the springs furnishes unlim-
ited sites Jor buildings of all descriptions, and should
sufficient means be forthcoming, the locality might be
made a most attractive one. I enclose a declaration
made by McCabe respecting his claim to these
Springs.”’33

Assignment of Claims

On August 25, the Deputy Minister of the Interior
received a letter from D. B. Woodworth, M.P. for Kings.
Nova Scotia, mailed from Calgary. recommending that
every consideration be given to McCabe’s claim to the
springs. As it turned out, Woodworth’s representations
were to be anything but altruistic. for on August 31 he
filed with the agent of Dominion Lands Cdlﬂary an
assignment of all the interest of McCabe and McCardell
in the springs in consideration of a payment of $1.500.
The assignment, signed by McCabe in his own right and
also on behalf of McCardell. later was repudiated both
by McCabe and McCardell in a telegram sent to the
Minister of the Interior of Ottawa on September 9. The
discoverers then enlisted the legal services of J.A.
Lougheed of Calgary to substantiate their claims.
Lougheed assisted McCabe and McCardell in the prepa-
ration of statements which were filed with the Dominion
Lands agent at Calgary. These statements incorporated a
declaration by McCabe that he had been induced to
make the assignment of his rights to the springs by
misrepresentation and in ignorance of its contents. and
that he had received neither money or other considera-
tion from Woodworth. In turn, McCardell affirmed that
he had not signed the assignment to Woodworth and
that neither McCabe nor anyone else had authority to
sign for him.

Public Reservation Recommended

Another claim to rights in the springs was made by
David Keefe who had written the Agent of the Domin-
ion Lands in Calgary on August 27, 1885. Keefe pro-
fessed to be the discoverer of the upper or **hot’” spring.
This application was acknowledged by William Pearce,
Superintendent of Mines whose duties on the Dominion
Lands Board had taken him to Calgary. Pearce advised
Keefe that there were no regulations under which title to

the hot springs could be acquired, because they consti-
tuted neither minerals or agricultural lands. On the
suggestion of Pearce, Keefe then made a formal applica-
tion to the Minister of the Interior for recogniition as a
discoverer.

By late summer in 1885, officers of the Department of
the Interior at Ottawa were giving serious consideration
to the preservation of the hot springs from private
development. During late July and early August the
Deputy Minister, A. M. Burgess. had an exchange of
correspondence with Charles Drinkwater. Secretary of
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company. Mr. Drink-
water urged that Canada follow the course taken by the
United Smm Government to assure control of the hot
springs in Arkansas.** Members of Parliament who had
visited Banff during the summer, including James Trow
and the Honourable P. Mitchell. strongly recommended
reservation of springs for the purposes of a public park.
On September 1. the Surveyor General was requested
by Acting Deputy Minister John Hall to take the steps
necessary to locate the four sections of land that would
most completely surround the springs at Banfl. This
request was followed up promptly, and P. R. A. Belanger.
a member of the Surveyor General’s staff. received
instruction to leave an assignment at Morleyville and
proceed to Banft. Between September 21 and October 10)
he carried out the first survey of the springs. in three
separate locations, and thereby provided the basis for an
accurate description of the lands involved.

Prime Minister Macdonald had been conversant with
the controversy arising from the claims of discovery. and
had received a letter on the matter from the Hon. P.
Mitchell, Member for Northumberland.’* On October
16. Sir John A. sent a note to Deputy Minister Burgess
expressing the hope that **great care had been taken to
reserve all the land in or near the Hot Springs at Banft™’
and that “‘no squatting should be allowed and any
attempt to squat resisted.”” The Honourable Thomas
White. who had replaced the Honourable David L.
MacPherson as Minister of the Interior early in August.
1885. visited Banff in October during the course of a trip
to Western Canada. On October 23, he advised his
Deputy Minister by letter from Calgary as follows:

“My dear Burgess: I have just returned from a visit to
the Hot Springs at Banff and have made up my mind
that it is important to reserve by Order in Council, the
sections on which the springs are and those about
them. I send you a memorandum which Mr. Pearce
has prepared for me, and I wish you would prepare a
recommendation to Council reserving these sections.
It is important this should be done at once. What we
may do with them afterwards can be considered when
I get back.”?*

Hot Springs Reservation

A submission to Privy Council was duly prepared and
forwarded, and on November 28, 1885, Order in Coun-
cil No. 2197 received approval. Under its provisions. an
area of approximately a little more than ten square miles
on the northern slopes of Sulphur Mountain was set
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aside for future park use. The enabling clause of the
Order in Council read:

“His Excellency by and with the advice of the Queen’s
Privy Council for Canada has been pleased to order,
and it is hereby ordered, that whereas near the station
of Banff on the Canadian Pacific Railway, in the
Provisional District of Alberta, North West Territo-
ries, there have been discovered several hot mineral
springs which promise to be of great sanitary advan-
tage to the public, and in order that proper control of
the lands surrounding these springs may be vested in
the Crown, the said lands in the territory including
said springs and in their immediate neighbourhood, be
and they are hereby reserved from sale or settlement or
squatting, namely: — All of sections 13, 14, 15, 22,
23, 24, 25, 26, 27 and 28, and those portions of
sections 34, 35, and 36 lying South of Bow River, all
in Township 25, in Range 12 west of the 5th Merid-
ian.”

The hot springs at Banff were now public property,
removed from the possibility of private ownership and
exploitation. In years to come, the action of Government
was to be heartily endorsed but to those claiming rights
of discovery, it was frustration indeed. James Lougheed,
later to become Sir James, a Senator, and Minister of the
Interior, wrote to the Honourable Thomas White on
behalf of McCabe and McCardell suggesting that the
government consider paying compensation for the out-
lay made by the discoverers in travelling and living
expenses, and for loss of time sustained and maintaining
a residence near the springs in order to protect their
interest. Lougheed had interviewed the Minister during
his recent trip to Western Canada and had learned that it
was unlikely that a title to the site of the springs would be
granted by the Department of the Interior either to the
discoverers or to their representatives.

D.B. Woodworth, the enterprising politician from
Nova Scotia, also wrote the Minister revealing his
interest in the springs which he claimed to have pur-
chased from McCabe and McCardell. He called attention
to the expenditure he had made for improvements
including the purchase of a building intended for a hotel,
material for installation of a ferry over Bow River, and
clearing a road to the springs. Mr. White’s reply to
Woodworth dated December 19, 1885, was, from the
standpoint of policy, an important one. The Minister
informed Woodworth that he did not ‘“recognize any
right of discovery in connection with the hot springs at
Banff.”” However, he was ““quite prepared to admit that
some consideration must be shown to those who claim to
have discovered the springs, and who have made an
expenditures in connection with them under the impres-
sion that such expenditures give them a possessory right
to them.”?” Woodworth appealed to the Prime Minister,
Sir John A. Macdonald, by letter of January 23, 1886.
Accompanying his letter was a brief setting out his
claims and requesting permission to bring his case
personally before the Cabinet Council. He also for-
warded to the Minister a statement of claim totalling
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$4,397, alleged to have been incurred in the develop-
ment of the Cave and Basin Springs.

Public Inquiry Instituted
Now under pressure for compensation, the Department
of the Interior set in motion an investigation of claims to
the springs. On February 7, 1886, Deputy Minister
Burgess had wired J. A. Lougheed at Calgary to inquire if
he had any papers to submit to the Department on behalf
of his clients, McCabe and McCardell. Lougheed replied
that his clients were in the mountains and some delay
might occur in taking and forwarding affidavits.
Lougheed also advised Mr. Burgess that several months
prior to the assignment of interest in the springs by
McCabe to Woodworth, McCabe and McCardell also
had made a bona fide assignment of one half the interest
in their discoveries to William Hall and James Grierson.
This assignment had been registered by Hall with the
Registrar of Lands at Calgary. On February 22, Loug-
heed forwarded a lengthy deposition sworn to by
McCardell in which the latter vigorously denied that
McCabe had any authority whatsoever to assign or sell
McCardell’s interest in the springs to Woodworth. De-
partmental files indicate that before Woodworth ob-
tained from McCabe an assignment of interest in the hot
springs he had negotiated an oral agreement whereby he
would share an interest in the springs with McCabe,
McCardell, Hall and Grierson, and R. R. Fitch, em-
ployed as an agent by Woodworth. After securing what
he believed to be the rights of McCabe and McCardell,
Woodworth had commenced a program of im-
provements supervised by Fitch. Fitch took up residence
at the springs and, with McCabe’s assistance, ran lines
for a road from the railway line to Bow River. A building
at Silver City was purchased for relocation near the
springs for use as a hotel. Woodworth also obtained a
franchise from the Territorial Government to operate a
ferry over Bow River, purchased steel cable for the ferry
installation and authorized Fitch to engage labour to
build a passable road from the river to the springs.
McCabe’s activities in arranging partnerships and
assigning McCardell’s interest in the springs had occur-
red during the latter’s absence from Banff when he was
employed in British Columbia. After McCardell’s return
to Banff at the urgent insistence of his brother Tom,
Woodworth arranged an interview with the McCardells.
This took place in a cabin owned by Fred and Ben
Woodworth located near Banft Station at the foot of
Cascade Mountain. Ostensibly, the purpose of the meet-
ing was to induce William McCardell to acknowledge
that McCabe really had authority to involve McCardell
in the assignment. During the interview held in the
evening, Woodworth’s agent, Fitch, unknown to McCar-
dell. was hidden behind a curtain in the cabin. Later
reports of the interview are conflicting. McCardell de-
nied ever having given McCabe authority to dispose of
the springs. On the other hand, Fitch, in a sworn
statement, claimed that McCardell admitted he had
given McCabe the necessary letter of authority.



Public Hearing at Banff
In April, 1886, William Pearce, Superintendent of
Mines, received oral instructions from the Minister of
the Interior to make an investigation of all claims to
lands in the vicinity of the hot springs at Banff. Pearce
was connected with the Dominion Lands Board at
Winnipeg, and was thoroughly conversant with land
problems in the North West Territories. Advance notice
of the inquiry was published in the Calgary ““Herald”
and the dates for the hearing. which were held at Banff
on July 8 and 9. 1886, were arranged for the convenience
of D.B. Woodworth, who wished to return to Nova
Scotia after Parliament prorogued before going west
again.’®

Altogether. 14 witnesses were heard and the claims of
others for compensation or recognition were considered.
As one of the principal claimants for compensation,
Woodworth took an active part in the proceedings. J.A.
Lougheed was retained by McCabe and McCardell as
their legal representative. Before any witnesses were
heard. Mr. Pearce as Commissioner, read to those
present a synopsis of all letters and affidavits relating to
ownership of the springs on file in the Department of the
Interior to February. 1886. He also read all correspon-
dence and affidavits which subsequently had been re-
ceived. Some of the evidence given under oath by
witnesses provided an interesting study of character —or
lack of it—and demonstrated that the art of ““wheeler-
dealing” was well advanced in 1886.

Evidence of the Claimants

The first witness and longest on the stand was Frank
McCabe. He identified himself as a Nova Scotian. a
former section foreman on railway construction, and a
co-discoverer with William McCardell of the Cave and
Basin Springs. McCabe admitted entering into an agree-
ment of partnership with William Hall and James
Grierson prior to completing an assignment of the
interest of McCardell and himself in the springs to D. B.
Woodworth. M.P. He justified his action by stating that
McCardell had sent him a letter authorizing him to “"do
the best he could with the springs™’, but admitted he had
no power of attorney from McCardell. Incredibly,
McCabe also testified that he had signed the agreement
without reading it, that he had signed for McCardell at
Woodworth’s request, and that notwithstanding the
wording of the agreement which acknowledged the
receipt of $1.500, he had never received ““one cent from
Mr. Woodworth™.3Y An interesting feature of McCabe’s
evidence was the revelation that the inclusion of the
names of Archie McNeil and C. W. H. Sansom with those
of McCabe and McCardell in the letter of March 20.
1885 forwarded to the Minister of the Interior was
unauthorized. McCabe explained that originally he had
drafted a letter to the Minister petitioning for a grant of
the hot springs southwest of Banff on behalf of himself
and McCardell. Later he had given the letter to McNeil.
a carpenter in Calgary, for re-writing and mailing.
Evidently McNeil considered the opportunity one not to
be overlooked for he had included his name as an
applicant and for good measure had added the name of a
friend who was quite unknown to McCabe.

William McCardell’s evidence confirmed a back-
ground of employment with several contractors on
railway construction in the autumn of 1883 before he
commenced section work under McCabe. He corrob-
orated McCabe’s testimony that they had jointly discov-
ered the Cave and Basin Springs in November. 1883,
when prospecting, and that later he had constructed a
shack near the springs with material he had brought up
from Calgary. On information received from McCabe
and his brother Thomas. he had climbed the slopes of the
mountain from the Spray River Valley to the upper or
hot spring in December, 1883, or January 1884. McCar-
dell also explained that he and McCabe had given up
attempts to obtain the springs as a mining claim owing
to their inability to meet the cost of a survey necessary for
the preparation of an adequate description. Under ques-
tioning, he admitted that McCabe had entered into a
partnership agreement with Hall and Grierson without
his written consent or signature, and that McCabe had
also signed his name to the assignment of interest in the
springs to D.B. Woodworth without written authority.
On the other hand, he conceded that in one of his letters
to McCabe he had advised him to *“do the best he could
to develop the springs.”

William George Hall gave evidence that he had been
employed by the Canadian Pacific Railway Company as
a train-master out of Calgary in 1883, and that during
the summers of 1884 and 1885 he was a conductor on the
passenger train between Medicine Hat and Laggan. He
had learned of the existence of the hot springs at Banff
from McCabe in 1884, and having some knowledge of
the commercial value of the hot springs in Arkansas, he
had sought an interest in those at Banff. Hall recounted
that he had entered into partnership with McCabe and
James Grierson in May. 1885, and that he had registered
the agreement in the Land Titles Office at Calgary. He
had also interviewed the Deputy Minister of the Interior
in Ottawa in June of that year on behalf of McCabe and
McCardell. In August, 1885, he had met D.B. Wood-
worth to whom he volunteered information about the
hot springs. Through Woodworth, he also met R. R.
Fitch who was introduced to him as a Mr. MacDougall.
M.P. Later Hall learned from Dr. Brett, the C.P.R.
doctor, that there was no such person as MacDougall in
Parliament. Woodworth had proposed an expansion of
the development group to include Fitch and himself.
Before this proposal was ratified in writing. Hall learned
that Woodworth had obtained from McCabe an assign-
ment of the interest of McCabe and McCardell. Hall later
had a disagreement with Woodworth and claimed that
the latter had been responsible for his discharge from the
railway company.

Another claimant, David Keefe, gave evidence of his
employment as a section foreman on the construction of
the railway since 1884. Keefe also operated a boarding-
house in the C.P.R. section house near Banff Station. He
had learned of the existence of the hot springs from
McCabe in July, 1884 and after constructing a raft, had
crossed Bow River and visited the Cave and Basin
Springs in the company of others. Keefe also claimed
that he had discovered the upper hot springs by follow-
ing the overflow up the mountain in October 1884.
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Subsequently. he had blazed a road to the hot springs.
and installed a ferry over Bow River. He confirmed that
George Whitman had erected the first building at the
upper hot spring and that Sebring and McCabe also had
built what might be termed *‘shacks”’. Keefe supported
his claim by stating that while others had withheld
information about their discoveries, he had broadcast
information about the springs and the benefits which
might be derived from their use.

Theodore Sebring, an American citizen from Ohio,
told the Commissioner that he had operated a boarding-
house at Silver City west of Banff from 1883 to 1885. He
had learned of the existence of the hot spring from Keefe
late in 1884. After visiting both the Cave and Basin
Springs and the hot spring in February, 1885. he erected
ashack at the hot spring. Sebring admitted that although
he had staked a claim at the upper spring and had
endeavoured to obtain title, he had never claimed to be
one of the original discoverers.

The evidence of Joseph Healy, an American citizen
born in Ireland, refuted the claims of McCabe and
McCardell as the original discoverers. Healy testified
that he first saw the Bow River Valley in 1863, that he
was in the vicinity of Banff in 1874, and had discovered
the hot spring that drained into Spray River in July,
1874. He also declared that he had discovered the Cave
and Basin Springs the same year or the year later.
Healy’s testimony on actual dates was rather vague. but
as a leading participant in the Silver City rush, he was
familiar with the Bow River Valley. Healy clarified his
status at the inquiry by admitting that although he had
reported his discoveries to acquaintances, he had never
taken any steps to obtain official recognition of them and
was not seeking compensation.

Earliest Discovery Claimed
Commissioner Pearce reviewed the interest of Willard B.
Younge, a native of Ohio, who in letters to the Minister
of the Interior had claimed to have discovered the hot
springs in 1875, erected a shack in the vicinity in which
he lived during the following winter, and made other
improvements on the land. Younge’s letters indicated
that he had planned to file a homestead claim in the
vicinity of the spring in 1885 but found the area had
been reserved from disposal. Younge supported his claim
with letters from pioneer residents of the region. These
included Andrew Sibbald and the Reverend John Mac-
Dougall, both of Morley, who confirmed Younge’s
travels up Bow River during the winter of 1875-76. The
existence in 1884 of the building or shack Younge
claimed to have erected near the Cave and Basin Spring
was confirmed by McCabe during his cross-examination.
Commissioner Pearce also reviewed the claim of J.R.
Grant of Brussels, Ontario, contained in an affidavit
submitted by mail. Grant claimed that he had discovered
the springs or some of them in September 1883, and had
taken away a bottle of water for analysis. However, on
the way back to eastern Canada his trunk was damaged
and the water was lost.

Evidence which Mr. Pearce had taken in Ottawa from
R.R. Fitch was read to those attending the inquiry. This
took the form of a sworn statement dated May 20, 1886
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and provided details of Fitch’s employment by Wood-
worth and his association with McCabe, McCardell and
others who had professed to have an interest in the
springs.

Mr. Pearce’s report to the Minister dated August 16,
1886. reviewed proceedings at the inquiry and contained
the observation that departmental regulations prescribed
no rights to mineral springs by reason of discovery.
Pearce emphasized that the utility of such springs was
dependent wholly on their location. quantity and devel-
opment. As Younge had not contributed to the develop-
ment of the springs to the slightest degree, his claim for
compensation was disallowed. Pearce also disallowed the
claims of Grant and Sebring, pointing out that Sebring
was not a discoverer nor was his shack at the Upper Hot
Spring an improvement. In reviewing the evidence of
David Keefe, the Commissioner observe that this claim-
ant had done more to bring the springs to public
attention and render them accessible than had any other
individual. He also observed that Keefe’s activities in
publicizing the springs were not without ulterior interest,
as Keefe had maintained a boarding-house in the C.P.R.
section house at Banff. Until recently this has been the
only place in the vicinity of the springs were meals and
lodging could be obtained.

Although D.B. Woodworth attended the inquiry and
subjected a number of witnesses to intensive cross-
examination, he called no witnesses for himself and
declined to take the witness stand. Actually, he left the
inquiry before it was adjourned, after having advised the
Commissioner that he considered some of the evidence
given was prejudicial to his status as a public man and
should not have been admitted.

J.A. Lougheed described the assignment from McCabe
and McCardell to Woodworth as invalid as it was
completed by McCabe without authority and not under
seal. It was also Lougheed’s contention that the contract
was nullified by reason of non-payment by Woodworth
of the $1,500 mentioned in the assignment. Lougheed
also characterized R.R. Fitch. whose evidence had been
taken in Ottawa by Mr. Pearce, as ““a man utterly
unworthy of belief.”’

Commissioner Pearce’s Recommendations
Commissioner Pearce concluded his report by recom-
mending that compensation be paid by the Government
of Canada:

(a) To David Keefe, in recognition of the time
spent in making improvements and facilitating
the visits of interested persons to the springs,
the sum of 100 dollars;

(b) To Franklin McCabe and William McCardell,
the sum of $675 in recognition of expenditures
made for improvements and for time spent at
the springs in protecting their interest; and

(¢) To D.B. Woodworth, M.P., the sum of $1,000
in recognition of certain expenditures incurred
in anticipation of acquiring rights to the
springs from McCabe and McCardell, includ-
ing outlays made on construction of an access
road, the purchase of a building to be erected in



the vicinity of the springs for hotel purposes.
and for personal expenses.

These recommendations were subsequently approved
by the Minister. and. under authority of the Governor in
Council, payment was duly made to those concerned.

Although Mr. Pearce’s report reviewed all known
claims of discovery and recommended compensation for
some of the principal claimants it did not confer on any
individual the distinction of having been the original
discoverer of the hot springs. While this omission may
have been an oversight. it also may have been inten-
tional. Pearce no doubt was familiar with departmental
correspondence on the subject which included a copy of a
letter from the Minister. The Honourable Thomas White
to D.B. Woodworth. M.P.. containing the advice that =]
cannot recognize any right of dlsmvcry in connection
with the springs ...” W1t seems reasonably certain.
however, from evidence presented at the inquiry. that
Willard Younge had visited the site of the Cave and
Basin Springs in 1875 and had built a shack nearby in
which he had lived throughout the following winter.

In spite of their later arrival on the scene, McCabe,
McCardell and Keefe deserve credit for their individual
and collective discoveries in 1883 and 1884. Their efforts
to obtain title to a remarkable phenomenon of nature
and the publicity given to their claims focused attention
on the magnificent scenic region surrounding Banft' Hot
Springs. The compensation they received from the Gov-
ernment of Canada. although meagre by today’s stan-
dard. not only recognized activities which led to the
reservation of the springs as public property and later to
their inclusion in Canada’s first National Park. As
Pearce observed many years later *"None of these claims
had any legal standing, but after discussing the matter
with the Minister of the Interior it was thoughl better to
pay a small sum than to exercise rigorously the law in the
case.”?!

Development of Springs Proposed

With the hot springs now set aside as a national posses-
sion, the government was faced with the problem of their
disposition and future use. Even in their natural but
crude form, the springs had attracted wide attention and
were visited by numerous invalids seeking relief from
various ailments in the hot waters. The only accommoda-
tion at the springs had been shacks erected by enterpris-
ing squatters. The Canadian Pacific Railway Company
had obtained and forwarded to the Dominion Analyst at
Ottawa, H. Sugden Evans. samples of water from the
Cave and Basin and Upper Hot springs. Results of the
analyses were made available to the Department of the
Interior by the Company’s secretary, Charles Drink-
water, and led the Deputy Minister to include in his
foreword to the Annual Report of the Department for
1886 the following paragraph:

“The remarkable curative properties of these waters
having thus been made apparent, immediate steps
were taken under your (the Minister) instructions to
make a topogr (11)/11( al survey of the lands included in
the reservation, and upon the plan prepared for that
purpose, to commence the construction of roads and

bridges and other operations necessary to make of the
reserve a creditable National Park” .+

In January. 1886, John R. Hall. Secretary of the
Department, was sent to Arkansas to report on the
administration of the hot springs which had been re-
served by the Government of United States in 1832. By
prior arrangement, Hall was given every opportunity of
observing IhL opgrdllon of concessions b\ private enter-
prise under lease from the United States Department of
the Interior. He was not favourably impressed by what he
saw. His report to his Deputy Minister commented on
the laxity of the management of the concessions. the
obsolete plumbing and equipment. and the lack of
control for reasons of health over the admission of
patrons to the bath-houses. Hall also commented on the
fact that the resident Superintendent of the government
reservation, General Field, had reported to the Secretary
of the Interior about the need for improvement in the
administration and management of the privately-owned
bath houses.

Following a study of Hall’s report. which was repro-
duced in the Annual Report of the Department.” the
Minister of the Interior obtained authority from the
Governor in Council to lease sites for bath-houses to be
supplied with hot water from the springs at a rental
based on an annual charge for each tub installed. The
Order in Council also gave the Minister power to
regulate the operation of thn bathing business generally
and to pass on the design and qualny of bu1ld1nvs and
equipment. An alternative recommendation prondmg
f‘or the construction and operation of a bath-house
staffed by qualified attendants under supervision of a
physician was not implemented, presumably for reasons
of cost.

Early in 1886, a public notice issued over the name of
the Deputy Minister of the Interior, AM. Burgess. was
forwarded to the Commissioner of Lands at Winnipeg
for posting in the vicinity of Banft. The notice warned
prospective settlers that Section 35 in Township 25.
Range 12, West of the Fifth Meridian (which included
most of the land to be occupied by the future Townsite of
Banft). was reserved from settlement. squatting or tres-
pass. The notice also extended the reservation to other
sections in the same or adjoining townships which might
in future be required for purposes of a forest park.

First Park Surveys
A more positive step to develop the proposed Park was
the appointment of George A. Stewart, a Dominion
Land Surveyor from Winnipeg. to undertake a legal
survey of the Hot Springs Reservation. Soon after his
arrival at Banff Station in February. 1886, Stewart called
to the attention of Departmental officers at Ottawa the
fact that “a large tract of country lying outside the
original reservation presented features of the greatest
beauty. and was admirably adapted for a National Park:
and. on representing these facts, he was ordered to
extend his operations so as to enclose a wider area, and to
include all points of interest within reasonable
bounds”’.**

On May 8, Stewart received instructions from the
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Surveyor Gemml to extend his survey casterly to the
western end of Devil’s Lake (Lake Minnewanka) and
down the Bow River below its confluence with the Spray.
Later adjustments. however. resulted in the survey of an
oblong block of land measuring 26 by 10 miles contain-
ing 26() square miles and cnclo.xmg most of the Bow
River Valley in the vicinity of Banff, together with Lake
Minnewanka, Sulphur Mountain and other prominent
peaks south and east of the lake.

Following the completion of the Canadian Pacific
Railway, traffic to Banff had continued to grow, ostensi-
bly from the fame of its hot springs which were visited by
numerous invalids. A small settlement had sprung up on
the north bank of Bow River which had not been
included in the original reservation around the springs.
Great interest developed among newcomers intent on
establishing businesses, sanitariums and hotels. Stew-
art’s survey program included the laying out of a
townsite to accommodate both dwellings and business
premises. The Canadian Pacific Railway Company indi-
cated an interest in establishing a large resort hotel at
Banff and applications were received for the right to
construct private bathing establishments at the Upper
Hot Springs. Although George Stewart was not formally
appointed Superintendent of the new Park until January
I. 1887. his duties had been extended in 1886 from
survey work to the planning and supervision of develop-
ment. His first major undertaking, in addition to the
survey program, was the construction of a road from the
railway station at Banfl (Siding 29) to the Upper Hot
Springs. This was completed in July, 1886, and although
little more than a primitive throughfare permitting the
passage of carriages, it was greatly superior to the
mountain paths over which visitors previously had to
climb. The crossing of Bow River was made possible by
construction of a floating bridge, anchored at each end
by cables pending the completion of a permanent cross-
ing. A passable road from the bridge to the Cave and
Basin Springs was brought into use by mid-July, 1886.
Applications for the use of hot water at the upper hot
spring led to the construction of a small reservoir around
the spring from which the impounded water was distrib-
uted by a main.

Access 1o the Cave

During the winter of 1886-1887 improved access to the
Cave Spring, one of the principal visitor attractions, was
accomplished by blasting a tunnel through the rock
along the route of a natural passage through which the
water drained. On completion, visitors could enter the
cave at ground level instead of climbing down a rough
ladder through the opening at the top of the conical
cavern. Strangely. this improvement brought protests in

the form of a petition signed by the mayor and citizens of

the embryo town of Calgary and forwarded to the
Minister of the Interior. The petition advocated the
construction of a spiral staircase into the cave from the
opening in the roof through which the discoverers had
first entered the steaming interior. Among those signing
the petition were the Crown Timber Agent and the
Agent of Dominion Lands at Calgary. Discovery of their
association with the petition brought an official rebuke
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from the Deputy Minister of the Department, who called
attention to the impropriety of civil servants taking
exceptions to policy laid down by the Minister. In point
of fact the letter was extremely blunt and ended with the
admonition: **In the event of an officer of this Depart-
ment finding himself in antagonism to a policy of the
Minister, it does not appear to me that any course would
be open to him other than to resign his position™.*
Needless to say, contrite replies were received from the
offending officers. The enlargement of the original reser-
vation of ten square miles to include a surrounding area
of mountain splendour. had definitely established the
concept of a national park. The two-fold idea —conser-
vation and development —without impairing the natural
resources, was new to Canadians. Development of the
regions made accessible by the railway had of course.
been foreseen and on the eastern slope of the Rockies.
alienation was already under way. Along the newly-
opened line, large areas of timbered land had been
disposed of by public tender, and coal-bearing land had
been sold by the Department of the Interior. Conse-
quently. the reservation of several hundred square miles.
for preservation and use in a relatively undisturbed state.
was indeed a new phase of resource management.

Park Legislation Initiated

By early 1887, the Minister of the Interior had set into
motion the legislative steps necessary to establish Can-
ada’s first National Park. Departmental officers had as a
prototype, Yellowstone National Park, in the United
States. This remarkable area, volcanic in origin, and
distinguished by unusual natural phenomena such as hot
springs, geysers, petrified forests, lakes, canyons and
waterfalls, already was attracting wide attention. De-
scriptions of the area and its wonders by the earliest
visitors including John Colter, Joseph Meek and James
Bridger had not been generally credited. Not until
reports of expeditions undertaken in 1869 and 1870
through the Yellowstone Lake area were published, was
there general credence given to the unusual character of
the territory explored. As members of the Washburn-
Langford-Doane expedition sat around a campfire dis-
cussing their adventures in September, 1870, one of its
members. Cornelius (later Judge) Hedges. had made the
startling suggestion that pldns for private development
of the area be discarded and that there be no private
ownership of the region. Instead. he suggested that it be
set apart in its entirety as a great national park.”® The
proposal was endorsed by other members of the party
who. putting aside any ideas of personal gain, devoted
their energies to making the “*National Park idea™ a
reality. Their efforts were rewarded in December, 1871.
when a bill to create Yellowstone Park was introduced in
both Houses of Congress. It became law on March 1.
1872.47 The Yellowstone National Park Act described
the area as “*dedicated and set apart as a public park or
pleasuring ground for the benefit and enjoyment of the
people.”” The Act also provided for the enactment by the
Secretary of the Interior of regulations that would ensure
“preservation, from injury or spoliation, of all timber.
mineral deposits, natural curiosities or wonders within



said park, and their retention in their natural
condition.”’*"

A bill to establish Banft National Park was introduced
in the House of Commons on April 22. 1887. On the
Minister of the Interior, Honourable Thomas White.
member for Cardwell, rested the responsibility for its
passage. The debates during the second reading and in
committee created more than ordinary interest. In 1886,
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company had extended to
members of the Senate and House of Commons an
invitation to ride, free of charge, over the newly-con-
structed trans-continental line to the Pacific coast and
many had accepted the offer.*” A stop-over at Banff had
permitted a number of those accepting the invitation to
visit the hot springs, including an opportunity of clam-
bering down a rude ladder into the Cave Spring. The
Prime Minister, Sir John A. Macdonald, accompanied by
Lady Macdonald, had journeyed to the Pacific coast on
the railway in July, 1886, and had ridden through parts
of the mountains on the pilot or cow-catcher of the
locomotive.

The Prime Minister contributed to the debate by
extolling the beauties of the region. He prophesied that
the new Park would attain international fame, and that it
would in many ways recoup the Government for the
current expenditure. Hansard records his contribution in
part as follows:

“I do not suppose in any portion of the world there can
be found a spot, taken all together, which combines so
many attractions and which promises in as great a
degree not only large pecuniary advantage to the
Dominion, but much prestige to the whole country by
attracting the population, not only on this continent,
but of Europe to this place. It has all the qualifications
necessary to make it a great place of resort . .. . There
is beautiful scenery, there are the curative properties
of the water, there is a genial climate, there is prairie
sport and there is mountain sport; and I have no doubt
that that will become a great watering-place.”*"

Debate in the Commons

The reception given the bill was generally favourable.
Some of the members of the opposition who had visited
the park gave it unqualified support. Among these was
James Trow. member for Perth South, who two years
earlier had visited the springs and later had urged the
Minister to reserve them together with a substantial
surrounding area. Support was also received from Ho-
nourable P. Mitchell, member for Northumberland, who
also had visited the springs at Banff and on his return
had written to the Prime Minister supporting the preser-
vation of the springs as a public park.

Criticism from the opposition was centred on the fact
that during the current and previous year, the govern-
ment had spent about $46.000 on the proposed park
under Governor-General’s warrants. Mr. White de-
fended the expenditure which he stated had been incur-
red in order to make the springs and the other natural
attractions accessible to visitors as soon as possible. A
substantial outlay had been made on the survey of the
park and most of the remaining expenditure was made

on the construction of roads and a bridge over Bow River
to provide access to the springs. The Prime Minister
commented on the fact that during his visit to Banfl the
previous summer, visitors using the springs had to be
accommodated in ranges of tents which they had
brought along. Consequently he felt that the sooner the
town was built the better.

Some of the members of the House —among them G.
E. Casey representing Elgin —expressed concern that the
bill when law, would withdraw from the operation of the
Dominion Lands Act a large area in the North West
Territories and would give the Minister powers to license
timber and mining operations within the park. On the
suggestion of Sir Richard Cartwright, the Minister of the
Interior agreed to furnish a list of persons having leases
in the park and the nature of the properties so alienated.
In committee, Mr. White explained that before the Hot
Springs Reservation was made, certain timber limits
within the area now proposed as a park had been
disposed of by public competition. These areas, totalling
98 square miles, were sold to the Eau Claire and Bow
River Lumber Company and to the Honourable J.G.
Ross. In addition, coal areas totalling 1,166 acres within
the Cascade Coal District, which had been established in
1884, had been patented. The Minister admitted that one
of the timber berths almost covered the Hot Springs
Reservation, but as the lands were held under yearly
licence, arrangements could be made to secure any
property necessary to preserve the forest for the park.
Later, Mr. White explained the situation as follows:

“All I can say to the honourable gentlemen is that
these people have paid $14,000 for 1,100 acres of
coal lands. They got this land when this was all coal
area, and before there was any question of it being a
national park at all, before the making it into a
national park was in contemplation. But I cannot
quite understand how the honourable gentleman can
reconcile himself with his friends, who oppose any
expenditure whatever in connection with the national
park when he suggests that we should actually enter
into negotiations with these people who have bought
these lands at large prices and who, evidently, consid-
ered them valuable. They have made some expendi-
ture, I do not know to what extent, but they have taken
some coal out of the mines— he thinks we should enter
into negotiations to buy these coal areas back. We
may have the power under this bill to regulate the
manner by which the mining shall be carried on— the
surroundings and everything of that kind—but to
undertake to purchase it back again would be a very
serious matter indeed. In relation to the timber ques-
tion I may say, as I said this afternoon, that if we can
arrange by exchange these limits for others, or in some
other way release the park altogether from the pres-
ence of those leases, rhar course may hereafter be
considered necessary.’”

The bill also provided for the establishment of regula-
tions by the Governor General in Council for the control
and management of the park. A clause which would give
the Minister authority to issue leases of park lands for the
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construction of buildings for ordinary habitation and for
the purposes of trade and industry, drew criticism from
Sir Richard Cartwright. The opposition member sugg-
ested that a time limit should be fixed for such leases. The
Prime Minister replied that it was hoped to induce
concessionaires and others to build handsome buildings
in the park and that prospective investors or residents
would not build a desirable class of building on a 21-year
lease. Conversely, Sir John A. offered the opinion that if
there was to be a limit at all, there must also be the right
of renewal. Regulations subsequently made did limit the
terms of leases to 42 years, but also provided for renewals
which, in accordance with the terms of the leases, were
self-perpetuating. In years to come this feature proved to
be a source of embarrassment to future Ministers respon-
sible for the administration of the Parks.

National Park Established

The bill was read for the third time on May 6, and the
Act, since known as the Rocky Mountains Park Act,
received Royal assent on June 23, 1887.

With Rocky Mountains Park legally established, its
boundaries definitely outlined, and the necessary au-
thority provided for its administration, it was possible
for officers of the Department of the Interior to under-
take park development without serious complications.
The future concept of the park, its scope and purposes,
were set out in the dedication clause of the new Act
which read as follows:

“2. The said tract of land is hereby reserved and set
apart as a public park and pleasure ground for the
benefit, advantage and enjoyment of the people of
Canada, subject to the provisions of this Act and of
the regulations hereinafter mentioned, and shall be
known as the Rocky Mountains Park of Canada’*

It is interesting to observe that the wording of this
clause is phrased in a manner very similar to that used in
the Yellowstone Park Act, and there is every reason to
believe that its framers had recourse to the United States
legislation. William Pearce has stated that the first
regulations made under the authority of the Act were
based largely on the regulations governing the Arkansas
Hot Springs.’* However, unlike Yellowstone Park, for
which no appropriation was voted until six years after its
creation, Rocky Mountains Park was a ““going concern”’
from the outset.

Early Visitor Amenities

Although regulations made in 1889 provided for the
protection of forests and game, the control of private
construction and development, and the preservation of
natural phenomena, the early development of the park
was geared to the creation of a resort area. As might be
expected, emphasis was laid on the use and development
of the hot springs. The pool in the cave, now easily
accessible by tunnel, was cleared of rock and debris. The
perimeter was enclosed by a masonry wall fitted with
pipes and valves to regulate the flow and the level of the
hot water in the cave. The companion basin pool also was
cleaned and enlarged and the original porous rock walls
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were replaced by masonry. Suitable dressing room ac-
commodation for men and women, designed, according
to the departmental report, in ““‘Swiss style”’, provided
accommodation for bathers. Winter use was made possi-
ble by the installation of wood-stoves in the buildings
which were maintained by a resident caretaker.

Water from the Upper Hot Springs was made availa-
ble to concessionnaires at rates established by regulation.
Two establishments combining bathing facilities and
overnight accommodation were erected at the upper
springs in 1886 by Dr. R.G. Brett and Whitman
McNulty. Dr. Brett’s establishment, known as the
“Grandview Villa”, included a log pool chinked with
oakum. Formerly chief surgeon for the Canadian Pacific
Railway Company, Dr. Brett, with some foresight, also
had applied for and been granted a site immediately
south of Bow River bridge at Banff for a building which
served the purposes of a hotel and hospital. Known
originally as the Sanitarium, and later as Bretton Hall
Hotel, the building was supplied with hot water con-
veyed from the Upper Hot Spring by pipe. The tremen-
dous pressure generated from a fall of more than 600
vertical feet was controlled by conveying the water to an
iron tank half-way down the slope, from which distri-
bution was then made.

In 1887, the Canadian Pacific Railway commenced
construction of the first of several buildings to be known
as the Banff Springs Hotel. The site, admirably located
on a bench above the junction of the Bow and Spray
Rivers, was selected personally by W.C. Van Horne, the
Vice-President of the Company on the recommendation
of Tom Wilson, the guide who discovered Lake Louise
and Emerald Lake. Completed and opened in 1888, the
handsome five-storey building provided the finest ac-
commodation in the Park. Adjoining the hotel was a
bath-house containing two plunge baths and ten tubs, all
supplied with water from the Upper Hot Springs.

Banff Townsite Takes Form

George Stewart’s surveys had resulted in a residential
subdivision south of Bow River within the original Hot
Springs Reservation, and a townsite north of the Bow
River. Originally this area, as surveyed in 1886, con-
sisted of two blocks of residential lots along the river and
four blocks of smaller lots fronting on Banff Avenue, and
Bear, Beaver, Muskrat and Otter Streets. The prelimi-
nary plan later was expanded by survey to incorporate
additional blocks and access to a new railway station.
The Superintendent’s first office accommodation was
provided by a tent erected near the original railway
station at Siding 29 adjoining a shack on property
occupied by the Woodworth Brothers at the foot of
Cascade Mountain. Later in 1886, Stewart moved to a
new log building on Bear Street which, although vacated
by the Superintendent in 1904, remained on the site until
1947.

Originally it had been planned to lease the larger
river-front or ““villa’’ lots in the town plot north of Bow
River for residential purposes, and to sell smaller lots for
commercial use. In the capacity of acting Superintend-
ent, George Stewart accepted applications and deposits
on lots, pending approval of the plan of survey and the



delivery of deeds. Building construction on a number of
lots followed, although lot ownership was confirmed
only by interim receipt. Stewart’s action in disposing of
lots was premature, as adequate registers and records
had not been provided, nor had regulations governing
the use of Park lands been established. These deficiencies
had been observed by William Pearce, and brought to
the attention of the Minister.

Meanwhile, the Canadian Pacific Railway had in-
formed the Department of proposals to move its di-
visional point from Canmore to Banff and, as the
company’s land requirements were unknown, Stewart
was notified to accept no further applications. By early
May 1887, legislation for the park had been introduced
in Parliament and Superintendent Stewart was advised
by telegram that lots within the park reservation and in
the townsite would be leased, not sold. Somewhere along
the line the message was garbled by the telegraph
company and when received by Stewart read “‘leased or
sold”’. This error was later acknowledged by the Cana-
dian Pacific Telegraphs and a corrected copy of the
message was delivered to Stewart. Instructions were then
issued to Stewart to make the necessary explanations to
those who assumed they had made deposits on the
purchase rather than the lease of lots, and to arrange for
the necessary refunds and recall of the interim receipts
issued. With a few exceptions, all prospective property
owners accepted leases but the premature sale of lots
later would terminate Stewart’s career in the govern-
ment service. As of December 31, 1887, a total of 180
townsite lots had been leased and six hotels, nine stores,
two churches, a school and post office were in
operation.’* Before the end of the year departmental
officers at Ottawa had recognized the volume and variety
of duties which Stewart as Park Superintendent was
called on to perform. Consequently, in November, E. A.
Nash, who had been Agent of Dominion Lands at
Battleford, was transferred to Banff where he took over
all duties connected with the disposal of building lots and
other lands in the park.

Access to Scenic Areas

With subdivisions laid out both north and south of Bow
River, Stewart was in a position to extend development
and open up the enlarged park to wider public use.
Devil’s Lake, later to be known as Lake Minnewanka,
had been recognized for years as a fisherman’s paradise,
and it was made accessible by a carriage road. The
existing roads to the Cave and Basin Springs and Upper
Hot Springs were improved and an extension made
along Bow River past Bow Falls to the junction of the
Spray. The floating bridge over Bow River was replaced
in 1887 by a substantial iron structure supported on
stone piers. Another bridge over Spray River below the
Banff Springs Hotel was installed making possible the
construction of the loop drive which, sixty years later,
would still provide a popular excursion. Gradually, the
road system radiating from Banff was extended to
include a drive around Tunnel Mountain passing the
hoodoos, strange pillars formed by erosion of glacial
deposits on the steep banks of Bow River. An extension
from this road gave access to the mining settlement of

Anthracite. Also made accessible were Sun Dance Can-
yon and the Spray River Valley. Transportation along
the newly-opened roads was provided exclusively by
horse drawn vehicles. The most popular conveyance was
the tallyho, a dashing high-rigged open carriage drawn
by four-horse tandems. Early models consisted of four
rows of seats in which passengers sat three abreast with
those on the back seat facing the rear. Later models had
six rows of seats including that occupied by the driver.

Enjoyment of the park’s scenic attractions was not
confined to those riding on or behind horses. Boating on
Bow River and Lake Minnewanka provided leisurely
outings from earliest days. The first boating concession
was operated from the floats of the temporary bridge at
Banff, and later was moved a short distance upstream,
where it has since remained. The original operator also
sponsored the Mountain Belle, the first launch on Bow
River in the vicinity of the Park. In 1888, a steam yacht
was placed in operation at Lake Minnewanka, where a
boat business, stimulated by good angling, has been
maintained during the intervening years.

Following the initial flurry of development which
complemented or followed the establishment of the park,
new works, buildings and improvements were embarked
on very slowly. Appropriations made available annually
were quite modest, and the operations staff was small.
Although a ““forest ranger’ in the person of John
Connor had been appointed early in the park’s existence,
a protective force had yet to be organized. Fires in the
mountains, and along the railway line were frequent and
disastrous, and the small community of Banff lived
through the brief summers in the fervent hope that
periodic conflagrations would not engulf them. In cases
of emergency. the park superintendent had no option but
to second his work force to the task of combating and
suppressing fires.

Measures for Conservation

Nevertheless, some conservation work was undertaken.
Shortly after the reservation of the hot springs, a survey
of wildlife conditions in the proposed park was under-
taken on the authority of the Minister of the Interior.
This assessment was carried out by W. F. Whitcher,
formerly Commissioner of Fisheries for Canada. His
report, incorporated as an appendix to the Annual
Report of the Department for 1886, carefully reviewed
the status of the native wild life in the vicinity. It made
recommendations for the replacement of game animals
depleted by hunting carried on by the transient popula-
tion during railway construction. Other conservation
measures proposed and later adopted included the plant-
ing of wild rice in shallow lakes and sloughs to encourage
the propagation of migratory waterfowl, establishment
of a tree nursery to assist in the reforestation of devas-
tated areas, and the cutting of fire-guards to control the
advance of fires from points west of the park. It was not
until 1909, however, that really effective measures were
taken to develop an adequate game and forest protection
service for the park.



National Park Attractions

During the 1890 s life at Banff and the national park was
generally one of leisure, highlighted by the arrival and
departure of visitors by train from other parts of Canada
and the United States. Advertising undertaken by the
Canadian Pacific Railway was responsible for most of
the long-distance travel. as neither provincial or national
tourist bureau had yet been organized. Large concentra-
tions of visitors, especially on weekends, were to be a
phenomenon of the future, although the Annual Report
of the Park Superintendent for 1900 indicated that the
annual visitor total had been swelled by 1.500 persons
who arrived on an excursion from Calgary. This incur-
sion, however, seems to have been an exception, for most
of the outlying centres, including Calgary. were not yet
heavily populated. Practically all visitors, not staying
with friends, were accommodated at hotels, of which the
Banff Springs and the Sanitarium attracted the largest
patronage. Superintendent Stewart’s report for 1887
estimated the visitor total at 3.000. By 1891, that figure
had risen to 7,250, but over the next few years levelled off
to around 5,000. In 1899, total attendance was 7.387 and
in 1901 had reached 8,156.

The mineral hot springs continued to provide the
principal attraction, although accommodation at the
Upper Hot Springs was primitive until January, 1905,
when the park administration opened a new bathing
pool augmented by dressing rooms for men and women.
Many visitors. however. found relaxation in the enjoy-
ment of an alpine environment, enchanced by superla-
tive scenery and the clear mountain air. Sports such as
riding, fishing, and mountain climbing all had devotees.
and the more adventurous could ride out into the
mountain wilderness under the guidance of outfitters
who provided horses, guides, food and equipment. To
some of these adventurous souls, later park administra-
tors owed the discovery of many places and natural
features in the Canadian Rockies which later became
famous. The guides used old Indian and game trails
which were to be found in many of the valleys. Quite
often, delays occurred, as time was spent in clearing a
passable way through windfalls or fire-killed areas. Early
visitors who published accounts of their travels, includ-
ing Norman Collie, Walter D. Wilcox, Sir James Outram
and Mrs. Charles Schaffer A.P. Coleman, Hugh Stutfield,
contributed greatly to a knowledge of the mountains and
to the development of a national park policy.

Cultural attractions were few, although an early Min-
ister of the Interior had shown an interest in the develop-
ment of a park museum. The first museum building was
opened in 1895, and attracted 661 visitors. Another
place of interest which was to survive through the years,
was a wild animal paddock, which, in 1890, originally
enclosed a small exhibition herd of elk. In 1897, these
animals were joined by three buffalo from Texas donated
by a public-spirited citizen of Toronto. The following
year, the Department of the Interior acquired 13 addi-
tional head from the herd of buffalo developed at Silver
Heights in Manitoba by Lord Strathcona, High Commis-
sioner for Canada in Great Britain.

As Canada’s first national park moved into the twenti-
eth century, an advertisement carried by the local
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newspaper at Banff, the Crag and Canyon, aptly illus-
trated the atmosphere of the times:

The Canadian National Park. A natural watering
place and pleasure resort. Seventy-five miles of good
roads and bridle paths. For information, write the
Superintendent, National Park, Banff, North West
Territories.

Administrative Changes

The closing years of the century witnessed the replace-
ment of the park’s first superintendent. After more than
eleven years of devoted service, George Stewart was
relieved of his duties in 1897. This action followed
significant changes in departmental administration. In
the general election of 1896, the Conservative Govern-
ment was replaced by a Liberal administration under
Wilfrid Laurier. The Honourable Clifford Sifton became
Minister of the Interior in November. A man of high
principle and progressive outlook, Sifton was appalled at
the state of affairs in which he found the department.
Evidently the easy-going ways of the early civil service
were exemplified in the Department of the Interior
where Sifton found a vast conglomeration of records and
files relating to land matters which to deal with com-
pletely. required a period of two years.’> As chronicled.
by his biographer, John W. Dafoe, Sifton’s opinion of his
new charge was poor.

“The crying complaint was that it was a department
of delay, a department of circumlocution, a depart-
ment in which people could not get business done, a
department which tired men to death who undertook to
get any business transacted with it.””>

One of Sifton’s first moves was to replace the Deputy
Minister, A.M. Burgess, by James A. Smart of Brandon.
Manitoba. Mr. Smart had been a colleague of Sifton in
the provincial government, had been Minister of Public
Works for Manitoba from 1888 to 1892, and had a
reputation for business acumen. Burgess was transferred
to the post of Commissioner of Dominion Lands which
Sifton had moved from Winnipeg to Ottawa.’’

The Banff Lot Scandal

Stewart’s discharge followed an inquiry held at Banffin
March 1897, by a Commissioner appointed under the
Inquiries Act. According to Order in Council P.C. 975 of
the 21th of April, 1897, the reason for the inquiry was
the disposal of lots in Banff Townsite in the autumn of
1886 by Stewart when Acting Superintendent. Stewart
had sold to Donald Blackwood, on behalf of members of
the Blackwood family, a total of 18 townsite lots in Banff
and had accepted a deposit of $120 against the purchase
price of $1,800. Some of these lots later were sold by the
Blackwoods to others at a small profit and the purchasers
had erected buildings. Most of the individuals from
whom deposits had been accepted as token payments on
lots had, following the change in Departmental policy.
accepted leases. In the cases of the lots reviewed at the
inquiry, settlement obviously had not been negotiated by
Stewart. Following the inquiry, all properties involved



were repossessed by the Department and compensation
was paid to those who had erected improvements under
the impression that they had actually purchased lots.
Blackwood also received a refund of his original deposit.
Stewart’s reasons for accepting deposits against the sale
of so many lots to one individual are undisclosed. The
departmental file shows that Stewart had reported all
interim sales of lots by letter to the Deputy Minister and
had received an acknowledgement that the prices were
satisfactory. The following spring departmental policy
was altered and confirmed by the Rocky Mountains Park
Act, which authorized disposal of lots only by lease.

On August 22, 1887, the Minister wrote Stewart:

“I want you to obtain from each of the lot holders of

the townsite an application for a lease, in which the
price will be embodied, and a statement of willingness
to comply with regulations which may be made from
time to time by Governor in Council or Minister of the
Interior. Then get one year’s rent say from st July
last” %

On August 29, Stewart replied:

“I have already got a number of signatures to the
agreement to lease and find no difficulty except in
some of the cases where Blackwood took up the lot in
the first plan. There are only a few left of the
Blackwood lots and I hope to succeed in getting them
all into other hands who will take the leases. This will
be the simplest way of getting rid of Blackwood and I
hope to accomplish it. I saw Rowe, (the Land Agent),
the other day at Calgary who told me he had orders to
return the deposits. I told him to wait until he heard
Sfrom you and I would write you to instruct him not to
return the deposits as 1 find in some cases Blackwood
and others sold the deposit with the lot and have no
Surther claim on it. The matter can only be arranged
here and if you will kindly instruct Rowe to hold on the
the deposits and work through me on the matter I
think I can bring it out all ug/n. The only difficulty I
have now is getting the address of the persons who took
up the lots and that I am finding out gradually.”

It does seem that Stewart was dilatory in failing, over a
ten-year period. to negotiate leases with the occupants of
the lots. Perhaps there were other attending circum-
stances. The Deputy Minister’s foreword to the Annual
Report of the Department for 1897 covers the incident as
follows:

“In this case, complaint was made that the manner in
which the affairs of the Park were being administered
generally was such as to cause much dissatisfaction
among those who frequented the Park and more
espeual/) amongst persons who had business to trans-
act at the Superintendent’s office in connection with
land and other matters. Instructions were therefore
issued to Mr. E. F. Stephenson of Winnipeg, Inspector
of Crown Timber Agencies, to make a careful inquiry
into the matter. As a result of his examination, it has
been found advisable to make certain changes in the

mode of conducting the business there and to replace
the Superintendent, Mr. Stewart, by a younger man, it
being considered that the latter would be in a better
position to so conduct the work as to remove the
grievances complained of.”*°

Whether Stewart was a victim of political action or
had merely become involved in the departmental reorga-
nization probably never will be known. Altogether. it
was a regrettable termination of a career for a public
servant who had been instrumental in having the orig-
inal boundaries of the park extended, had been largely
responsible for its planning, and has guided its develop-
ment through the early formative years. The inquiry into
Stewarts’ administration was one of three that had been
instituted “‘owing to certain complaints that had reached
the Department early in the spring of 1897”". The other
two inquiries, as revealed by the Deputy Minister’s
report, resulted in the removal from office of the Crown
Timber Agent at New Westminster, B.C., and the Immi-
gration Agent at Halifax.

New Superintendent Appointed

Stewart was replaced in September. 1897, by Howard
Douglas of Calgary. Douglas was familiar with the
Rocky Mountain region. for he had been employed by
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company as officer in
charge of supplies over the section extending from
Brandon, Manitoba, to Revelstoke, British Columbia.
Following the completion of the railway, he established
and carried on a cartage and coal business in Calgary.
Over the fifteen years following his appointment, Doug-
las proved to be an energetic and aggressive superintend-
ent. After the park was enlarged in 1902, increased
appropriations permitted an extended program of devel-
opment that provided many new services and amenities
for park visitors.

The Lake Louise Reservation

Although the alpine splendour of Lake Louise, situated
about 33 miles northwest of Banff, had been known since
its discovery in 1882 by Tom Wilson, it was not until
1892 that it was reserved, within a surrounding area of
51 square miles, as a forest park. Wilson had served
Major A. B. Rogers as head packer in 1881 and 1882
during the reconnaissance surveys for the Canadian
Pacific Railway. While camped with a pack train in 1882
near the mouth of Pipestone River, Wilson was joined by
a few Stoney Indians who set up teepees nearby. Wilson
heard rumbling noises in the mountains above and was
informed by one of the Indians, Edwin by name, that the
thunder came from a snow-covered mountain above the
“Lake of Little Fishes”’. Accompanied by the Indian,
Wilson rode up through dense forest to the lake and
discovered that the sounds so audible in the valley below
were made by avalanches crashing down the glaciated
mountain-sides.®” Wilson’s Indian companion also de-
scribed two small lakes located higher on the mountain-
side now known as Mirror Lake and Lake Agnes. As the
first white man to see the lake, Wilson named it Emerald.
In 1884 it was renamed Lake Louise, to commemorate a
vist to Western Canada of Princess Louise, wife of the

29



Governor General, the Marquis of Lorne (1878-1883).
While searching for stray pack horses in the vicinity of
Field, Wilson also discovered in 1882 what is now
known as Emerald Lake.

The Canadian Pacific Railway Company recognized
the potential of Lake Louise as a visitor resort in 1890,
when it erected a small chalet on the eastern shore. The
following year the lake and chalet were made more easily
accessible by the construction of a carriage road from
Laggan Station by the railway company. As knowledge
of Lake Louise and its beautiful alpine setting became
more widely known, it was visited in increasing num-
bers. The Canadian Pacific Railway Company con-
structed bridle paths along the shores of the lake and up
the slopes to the **Lakes in the Clouds”, improvements
that were appreciated by guests at the chalet. Although
the original chalet was destroyed by fire in 1892, it was
replaced the following year and the accommodation was
expanded greatly between 1903 and 1913. In his guide
book to the Lake Louise Region, Walter D. Wilcox of
Washington, D.C., observed that although only 50 visi-
tors were registered at Lake Louise Chalet in 1893, by
1908 there were more than 5,700.¢!

The majestic snow-capped peaks surrounding the
lake —some of them forming the continential divide —
provided an irresistible challenge to mountain climbers.
The Railway Company encouraged alpine activity by
importing Swiss guides, building a special lodge for their
accommodaton at Lake Louise, and placing their ser-
vices, for a fee, at the disposal of visitors. In 1902 the area
surrounding Lake Louise was incorporated in Rocky
Mountains Park. when the boundaries were extended
westerly to the continental divide.

More Park Reserves

The possibility of park reservations beyond the summit
of the Rocky Mountains had not escaped consideration.
The setting aside for public use of the hot springs at Banft
in November, 1885, had aroused the interest of not only
Canadian Pacific Railway officials but that of members
of Parliament. On March 22. 1886, the Member for
Lisgar, Manitoba, A.-W. Ross, asked the Minister of the
Interior in the House of Commons if the Government
planned to reserve one or more parks along the line of
the Canadian Pacific Railway in the Northwest Territo-
ries or British Columbia and if so, what would be their
extent. The Minister (Mr. White) replied that the Gov-
ernment had every intention of so doing but the points at
which parks would be reserved and laid out had not yet
been decided on.®? Mr. Ross followed up his question by
writing the Minister on March 31, 1886, and recom-
mending that parks be established at Banff and at
Laggan in the North West Territories, and at the foot of
Mount Stephen, at the surhmit of the Selkirk Mountains,
at Three Valley Lakes and at Shuswap Lake in British
Columbia. A copy of Ross” letter was referred to William
Pearce, Commissioner of Mines at Winnipeg for com-
ment. Pearce replied by memborandum in which he
called attention to the reservation already made at Banff.
He agreed that the suggested reservations might be made
at Laggan and along the railway line from Kicking
Horse (now Wapta) Lake to a point one mile west of
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Mount Stephen. He favoured a reservation at the summit
of the Selkirk Mountains, at Three Valley lakes and at
Eagle Pass. He also suggested Albert Canyon as a site for
consideration.

Yoho and Glacier Reserves

The Minister sent copies of Mr. Ross” letter and Pearce’s
memorandum to W. C. VanHorne, Vice President of the
C.P.R. Van Horne in reply commended Pearce’s recom-
mendations but added that Henry Abbott, General
Superintendent of the Pacific Division, would be going
west in a few days and he would give special attention to
the matter of parks. On January 10, Mr. Van Horne
forwarded to Mr. White a letter from Abbott recom-
mending reservations ten miles square at Banfl’ and
Mount Stephen, a reservation twenty miles square in the
vicinity of Syndicate Peak (Mount Sir Donald) in the
Selkirk Mountains, and an area in Eagle Pass taking in
Three Valley and Griffin Lakes. Abbott’s letter was
forwarded by Deputy Minister Burgess to the Minister at
Calgary with the suggestion that the areas of the pro-
posed reservations be kept within a limit that would
warrant their protection. The Minister evidently prefer-
red to accept Mr. Abbott’s recommendation. for on
October 10, 1886, Order in Council P.C. 1880 was
passed. providing for mountain park reservations at four
locations. These included an area of ten miles square
surrounding the base of Mount Stephen near Field. an
area twenty miles square in the vicinity of Syndicate
Peak (now Mount Sir Donald), a reservation fifteen
miles square in Eagle Pass, and an area not exceeding ten
miles square incorporating the amphitheatre at the
summit of the Selkirk Mountains. Copies of the Order in
Council were sent to the Secretary of the Canadian
Pacific Railway, the Crown Timber Agent at Winnipeg,
and the Commissioner of Lands at Winnipeg. William
Pearce promptly wrote the Minister’s Secretary from
Winnipeg inquiring if a mistake had not been made in
defining the areas by confusing ““miles square’ with
““square miles’”. The Deputy Minister replied that he had
already drawn to the attention of the Minister, the
extraordinary size of the proposed reservations, but that
the descriptions in the Order in Council were exactly as
suggested by Mr. Abbott. Second thoughts were to
prevail however, and following a conference in the
Minister’s office attended by Deputy Minister Burgess
and Pearce. Mr. Burgess wrote Abbott suggesting that
the smaller of the alternative areas would be sufficient.
Abbott stood by his previous recommendation, stating
that the areas advocated would afford better protection
from fire. This view prompted an observation by Pearce
that if ““he (Abbott) thinks it desirable to protect the
timber in it (area 3) why has the C.P.R. a sawmill at
work there cutting lumber for snow sheds?”’¢® Pearce
also pointed out in his memorandum to the Deputy
Minister that reserves of this nature should not be made
larger than an area in which trespass and protection
could be controlled. In the end, the opinion of the Deputy
Minister and Pearce prevailed, for on December 8, 1887,
the original reservations were modified by Order in
Council P.C. 2441 which changed the areas of the
various reserves from *“miles square’’ to “*square miles””.



A final step in the confirmation of these park reserves
was necessary, for the reason that the various orders in
council had included no definite descriptions of the lands
involved. Pearce again was consulted, and he forwarded
to the Secretary of the Interior on April 5, 1888, sketch
plans and an outline of the lands which he considered
each reserve should contain. With the assistance of the
Surveyor General, descriptions of the lands by section or
fractional section were prepared, and adopted by Order
in Council P.C. 2169 of October 11, 1888. These re-
serves, as finally established, laid the foundations for the
future Yoho and Glacier National Parks. The reser-
vation of land surrounding Griffin and Three Valley
Lakes was cancelled on October 14, 1902, after represen-
tations were made to the Minister of the Interior that
““the lands were worthless as a park.”” The park reserves
at Lake Louise, Field and in the Selkirk Mountains were
destined to be orphans of the park administration for
many years. Only the interest and expenditures of the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company kept them in the
public eye. The construction of a chalet at Lake Louise
resulted in a slow but steady increase in visitors to the
area, practically all of whom arrived over the railway. A
small settlement developed at Field, where railway
maintenance and a small mine. the nearby Monarch.
provided most of the employment. The Canadian Pacific
had. before the introduction of dining-cars. erected
restaurants at Field and Glacier Station. at which meal-
stops were made for the convenience of passengers. From
these innovations were developed the widely known
Mount Stephen House and Glacier House hotels, which
rapidly became visitor centres. Later events, including
extensions to the original park reservations. would bring
developments and amenities resulting in a wider use and
appreciation of the mountain wilderness and its many
attractions.

Waterton Lakes Forest Park

Before the end of the 19th century, an additional park
reserve was created in one of the most colourful sections
of the Canadian Rockies. In his annual report for 1886,
William Pearce, Superintendent of Mines, had com-
mented on the growing popularity and use of the hot
springs at Banff, and had added the following obser-
vation:

“There are many other points in the Rocky Mountains
which, in the near future, it would be well to reserve,
among which may be mentioned the vicinity around
the lakes which rise near the 49th Parallel and empty
by the Waterton River into the Belly River.”’**

This recommendation was overlooked or forgotten by
departmental officers, and it was not until 1893 that the
desirability of having an area surrounding the Kootenay
or Waterton Lakes prcscrvcd for public use was drawn to
the attention of government. In September of that year,
F.W. Godsal, a rancher in the Cowley District north of
the lakes. wrote Pearce at Calgary and made a strong
plea for a park area that would surround the lakes.
Godsal specifically recalled Pearce’s recommendation
“in an official report™, and explained that, as the lakes

for some years had provided a common resort for the
surrounding neighbourhood for camping and holiday
making. they should be set aside for public use before
they were crowded out and spoiled by settlement, which
was being accentuated by the construction of a railway
through Crow’s Nest Pass.

Waterton’s First Resident

Godsal had long been interested in the National Park
movement, and had been among those who had signed
the petition forwarded to the Minister of the Interior in
1887 protesting the construction of a tunnel into the
Cave Spring at Banff. His observation about the need for
a plcasurmn ground in an area where there were ““few
such places” was indeed prophetic. Less than a decade
before, the area surrounding Waterton Lakes had been a
relative wilderness in which the first permanent settler,
John George “*Kootenai’” Brown had established a home
on the shores of the Lower Waterton Lake. A veritable
soldier of fortune, Brown had lived an extraordinary life
of adventure before settling down to the life of a guide.
hunter and fisherman. Commissioned as an ensign in the
British Army in 1857, he had seen service in India before
selling his commission three years later. Sailing from
England for Panama, he had crossed the isthmus on foot.
shipped north to San Francisco and Victoria, engaged in
the Cariboo gold rush. and crossed the Rockies via South
Kootenay Pass in 1865. In the years following. Brown
was in turn a hunter, mail courier, army scout, guide and
interpreter. In 1869, he married a Metis girl at Pembina.
Eight years later, he was involved in a quarrel with a
trader in which his antagonist was fatally stabbed. After
being tried for murder, Brown was acquitted. The follow-
ing year he returned to the lakes he had first glimpsed in
1865 and, opened a store. A new life of trading. hunting
and fishing was interspersed by service as a scout with
the Rocky Mountain Rangers during the rebellion of
1885. and later with the North West Mounted Police at
Fort MacLeod as a guide and Packer.®® In his lonely but
scenically superb surroundings, four miles north of the
International Boundary. Brown was to witness in a few
years some startling changes. In 1889-90 oil was discov-
ered in the valley of a creek (Cameron) above and west
of Upper Waterton Lakes. This find precipitated Alber-
ta’s first oil boom but although frantic staking ensued
and a development company was formed, the rush soon
came to an end. William Aldridge, a settler in the
vicinity, collected and sold crude oil to other settlers and
ranchers in the district, but the developers apparently
lost interest. An influx of population, coupled with a
growing scarcity of game and fish brough to older
residents of the area. including Brown and Godsal. a
realization that the character of the district was rapidly
changing and that its attractions as a sportsman’s para-
dise were fast disappearing.

Godsal’s recommendation of September, 1893, that
the Waterton Lakes be reserved as a national park
without doubt conveyed the feelings of other residents of
the area. Pearce promptly forwarded Godsal’s letter to
higher authority with a recommendation that the reser-
vation be made. His letter pointed out that the lands
under review had no value for cultivation, and only



slight value for grazing.®® The reception to the proposal
in the Department of the Interior at Ottawa was less than
enthusiastic. Whether the civil service mind was merely
cautious or definitely reluctant to embark on further
national park reservations is unknown, but the relevant
file shows that the Secretary of the Interior, John R. Hall
was sceptical. In a brief note to the Deputy Minister he
inquired **Don’t you think it possible to overdo this park
reservation business?”’. In turn the Deputy Minister,
A.M. Burgess submitted the correspondence to the Min-
ister, Honourable T. Mayne Daly, with the following
observations:

“I submit a sketch showing the land which Mr. F.W.
Godsal recommends to be withdrawn from settlement
and reserves as a park, it being a place of public
resort. There is really some danger that this reser-
vation of parks may be made ineffectual on account of
the number of reservations. I am afraid that if they go
on increasing, the public, will begin to think that they
are not very sacred. It would be far better to have only
one or two parks at important points, and to have them
Sfaithfully and well protected, than a larger number of
reservations none of which the public would
regard.”®’

Park is Established

The unhurried pace of departmental deliberation at the
time is reflected in the fact that a full year elapsed before
the Mr. Burgess’ memorandum was finally disposed of.
Nevertheless, to his everlasting credit, Mr. Daly disre-
garded his Deputy’s advice and took a long term view of
the proposal. In a handwritten memorandum dated
November 19, 1894, he reached a decision that in future
years would have far-reaching implications.

“Upon the strength of Mr. Pearce’s approval of Mr.
Godsal’s suggestion, you have my authority for mak-
ing the proposed reservation for park purposes. Pos-
terity will bless us. In Memorandum to Council
incorporate what Pearce say as to land values.”’**

On May 30, 1895, portions of Townships 1 and 2 in
Ranges 29 and 30 west of the Fourth Meridian were set
apart as a forest park under authority of Section 78 of the
Dominion Lands Act. The park area totalled 54 square
miles and incorporated the portion of Upper Kootenay
or Waterton Lake situated north of the International
Boundary, together with the middle and lower lakes. The
decision to reserve this area was a most significant one,
for rejection of Godsal’s recommendation on the eve of a
new century undoubtedly would have had an adverse
effect on later proposals for national parks. Although
many years were to pass before the forest park was to be
placed in charge of a resident custodian and developed
for visitor use, Waterton Lakes and their great attrac-
tions were saved from alienation, and from then on were
open to public use and enjoyment.

Park Idea Confirmed
And so, as Canada entered the twentieth century, the
“national park idea’ was firmly established. Rocky
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Mountains Park had been a reality for nearly thirteen
years, and five additional park reservations had been
made elsewhere in the Rocky and Selkirk Mountains.
The incomparable beauty of the Lake Louise area was
saved from despoliation. the nucleus of parks that would
encompass the wonders of Yoho Valley and the snowy
Selkirks had been set aside, and the Canadian compo-
nent of the future Waterton-Glacier International Peace
Park had been preserved for posterity. Canadians could
look forward to future extensions of a national heritage
from which countless millions in years to come would
enjoy the benefits of outdoor life and healthful recreation
in surroundings of great natural beauty.
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Chapter 2
Expansion in the West

~1900 TO 1972 ~



Introduction

The early popularity of Rocky Mountains Park and its
principal vacation centre, Banff, was due in a large
measure to the enterprise of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way Company. For the first 25 years of its existence, the
national park, later to become known as “Banff”’, was
accessible only by railway. The company erected, with
funds derived from sales of land, hotels at strategic
points along its line through the Rocky and Selkirk
Mountains. The company also carried on an advertising
program that extolled not only the luxury of its hostel-
ries, but also the magnificance of their surroundings. As
visitor traffic increased, it was inevitable that Canadians
would soon realize that a park area of 260 square miles
would no longer serve the needs of a growing population.
As events transpired, the demand for more and larger
parks was met by the establishment of a chain of national
areas that, midway into a new century, spanned the
continent from the Atlantic almost to the Pacific Ocean.

As recorded in the first chapter of this history, park
reserves or ‘‘forest’” parks had been established on the
line of the Canadian Pacific Railway west of Banff at
Lake Louise, Field and Glacier; at Waterton Lakes in the
southwestern part of what is now Alberta, and at Jasper
on the line of the projected Grand Trunk Pacific Rail-
way. These reserves, together with Rocky Mountains
Park, formed the nucleus of Canada’s National Park
system. By 1912, the motor vehicle, in various forms, was
replacing the horse as a means of local transportation,
and the pioneering instincts of early motorists exerted a
profound influence on the expansion of the parks
movement in Canada. In the following pages will be
found details of the circumstances relating the enlarge-
ment of the earlier park reserves, their confirmation as
national parks, and the establishment of additional parks
representative of the nation’s outstanding scenic regions
or its unique and varied wild life.

The contents of this chapter and that immediately
following are not intended to form complete histories of
the parks enumerated. In succeeding chapters, additional
information provided should compensate for any ob-
vious deficiencies. Subjects to be given special attention
include park administration, townsite and highway
development, visitor accommodation, outdoor recrea-
tion, camping, wildlife conservation, and park interpre-
tation and education.

Banff National Park

Before the close of the nineteenth century, the Govern-
ment of Canada was urged to extend the boundaries of
its national park. Early in January, 1899, A.E. Cross of
Calgary, a member of the Legislative Assembly for the
Northwest Territories, wrote the Honourable Clifford
Sifton, Minister of the Interior, calling attention to the
destruction of ““big game’” in the Territories. He sugg-
ested that Rocky Mountains Park be enlarged to incor-
porate lands between the Canadian Pacific Railway to
the north and the Crows Nest Pass Railway to the south,
extending easterly from the crest of the Rocky Moun-
tains to the foothills.! Apparently Mr. Cross enlisted
support for his proposal, for on February 25, Arthur L.
Sifton of Calgary wrote to the Minister, also recom-
mending extension of the park boundaries. He enclosed a
description of the lands he believed should form the
extension, which lay south of Township 34 between the
western boundary of Range 7 and the British Columbia
boundary.?

Howard Douglas, Superintendent of the Park, had
recommended an increase in the park area in his annual
report for 1898. He now joined the advocates by for-
warding a long letter to his Minister on March 23, 1899.
Douglas compared the insignificant area of Rocky
Mountains Park (260 square miles) with that of Yellow-
stone National Park in the United States (3,000 square
miles) and the recently established Algonquin (1893)
and Laurentides (1895) Provincial Parks in Ontario and
Quebec, both of which exceeded 1,800 square miles.’ He
also drew attention to the attendance at Rocky Moun-
tains Park for the years 1895 to 1898, which had greatly
exceeded that at Yellowstone Park.

Another reason for suggesting an extension of bound-
aries was the possibility that, following the creation of
provinces from the Northwest Territories, the assembly
of land for park purposes might be more difficult. A final
agreement advanced by Douglas was the need of ensur-
ing that the park was large enough to accommodate
visitors who might wish to ride out into wilderness areas
and enjoy scenic and natural attractions not accessible by
carriage roads.

The Park is Enlarged

Support from the press of western Canada also was
evident, as editorials in the Winnipeg Free Press and the
Vancouver World emphasized the need for immediate
action. As the Free Press stated

“By all means let the National Park at Banff be
enlarged, as the Superintendent urges in his annual
report. Its area is about 260 square miles; about one-
tenth the area of that of the United States National
Park on the Yellowstone. There is lots of elbow room
in the Northern Rockies as yet, and the time to take
action is now — before vested interests shall have made
it difficult to enlarge this, the most beautiful play-
ground possessed by any people”.*

Clifford Sifton approved the enlargement suggested
by his brother Arthur and by Superintendent Douglas,
and a bill to amend the Rocky Mountains Park Act was



drawn and printed. The proposed legislation however,
was the deferred until 1901, when the bill was resur-
rected and revised. The amendment was passed by
Parliament during the 1902 Session and received royal
assent on May 15, 1902.5 The enlarged park now
contained an area of 4,400 square miles, including the
spectacular Lake Louise area which had been originally
reserved in 1892, together with the watersheds of the
Bow, Red Deer, Kananaskis and Spray Rivers, and made
available to park visitors the outstanding scenic areas
surrounding the Bow, Spray and Kananaskis Lakes.

The area of Rocky Mountains Park later experienced
further revisions. In 1908, the administration of the
parks had been placed under the Superintendent of
Forestry and a forest and game protection service was
organized. Howard Sibbald, who had been appointed
chief game guardian of the park in 1909, recommended
to Superintendent Douglas the deletion of a portion of
the park comprising foot hill country in which timber
cutting and grazing privileges had been granted. Sibbald
believed that boundaries where possible should be more
definite than those described by township lines, many of
which had not been surveyed. Douglas agreed that
existing boundaries were impossible to locate on the
ground and that the cost of a survey would be prohib-
itive. He also considered that any reductions should be
compensated by the addition of territory north of the
park to the North Saskatchewan River. Superintendent
Campbell of the Forestry Branch pointed out that the
inclusion of the lands to the north would reduce the area
outside the parks open to public hunting and thus limit
the area to which outfitters brought their hunting parties.
Eventually, action was deferred on instructions from the
Deputy Minister, who concluded that instead of dealing
with Rocky Mountains Park in particular, it would be
better to consider the areas of all the parks along the
eastern slope of the Rockies and adopt a consistent policy
in each case.

A New Parks Act
On May 19, 1911 the Rocky Mountains Park Act was
replaced by the Dominion Forest Reserves and Parks
Act, which incorporated in Rocky Mountain Forest
Reserve all lands formerly constituting Rocky Moun-
tains Park.® The new act authorized the establishment
and proclamation by Order in Council of Dominion
Parks from lands comprising forest reserves. On June 8,
1911, Rocky Mountains Park was re-established, but
with an area of 1,800 square miles or less than half its
previous dimensions.” Available records contain little
information on why a reduction of 2,600 square miles
was made, but presumably the reason was to bring the
park area within the administrative capabilities of the
existing park staff. There is also reason to believe that
neither the Minister, the Honourable Frank Oliver, or
Superintendent Campbell of the Forestry Branch were
sympathetic to the cause of park extension. This assump-
tion is supported by the explanation offered for a drastic
reduction in the area of Waterton Lakes Park, reviewed
later in this chapter.

Soon after the new Parks Act came into force, the
administration of the national parks passed from the

Forestry Branch of the Interior to the recently-estab-
lished Dominion Parks Branch headed by J.B. Harkin as
Commissioner. The new commissioner recognized the
need for a more equitable distribution of public lands set
aside for the purposes of forest reserves and national
parks. Discussions between officers of the rival branches
of the Department led, in 1917, to the re-inclusion in
Rocky Mountains Park of the upper Red Deer and
Panther River watersheds, together with part of the
Kananaskis River Valley. This extension increased the
area of the park from 1,800 to 2,751 square miles.*

More Boundary Changes

Within the next few years, the boundaries of Rocky
Mountains Park again were changed. By 1927, the
Government of Canada was committed to proceed with
Acts of Parliament by which the natural resources in the
four western provinces would be vested in the provincial
governments. As lands contiguous to park boundaries
would no longer be vested in the same government that
controlled the parks, it was essential that future park
boundaries be decided well in advance.

Early in 1927 a study of the boundaries of Banff and
Jasper National Parks was authorized by the Deputy
Minister of the Interior. R.W. Cautley, D.L.S., a depart-
mental officer with wide experience, was detailed to
investigate and report on suitable permanent boundaries
for the two parks, with the co-operation of the provincial
government.

L.C. Charlesworth, Chairman of the Irrigation Coun-
cil of Alberta, was appointed official representative of
that province. Mr. Cautley travelled extensively during
the summers of 1927 and 1928. His report recommended
deletion of certain areas which had more value to the
province by reason of their commercial possibilities, and
the retention of areas which had outstanding park
characteristics and potential. All recommendations had
the unqualified approval of the provincial representative
and as a preliminary step, an area of 976 square miles
south of Sunwapta Pass, which had formed part of Jasper
National Park, was transferred to Rocky Mountains
Park on February 6, 1929. At the same time an area of an
103 square miles surrounding Mount Malloch was
added to the park. These additions increased the area of
the park to 3,830 square miles.’

The withdrawal from Banff National Park of lands
which failed to meet the new criteria, was accomplished
by the National Parks Act in 1930.'® Among the areas
deleted were the Kananaskis River Valley which had
been badly scarred by fire; a portion of the Spray Lakes
watershed which had water-power potential; an area in
the Ghost River watershed; much of the Red Deer River
watershed, and an area of 377 square miles in the angle
of the Cline and Siffleur Rivers which had been included
in the transfer from Jasper to Banff Park in 1929. The
1930 Act established the name of the park as ‘“Banff”’
and its area as 2,585 square miles.

Latest Adjustment in Area

A minor adjustment to the eastern boundary in 1933
followed the transfer to Canada by Alberta of 207 acres
to facilitate the construction of a new park entrance
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building on the Calgary-Banff Highway. The latest
revision in the Park boundaries occurred in 1949 when
adjustments were made in the vicinity of the Spray Lakes
reservoir which had been developed by the Calgary
Power Company.'" At the request of the Province of
Alberta, 21 square miles in the vicinity of Goat Range
were withdrawn by an amendment to the National Parks
Act. This withdrawal facilitated the completion of a
hydro-electric power development on provincial land,
and left Banff’ National Park with an area of 2,564
square miles.

The Automobile Arrives

The automobile was responsible, more than any other
factor, for the expansion of visitor services in Banff and
subsequent national parks. Although barred from park
roads by regulation until 1910, the now ubiquitous
“car’ rapidly attained popularity and influenced the
development of an extensive inter-park highway system.
By 1911, Rocky Mountains Park was accessible from
Calgary by road and the extension of a motor route
westerly from Banff was undertaken that year. By 1920 a
connection with Lake Louise was made, and access to
Banff' from southeastern British Columbia was made
possible by the completion of the Banff-Windermere
Road in 1923. An extension of the road from Lake
Louise to Field in 1926 permitted motor travel to Yoho
Park, and the following year the Kicking Horse Trail to
Golden was opened.

The depression years of the ““thirties’” gave rise to a
new motor road. Construction of the Banff-Jasper
Highway was undertaken in 1932 as an unemployment
relief project and was completed in 1939. Its opening,
early in 1940, resulted in a direct motor route between
Lake Louise and the Townsite of Jasper, traversing a
magnificent scenic region replete with snow-crowned
peaks, waterfalls, icefields and glaciers.

Successive improvements to the main highway
through Banff and Yoho Parks were climaxed by the
construction of the Trans-Canada Highway. The route,
selected after intensive surveys, by-passed much of the
original road construction. Completion of the highway
through Banff’ Park in 1958 resulted in a greatly in-
creased volume of visitor travel.

Improvements at Banff
Burgeoning park use led to the expansion of the townsite
of Banff and the development of additional visitor
accommodation and services. Horse-drawn vehicles, in-
cluding the picturesque tally-ho, were discarded for
buses and taxis. The original bathing pool at the Cave
and Basin Springs in Banff was replaced in 1914 by a
large development incorporating two outdoor pools and
improved accommodation for bathers. A new pool and
bath-house was opened in 1932 at the Upper Hot
Springs, succeeding the previous establishment which
dated back to 1904. Several of the early hotels in Banff
Park gave way to modern structures. Both the historic
Banff' Springs Hotel and the Chateau Lake Louise
emerged in new form from the ashes of earlier
construction.

The development of bungalow cabin camps in Banff
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National Park began in 1934, when sites for this form of
accommodation were advertised by the Park Superin-
tendent. Located on the outskirts of Banff and along park
highways, these innovations enjoyed exceptional patron-
age. In turn, the cabin developments later were supple-
mented by motels and motor hotels, constructed princi-
pally in the town of Banff and vicinity. The development
of the first visitor services centre outside a park townsite
was undertaken at Lake Louise in 1964. This develop-
ment, which concentrated in one area a public camp-
ground, trailer park, picnic area, motel accommodation
and a small shopping centre permitted a ban on further
ribbon development of visitor services along park
highways.

Campground Extension

The provision of campgrounds was a logical sequence to
the development of motor travel. The first major camp-
ground in the park was laid out along the Bow River in
1916, below its confluence with the Spray. Later, when
the site was required for an extension of the Banff
Springs golf course, a new campground was developed
on Tunnel Mountain in 1927. It was expanded gradually
to accommodate both trailer and tent accommodation. A
continuing demand for camp sites influenced the devel-
opment in 1967 of a new campground east of the
original one on Tunnel Mountain. By 1969 the expanded
campground —the largest in the national park system —
provided the ultimate in camping amenities including
water, sewer and electric power services. Two additional
serviced campgrounds, together with nine satellite areas
provided additional sites for camping parties.

Winter Sports Activity

The transformation of Banflf National Park from a
summer vacation area to a year-round resort followed
the expansion of winter sport activities. An annual
winter carnival was carried on at Banff for more than 50
years. Curling was organized in 1900 and a local club
built its first closed rink in 1922. Its base of operations
was relocated in 1962 following the completion of the
Banff Recreational Centre.

Skiing was introduced in 1900 and gradually through
the years attained a fantastic popularity. Early ski
developments were concentrated on the slopes of Mount
Norquay overlooking the town of Banff, where a local
club erected a club-house and the Park Superintendent
co-operated in the development of a jumping hill and
down-hill runs. The first chair lift, which doubled in
summer as a sight-seeing conveyance, was installed in
1948. Development of a ski centre on Mount Whitehorn
near Lake Louise was undertaken in 1959 when a
gondola lift was constructed by private enterprise on the
lower slopes of the mountain. This installation later was
augmented by several lifts. New down-hill runs were
developed and a large parking area was constructed. The
nucleus of another popular ski centre northwest of Banft
at Sunshine Valley was built in 1936. Early tows and lifts
were improved in 1956, and in 1963 a major redevelop-
ment of the area was undertaken by private enterprise.
New installations made including three chalets provid-
ing overnight accommodation, a day lodge, T-Bar tows



and chair lifts, all contributed to the development of

Sunshine Village as a major ski resort.

Cultural amenities in Banff were broadened following
the construction of the Banff School of Fine Arts between
1947 and 1968. This extensive complex, located on the
slopes of Tunnel Mountain overlooking Banff, was spon-
sored and constructed as an extension to the University
of Calgary. It offers a variety of courses in fine arts,
music, languages, and business management. The erec-

tion of a modern building in 1968 within the town of

Banff to house the Archives of the Canadian Rockies
provided local citizens and visitors with a modern
library, an art gallery, and a repository for papers, books,
records and artifacts relating to the Canadian Rockies.

As the oldest, one of the largest, and the best known of

Canada’s National Parks, Banff has maintained its early
popularity. Its magnificent scenery, excellent highways,
unique natural attractions and its man-made amenities
have attracted visitors in increasing thousands during its
85 years of existence. Since 1967, more than two million
visitors have enjoyed each year, unique and diversified
attractions confirming the prediction of one of its orig-
inal Sponsors, Sir John A. Macdonald, that it would
become “‘a great watering-place”’."?
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Yoho National Park

The National Park movement gathered considerable
momentum in December 1901, when the park reserve
around Mt. Stephen in British Columbia was enlarged to
incorporate an area of 828 square miles.! Described as
the Yoho Park Reserve, it included the spectacular Yoho
Valley, Emerald Lake, Lakes O’Hara and McArthur, and
the major portion of the watersheds of the Beaverfoot,
Ottertail, and Amiskwi Rivers. This timely park develop-
ment stemmed from the explorations carried out in 1897
by Dr. Jean Habel of Berlin, Germany, whose ambition
was to explore the area surrounding a high glacier-clad
peak beyond the Yoho Valley which was visible from the
line of the Canadian Pacific Railway.? Habel termed it
“Hidden Mountain”’. It was given the name of Mount
Habel in 1898, but later was changed by the Geographic
Board of Canada to ““des Poilus’’ commemorating the
French soldier in the First Great War.? In his interesting
book *“The Trail to the Charmed Land”’, Ralph Edwards
contended that Habel had as another objective, the
conquest of Mount Balfour. This peak dominated the

Wapiti Mountains which flanked the Bow River Valley
on its western side, northerly from Kicking Horse Pass.*

Yoho Valley Explored

A professor of mathematics, scientist and mountain
climber of considerable skill, Doctor Habel arrived at
Field in June, 1897. Attempts to reach and climb Mt
Balfour had been made from the Bow River Valley on
the eastern side. Habel was informed that the valley of
the Yoho River or north fork of the Wapta River as it
was then known, was impenetrable —a tangled wilder-
ness of canyon, rocks and trees.” Undaunted, Habel
decided to approach his objective by way of Emerald
Lake. from which point he hoped to reach the reputedly
inaccessible valley.

Outfitted by Tom Wilson, the well known guide and
packer, and discoverer of Emerald Lake, Habel left Field
on July 15, 1897, accompanied by Ralph Edwards as
guide, Fred Stephens as chief packer and Frank Well-
man as cook.® The outfit was carried by four horses but
Habel chose to travel on foot. Emerald Lake was accessi-
ble by trail but from then on, the route lay through
primitive forests and across glaciated slopes. Making
their way over Yoho Pass the party reached a point
where the glacier-hung walls of the spectacular Yoho
Valley and the glittering cascade of Takakkaw Falls met
the eyes. As Habel described the scene:

“The torrent from the hanging glaciers, which cover
the eastern terraces of the valley, descended directly
opposite to us in a very powerful waterfall. Rushing
from under the ice at about the height of our stand-
point, this fall plunges over a nearly pezpendzcu/a)
wall down to the very level of the valley bottom in
beauty and grandeur hardly to be excelled by any
other on our globe. An entire view of the falls can only
be got from a point like that at which we stood, and not
[from the lower parts of the valley™.

Working their way down to the floor of the valley the
party explored the upper Yoho or “Waterfall” valley,
Twin Falls, Yoho Glacier and the Waputik Icefield.
Habel was able to climb an outrider of Mount Balfour
which he named ““Trolltinder’” but was obliged to cut
short his exploration and any attempt to climb *“Hid-
den’” Mountain when supplies ran low. A return was
made to the Kicking Horse valley and Field by travelling
along the floor of the Yoho Valley to the canyon which
was avoided by a climb up the forested slopes around the
north western side of Mount Field.

Park Reserve Established

A description of Habel’s travels was read to members of
the Appalachian Mountain Club at its annual meeting in
1898, but it was not until 1901 that the remarkable
scenic attractions of the area were brought to the atten-
tion of the Department of the Interior at Ottawa. Ralph
Edwards, Habel’s guide, had described the Yoho Valley
and its wonders to his employer, Tom Wilson. In turn
Wilson was able to impress officers of the Canadian
Pacific Railway Company with the possibilities of the
region as a tourist attraction, provided it was opened up
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by construction of a road. Eventually in February 1901,
Charles Drinkwater, assistant to the president of the
railway company, described Habel’s discoveries to James
A. Smart, Deputy Minister of the Interior during a visit
to Ottawa. Drinkwater followed up his interview with a
letter to Smart and recommended that the Yoho Valley
be set aside as a park reserve. Obviously impressed with
the tourist possibilities of the recent discoveries, Drink-
water also made a formal application for a grant of an
area of 23 acres near the railway station at Field, on
which the railway company proposed to construct sta-
bles, a corral and other improvements that might be
required to serve the visitors that would be attracted by
the scenic wonders that had been disclosed.®

After considerable deliberation, during which the
name “*Wapta Falls’” was considered and discarded, the
“Yoho Park Reserve” containing 828.5 square miles,
was established on December 14, 1901 to preserve the
“glaciers, large waterfalls and other wonderful and
beautiful scenery within its boundaries’’. Attached to the
enacting Order in Council was a plan which outlined in
red the boundaries of the reserve. The name ““Yoho”” was
suggested by the Surveyor General, Edward Deville,
who, in a memorandum to the Deputy Minister, obs-
erved that the correct name of the principal waterfall was
“Takakkaw’” which had been selected by Sir William
VanHorne, Chairman of the Canadian Pacific Railway
Company. At the time, Mr. Deville observed that the
name ‘‘Takakkaw’ was the Cree Indian for *‘it is

RN

magnificent”’.

Yoho Becomes a Park

In 1911, the Yoho Park Reserve was re-established
under authority of the Dominion Forest Reserves and
Parks Act as Yoho Dominion (National) Park.'" In
common with several other park reserves established at
the same time, it suffered a reduction in area to 560
square miles. Eleven years later, a further reduction was
made to eliminate several timber berths from the park.
This withdrawal reduced the park area to 476 square
miles. Concurrently with the passing of the National
Parks Act in 1930, the park boundaries again were
adjusted to follow, as far as possible, heights of land,
rather than township lines, and increased the park’s area
to 507 square miles.

Park Development Commenced

Development of the enlarged park reserve was under-
taken by the Department of the Interior shortly after its
establishment. From 1902 until 1908 its administration
was supervised by Howard Douglas, Superintendent of
Rocky Mountains Park, with the help of an assistant
superintendent. After 1908, the local administration of
the park was carried out by a resident superintendent.
Douglas undertook construction of a network of roads
including one to Emerald Lake which was completed in
1904. The task of opening up Yoho Valley was com-
menced in 1903 but limited funds, rugged terrain, and
primitive equipment all combined to extend the con-
struction period to seven years. By 1909, Takakkaw falls
were accessible by horse-drawn carriages and the follow-
ing year the road was completed.'' Douglas also built a
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diversion in the Emerald Lake road to provide access to
the natural bridge over the Kicking Horse River west of
Field and converted an abandoned railway grade lead-
ing westerly from Field to Ottertail to a carriage road.

Following construction by the Canadian Pacific Rail-
way Company in 1908-09 of the spiral tunnels in
Mounts Ogden and Cathedral, which reduced the grade
of the **big hill”” east of Field, Superintendent Douglas
utilized the abandoned railway right of way to construct
a scenic drive easterly up Kicking Horse River Valley
almost to Wapta Lake. Most of the roads previously used
by horsedrawn vehicles were opened to motorists in
1919, and the Yoho Valley Road was made accessible to
automobiles in 1920.'2 Public demand for a motor route
to Yoho Park from Lake Louise led the Department of
the Interior in 1924 to commence construction of a road
to Field, together with an extension from Field to the
western boundary of the park. The section to Field was
completed and opened to travel in July, 1926. By the end
of that year construction had been carried to the park
boundary, where it linked with a road constructed by the
Province of British Columbia from Golden. The com-
bined route, known as the Kicking Horse Trail, was
formally opened to traffic in July, 1927. The main
highway though the parks served as a link in a transcon-
tinental motor route from the Prairies to British Colum-
bia, until the Trans-Canada Highway project was insti-
tuted. Over the years, other roads in the park were
improved. The Emerald Lake road was relocated in
places in 1959 and paved in 1962. The Yoho Valley road
also has been given a **face-lifting’’ by relocation. The
spectacular switch-backs lost most of their hazards to
timid motorists when the grades were widened by the use
of steel bin-wall in 1956.

Hotels and Lodges

The original hotel at Field, the Mount Stephen House,
constructed by the Canadian Pacific Railway Company
in 1886, served as the principal visitor accommodation
for many years. Later it was turned over to the Y. M.C.A.
as a rooming house and recreational centre for railway
employees. [t was finally demolished in 1963 after staff
was accommodated in a modern bunk-house. Additional
accommodation in the form of lodges and bungalow
camps was constructed by the railway company at
Emerald Lake in 1903 and at Yoho Valley, Wapta Lake,
and Lake O’Hara in the “"nineteen-twenties’’ but gradu-
ally these concessions were sold to individual operators.
Cathedral Mountain Chalets were built in 1933 near the

junction of the Yoho Valley Road and the Trans-Canada

Highway. Wapta Lodge was gutted by fire in 1961 and
was rebuilt in 1963 as a modern motor hotel by a
Calgary group.

Park Administration

Although Yoho National Park was placed in charge of a
resident superintendent in 1908, the duties of the latter
were expanded some years later to take in the adminis-
tration of the three other parks in British Columbia—
Kootenay, Glacier and Mount Revelstoke. In 1957,
Glacier and Mount Revelstoke parks were placed under
separate administration, and an individual superintend-



ent was assigned to Kootenay Park. The first park office
was built in 1905 on railway land near the telegraph
office at Field. In 1933, the superintendent and staff
moved to a building on Stephen Avenue, formerly
occupied by a bank. Later the lot and building were
acquired by the Department, and in 1955 the premises
were enlarged and modernized.

The Townsite of Field dates from 1884, when con-
struction of the Canadian Pacific Railway reached its
site. It was named after Cyrus W. Field, promoter of the
first Atlantic cable, who was in the vicinity that year.'3
Early residents lived on both sides of the Kicking Horse
River, but houses on the north side were almost totally
destroyed or impaired by an avalanche which occurred
in 1909 on the slopes of Mount Burgess. The present
townsite was first surveyed in 1904, after which a
number of additions were made. Field has the distinction
of being the only townsite in a national park in which all
lots are not leased to residents by the National Park
Administration. After the railway was completed, the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company surveyed part of its
station grounds as a subdivision and a portion of the
townsite north of Stephen Avenue still remains under
railway control and ownership.

Highway Access Improved

Prior to 1926, access to the park from distant points was
possible only by railway. Most of the early visitors
disembarked from the trains at Field, where they were
accommodated at the Mount Stephen House or driven by
tally-ho to Emerald Lake or to other available accommo-
dation. Early visitors to Wapta Lodge and Lake O’Hara
Lodge had the option of leaving the train at Hector
Station overlooking Wapta Lake. From this point they
reached their destinations by boat to Wapta Lodge or by
riding trail to Lake O’Hara.

The completion of the main park highway, the Kick-
ing Horse Trail, from the eastern to the western bounda-
ries of the park in 1927, opened a highly scenic route to
motorists and in a few years the largest proportion of
visitors to Yoho Park arrived by motor vehicle. In turn,
this motor traffic stimulated a demand for campgrounds
and picnic sites which were developed by the National
Park Service at strategic points along the principal
avenues of travel. Construction of the Trans Canada
Highway through the park began in 1955 and was
carried on for the next three years. By the end of 1958,
the highway had been completed and hard-surfaced with
the exception of a final lift of asphalt which was laid in
1963. The opening of the Trans Canada Highway over
Rogers Pass and through Glacier and Mount Revelstoke
National Parks in 1962 helped swell the tide of visitors,
which in Yoho Park now exceeds 900,000 each year.

Recreation

Outdoor recreation enjoyed by residents of and visitors
to the park included riding, hiking and mountain climb-
ing. Horse liveries were operated at Field and Emerald
Lake in the early days of the park existence and at Yoho
Valley and Wapta Lodge following their opening in the
early 20’s. The Alpine Club of Canada held its first camp
in the park in 1906. For many years it held a lease

covering the site of a summer camp on the south shore of
Lake O’Hara. In 1931, the club was granted the occu-
pancy of the two cabins left in the Alpine Meadow after
the balance of the C.P.R. buildings comprising Lake
O’Hara Lodge were moved to the lakeshore in 1925 and
1926. The club erected a lodge in the little Yoho Valley
in 1941. The area between Yoho Valley and Emerald
Lake has been a popular one for hiking and riding, and
trails used extensively include those crossing Yoho Pass
and along the upper slopes of the President Range
overlooking Takkakaw Falls. A nine-hole golf course was
built on the Kicking Horse flats in the mid 1930’s, and
was used by residents for some years. A ski hill was
developed by the Field Recreation Commission on a
slope cleared west of Field on the Trans-Canada
Highway. A curling club, formed at Field in the early
1930’s has continued operation, and skating on an
outdoor rink has been popular for years.

The Monarch Mine

Openings on the steep faces of Mount Stephen and
Mount Field on opposite sides of the Kicking Horse
River bear witness to a mining operation carried on east
of Field for nearly sixty years.

The Monarch claim was located in 1884 on informa-
tion supplied by Tom Wilson and was Crown granted in
1893. Hand-sorted shipments of lead ore were shipped
intermittently to Vancouver until 1912, when a small
gravity-type concentrator was erected by the Mount
Stephen mining syndicate on railway land below the
mine opening. Milling began that year and was contin-
ued off and on until 1924. In 1925, the Monarch mine
together with the adjoining St. Etienne and other claims
on Mount Stephen, as well as a group of claims across the
valley known as the Kicking Horse Mine, were acquired
by A.B. Trites, president of the Pacific Mining Develop-
ment and Petroleum Company. Trites obtained a licence
of occupation in 1926 for three parcels of land in
Kicking Horse Valley from the Minister of the Interior
for works and buildings. He also entered into an agree-
ment which granted the Company certain privileges. In
return, the agreement provided that at the end of the 21-
year term, title to all Crown-granted and other mineral
claims held by Trites and his company would revert to
the Crown in right of Canada.

In 1929, Trites sold his interest in the two mines to
Base Metals Mining Corporation. The Corporation built
a new mill below the Monarch claim on railway land,
installed an aerial tramway, erected accessory buildings
and commenced operations in November 1929. The
Kicking Horse Mine, which included claims first located
in 1910, was brought into production in 1941. The
installation of an aerial tramway permitted the convey-
ance of ore from the mine portal to a bin on the valley
floor, from which it was trucked a distance of two miles
to the mill below Mount Stephen.

During the war years, production of lead, zinc and
silver reached a high level and in 1947 the corporation
requested and was granted an extension of two years in
which to remove all remaining minerals. In 1948 the
term of the licence was extended to 1957 but by Novem-
ber, 1952, the corporation had closed both mines. Dur-
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ing the next two years it disposed of much of its mine
equipment. With Departmental consent. the corporation
subleased a number of'its buildings to contractors engag-
ed on the Trans Canada Highway and to the Federal
Department of Public Works. Early in 1958, the Com-
pany agreed to convey title to the Crown covering all
claims which it then held. Acceptance of a surrender
from the Company of its interests was delayed until the
lands formerly occupied had been cleaned up and the

portals to the mines had been sealed to the satisfaction of

the park superintendent.

During the periods of operation a large heap of mine
tailings had been dumped on the bank of the Kicking
Horse River, creating an unsightly deposit and. in dry
weather. clouds of dust in the vicinity. The unsightly
piles of tailings were eliminated in July. 1960. during a
period of high water, when they were bull-dozed by park
forces into the Kicking Horse River. The former mining
camp had been cleared by 1961 but compliance with the
portal-sealing requirement had not been obtained by the
Department in 1968, in spite of correspondence and
negotiations carried on for ten years. Finally. in May.
1968. the corporation completed a conveyance of title
covering its land and mineral holdings to the Crown in
right of Canada.
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Glacier National Park

For more than fifteen years after its establishment in
1886. the mountain park reservation around Glacier
‘Station in the Selkirk Mountains remained relatively
undeveloped by the Federal Government. Located in the
heart of a rugged alpine wonderland, it was accessible
only by the main line of the Canadian Pacific Railway.
The route across the mountains lay over Rogers Pass,
down the precipitous sides of which thundered av-
alanches carrying before them rocks, trees, ice and snow.
Protection to railway cars and passengers was provided
by lines of snow sheds and glances, built of heavy timber
and capable of diverting or sustaining the great masses
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of snow and debris that rolled down during the winter
months.

Glacier House and Station

Near the summit of the pass, the railway company had
established at Rogers Pass Station a maintenance head-
quarters including a round-house where extra locomo-
tives, snow plows and other equipment were stored. A
small settlement developed along the right of way. which
eventually was surveyed by N.C. Stewart, D.L.S. in 1912.
as Rogers Pass Townsite. This small subdivision accom-
modated the dwellings of railway employees, a boarding
house, store, a post office and a recreation hall. At
Glacier Station. three miles to the west, the Canadian
Pacific Railway Company had constructed in 1886 a
restaurant and small hotel known as Glacier House. This
was one of four mountain hotels developed by the
Canadian Pacific Railway to facilitate the hauling of
trains up the heavy mountain grades. As explained by
JM. Gibbon in his history of the Canadian Pacific
Railway:

“There is no hotel so expensive to operate as a dining
car on wheels, the labour on which doubles the
primary cost of the meals, and as the train carried
passengers of every class and purse, station restau-
rants had to be built as suitable places in the mountain
districts, lessening the number of dining cars to be
hauled and providing the initial cost of a tourist
hotel”.!

Alpine Centre
Similar developments had been installed at Field, Revel-
stoke and North Bend. all in British Columbia.

Glacier House opened for business on January 1. 1887
and very soon its unique location, magnificent setting,
and its excellent service began to attract visitors, espe-
cially those with the resources and leisure to frequent
alpine areas. One of the principal attractions of the area
was the immense variety of mountains which offered
unlimited scope to mountain climbers. Ascents in the
vicinity of Rogers Pass had been made by its discoverer,
Major A.B. Rogers, and his nephew in 1881, as well as by
Professor J.M. Macoun and his son James.>

In 1888, the Reverend W.S. Green of the British
Alpine Club inaugurated what might be termed the
“*climbing era’’ in the Selkirks. Green undertook the task
of mapping the peaks and glaciers surrounding Rogers
Pass and in 1890 published an account of his climbs in
his descriptive book. ““Among the Selkirk Glaciers™.’
That year, members of the English and Swiss Alpine
Clubs visited the area and achieved a number of notable
ascents, including that of Mount MacDonald, formerly
Syndicate Peak, which was accomplished by Emil Huber
and Carl Sulzer. In 1897, a party of British climbers
including Professor J.N. Collie, H.B. Dixon. and J.P.
Baker brought out the first Swiss guide, Peter Sarbach.”
Two years later the Canadian Pacific Railway imported
two accredited guides from Interlaken, Switzerland.
Edouard Feuz and Christian Hasler, the first of a colony
of guides who served an enthusiastic clientele over the
years at Lake Louise, Field and Glacier. A steady



increase in visitors necessitated two extensions to Glacier
House Hotel. the second of which was made in 1906 and
brought the accommodation up to 90 rooms.”

In its original form, the park reservation at Glacier
comprised a rectangular area about six and one half
miles long by four and one half miles wide. It enclosed
Rogers Pass, the railway loop below Glacier Station,
Mount Macdonald and Avalanche, and the tongue of
lllecillewaet Glacier. Oddly. it did not include Syndicate
Peak, later named Mount Sir Donald although the order
in council which first authorized the reservation specifi-
cally mentioned it.® Early improvements carried out in
the vicinity of Glacier House consisted mainly of walk-
ing trails constructed by the Railway Company, which
provided access to the Illecillewaet or **Great’’ Glacier,
Marion Lake on the slopes of Mount Abbott, and other
nearby points. By 1903, Glacier House was a well
established alpine centre and a great many of the
mountains in the vicinity had been climbed. A table of
first and second ascents of some of the higher peaks in
the reserve compiled by A.O. Wheeler, indicated that by
the end of 1903 nearly 40 major mountains or crests had
been climbed for the first time.”

Glacier Park Enlarged

On November 26, 1903 Glacier Park reserve was en-
larged to include sixteen townships or 576 square miles.*
The Order in Council did not elaborate the reason
beyond stating **it is now desirable to enlarge its bounda-
ries so as to include the best scenery in the neighbour-
hood . There seems little doubt however, that the Minis-
ter of the Interior acceeded to popular demand that a
larger area of outstanding alpine scenery be set aside for
public use. Following the enactment of the Dominion
Forest Reserves and Parks Actin 1911, reductions were
made in the areas of several national parks. Glacier Park
was reduced by 108 square miles to 468 square miles, in
order to eliminate lands considered unsuitable for park
purposes.” In 1930, new boundaries following heights of
land were established, and the resulting area of the park
was 521 miles.'"

Nakimu Caves: Discovered

The discovery of the Nakimu Caves in 1904 by C.H.
Deutschmann of Revelstoke, attracted additional atten-
tion to Glacier Park and resulted in the first active
development of the park by the Government. Although
born in the United States, Deutschmann was a natural-
ized Canadian citizen. He made his remarkable find
while prospecting in the vicinity of Cougar Creek.
Earlier in the year, Deutschmann had visited the area on
snow-shoes but was unable to make progress in the deep
soft snow. In October, he returned and while following
the creek up the valley. suddenly realized that the creek
bed had gone dry.

“I could hear the water rushing ahead of me and when
I investigated, I found that the stream disappeared

into the ground through a large hole at the bottom of

the big falls. Nearby, I found another large opening in
the rock and went into it as far as day/tghl permitted.
Through later explorations, I was to learn that I had

that day, October 22, 1904, discovered the largest
system of caves in Canada. 1 spent the next few days
hunting for more entrances to the caverns and located
a total of seven, some large and others just big enough
for me to squeeze through™."!

Deutschmann consolidated his find by staking two
mineral claims covering an area of 3,000 by 1.500 feet.
and recorded them at Revelstoke. In April, 1905,
Deutschmann escorted his first visitor, the editor of the
Revelstoke Mail—Herald. A. Johnston, through the
caves. In May, he returned with a party of twelve
including Howard Douglas, Superintendent of Rocky
Mountains Park, W.S. Ayres, a mining engineer. and
R.B. Bennett of the Associated Press at Vancouver.
Douglas later negotiated the purchase of the two claims
by the Crown and Deutschmann surrendered his titles in
consideration of a payment of $5,000.'2

Cave and Trail Development

When Deutschmann agreed to sell his interest in the
caves, apparently an understanding was reached with
Howard Douglas that he would be employed in the
development and operation of the caves.'? Whether or
not Deutschmann’s statement in this respect was correct.
Douglas recommended that he be hired as a caretaker.
and Deutschmann subsequently was engaged on a sea-
sonal basis. Early in 1906, Douglas arranged for the
construction of a trail from the railway water tank east of
Ross Peak Station to the caves. Deutschmann was given
authority to construct log cabins for the use of visitors
near the station and at the caves. The Canadian Pacific
Railway Company opened and maintained a trail from
Glacier House to the water tank that linked up with the
trail made to the caves. Between 1911 and 1914, the trail
from Glacier House to the caves then used by saddle-
horse riders, was developed by the Park Service to the
status of a carriage road. In 1915, a tally-ho service was
inaugurated from the hotel to the end of the road, which
terminated about a mile from the cave entrance. During
the period of his employment each year, Deutschmann
continued his exploration of the caves, built a caretaker’s
quarters, and installed ladders, hand-rails and other aids
for persons visiting the caves. A more accessible entrance
to the lower caves was made in 1915 by tunnelling
through rock, following a survey by O.S. Finnie. an
engineer of the Department of the Interior.

The earliest reports on the unique character and
features of the caves were written by W.S. Ayres and
Arthur O. Wheeler and appeared in the annual report of
the Surveyor General of Canada.' Ayres had accompa-
nied an inspection party to the caves on May 29, 1905.
and in company of Deutschmann, had made further
inspections on the last three days of the same month.
Wheeler, a staff member of the Topographical Survey of
Canada, also made a detailed inspection of the caves in
August. 1905. Wheeler’s report, accompanied by a plan
showing the extent of the caves, contained a very detailed
description of the various caverns and passages explored
to date. A survey of the lower caves was undertaken in
1927, by another Departmental engineer, C.M. Walker
of Banff. During the depression years of the “‘thirties”’
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park appropriations were drastically reduced, and care-
taker services at the caves were terminated in 1932,
Shortly after, the caves were closed to the public as a
safety measure.'® Admission to the caves in later years
was authorized by permit, mainly to individuals engaged
in scientific observation. Studies carried on by a consul-
tant from 1965 to 1969 increased knowledge of the
caves. and disclosed additional passages and caverns
previously unknown.

The Connaught Tunnel

The opening of the Connaught Tunnel through Mount
Macdonald in December, 1916, by the Canadian Pacific
Railway foreshadowed future events in Glacier Park.
The heavy grades, the high cost of operating its line over
Rogers Pass including the maintenance of miles of
timber snow sheds, and occasional casualties from slides.
influenced the Company to commence construction of
the tunnel in 1913. The most disastrous slide occurred in
March, 1910, when a work crew engaged in extricating a
stalled train was engulfed with a loss of 62 men.

Construction camps were established at each end of
the proposed tunnel—five miles in length —and a mile
beneath the summit of Mount Macdonald. The drilling
crews met on December 9, 1915, and the Governor
General, H.R.H. the Duke of Connaught, officiated at an
official opening on July 17, 1916. The new line went into
service on December 9 of the same year.'® In addition to
eliminating the need for snow sheds through Rogers
Pass, the tunnel had the effect of lowering the grade over
the summit by 539 feet.

With the railway line relocated. the railway settlement
and work camp at Rogers Pass Station was closed down
and a new station constructed immediately west of the
western end of the tunnel. All buildings were moved or
demolished, and only the walls of the round house
remained. Glacier House, which had been bypassed by
the railway relocation, was connected with the new
station by a road which utilized part of the abandoned
grade. From 1917 on, Glacier House was open during
the summer months only, but for several years it oper-
ated almost at capacity. In 1923, the C.P.R. built a tea-
house with overnight accommodation at the Nakimu
Caves, and operated it from 1924 to 1927. An era came
to an end. however. when the Railway Company closed
Glacier House forever on September 15, 1925.'7 The
building was allowed to stand for four years. After all
furniture and fixtures were removed, it was dismantled
under contract late in 1929, and the debris burned. The
title to the land occupied by Glacier Station and Glacier
House later was surrendered to the Crown.

Visitor Travel Declines

Following the closing and demolition of Glacier House,
visitor travel to Glacier Park dwindled. The Swiss guides
departed and the saddle horse concession and the tally-
hos disappeared. The owner of the store at Rogers Pass
Station had moved to a new site near the new Glacier
Station. A few visitors were accommodated in the store
building but others had to ““camp out”. Only when
mountaineering clubs held an outing in the park was
there any concentration of visitors. The Nakimu Caves,
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however, were open to visitors for several years. C.H.
Deutschmann accepted more renumerative employment
in the United States in 1919, and his successor as
caretaker, George Steventon, carried on for several years
before the caves were closed. Deutschmann died in
Connecticutin 1967.

Avalanche Control

The selection of a route over Rogers Pass for the
construction of the Trans-Canada Highway from
Golden to Revelstoke brough new activity to Glacier
National Park. Following surveys by the governments of
Canada and British Columbia, clearing of the right-of-
way was undertaken by park forces. Construction of the
highway under contract was commenced in 1958 and
completed, with an initial coat of asphalt, in 1962.
Difficulties in maintaining the completed highway were
accentuated by a need for the control of avalanches
which was met in part by the construction of more than
2,700 feet of concrete snow sheds at critical points.
Additional control of avalanches between the eastern
boundary of the park and Albert Canyon was developed
by the construction of an avalanche observation station
on Mount Fidelity. Here highly trained staff equate
information obtained and transmitted by automatic
equipment from two high-altitude observatories. These
observations provide advance warning of avalanche
conditions. Dangerous slopes are then stabilized by
explosives detonated in the trigger zone of the avalanche
by means of howitzers manned by a detachment of the
Royal Canadian Artillery. The first observation station
was erected on Mount Abbott in 1956 and an additional
one at Balu Pass in 1958. The main control station on
Mount Fidelity was completed in 1961.

Administration

From the date of its establishment until 1908, super-
vision of Glacier Park was carried on by the Superin-
tendent of Banff Park. In 1909, a superintendent of
Glacier and Yoho Parks, with headquarters at Field was
appointed. Later, when construction of the Trans-
Canada Highway through Glacier and Mount Revel-
stoke Parks was decided on in 1957 a superintendent for

‘the two parks was appointed, with headquarters at

Revelstoke. The administrative offices are located in
rented premises.

Park Buildings

The first warden cabin in Glacier Park was constructed
in 1914 on the Nakimu Caves Road near Glacier
Station. In 1916, three seasonal wardens were on duty
and wardens’ stations were established at Stoney Creek,
at Flat Creek and at Glacier Station. In 1921, a bunk-
house, stable, and a new warden’s cabin were erected 1n
the vicinity of Glacier House. In 1936 the Stoney Creek
cabin, originally a C.P.R. building, was replaced with a
new structure. The Flat Creek Station was rebuilt in
1947. Patrol cabins were built at Grizzly Creek in 1929,
Beaver River in 1941, Mountain Creek in 1952 and Bald
Mountain in 1953. The construction of the Trans-
Canada Highway required relocation of the warden
station at Glacier and a new building was built at Rogers



Pass Summit in 1961. The Stoney Creek warden station
was relocated in 1964 when a new cabin was built in the
vicinity of the eastern gateway on the Trans-Canada
Highway.

Between 1962 and 1965 an administrative headquar-
ters for the park was developed in Rogers Pass, involving
construction of vehicle maintenance and stores build-
ings, and an administration building containing staff
quarters and dining facilities. Additional accommoda-
tion for staff in the form of apartment blocks were added
in 1968. Visitor traffic is controlled at a gateway building
inside the eastern park boundary which was erected in
1962.

New Visitor Accommodation

The first visitor accommodation available in the Park
since 1925 —Northlander Lodge, was constructed in
1964 by private enterprise. A large motor lodge situated
at the summit of Rogers Pass provides modern ameni-
ties, including dining services, a heated swimming pool,
and a small store and gasoline service station. The needs
of campers are met by semi-serviced campgrounds com-
pleted in 1963 at Loop Creek and Illecillewaet Creek
adjacent to the Trans-Canada Highway. Construction of
an additional major campground at Mountain Creek 12
miles east of Rogers Pass summit was commenced in
1964. Its completion in 1970 made available 260 tent
and 46 trailer sites.

Recreation

Riding, hiking and climbing were or have been the most
popular forms of recreation in Glacier Park. Glacier
House Hotel formed the headquarters for the alpine
fraternity for years, and after its demolition in 1929,
mountaineers were obliged to establish tent camps. In
1945 the Alpine Club of Canada acquired a former
C.P.R. section house for seasonal use. In 1947, the Club
erected the A.O. Wheeler Hut almost opposite the site of
the former Glacier House Hotel. The earliest hiking and
riding trails in the park were established by the C.P.R. in
the vicinity of Glacier House. These' included trails to
Glacier Crest overlooking Illecillewaet Glacier, and to
Marion Lake and to a lookout on Mount Abbott.
Between 1909 and 1911, the Park Service built a trail
from Rogers Pass up Bear Creek to Balu Pass and
westerly to join the Nakimu Caves Trail. A fire trail was
built from Glacier House to Rogers Pass over the
abandoned railway grade between 1911 and 1914 and
reconstructed to the status of a fire road between 1940
and 1950. Trails were also constructed from Stoney
Creek south up Grizzly Creek to Bald Mountain Summit,
and up Flat Creek from the warden’s cabin to the head of
the stream. An access road to the Mount Fidelity snow
research and avalanche forecasting station was com-
pleted in 1961.

Some skiing is carried on in Glacier National Park
during the winter months. During the construction of the
Trans-Canada Highway, a small rope tow was installed
in Rogers Pass on the slopes of Mount Cheops, in the
vicinity of the highway construction camp. Later when
Northlander Motor Hotel was opened, the operator
extended the ski slope and installed two rope tows. The

nature of the hill and the surroundings limit future
expansion.

Glacier National Park incorporates many unique
features of interest to visitors including snow-fields,
glaciers and deep forested valleys. Its peaks, many of
them glaciated, still present a challenge to the ambitious
climber, and the Nakimu Caves, when reopened to
visitors, will provide a remarkable example of under-
ground caverns formed mainly by water erosion. It has
been said “‘no snows are so white as the Selkirk snows
and no clouds so radiant, no forests so darkly, beautifully
green’’. Since the park, after many years, was made
easily accessible by a modern highway, its attractions
have been enjoyed by a steadily increasing number of
visitors.

References
1 Gibbon, J.M. Steel of Empire.
2 Wheeler, A.O. The Selkirk Mountains. Stovel Com-
pany, Winnipeg, 1912, p. 20.

3 Ibid., p.23.

4 Ibid.,p.27.

5 Longstaff, F.V. Historical Notes on Glacier House,
Canadian Alpine Journal, 1948, p. 195.

6 Order in Council P.C. 1880, Oct. 10, 1886.

7 Wheeler, A.O. The Selkirk Range. Government

Printing Bureau Ottawa, 1905, p. 374.
8 Order in Council P.C. 1950, Nov. 26, 1903.
9 Orderin Council P.C. 1138, Jan. 8, 1911.
10 Order in Council P.C. 134, Feb. 11, 1930.
11 Deutschmann, C.H. Old GrizzIly. Unpub. manuscript.
National Parks Branch File G.324, Vol. 2.
12 Order in Council, Dec. 26, 1906.
13 Deutschmann, Old Grizzly.
14 Report of the Surveyor General, year ended June 30,
1906. King’s Printer, Ottawa.
15 National Parks Branch File G.2. May 7, 1935.
16 National Parks Branch File G.17 CP1, Dec. 15, 1916.
17 Longstaff, F.V., Letter in Vancouver Star, Feb. 9.
1929. National Parks Branch File G.17 C.P.8.

Waterton Lakes National Park

Following the establishment of the Waterton or Koo-
tenay Lakes Forest Park in 1895, it was used as a
camping and picnic resort by residents of nearby settle-
ments and communities including Pincher Creek, Card-
ston, Fort Macleod, and Lethbridge. Visitors to the park
apparently were content to occupy the area in its primi-
tive state, for nothing in the form of development or the
provision of amenities had been undertaken by the
Department of the Interior. Essentially, it was a forest
reserve without special supervision or protection. Its
timber was available to settlers under permit and pre-
vailing regulations permitted prospecting for petroleum
and the reservation of potential oil-producing lands. The
early oil rush of 1890-91 had waned, but interest in the
petroleum resources of the area had been rekindled in
1898, when the reservation of lands for prospecting of oil
and their subsequent sale was authorized by order in
Council.! John Lineham, of Okotoks, a former member
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of the Northwest Territories Legislative Assembly, had
reserved lands for oil exploration one year earlier along
O1il Creek, now known as Cameron Creek, and in 1901
" had organized the Rocky Mountain Development Com-
pany. Lineham later purchased about 1,600 acres of
potential oil-producing land at a cost of from §1 to $3 an
acre. By November, 1901 Lineham had hauled a drilling
rig up the narrow valley of the creek, established a
drilling camp, and planned the townsite of ““Oil City”".
Oil was encountered at 1,020 feet in 1902. By the end of
1907, three additional holes had been drilled, but they
failed to produce oil in a volume that would make the
operation profitable.’

Efforts to locate oil in commercial quantity were
carried on by the Western Oil and Coal Company which
in 1906 had a hole down to 1.711 feet on a site now
situated within Waterton Park Townsite. A flow of one
barrel a day had been obtained in October 1905, but
after walls of the well caved in, only pockets of oil were
found.?

Larger Park Recommended

By 1905 more than half of the sections of land compris-
ing the forest park had been reserved for petroleum
exploration and the associated activities had generated
some concern among the conservation-minded residents
of the vicinity. On September 21, 1905, F.W. Godsal of
Cowley wrote the Secretary of the Interior suggesting
that the interest of the public be safeguarded and that
consideration be given to an extension of the park
reserve. Godsal had sparked the original reservation in
1895, and, as his letter indicated. those using the park
were fully aware of its scenic and recreational attractions.

“I have lately visited the vicinity again and I may
inform you that the beauty and grandeur of the
scenery there is unsurpassed, I do not think equalled
by anyt/ung at Banff. Further, a very large number of
people from Pincher Creek, MacLeod, Cardston and
other towns resort there every year for camping, it
being the only good place now left for the purpose. It is
therefore very essential that the interest of the pub/lc
should be properly safeguarded in this ““beauty spot”.
Firstly, I doubt if the reserve is large enough for its
purpose as the land around is very stoney and quite
unfit for agriculture or settlement. It can be enlarged
without hurting anyone. Further, if parties are al-
lowed to bore for oil there, which personally I regret,
but perhaps scenery must give way to money-making,
very careful restrictions should be insisted on so that
no unnecessary damage or ugliness be done as is
insisted on I believe at Banff ... . I hope that letter
may reach the eye of the thsle/ of the Interior
himself, as I am known to him and he has at heart
every interest of the people of Alberta”.

Godsal’s letter prompted instructions for an inspec-
tion of the area which was carried out by W.T. Margach,
Chief Forest Ranger of the Department of the Interior at
Calgary. Margach reported on May 4, 1906 to the
Secretary of the Interior on the “oil fields of Alberta”
including the activities of the Western Oil and Coal
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Company. the only operator carrying on oil exploration
in the reserve at the time. Although it had failed to locate
satisfactory oil deposits, the Company had used in its
operations over a period of seventeen months, more than
9,700 lineal feet of timber for construction purposes and
1,100 cords of wood in generating steam for its drilling
rigs.” More than 50 years later, the residue of the land%
w1tlnn the park which had been granted to John Line-
ham for oil production, were acquired by the National
Parks Branch from his heirs at a cost of more than
$50,000.

Margach’s report also reflected the views of most
departmental field officers in respect of resource develop-
ment. He observed that “‘owing to the development of
the oil wells I think the area of the park quite large
enough, as, in my opinion, playgrounds come second
with development of the mineral wealth and industries
of the country, and can see no area in close proximity to
the present reserve that would add value to it as a game
preserve or has any features that the present area has
not”’

Margach, however, did recommend that development
should not be permitted to extend to the shore of Upper
Waterton Lake and that surface rights should be con-
fined to areas essential to the particular development
concerned. A summary of Margach’s report was referred
by the Superintendent of Forestry to the Deputy Minis-
ter of the Interior with the recommendation that no
action be taken pending the introduction in Parliament
of a bill to establish forest reserves which would incorpo-
rate Kootenay Lakes or Waterton Forest Park.

Kootenay Lakes Forest Reserve

The Dominion Forest Reserves Act came into force on
July 13. 1906.¢ It established the forest park around
Waterton Lakes as the Kootenay Lakes Forest Reserve
and placed it, along with other reserves, under control
and management of the Superintendent of Forestry at
Ottawa. On May 27, 1907, Inspector Margach was asked
by the Superintedent of Forestry for a report on the area
““as it 1s the intention to make a provision for the proper
administration of the reserve in question”’.” Departmen-
tal records do not contain a copy of the requested report,
but action toward setting up a local administration was
taken by the Department of the Interior in April I, 1908,
when Rocky Mountains Park and other park reserves
were placed under the administration of the Superin-
tendent of Forestry at Ottawa. A move for the establish-
ment of the Kootenay Lakes Forest Reserve as a Na-
tional Park was supported by John Herron, M.P.. and
John George (Kootenai) Brown who, since 1892. had
occupied the only freehold in the reserve. After consulta-
tion with Brown, Herron recommended to the Superin-
tendent of Forestry that Brown be placed in charge of the
park. A recommendation by the Superintendent of For-
estry to the Deputy Minister was later approved and
Brown was appointed Forest Ranger in charge of the
park on April 1, 1910.% Although Brown was then 70
years of age, his qualifications for the position were
exceptional, as he had served as Fishery Officer for the
Department of Marine and Fisheries in the district since
January 1, 1901. This post he retained until March 31,



1912, and he continued as acting park superintendent
until September 1, 1914.

Waterton Lakes Park Created

The future of the Kootenay Lakes or Waterton Reserve
was affected profoundly by developments in 1911. The
first was the enactment of the Dominion Forest Reserves
and Parks Act® which provided for the administration of
both Forest Reserves and Dominion (National) Parks,
and for the establishment, as Dominion Parks, lands
situated within forest reserves. The second development
was the creation of a new branch of the Department of
the Interior, the Dominion Parks Service, to administer
under the direction of a commissioner, both existing and
new parks. Subsequently, out of an enlarged Rocky
Mountain Forest Reserve, was established on June 8,
1911, Waterton Lakes Dominion Park with a reduced
area of 13.5 square miles.!? This reduction, which left the
park with little more than the slopes of the mountains
bordering the west sides of Upper and Middle Waterton
Lakes, must have been a severe disappointment not only
to the new park ranger but to those who had been
recommending enlargement of the park. It seems clear
that the new Commissioner of Parks at Ottawa, J.B.
Harkin, had no part in the reduction of the areas of not
only Waterton Lakes, but also Rocky Mountains and
Jasper Parks. In fact, the new act elevated the status of the
newly enlarged forest reserves at the expense of the older
parks and park reserves. A partial explanation of the
reasoning behind the action was provided by the Super-
intendent of Forestry, R.H. Campbell, in a letter ad-
dressed to F.K. Vreeland of New York City, an active
member of the Campfire Club of America. This group
had been advocating the enlargement of Waterton Lakes
National Park as a natural continuation of the recently
established Glacier National Park in Montana, with a
view to protecting the native wildlife which was in
danger of extinction. Mr. Vreeland had expressed his
disappointment over the withdrawal of lands from
Waterton Lakes Park when an enlargement had been
expected. As Mr. Campbell explained the situation:

“The policy of the former Minister (The government
had been defeated in the September, 1911, election)
of the Department in regard to Forest Reserves in
Parks is apparently not very well understood. The
position he took in regard to the matter was that forest
reserves should be formed for the protection of the
forest and also the fish and game where it was
considered necessary. By the Dominion Forest Re-
serves and Parks Act which was passed by Parliament
during the past summer, the whole eastern slope of the
Rocky Mountains in Canada was made a Forest
Reserve and that Act, a copy of which I enclose
herewith, gives authority to make any necessary
regulations for the protection not only of the forest but
the fish and game also... His idea of parks was very
different from the idea as accepted by many others.
He considered a park as a place where people could be
induced to come as much as possible to be given as
much freedom to travel as could possibly be given. For
this purpose he considered that the parks need not to

be of large area but might be smaller even than those
which had been previously established. You will see
therefore that the reduction in the area of the park was
not carried out with the intention of reducing the area
in which the game would be protected but merely of
reducing the area to which free access would be given
and to which people would be invited, and that the
protection of the game was to be provided under forest
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reserve regulations”.

Park Area Enlarged

Fortunately the area of Waterton Lakes Park was to be
readjusted in less than three years. Recommendations by
the new commissioner, J.B. Harkin, supported by public
opinion, led to the extension in June, 1914, of the park
boundaries to include an area of 423 square miles.'? The
enlarged park encompassed the colourful main range of
the Rockies east of the Continental Divide, from the
International Boundary north to North Kootenay Pass
and the Carbondale River. The expanded park also
included the portion of Upper Waterton Lake in
Canada, together with the middle and lower lakes and a
portion of the Belly River Valley. Inter-departmental
rivalry for the control of game populations in the
enlarged park led to enactment of an order in council
which placed the park area containing the watersheds of
Castle River and Scarpe Creek under the control of the
Director of Forestry, exclusive of the game population,
which continued to be the responsibility of the Commis-
sioner of National Parks.!* This arrangement however,
proved to be unsatisfactory both to the Forestry Branch
and the National Parks Service and in 1921, the north-
westerly portion of the park which had been under dual
administration, was withdrawn and later reincorporated
in the Rocky Mountains Forest Reserve.'* The resulting
park area of 220 square miles remained intact until 1947
when 16 square miles of burned-over timber land at the
southeastern corner of the park were withdrawn. This
action followed negotiations with the Province of Al-
berta about national park land requirements, which
resulted in the acquisition of additional territory for the
enlargement of Elk Island National Park. The latest
reduction in the area of Waterton Lakes Park was made
in 1955, when 753 acres in the vicinity of Belly River
were withdrawn to facilitate access by the Blood Indian
Band to its timber limit which was located in the
southeastern portion of the park.

Townsite Surveyed

Over the years, Waterton Lakes Park developed gradu-
ally from a local resort to an international park of many
attractions. The first section of the present park townsite
was surveyed in 1910 and the first visitor accommoda-
tion was erected in 1911. Services provided by conces-
sionaires, including boat and saddle horse liveries,
helped extend the field of natural attractions open to
park visitors. As the use of motor vehicles developed,
scenic roads were constructed up several of the park
valleys and tourist traffic increased rapidly. The original
park townsite was extended, lots were made available for
summer cottages and essential business enterprises, and
the nucleus of a permanent year-round townsite was
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established. In 1932, by complementary legislation un-
dertaken by the Parliament of Canada and United States
Congress, Waterton Lakes National Park and Glacier
National Park in Montana were proclaimed the Water-
ton-Glacier International Peace Park.'® Although the
component units of the International Park retained their
respective administrative rights, their proximity was

heightened by the completion in 1935 of the Chief

Mountain International Highway, which linked the two
components and provided a direct route for visitors to
Waterton Lakes Park from points south of the interna-
tional boundary.

As visitor activities and services were extended and
means of access to the park were improved, Park attend-

ance records soared. From a recorded visitor total of

2,000 persons in 1910, the figure had risen by 1921 to
20,000; by 1940 to 115.000; and by 1960 to 350,000. A
new high attendance for the park was reached in 1968
when more than half a million visitors were recorded.

Although Waterton Lakes remains one of the smallest of

the mountain national parks, it offers a variety of scenic
and natural attractions which can be expected to induce
an ever-increasing public use.
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Elk Island National Park

Public interest in the conservation of wildlife led, in the
early part of the 20th century, to the establishment of Elk
Island National Park, the first large federally controlled
area to be enclosed as a big game sanctuary. On August
[5, 1903, W.H. Cooper, the Territorial Game Warden
for the Northwest Territories at Edmonton, called to the
attention of his Member of Parliament, Frank Oliver, the
need for preserving a small herd of elk known to exist in
the Beaver Hills near Island Lake east of Edmonton.
Cooper believed that these elk, numbering about 75,
comprised the largest existing herd in Canada outside
what he termed **the unexplored forests of the north™”. In
his letter to Oliver, Warden Cooper suggested that the
elk be given protection in a fenced preserve. In turn,
Oliver forwarded Cooper’s letter to Clifford Sifton,
Minister of the Interior, for consideration.'

Reserve for Elk

The area inhabited by the elk lay immediately north of
the Cooking Lake Timber Reserve which had been
established by order of the Minister of the Interior on
June 5. 1899.7 During the winter of 1903-04, at least 20
elk were killed by hunters in the Beaver Hills region
because existing legislation provided no protection for
the species. Large hunting parties were being organized
for a “shoot” during the following winter, and the
complete destruction of the elk appeared probable. In
April, 1904, a petition signed by more than 70 residents
of the Edmonton District was forwarded by Frank Oliver
to Clifford Sifton.? The petition requested protection of
the elk in a fenced enclosure of about 16 square miles
surrounding Island Lake, also known as Astotin Lake.
Action to withdraw the lands described in the petition
from settlement was instituted in the Department of the
Interior on the instructions of Sifton’s Deputy Minister,
James A. Smart.*

The Minister also approved a suggestion made by the
Commissioner of the Northwest Territories at Regina,
W. Elliott, that legislation being prepared for the estab-
lishment of forest reserves, should make provision for
the protection of game in such areas.

In February, 1906, a group of residents of the district
surrounding Fort Saskatchewan offered, under bond, to
enclose at least 20 head of elk in the proposed reserve or
park if the government would set aside the land for that
purpose and fence it. A bond in the amount of $5,000,
signed by F.A. Walker and W.A.D. Lees of Fort Sas-
katchewan, J. Carscadden and Ellsworth Simmons of
Agricola, and W.H. Cooper of Edmonton, was executed
on March 28, 1906, and was accepted by the Federal
Government.’ Erection of the fence around the land
reserved was commenced in 1906 under contract, and
completed in 1907. The land to be fenced, as described in
the bond, included sections 13, 14, 15,22, 23,24, 25, 26,
27, 34, 35, and 36 in Township 54, Range 20, and
sections 18, 19, 30, and 31 in Township 54, Range 19, all
west of the Fourth Meridian, an area of 16 square miles,
in the newly created Province of Alberta.

Ellsworth Simmons, one of the signatories, was ap-
pointed caretaker of the reserve, and was permitted to
engage two assistants, Joseph Haskins and Percy Ashby.
A residence for Simmons was erected in 1907, and in
1908 the Deputy Minister approved expenditures rec-
ommended by Howard Douglas, Commissioner of Parks
at Edmonton, required to erect cross fencing in the park
and thereby create hay meadows where the animals
could graze within sight of visitors.

Also in 1908, Douglas was able to report, on the
strength of statutory declarations made by Haskins and
Ashby, that at least 24 elk and 35 mule deer were by that
time, inside the fenced area. The conservation-minded
parties to the bond were released from their obligations
by the Deputy Minister of the Interior on August 4,
1909.° Known originally as “*Elk Park’” and later as Elk
Island Park, the enclosure was incorporated in the
Cooking Lake Forest Reserve on its establishment in
July, 1906, by the Dominion Forest Reserves Act, which
made provision for the protection of wildlife.” In 1911,
this act was revoked and replaced by the Dominion



Forest Reserves and Parks Act.® The latest act authorized
the establishment of Dominion or National Parks from
lands within forest reserves. and on March 13, 1913. Elk
Island was formally designated by order in council as a
national park.”

Buffalo Herd Purchased

The primary function of the new preserve in providing a
sanctuary for moose was radically altered in 1907, when
the first shipments of plains buffalo purchased in Mon-
tana by the Government of Canada were received in
Canada. These buffalo came from a herd developed by
Charles Allard and Michel Pablo on the Flathead Indian
Reservation from a nucleus of a few head purchased in
1884.1In 1906, Pablo. then sole owner of the buffalo herd,
was faced with the sale or destruction of his buffalo
through the cancellation of his grazing privileges on
range being thrown open to settlement. Alexander
Ayotte, Assistant Emigration Agent at Great Falls,
Montana, learned of Pablo’s dilemma and on his insis-
tence the Deputy Minister of the Interior was advised
that the purchase of Pablo’s buffalo was possible. The
Deputy Minister. W.W. Cory. recommended acquisition
of the buffalo to his Minister, Frank Oliver, who in turn
secured the approval of Prime Minister, Sir Wilfrid
Laurier. The purchase of the herd, believed to number
about 300 head, was negotiated by Ayotte and Howard
Douglas, then Superintendent of Rocky Mountains Park.
ata price of $245 per head, delivered at Edmonton.

A fenced reservation for the buffalo near Wainwright,
Alberta, had been planned, but it was not ready for the
reception of the animals purchased until 1909. Douglas
arranged for the earlier deliveries of buffalo by rail from
Pablo to be unloaded at Lamont, Alberta, and driven
south to Elk Island Park. The fence around the latter area
was completed hurriedly. and the first shipment of 199
head was received on June 1. 1907. On October 22, 211
more buffalo were delivered. In June, 1909, 325 buffalo
were transported from Elk Island Park to the new Buffalo
National Park at Wainwright.!" Later shipments from
Montana also were directed there. By June. 1912, Pablo

had scraped the bottom of the barrel wlien seven head of

buffalo formed the final shipment of a total sale of 716
head.

Of the 410 head of buffalo received at Elk Island Park
in 1907, 15 died from injuries during shipment. 12 were
found drowned in the park sloughs and 10 were unac-
counted for. After the transfer of buffalo from Elk Island
to Wainwright was completed. it was believed that 48
head remained in Elk Island Park.

Increase in Buffalo
The growth of the buffalo herd at Elk Island Park from
the mavericks left behind was steady if not spectacular.

By 1915, the herd numbered 106, and at the close of

1920. it had more than doubled that figure. At the close
of 1927, the animal population of Elk Island Park
included 729 buffalo and an estimated 227 moose, 454
elk and 288 deer. This concentration of big game was
considered to be greatly in excess of what the available
grazing range could support. A small abbatoir was
erected in 1928 and 230 head of buffalo were

slaughtered. By 1935, the buffalo herd was believed to
number 2,000 and periodical slaughters were carried out
during the next 37 years. accounting for approximately
7.000 animals. Meat and hides were disposed of mainly
by public tender, following examination and certification
of the meat products by qualified veterinarians.

Eradication of Disease

Examination of slaughtered animals and periodic tests
had determined that the Elk Island Park Buffalo were
practically free of bovine tuberculosis, although other
infections common to game animals were occasionally
encountered. Many prime animals, after testing for
disease, were donated to accredited animal parks and
zoological gardens for display purposes. The sale of
buffalo for breeding or commercial purposes, however.
was not entertained for many years. Primarily this policy
was influenced by a desire to maintain the national
character of the buffalo herd. and later was dictated by
the need to eradicate the incidence of brucellosis. a
disease discovered in the herd in the mid-1950°s. An
intensive program to eliminate brucellosis, which in-
duced premature abortion of calves by female buffalo.
was undertaken by annual testing, vaccination. and
slaughter.

By 1966. the infection was well under control, and the
National Park Service was in a position to meet requests
for the purchase of buffalo for commercial breeding. In
1967, a selected group of 25 surplus buffalo was sold by
tender to a game farm at Ormstown, Quebec. An addi-
tional group of 25 buffalo was donated to a Blackfoot
Indian band at Gleichen, Alberta. The sale of buffalo for
commercial purposes by tender was continued in 1968
and 1969, and bids from interested buyers were received
from points as far apart as British Columbia and Nova
Scotia. These sales, which accounted for about 500
buffalo. left the herd at Elk Island Park with about 500
head. a figure considered adequate for the limited area of
grazing land available.

Wood Buffalo Introduced

In 1965, a new phase of buftalo or bison conservation
was undertaken at Elk Island Park. Prior to 1959. an
isolated group of wood bison was located in the north-
west part of Wood Buffalo Park, Northwest Territories.
A number of these bison were sent to an area near Fort
Providence, N.W.T., and 24 head were shipped in 1965
to Elk Island National Park and segregated in what is
known as the Isolation Area south of Highway No. 16. As
the wood bison are on the list of endangered specices in
Canada. the segregation of specimens from Wood Buf-
falo Park was undertaken to ensure the development of a
breeding population under extremely careful super-
vision. By selected culling after tests, wood bison having
traces of tuberculosis or brucellosis were gradually re-
moved, and the new herd is now disease free. The
transfer of the wood bison from the north. although co-
incidental with an outbreak of anthrax in and outside
Wood Buffalo Park between 1962 and 1964, had been
planned for some time previous to the actual movement.
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Park Area Increased

For a period of 15 years after the arrival of the buffalo
from Montana, Elk Island Park remained a compara-
tively small preserve of 16 square miles. The gradual but
steady increase in the buffalo population however, began
to tax the park’s grazing capacity, and in his annual
report for 1920-21, the park superintendent recom-
mended the extension of the park southerly for a distance
of five miles. In February, 1922, the park was enlarged
by 35 square miles.'' The addition, which comprised a
portion of the Cooking Lake Forest Reserve then under
Federal Government jurisdiction, extended the Park
boundary southerly to the northern limit of Provincial
Highway No. 16. The extension included two patented
homesteads which were acquired by purchase. Title to
several hundred acres of Hudson’s Bay Company land
also was acquired in 1926 in exchange for lands outside
the park.'? The land added to the park was enclosed by
an eight-foot fence and the buffalo were admitted to the
new grazing area in December, 1922.

The need for additional grazing land in Elk Island
Park, especially for the growing herd of moose and elk,
had become apparent again in 1937, and negotiations
with the Province of Alberta followed. About this time,
the incidence of bovine tuberculosis in the buffalo herd at
Wood Buffalo National Park near Wainwright was
causing concern to park authorities, and a policy decision
respecting the future of the buffalo at both Buffalo and
Elk Island National Parks became necessary. After inten-
sive biological investigation, the buffalo herd at Wain-
wright was completely slaughtered in 1938 and 1939,
together with a large number of elk, moose and deer. In
March, 1940, under authority of the War Measures Act,
Buffalo National Park was placed at the disposal of the
Department of National Defence for army training
purposes for the duration of World War 2.

Elk Island National Park now formed the largest
fenced buffalo preserve in Canada. The only logical area
suitable for further extension lay to the south and formed
part of the Cooking Lake Forest Reserve, now under
provincial jurisdiction. Prior to the enactment of the
Alberta Natural Resources Act in 1930, the forest reserve
had been administered by the Federal Government’s
Forestry Branch. Under an agreement made on January
9, 1926, between Canada and Alberta when the pro-
posed transfer of resources to the province was being
worked out, the forest reserve was to remain vested in the
Government of Canada for forestry purposes and as a
reserve for military purposes.'3> However, this provision
was not specifically incorporated in the Alberta Natural
Resources Act. Following the transfer of resources in
1930, the province took the position that the reserve was
under provincial jurisdiction and in 1941, had estab-
lished community pastures within its boundaries.

Latest Park Extension

After the war, negotiations leading to an extension of Elk
Island Park were resumed. In 1947, agreement was
reached between Canada and Alberta whereby the prov-
ince would surrender to Canada, title to an area of 24
square miles south of Provincial Highway No. 16 in the
forest reserve. In exchange, Canada undertook to with-
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draw sixteen sections of land from Waterton Lakes
National Park, and to abolish Buffalo and Nemiskam
National Parks. Under the provisions of the Alberta
Natural Resources Act, all lands withdrawn from na-
tional parks in Alberta or declared to be no longer
required for park purposes, would revert to the province.
The legislation permitting the transfer of land tc the
province was passed by Parliament in July, 1947, and the
conveyance by Alberta to Canada of the addition to Elk
Island National Park was effected during the same
year.'*

Private Land Purchase

When the boundaries of Elk Island Park were extended
southerly in 1922 to the northerly limit of Provincial
Highway No. 16, several privately-owned properties
were included in the description of the lands added to the
park. Settlements were made for the Oster and Sanson
farms in 1923 and 1926 respectively. Another area,
comprising Section 13 in Township 53, Range 20, west
of the 4th Meridian, although incorporated in the park
description by statute following the acquisition of land
south of Highway No. 16 from Alberta in 1947, re-
mained as freehold outside the park boundary fence. In
December, 1954, the Minister, Jean Lesage, was advised
by the local member of parliament that the freehold
might be acquired for park purposes by purchase, but no
action was taken on the suggestion for lack of available
funds. Less than two years later, however, the purchase
of this land became a matter of concern.

In February, 1956, the Park Superintendent, Dr. B.I
Love, reported that precipitation in the park and vicinity
had increased greatly during the past two years and
several wild hay meadows on which the park administra-
tion depended for winter feed for the buffalo and other
big game, were inundated by water. The privately-owned
property within the park boundaries, owned by John
Winarski, comprised more than 600 acres, of which 300
had been cultivated. Dr. Love reported that the land was
capable of producing at least 600 tons of feed having a
value in the open market of $24,000. As the existing park
farm supplied less than half the supply of feed required
annually, negotiations for the Winarski property were
opened. Following an appraisal undertaken by an officer
of the Department of Veteran Affairs, authority for the
purchase was obtained from Treasury Board in Novem-
ber, 1956.'5 Title to the farm, including several build-
ings, was obtained in January, 1957, at a cost of approx-
imately $20,500. This acquisition not only extended the
amount of park land capable of cultivation but also
extinguished the remaining private holding in the park.

Parik Development

For many years after its establishment, the administra-
tion of Elk Island Park was carried on with a small staff
and little expenditure. The superintendent’s residence,
built in 1907, was modified in 1920 to include an office.
In 1937, the administrative staff was moved to a small
building which had been erected a few years earlier to
accommodate the park engineer. This building was
enlarged in 1944, but remained inadequate for an
increasing staff. Finally, in 1960, an appropriation was



provided to erect a modern administration building
which was completed that year. It is located a few
hundred yards from the superintendent’s residence in
the park headquarters area, and provides accommoda-
tion and adequate space for the superintendent and the
heads of various services involved in the operation of the
park.

Elk Island Park also suffered from inadequate housing
for staff. Park wardens were housed in inferior struc-
tures, and the operational staff either lived in the park
bunk-houses or outside the park. A start in the provision
of modern housing was made in 1945 by the construc-
tion of two single houses near park headquarters, fol-
lowed by another in 1946. A new park warden’s house
was built in 1952, and two duplex houses were built at
park headquarters in 1956 and in 1959. Additional
housing was provided in 1961-62 and in 1964. Quarters
for staff at the western and northern gateways were built
in 1956 and 1959 respectively. Accommodation for the
warden service also was extended or improved, a modern
cottage having been erected in the isolation area south of
Highway No. 16 in 1956-57. The oldest building in the
park, the superintendent’s residence, has undergone a
number of modern improvements and was still in use in
1975 after 67 years of service.

Works Compound

The original works or maintenance buildings were
constructed not far from the park superintendent’s
combined office and residence between 1930 and 1935.
A blacksmith shop and tool shed were added in 1938,
and in 1947 an equipment and stores building was
erected. Funds were provided in 1961-62 for the devel-
opment of a new industrial area, which by 1964 included
new equipment and stores buildings, and a modern
maintenance garage. Water and sewer services also were
installed in the headquarters area in 1960-61. The park
abattoir, erected in 1928, was improved in 1938 by the
addition of a storage room for hides, and an extension to
the “cooler”. By 1946, the need for a modern abattoir
was apparent, but it was not until 1951 that funds were
provided for relocation and reconstruction of the orig-
inal building, at a cost of $48,000.

Work camps, used seasonally for farm operations and
road improvement were established in the northern part
of the park in 1942 and in the southern area north of
Highway 16 in 1945. Both these developments later were
phased out of operation.

Road Construction

The first roads in the park were little more than trails. In
1923, Superintendent Coxford opened a road from park
headquarters to Sandy Beach. In his annual report for
1924-25, he reported that a road from the north to the
south boundary had been cleared and opened for public
use. During the period 1931 to 1935, further im-
provements were made to existing roads in the park with
funds provided for unemployment relief projects. Dur-
ing 1942 and 1943, the main road through the park was
relocated and reconstructed. Similar improvement was
made in 1963 to the road from the north gate to Sandy

Beach, and between 1964 and 1967, the West Gate road
was brought up to park standard.

Recreational Facilities Provided

Although created originally for the purposes of a game
preserve, Elk Island Park was destined to become a
recreational area of local renown. Unlike many of the
prairie lakes and ponds to the south which have dried out
or diminished in size, Astotin Lake has maintained a
satisfactory water level. Its natural attractions, enhanced
by a number of wooded islands and sloping beaches,
were not lost on Archibald Coxford who, late in 1909,
replaced Ellsworth Simmons as park superintendent.
Coxford developed a small recreational area on a point
extending into the lake near park headquarters and built
a foot-bridge from the point to a small island on which a
bath-house was erected to accommodate bathers. The
most attractive bathing area across the lake, known as
Sandy Beach, eventually was linked by road with park
headquarters in 1923. The following year, two bath-
houses containing dressing rooms were built there for
the use of visitors.

In the years following, the area surrounding Sandy
Beach was developed as a major recreational area. A
public campground, equipped with shelters, stoves and
other amenities was developed between 1933 and 1935.
Later, it was expanded and improved. The early bath-
houses were replaced in 1965 by a single large building
served by water and sewer systems. A nine-hole golf
course was constructed in the mid-1930’s complete with
an attractive club-house. In anticipation of greatly in-
creased park use following World War 2, the National
Parks Service leased sites to private interests for the
construction of two bungalow cabin camps, as well as for
a restaurant building, a dance hall, and a service station
in the vicinity of Sandy Beach. Patronage enjoyed by
these concessions later proved disappointing and was
confined mainly to weekends. Finally, after years of
unprofitable operations, all but two concessions within
the park went out of business either voluntarily or
following cancellation of leases because of changes in the
park policy. A tea-room concession is still operated
under licence in the golf club house, and a refreshment
booth functions at Sandy Beach during the summer
season. An increasing day-use of the recreational area of
Sandy Beach was encouraged by the expansion of picnic
areas, improvement of parking facilities, and by exten-
sive landscaping, all designed to provide the best use of a
limited area suitable for development.

Since its inception, the park has been a favourite spot
for community or group gatherings, holiday picnics and
outings. A youth camp occupied a site on Elk Island for
more than 35 years prior to the expiration of the lease in
1970. A hostel constructed on the south side of Astotin
Lake in 1955 by a branch of the Canadian Youth Hostel
Association has since served the needs of youth hostell-
ers. A summer cottage subdivision, laid out in 1921 on
Picnic Point in the vicinity of park headquarters, eventu-
ally contained seven cottages. By 1972, the number had
been reduced to three by acquisition or cancellation of
the relevant leases. That year, notice of non-renewal of
lease privileges was given to the remaining lessees by the
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park superintendent, and by the end of 1973, the former
cottage owners had been compensated in return for
completed bills of sale to the Crown. The sites of the
buildings were cleared in 1974.

Drive-in Buffalo Enclosure

Successive additions to the park area were followed by
construction and improvement of roads within the park
which provided access from the west, north and south
boundaries. A drive through the park normally permit-
ted observation of buffalo and occasionally of moose, elk
and deer on their native range. Many of the buffalo,
however, remained hidden from view by the extensive
forest cover, and to overcome this situation, a special
drive-in paddock containing 95 acres was fenced in
1963. Located on the main park road almost midway
between the southern gateway and Sandy Beach, the
enclosure has since permitted park visitors to view the
buffalo at close range while remaining in their vehicles.

Ukrainian Museum

A unique type of museum erected by the Department in
1951 in the vicinity of Sandy Beach commemorates the
early settlement of the area surrounding the park by
immigrants of Ukrainian origin. The building took the
form of a typical Ukrainian home, finished on the
exterior with whitewashed walls and a thatched roof. It
contains hand-made wooden furniture and a hand-made
stove and oven of a type once used for heating and
cooking. The building was formally opened on August 5,
1951 by the Prime Minister of Canada, the Right Hon.
Louis St. Laurent. Following its erection, many articles
representing Ukrainian handicraft, including pictures,
were donated for display in the museum by interested
organizations and individuals. In 1963, the Ukrainian
Pioneers Association of Alberta erected, near the mu-
seum, a cut-stone monument in honour of the region’s
pioneer settlers.

In years to come, Elk Island National Park can be
expected to continue its dual function of providing a
sanctuary for wildlife and an area for outdoor recreation.
It preserves an interesting example of the Boreal Forest
Region containing species common to both the aspen
grove and mixed-wood sections. Its forested glades and
open meadows support superb examples of native wild
game, once prevalent in the area. Its recreational attrac-
tions, carefully developed to impair as little as possible
the natural surroundings, provide increasing opportuni-
ties for healthful, outdoor relaxation.
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Jasper National Park

Plans for the construction of a second transcontinental
railway across the Canadian Rockies led to the establish-
ment of Jasper National Park. The success of the Cana-
dian Pacific had inspired the hopes of its older rival in
eastern Canada, the Grand Trunk Railway, for a western
extension. A proposal for the construction of a railway
from Callandar, Ontario, to the head of the Portland
Canal in British Columbia was made to the Prime
Minister of Canada, Sir Wilfrid Laurier, in 1902 by C.M.
Hays, president of the Grant Trunk.' Before committing
his government to support of the scheme, Sir Wilfrid
tried to obtain participation by the Canadian Northern
Railway, the owners of which also had plans for an
extension to the Pacific. When this proved impossible,
the Government sponsored and passed the National
Transcontinental Railway Act, which became law in
October 1902.2 It incorporated an agreement providing
for the construction of a new railway linking New
Brunswick with the Pacific Coast. The eastern division
from Moncton to Winnipeg would be built by the
Government and operated under lease by the newly
incorporated Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company.
The construction and eventual operation of the western
division from Winnipeg to what is now Prince Rupert
would be the responsibility of the Company.

Forest Park Established

The route chosen for the crossing of the Rockies was that
proposed originally for the Canadian Pacific Railway
but later discarded. It followed the valleys of the Athaba-
sca and Miette Rivers over Yellowhead pass. Construc-
tion of the western section was commenced in August
1905, near Carberry, Manitoba, and by the following
spring 5,000 men were at work on the prairies.’ On
September 14, 1907, the Government of Canada set
aside as the Jasper Forest Park of Canada, an area of
5,000 square miles through which the line would run.*
The park incorporated the watershed of the Upper
Athabasca River and its tributaries, an alpine wonder-
land first seen by pioneer fur-traders in the early years of
the 19th century. This fortunate legislation appears to
have been inspired by the Minister of the Interior, the
Honourable Frank Oliver, for on his instructions, a bill
to establish the park was prepared by the Superintendent
of Forestry. The proposed legislation was patterned after
the Rocky Mountains Park Act but a review by the
Department law officer revealed that some of its pro-
vision would conflict with the laws of the recently created
Province of Alberta. Consequently, the reservation was



made by order in council under authority of the Domin-
ion Lands Act. This act empowered the Governor in
Council to set aside as a forest park, “lands for the
preservation of forest trees on the crests and slopes of the
Rocky Mountains and for the proper maintenance
throughout the year of the volume of water in the rivers
and streams that have their source in the mountains and
traverse the Province of Alberta.”” Before the park was
established. the name **Athabasca’ was considered. It
was discarded in favour of **Jasper ™, after Jasper House,
an carly trading post established about 1813 by the
North West Company on Brulé Lake.” The post. which is
also referred to as Rocky Mountain House and Jasper’s
House in early journals. was in charge of Jasper Hawes. a
North West Company clerk in 1817, and probably
earlier.”

L)

Early History of the Region

The park area has an interesting history for the valleys of

its rivers, the Athabasca, Whirpool and Miette, formed
the routes of the early explorers. furtraders and mission-
aries travelling over the Athabasca Trail between Fort
Edmonton and the Pacific coast. One of the earliest to
visit the area was David Thompson who. during the
winter 1810-11, crossed the Athabasca Pass at the head

of the Whirpool River. Following the amalgamation of

the North West Company and the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany in 1821, Jasper House was relocated on the western
shore of Jasper Lake. 14 miles south of its original site.

Prior to its abandonment about 1884, it provided
temporary shelter to many early but notable travellers
including the survivors of John Jacob Astor’s illfated
trading post Astoria at the mouth of the Columbia River.
after its take-over by the NorthWest Company in 1814.
Jasper House also was host to Sir George Simpson.
Governor of the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1824: David
Douglas. the famous botanist. in 1827, Father Pierre de
Smet in 1846. and Dr. James Hector of the Palliser
E\pudluon in 1859. By 1872, when the site was reached
by Sandford Fleming and the Reverend George Grant in
the course of early nulway surveys. the post had deterio-
rated in importance and was opened briefly twice a year
for trade with the Indians.”

Railway Construction

Although established in 1907, Jasper Park had to await
the coming of the railway for its early development.
Contracts for the construction of the Grand Trunk
Pacific line east and west of Snaring River were signéd in
1909 and 1910.% The contractors. Foley, Welch and
Stewart. built a wagon road from Wolf Creek, Alberta. to
Tete Jaune Cache in British Columbia, along which 50
construction camps were built. Steel was laid to Fitzhugh
Station. selected as a divisional poigt. in August 1911.
and to Yellowhead Pass by the following Nov unbu The
line into Jasper Park was opened for public traffic in
April. 1912, and final connection with Prince Rupert. the

terminal, was made in 1914, Following the survey of

Jasper Townsite in 1913, the name
disappeared.

Construction of another railway through Yellowhead
Pass from Edmonton to Port Mann. B.C.. was com-

Fitzhugh

menced in 1911 by the Canadian Northern Railway
Company. By December, 1913. most of the track had
been laid to Lucerne, west of the pass.” The British
Columbia section was completed in June, 1915, but delay
in the construction in a number of bridges and trestles
cast of the park boundary postponed the opening of the
line through the park until October, 1915. The rights-of-
way of the two railways through the park ran for miles
almost side by side, and in the narrow valley of the
Miette River east of Yellowhead Pass, they were only
vards apart. In 1916, a consolidation of the lines from
Edmonton west was commenced and the rails from
discarded sections were shipped to Europe in 1917 to
meet war-time needs. In 1923, the two railways. which
had been taken over by the Federal Government. were
merged as the Canadian National Railways. and the
former Canadian Northern divisional point at Lucerne
was moved to Jasper.

Townsite Surveyed

The administration of Jasper Park was commenced
following an inspection made in 1909 by R.H. Campbell.
Superintendent of Forestry at Ottawa, and Howard
Douglas. the Commissioner of Parks at Edmonton. An
acting superintendent, JW. McLaggan was appointed in
December. and in 1910 two game guardians were engag-
ed for fire and game patrols. McLaggan established his
headquarters in a log building at Fitzhugh and autho-
rized temporary developments for the convenience for
the public including sleeping. restaurant and stable
accommodation. In 1913 a survey of Jasper Townsite
was made by H. Matheson. D.L.S.. and the first perma-
nent Park Supcrmtmdcnt. Colonel S.M. Rogers was
appointed. The present administration building and a
number of maintenance buildings were builtin 1913 and
in 1914 applications for lots in the new townsite were
accepted. Development outside the townsite was limited
to trail and secondary road construction which provided
access to Pyramid Lake and Maligne Canyon by carriage
from Jasper and to Miette Hot Springs by saddle-horse
from the railway at Pocahontas.

Park Boundaries Altered

Beyond the immediate vicinity of the railway line.
dev elopment was inhibited by a drastic reduction in the
area of the park in 1911. This action followed the repeal
of former park legislation and the passing of the Domin-
ion Forest Reserves and Parks Act. The new park
boundaries as defined by order in council under the act.
located the park within two theoretical lines drawn
parallel to and ten miles distant from each side of the
Grand Trunk Pacific Railway, resulting in an area of
approximately 1.000 square miles.'"” Withdrawn from
the park were Medicine and Maligne Lakes. Mount
Edith Cavell and the spectacular alpine region drained
by the upper Athabasca and Sunwapta Rivers. Strong
protests were made to the Government by senior officers
of the Grand Trunk Pacific and Canadian Northern
Railways. the president of the Alpine Club of Canada.
and other organizations. As the new Commissioner. J.B.
Harkin. observed in a memorandum to his Deputy
Minister *“the park is so narrow that it 1s only a joke so
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far as utility for game protection is concerned™.'" By
1914, the Minister of the Interior had been convinced
that the park area should be increased. Action was taken
that year to extend its boundaries to include 4.400 square
miles, incorporating much of its original dimensions.'?
Further adjustments in the park boundaries followed.
In 1927, an area of 980 square miles south of Sunwapta
Pass containing a portion of the Columbia Icefield and
some of the highest mountains in the Canadian Rockies,
was incorporated in the park. This addition brought

vigorous opposition from outfitters and packers in Banff

who had guided parties there for many years. The

Premier of Alberta also protested the addition in view of

negotiations under way providing for the transfer to the
province of its natural resources. A compromise eventu-
ally was reached. following the appointment of the
Boundary Commission already mentioned, and accept-
ance of its recommendations. In February. 1929, the
disputed area was incorporutcd in Rocky Mountains
Park. Concurrently. areas along its northern and eastern
boundaries were added to stpcr Park."? Final adjust-
ments made in 1930 with the passing of the National
Parks Actresulted in a park area of 4.200 square miles.

Highway Development

In the carly period its development, Jasper Park was
dependententirely on its railway for transportation from
outside points. The construction of motor roads in the
parks was accelerated after the end of World War 1 and
scenic roads to Maligne Canyon. Mount Edith Cavell
and a few of the nearby lakes were in use by 1924. A road
to the eastern boundary of the park. destined to form a
link in the future Jasper-Edmonton Highway., was com-
menced in 1923. Built on sections of abandoned railway
grade. it was completed in 1928, but motorists had to
wait until 1931 for the province to complete its section

before travel to Edmonton was possible. The opening of

the Banff-Jasper highway in 1940 brought the first wave
of motorists from the south, although travel later was
restricted by wartime gasoline rationing. Improvements
to main park highways during the period between 1948
and 1954 were followed by extensive relocation and
reconstruction inaugurated under a major trunk
highway improvement program in 1955. By 1967. the
highway east of Jasper leading to Edmonton had been
reconstructed and hard-surfaced to the park boundary.
The following year. the Jasper section of the Banff-Jasper
Highway. including a major relocation south of Whis-
tlers Creek. was rebuilt and paved. A new highway up
the Miette River Valley to Yellowhead Pass and British
Columbia was opened to motor travel in 1968, providing
a direct connection with the Fraser River Valley and
Vancouver. Maligne .Lake was linked by road with the
Townsite of Jasper in 1962, and much of the grade was
paved by 1970.

Visitor Accommodation

For years after its establishment, Jasper National Park
had little visitor accommodation. During the railway
construction era, the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway
Company had grandiose plans for hotel development—
one in the vicinity of Jasper Townsite and another at the
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mouth of Fiddle River. which would have had as a
nearby attraction the Miette Hot Springs eight miles
upstream. The company had applied in 1909 for the
right to control and develop the springs, but this bid was
firmly rejected. In 1911, the company selected and
surveyed a 50-acre site at Fiddle River for its proposed
Chateau Miette, plans of which depicted a luxurious and
ornate edifice.'* The Commissioner of Parks indicated
his interest in the proposed development by requesting
his chief superintendent at Edmonton to investigate the
possibility of having the springs connected by monorail
with the railway line near the hotel site. Photographs and
plans of a prototye in use near Calgary were obtained.
but the project did not materialize. Financial difficulties
experienced by the railway company prevented the
release of funds for hotel construction, although a lease
of the site had been prepared. The Fiddle River hotel
project was finally written off when the company’s
railway line on the eastern side of the Athabasca River
was abandoned in 1916.

The first ““tourist” accommodation near Jasper
Townsite was provided in 1915 by Robert Kenneth.
president of the Edmonton Tent and Mattress Company.
who leased a small area on Lac Beauvert for a tent camp.
Aided by publicity from the Grand Trunk Railway. the
“tent city’’ achieved instant success. In 1919, it was
taken over by Jack Brewster. By 1922, the re-organized
Canadian National Railway Company was in a position
to undertake the development of a hotel in the Park and
that year it acquired Brewster’s leasehold on Lac
Beauvert.' The railway company built a number of
multiple suite cabins in 1922 which formed the nucleus
of the present Jasper Park Lodge. In the year following.
development was continued, and by 1929. the main
lodge and satellite buildings had accommodation for
more than 600 guests. The amenities included an 18-hole
golf course which had acquired an international reputa-
tion. The original main building was destroyed by fire in

1952 but it was replaced the followm0 year by a magnif-
icent structure at a cost of two million dollars.

Early hotel development in Jasper Townsite began in
1921 and over the years resulted in the construction of a
number of well-appointed hotels, motels and motor inns.
Bungalow camp construction both in Jasper and along
Park highways later swelled the accommodation availa-
ble to purk visitors. Like other national parks in the
Rockies. Jasper experienced an ever-increasing demand
for public campgrounds. The first major uunpwound
was developed at Cottonwood Creek east of Jasper and
opened in 1927. Additional campsites were made availa-
ble at Patricia Lake in 1933 and at Miette Hot Springs in
1934. A phenomenal increase in motor travel in the
1950°s led to the development of a chain of campgrounds
along the main park highways which now serve thou-
sands of visitors.

Recreational Features

For more than half a century Jasper National Park has
offered visitors a wide choice of outdoor recreations. The
operation of horse liveries was a major business in early
years and saddle-ponies are still a familiar sight on park
trails. Sport fishing in park waters has attracted thou-



sands of anglers and the opening of the Medicine-
Maligne Lakes system in 1932 attracted widespread
interest. The waters of Miette Hot Springs. known to

Indians, miners and others long before the creation of

the park, were made more attractive to visitors in 1937
by the construction of modern bathing establishment in
the narrow valley of Sulphur Creek. a tributary of Fiddle
River. A motor road from Jasper to the springs was built
in 1933 and widened and improved in 1960.

Year-round public use of the park encouraged by the
development of winter sports. Early skating and curling
activity was supplemented by skiing which began in the
19207s. Downhill runs were cleared on Whistlers Moun-
tain south of Jasper Townsite in 1937. The initial
development was undertaken by a local club which
installed lifts and erected a club-house. In 1949, Marmot
Basin a few miles to the south, began to attract skiers who
were transported to the ski slopes from the park highway
by snowmobile. Active development of the area began in
1964. The area is now served by two modern chairlifts, a
day lodge and a large parking area. all accessible by a
motor road completed in 1970.

The Palisades Ranch

An interesting link in the park’s early history is the
Palisades Ranch, six miles north of Jasper on the
highway leading to Edmonton. When the park was
established. several squatters occupied lands and all but
one withdrew after receiving compensation. Lewis Swift,
the park’s first settler, who had occupied a quarter
section of land since 1895, declined to vacate and in
1911 was granted title to his homestead. **Swift’s place™
before the coming of the railways was a landmark for
travellers who were always sure of hospitality, a helping
hand. or in times of need, a share of its limited stores.
Swift had cleared land for agricultural purposes. built a
small grist-mill driven by water power, and carved his
furniture from the surrounding forest. An offer of $6,000
from the Department for his title was declined in 1926.
but eventually Swift found the operation of his home-
stead beyond his physical capacity and in 1935 indicated
his willingness to accept the Department’s offer. Unfor-
tunately, the Minister of the Interior took the position
that the purchase might be postponed and Swift
promptly sold out to a new arrival from England. A.C.
Wilby.

During the new few years Wilby spent over $100,000
in developing a “*dude ranch’ incorporating a number
of attractive buildings. Operations were cut short in 1947
when Wilby died. The administrators of his estate
offered the ranch to the Government for less than
Wilby’s investment, but funds were not available. Later
the ranch was acquired by a Jasper contractor. G.F.
Bried. who made heavy expenditures in converting most
of the buildings to tourist accommodation. Bried also
built a bungalow cabin development on the park

highway. Land requirements for the reconstruction of

the Jasper-Edmonton Highway and the threat of subdi-

vision of the ranch by the owner, led to an appraisal of

the entire freehold.
Subsequent negotiations result in the purchase of the
historic ranch for more than a quarter of a million

dollars. The ranch is now used mainly as a training
centre for park personnel. Although most of the original
buildings have been replaced. evidences of earlier occu-
pation remain in the form of Swift’s water-wheel, some
of his irrigation sluices, and Wilby’s grave.

Within the vast expanse of 4.200 square miles which
comprises Jasper National Park are areas which even
today are relatively unexplored. Motor roads traverse or
skirt many of the outstanding scenic attractions —ice-
fields, glaciers. and clear unpolluted lakes. Saddle-pony
trails lead to the hinterland —the back country which few
but the park wardens and the native wildlife have
invaded. Park zoning will protect these wilderness areas
from development in years to come and succeeding
generations will be able to enjoy the primitive, beautiful
mountain-land as the earliest explorer found it more
than a century and a half ago.
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Mount Revelstoke National Park

The establishment of Mount Revelstoke National Park
in 1914 added an unusual unit to Canada’s National
Parks system. The reservation of this mountain-top area
on the western slope of the Selkirk Mountains, much of it
at an elevation of more than a mile above sea level, made
available for public use and enjoyment a rolling alpine
plateau supporting scattered groves of balsam and spruce
and carpeted in early summer by vast profusion of
mountain wild flowers. The park incorporated the
Clachancudainn Range and snow-field which form the
source of several turbulent streams. From the summit of
Mount Revelstoke —now accessible by motor road —are
remarkable views of the valleys of the Illecillewaet and
Columbia Rivers and the peaks of the adjoining moun-
tain ranges to the north, east, south and west. As Arthur
Wheeler observed in his description of the area, **Here
Revelstoke found its park already laid out by nature
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without the intervention of any human landscape
gardener™.!

Early Park Visitors

Among the first to explore the mountain top area were
C.R. MacDonald and J.J. Devine of Revelstoke who
reached Balsam Lake in August, 1902.2 Four years later
in August, 1906, Dan McIntosh, William Mitchell and
A.E. Miller climbed the slopes of the mountain through
heavy timber and underbrush to the shore of Balsam
Lake where a tent was pitched. During the next week the
party explored the spectacular plateau, discovering the
small alpine lakes that lie across a valley from the
summit. Descriptions of the area together with photo-
graphs taken by the group, led to the formation of a local
mountaineering club in 1910. Members of this organi-
zation sponsored the erection of a small shelter at Balsam
Lake which was built by voluntary labour. The club also
induced the Corporation of the City of Revelstoke to
construct a walking trail from the city limits to the
summit of the mountain. This was completed in 1910
and given the name of the presiding mayor, C.F. Lind-
mark. Later the trail was extended to Eva and Miller
Lakes, named after two members of the club, Eva Hobbs
and A.E. Miller.?

Completion of the trail to the summit of the moun-
tain—known locally as Victoria Park —attracted a large
number of enthusiastic visitors. Representations made
by citizens of Revelstoke to the Government of British
Columbia through C.B. Hume, a prominent merchant
resulted in financial assistance towards the construction
of a road up the mountain. The Minister of Public
Works, the Honourable Thomas Taylor, arranged for a
location survey and a grant of $10,000 towards the cost.

By the end of 1912 a little more than four miles of

“wagon road’” had been completed.*

Puark is Established

In August, 1912, J.H. Hamilton. president of the recently
formed **Progress Club’ in Revelstoke, solicited the
assistance of the local member of parliament, R.F.
Green, in having the area surrounding the top of the
mountain established as a dominion park. In turn, Mr.
Green referred the request to the Minister of Interior. the
Honourable Robert Rogers.® A formal inspection of the
area was undertaken in September.
Superintendent of Western Parks, P.C. Bernard-Harvey.
who reported on the developments which had under-
taken, and commented favourably on the natural attrac-
tions. A final push in the move for the establishment of a
park was given by Mr. Green, Member for Kootenay,
who on SLpleer 25,1913, advised the Honourable Dr.
Roche, now Minister of the Interior. that the Provincial
Government would withhold further expenditures on the
road up the mountain until the future status of the area
had been dealt with by the Federal Government.® Fa-
vourable action was finally taken in April 28, 1914 when
an area of 95 square miles was established as the
Revelstoke National Park.” The enacting order in coun-
cil called attention to the natural beauty of the area
which included **glaciers, mountain peaks and waterfalls
which attract large numbers of tourists and make it
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1913 by the Chief

adapted for the purposes of a scenic park™. In 1915, the
area was proclaimed the Mount Revelstoke National
Park.

Road to Summit

Completion of the road to the summit of Mount Revel-
stoke was the first major project undertaken by the Parks
Service. Work was commenced in July, 1914, but the
intervention of World War [ and limited park appropri-
ations postponed its completion for some years. By 1922.
construction had reached the 14-mile post and the road
to that point, which provided spectacular views along the
route, was opened to the public. Finally, in June. 1927.
construction had been completed over a distance of 18
miles to Balsam Lake, and a formal opening ceremony
was held on August 1, with H.R.H. the Prince of Wales as
guest of honour.* During 1928 and 1929 an extension of
the road was made to the most accessible part of the
summit where a turning circle was constructed. In the
years following, improvements to the road were made
and original crib work was replaced by stone walls at
strategic points.

During the construction period, prominent visitors to
Revelstoke were occasionally entertained by a drive up
the mountain over completed sections of the road and
some of these events were commemorated by the instal-
lation of special markers in the form of posts. The first of
these was planted by His Excellency the Governor
General, the Duke of Connaught, on July 28, 1916. In
1918, a post was erected by his son, Prince Arthur of
Connaught, and in 1919 His Royal Highness the Prince
of Wales dedicated a memorial erected at a switch-back
overlooking the Illecillewaet River Vally. In 1930. the
posts marking the sites of these ceremonies were re-
placed by permanent cut-stone markers bearing suitable
inscriptions.

Boundaries are Extended

As originally constituted. the park contained 95 square
miles but unfortunately the area did not include the first
few miles of the park road on which construction had
been commenced with provincial funds. In 1916, the
Revelstoke Board of Trade informed the Agent of Do-
minion Lands that it favoured an addition to the park
that would include land south of the park and also give
the Park Service control over the entire length of the
road. An extension of five square miles adjoining the
southerly boundary was added to the park in 1920°, and
in 1927 an additional 240 acres enclosing portions of the
eastern end of the park road were proclaimed as park
lands.""

In 1948, four additional parcels on which the road
allowance encroached east of its junction with the pro-
vincial highway along the Columbia River, were pur-
chased, thus placing the original road for the first time.
entirely within park boundaries.

Difficulties experienced in 1951 in obtaining a suitable
site for a building which would combine the functions of
a park entrance and a warden’s quarters led to a proposal
that a new entrance to the park from the City of
Revelstoke be explored. The matter was discussed by the
Park Superintendent with the Mayor of Revelstoke, and



the City Council not only gave enthusiastic support to
the idea, but agreed to deed to the Crown, lands adjoin-
ing the park that would be required for the right-of-way.
Between 1952 and 1958, the Corporation of the City of
Revelstoke donated to the Crown for park purposes,
about 200 acres of land including a portion of a surveyed
extension to the city. These extensions increased the area
of the parks to approximately 100.5 square miles. Work
on the new approach road from the head of Pearson
Avenue was commenced in 1954 and completed in 1956.
The new road also permitted construction of a new access
road to the foot of the ski hill and the development of a
parking lot.

Trans-Canada Highway

Policy decisions which led to the construction of portions
of the Trans-Canada Highway through Mount Revel-
stoke National Park influenced additional development
of the park. In 1957. Revelstoke was selected as the
headquarters for Glacier and Mount Revelstoke Na-
tional Parks and a resident superintendent was ap-
pointed. The task of clearing the right-of-way for the
highway within the park was completed in 1958, and in
1959 a concrete overpass was built across the section of
the park highway from Revelstoke which had been
completed in 1956. Construction of the Trans-Canada
Highway through the park was carried on throughout
1959 and completed, with an asphalt surface, in 1960. A
final asphalt lift was applied to the highway in 1969.

Mountain Road Rebuilt

In anticipation of a large increase in the number of
visitors to Mount Revelstoke Park following completion
of the Trans-Canada Highway, reconstruction of the
road leading to the summit was commenced by park
forces in 1960. Progress was limited by modest appropri-
ations and the short season in which work could be
carried on. By 1963, reconstruction of about seven miles
had been accomplished and in order to expedite the
work. arrangements were made to have the balance of
the road built by contract under supervision of the
Department of Public Works. The inauguration of a
crash program required closing of the road to the public
during 1965 and 1966 and the temporary closing of
normal visitor amenities. Complementing plans for
completion of the road was the decision to develop a day-
use area at the summit and concentrate camping activity
at Balsam Lake about one mile below the end of the
existing road.

Construction under contract was commenced in July
1965. and continued during the portion of the year that
work was practical. having regard for the exceptional
snowfall experienced in winter. At the close of operations
in November 1965, rough grading had been completed
to mile 12. In December, 1966 grading had been carried
to Balsam Lake and by July. 1967, an all-weather gravel
road to that point was completed. In keeping with
decisions reached after detailed studies had been made.
the new highway terminated at Balsam Lake where
modern parking facilities were installed in 1969. As
funds are provided, paving of the 16-mile route will be
undertaken.

The reconstruction of the highway to the summit of
Mount Revelstoke provided an opportunity for an im-
proved approach from the City of Revelstoke. This was
developed in 1963, from an interchange at the south-
western boundary. The new construction permitted the
closing of the road from Pearson Avenue. and eliminated
the use of a level crossing over the main line of the
Canadian Pacific Railway.

Park Development

The earliest government building in the park was a
warden patrol cabin at Balsam Lake erected in 1919.'" A
lookout tower was built in 1927 above the end of the
motor road by the Forestry Branch of the Department of
the Interior. The Park Service took over the building and
its operation in 1930. A patrol cabin was constructed at
Eva Lake in 1928, a storage and equipment building at
mile one of the park highway in 1927, and a patrol cabin
at Silver Creek in 1949. New staff quarters for the park
superintendent and senior staff members were con-
structed in the park in 1961. A work compound. includ-
ing equipment garage and maintenance buildings was
developed in 1962, and a new gateway building on the
Trans-Canada Highway was completed during the same
year. The superintendent and staff have occupied admin-
istrative headquarters in the City of Revelstoke since
1957.

The only visitor accommodation to be operated in the
park was Heather Lodge, which was constructed by a
resident of Revelstoke in 1940 at the summit of the
mountain. Operation of the building, which oftered
overnight and dining accommodation, was taken over in
1949 by a former R.AF. officer who purchased the
leasehold in 1951. The distance of the lodge from the
main avenues of travel, and a very limited overnight
business made profitable operation difficult.

In 1953, the National Parks Service constructed three
alpine type chalets which were leased to the concession-
aire of the lodge. together with a service building
constructed on the shore of a small nearby lake for the
provision of power and water services. The decision in
1963 to close the road to the public for the following two
years made operation of the lodge impractical. and after
negotiation, the owner accepted an offer from the Crown
for his interest in the building and site. The main
building was demolished and the cabins and service
building were removed from the area in 1967. The
decision to develop the summit of the mountain as a day-
use area precluded the replacement of the accommoda-
tion formerly supplied by the lodge.

Visitor Accommodation

The opening of the Mount Revelstoke road in 1927
resulted in a demand for camping amenities. A small
campground was developed on the shore of Balsam Lake
in 1928 and a kitchen shelter erected.'? Improvements to
the campground were made in 1948. when three new
shelters were built. These additions were augmented by
the erection of two kitchen shelters at the summit of the
mountain, north of the lookout. Additional development
was undertaken at Balsam Lake in 1961 when two new
shelters were built to replace older structures being
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phased out. An additional shelter was added to the
summit campground in 1961. The 1963 season, how-
ever, was to be the last one for overnight camping as
reconstruction of the mountain highway necessitated its
closing to visitors. On the reopening of the road in 1967,
a plan for redevelopment of the former campgrounds at
Balsam Lake and on the summit was initiated. On its
completion facilities for overnight camping will be
missing, but picnic areas with suitable amenities, to-
gether with hiking and nature trails will help visitors
enjoy the many natural attractions and features of the
park.

Winter Sports Development
For more than half a century Revelstoke has been
famous as a ski centre. Skiing in the vicinity was enjoyed
as early as 1891 but not until 1915 was the Revelstoke
Ski Club organized. Club members constructed a jump
on the lower slopes of Mount Revelstoke and annual
tournaments attracted many competitors. The club’s
improvements had been made on leased land which was
absorbed when the boundaries of Mount Revelstoke
National Park were extended in 1920. From that year
on, the club received assistance from the National Parks
Service in improving the jump and landing hill. The
performance of participants in the club’s events later
attracted wide attention. In February, 1921, the world’s
professional record was broken when Henry Hall of
Detroit made a jump of 229 feet on the Mount Revel-
stoke hill. During the same meet, Nels Nelson of Revel-
stoke set a new amateur record of 201 feet.'* New
amateur records by local competitors were made in 1931
and 1932 when jumps 0f 269 and 287 feet were attained.
After World War 2, renewed interest in skiing led to
reorganization of the club in 1948, and the National
Parks Service assisted in reconstructing the ski jump and
landing hill that year to Olympic requirements. In 1950,
the club organized its annual **Tournament of Champi-
ons”’. The slope of the mountain, below the ski jump, on
which a rope tow was operated, was impaired by the
construction of the Trans-Canada Highway through the
area, and the Revelstoke Ski Club solicited the assistance
and co-operation of the Parks Service in the consolida-
tion of all facilities in the vicinity of the senior ski jump
known as the Nels Nelson hill. An appraisal survey was
carried out in October 1958 by Franz Baier, a ski expert
from the National Parks Engineering Division at Ot-
tawa, and recommendations were made for the im-
provement of the club’s ski jump and the clearing of
down-hill runs. In 1961 the Park Service undertook the
clearing of an area of 30 acres for ski runs and the right-
of-way for a poma-lift installed by the Revelstoke Winter
Sports Limited, an incorporated group of local skiers.
During 1965 and 1966 the Park Service made further
expenditures in improving skiing on the slopes of Mount
Revelstoke. Work undertaken included the reconstruc-
tion of two ski jumps, construction of a modern ski patrol
and toilet building, erection of a steel judges stand
adjoining the senior jump, and the construction of a new
parking area near the foot of the ski slopes served by an
access road built from the park highway. Late in 1969,
the company operating the lifts merged its operations
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with those of a rival development outside the park. All
rights in the vicinity of the park ski slopes were relinqu-
ished and the lift equipment was moved to the slopes of
Mount Mackenzie to the south.
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Kootenay National Park

The establishment of Kootenay National Park, British
Columbia, in 1920, added a colourful and historic
mountain region to the chain of national reservations set
aside for the use and benefit of Canadians. It also
climaxed the efforts of individuals and governments to
complete the first motor road across the central Cana-
dian Rockies, linking the Bow River Valley with that of
the upper Columbia River. The route of this early
parkway, known as the Banff-Windermere Road, had
been pioneered years before by illustrious travellers. Sir
George Simpson, Governor of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany had followed the valleys of the Simpson, Vermilion
and Kootenay Rivers and Sinclair Creek to the Colum-
bia in 1841 on his trip around the world. During the
same year, James Sinclair led a group of 21 families from
the Hudson Bay Company’s Red River colony across the
Rockies to Fort Vancouver in the Oregon Territory.' In
1858 Sir James Hector of the Palliser Expedition had
crossed Vermilion Pass in the course of an exploratory
journey from the Bow River Valley to the Kicking Horse
River along the Vermilion, Kootenay and Beaverfoot
Rivers. In summarizing his report of the expedition,
Captain John Palliser had extolled the Vermilion Pass as
““the most favourable and inexpensive to render availa-
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ble for wheeled conveyances™”.

Mountain Highway Planned

The Banff-Windermere Road was conceived by Robert
Randolph Bruce of Invermere, British Columbia, later
Lieutenant-Governor of the Province. A Scottish engi-
neer, Bruce, after coming to Canada had worked for the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company as a construction
engineer, and had engaged in developing mines in
western Canada. He believed that the construction of a
motor road linking Banff in Alberta with the Winder-
mere district in British Columbia would provide a



valuable commercial link with the provinces east of the
Rockies, and also would form a spectacular tourist route
taking in the attractions of Banff, Lake Louise, and the
Windermere area. Through his railway associations,
Bruce in 1910 enlisted the support of Sir Thomas
Shaughnessy, President of the Canadian Pacific Railway,
and later interested the Premier of British Columbia, Sir
Richard McBride, in his project.

Early Road Construction

Calgary had just been linked with Banff by a passable
motor road and future communication lay to the west.
Arrangements were subsequently worked out whereby
the Canadian Pacific Railway Company and the British
Columbia Government would share the cost of construc-
tion of that part of the route which lay in British
Columbia from Windermere to Vermilion Pass. In turn,
the Dominion Government through the Federal Depart-
ment of Interior would built a section through Banff
National Park necessary to provide a connection with
the road to Calgary.? The original estimate of completing
the road was $150,000, but this figure soon proved to be
unrealistic.* Construction on the Windermere or British
Columbia end of the road was commenced in 1911
following surveys carried out by H.J. Haffner and J.W.
Waurtele. Following an expenditure of $277,000, of
which the Canadian Pacific Railway contributed at least
$75,000, work was suspended in 1913. Twelve miles of
difficult construction —seven from the Columbia Valley
easterly up Sinclair Creek, and five westerly from Ver-
milion Summit had been completed when a shortage of
funds developed. Meanwhile, the Federal Government
had proceeded with the construction of a thirty-mile
stretch west of Banff and by November 1914, a road to
the Inter-provincial Boundary at the summit of Vermil-
ion Pass had been completed.*

The outbreak of World War 1 and an unsatisfactory
financial situation prevented serious consideration by
British Columbia of completing its end of the road. By
1916, Mr. Bruce had conceived the idea of having the
National Parks Branch of the Department of Interior
complete the British Columbia section, subject to the
conveyance by the province to Canada of not only the
highway right-of-way but a strip of land bordering the
road on either side for the purposes of a national park.
Bruce visited Ottawa for interviews with the Minister of
the Interior and the Commissioner of National Parks,
and made the necessary approaches to the provincial
authorities. In May, 1916, the Minister, the Hon. W.J.
Roche notified Premier Bowser of British Columbia that
completion of the road would be undertaken by Canada
if the proposition was endorsed by the provincial legisla-
ture in the form of a bill. Following lengthy negotiations
and completion of the necessary legislation, the Banff-
Windermere Road Agreement was signed on behalf of
British Columbia and the Federal Government on
March 12, 1919.¢

Terms of the Agreement

The agreement contained features of great importance to
the National Parks Administration. It provided not only
for the granting of a highway right-of-way and title to all

unalienated lands within a belt ten miles wide along the
highway, but also recognized the legislative jurisdiction
of the Federal Government over all national parks in
British Columbia. The province agreed that its legisla-
tion and regulations applicable to national parks would
conform to and correspond with Federal Government
legislation and regulations for the parks, and that it
would not enact any legislation or regulations in conflict
with those of ‘““the Dominion”’. Title to the highway
right of way and the lands within the encompassing belt
was conveyed by British Columbia to Canada in July,
1919. The new park was proclaimed under the authority
of an order in council approved on April 21, 1920.7 The
choice of the name “Kootenay”’ for the park, which had
been selected not only for the reasons of euphony but also
as a tribute to the Kootenay Indians who in earlier days
had inhabited the area, was not universally accepted.
Randolph Bruce, who had seen his long cherished
project completed, preferred the name *“Columbia™. In a
letter to J.B. Harkin, Commissioner of Parks, Bruce set
out his objections and incidentally provided a back-
ground for his endeavours.

“One might say that the calling of this park ‘Colum-
bia’ might be pandering to our cousins across the line.
Well, we want to pander to them all we can. We want
their cars and their money and their business, and that
is a good deal why this road was started originally. I
know it because it was me who started it. I got the
C.P.R. interested and the provincial government,
away back in 1910. The former put §75,000 into it
and the latter about $200,000. Then came evil days in
B.C. Our government had no more money. What had
been built was falling into decay and I bethought
myself of the Dominion Government and in conjunc-
tion with your good self, I suggested to Dr. Roche, the
then Minister of the Interior, that he should take over
the road as then constructed, as an outlet for the
national park. At the time you will remember he said
the Dominion Government was willing to pay for
necessary right-of-way, which we then talked about as
extending a mile on either side of the road. From
Ottawa I went to Victoria, and asked the Government
for five miles free right-of-way on either side of the
road, and I got it for you. So I humbly think I am
entitled to express my opinion as to what this area
should be called’.®

Park authorities, however, held to their original choice of
name and ‘‘Kootenay National Park’ it has since
remained.

Completion of the Road

Under the agreement, the Federal Government under-
took to complete within four years of ““the conclusion of
peace in the present war”’, the unfinished sections of the
road. The stretch of road up the valley of Sinclair Creek
built by the province had been largely washed out by
floods in 1914. Reconstruction was commenced in 1920
and carried on through 1921 and 1922. The completed
road, now designated the Banff-Windermere Highway.
was officially opened at Kootenay Crossing on June 23,
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1923.Y During the following tourist season, more than
4.500 automobiles travelled over the new all-weather
route between the Columbia River Valley and Banff. In
1947, reconstruction of the highway to modern stan-
dards was undertaken and by 1952 the entire route had
been rebuilt and paved. Further improvement of the
road under the National Parks Trunk Highway Program
was commenced in 1956 and was completed in 1967.
The latest work, which involved major revisions in the
vicinity of Radium Hot Springs, produced a modern
hard-surfaced highway affording spectacular views of
the mountains, rivers and valleys along its route.

Hot springs which issue from the base of Redstreak
Mountain about a mile from its western boundary have
been one of the park’s outstanding attractions since its
establishment. Known as the Radium Hot Springs. they
were frequented by Indians, miners and early settlers
long before the beginning of the 20th century. Crude
pools built of rock and chinked with moss permitted
bathing in water having a temperature of up to 114
Fahrenheit. A grant of 160 acres surrounding the springs
was obtained from the provincial government in 1890 by
Roland Stuart and a partner, H.A. Pearse.'” An English-
man. Stuart had come to the Windermere District of
British Columbia in 1887, to study ranching. In 1893,
Stuart bought out his partner after having moved to

Victoria. He made no attempt to develop the springs

until 1911, when construction of the highway which
would eventually pass his property was undertaken by
the provincial government. Stuart had analyses made of
the spring waters in 1911, 1912 and 1913, which
revealed a substantial emanation of radium. A syndicate
to develop the springs was organized in England by
Stuart who obtained financial assistance from St. John
Harmsworth, who had successfully developed the Perrier
waters at Nimes, France. Harmsworth accompanied
Stuart to the springs in 1914 and supplied the capital
required to construct a concrete bathing pool, a log
dressing-room, a small store and a caretaker’s cottage.
Although Harmsworth’s contribution was about $20.-
000, only $7,000 actually went into development.'!
Following the outbreak of World War 1, Harmsworth
returned to England and later withdrew from the syndi-
cate. Before leaving Canada, Harmsworth had appointed
an agent. and the bathing-pool was operated by caretak-
ers from 1914 to 1921. Stuart also left Canada with
Harmsworth in September, 1914.

Expropriation by the Crown
Following the establishment of the park in 1920, officers
of the Dder[an[ of the Interior at Ottawa tried to
negotiate the purchase of Stuart’s property which. in
addition to Lot 149 surrounding the springs included
adjacent land containing 455 acres. Although he had
offered to sell the springs property in 1909 to the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company for $3,000, Stuart
ignored cables from his agent in British Columbia which
indicated the Department’s desire to purchase. In fact,
Stuart had been engaged in the promotion in England of
a new company. ““‘Kootenay Radium Natural Springs.
Limited”, from which he received substantial cash and
stock benefits.!? In February, 1922, authority was ob-
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tained to expropriate the springs and adjoining lands
and possession was secured by a court order. Settlement
of Stuart’s claim for compensation involved a reference
to the Exchequer Court of Canada. Hearings were held at

Banff, Vancouver and Victoria in 1924 and the judgment
handed down in January. 1925, was appealed. In June.
1927, Stuart was awarded additional compensation
which altogether amounted to approximately $40.,000
together with interest.'3

Development at the Springs

After the hot springs were taken over by the National
Parks Service in 1922, the original bathing establish-
ment was re-habilitated and operated for the next five
years. In 1927, a two-storey bath-house was erected and
the original concrete pool was improved and lengthened
by 30 feet. This building was destroyed by fire in 1948,
and was replaced in 1950 by a large modern bathing
establishment known as the Aquacourt at a cost of nearly
$1.000.000. The new structure incorporated the original
pool, an additional large outdoor pool and commodious
dressing-rooms, steam-rooms, management quarters
and a refreshment counter. In 1966, the top floor of the
building was renovated to accommodate a restaurant
and outdoor dining terrace. Additional improvements
were made in 1968 when the original or “*hot”” pool was
demolished and replaced by a new pool of asymmetric
design.

Permanent administrative quarters were developed in
1922 on a bench above the bathing pool where a small
business and residential subdivision known as Radium
Hot Springs Townsite was surveyed. Leases were granted
to private enterprise for the construction of two small
hotels, a garage and service station, and a bungalow
camp erected by the Canadian Pacific Railway Com-
pany. Additional cabin developments later were erected
along the completed highway. Patronage of the pools
and plunges, fed by hot water almost free from the smell
of hydrogen sulphide prevalent at Banff. induced the
provision of additional accommodation at Radium Hot
Springs. A steady increase in visitors also necessitated
studies to relieve traffic and parking problems. Consider-
able improvement was effected between 1960 and 1967
when most of the business leaseholds in the vicinity of
the Aquacourt were purchased and the buildings re-
moved. The administrative headquarters were relocated
on a bench overlooking the Columbia River Valley. The
highway through the townsite area was relocated and a
large parking area was created by filling in a bend of
Sinclair Creek which was diverted through a tunnel.

The creation of Kootenay National Park. traversed
throughout its length by a motor highway. influenced an
exceptional demand for camping space. In 1923, devel-
opment of a chain of campgrounds was commenced and
although primitive by today’s standard, they provided
convenient stopping places for motorists in an age when
spged was not considered essential to a xatxslactory
vacation. Gradually, many of the early campgrounds
were replaced by picnic areas, and remaining camp-
grounds were reconstructed and, in some cases, relo-
cated. The largest of the new installations, the Redstreak
Campground near Radium Hot Springs, was opened in



1962 on a bench overlooking the Columbia River Valley
and provided a new standard for serviced campgrounds
in Canada’s national park system.

Kootenay National Park combines many attractions.
Its mineral hot springs and well-maintained pools have
been available to bathers for more than 50 years and
have acquired a world-wide reputation. The Banft-

Windermere Highway provides throughout its length of

65 miles. remarkable panoramas of alpine scenery. Its
picturesque canyons, its ““ochre’ springs, and an inter-
esting variety of game animals. all have combined to
attract visitors in steadily increasing thousands.
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Wood Buffalo National Park

The establishment in 1922 of Wood Buffalo National
Park, located astride the boundary between Alberta and
the Northwest Territories, was described as one of the
most important and far-sighted conservation measures
ever taken by the Government of Canada.' Bison, or
buffalo as they are generally called. had been known to
exist in the vicinity of the lower Peace River and Slave
River regions since the earliest days of exploration, and
later were believed to be the only wild remnant of the
millions of buffalo that once inhabited North America.
Larger in size, heavier. and darker in colour than the
typical plains buffalo, the northern bison were classified
in 1897 as a distinctive subspecies, Bison bison athaba-
scae, by S.N. Rhoads.

The earliest record of the existence of buffalo in the
Lower Slave River area was left by Samuel Hearne, who
crossed Great Slave Lake in the winter of 1771-72 and
who found them **plentiful”’. In his description of the
journey which took him to the mouth of the Mackenzie
River in 1789. Alexander Mackenzie reported the exis-
tence of large herds of buffalo along Slave River. An
outline of the range and number of the buffalo in the
northern regions of Canada also was provided by obser-
vations of members of the Franklin expedition in 1820;

by Daniel Harmon in 1808-10; by Sir John Richardson
in 1845; and by John Macoun in 1875. Recorded
observations after 1840 disclosed a growing scarcity of
buffalo in northern Canada and up to 1870, the disap-
pearance of the species in the outlying districts of their
habitat. Estimates of the numbers of buffalo made in
1888, during an investigation into the resources of the
Mackenzie Basin instituted by a Senate committee,
ranged from small bands to several hundred head.?

Early Protective Measures

The earliest move to extend legal protection to buffalo in
northwestern Canada was taken in 1877 when an ordi-
nance (No. 5) for their protection was approved by the
Northwest Territories Council. The Northwest Territo-
ries at that time included lands now within Alberta.
Saskatchewan and Yukon Territory. Unfortunately, the
ordinance was repealed during the year following. but in
1890. the Territorial Game Ordinance of 1888 was
amended to protect buffalo.® This protection was con-
firmed by the Unorganized Territories Game Protection
Act of 1894 and successive legislation. Following the
creation of the Province of Alberta. the killing of buffalo
was prohibited by the Alberta Game Actof 1907.

Although the law for the protection of buffalo was
passed in 1890, little enforcement was in evidence for the
next few years. In 1897, Inspector A.M. Jarvis of the
North West Mounted Police made the first extensive
patrol of the region between Edmonton and Fort Resolu-
tion on Great Slave Lake. On his return he reported that
the inhabitants claimed complete ignorance of the law.
In 1899, two hunters were convicted of killing buffalo in
the vicinity of Fort Smith, and during the following 13
years the Mounted Police assumed an increasingly active
role in their protection. In 1911. the police, known since
1904 as the Royal North West Mounted, were relieved of
the special supervision of the buffalo, and their care was
entrusted to the Superintendent of Forestry at Ottawa.”
Protective measures which followed included the ap-
pointment of resident game guardians or herders. On the
enactment of the Northwest Territories Game Act of
1917, its administration, including supervision of the
buffalo herds, became the responsibility of the Commis-
sioner of National Parks, Department of the Interior.
who had assistance from the Royal North West Mounted
Police.

The Act confirmed the protection to which the north-
ern buffalo were entitled, although provision was made
for the taking of specimens for scientific and propagation
purposes.?

Buffalo Range Investigated

The need for a measure that would ensure absolute
sanctuary conditions for the wood bison was recognized
years before the necessary action was actually taken. On
his return from an inspection trip undertaken in 1907 to
.ascertain the number and condition of the buffalo. on
which he was accompanied by Ernest Thompson Seton
and E.A. Preble, Inspector A.M. Jarvis of the Mounted
Police had stressed the need for resident guardians. He
also pointed out that effective and casy protection of the
herds would be possible if the area inhabited by buffalo
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were at once turned into a national park.® In his annual
report for 1913, the Commissioner of National Parks,
J.B. Harkin, observed that a proposal to establish a
protected area for the preservation of the herd of wild
buffalo in the Fort Smith country was under considera-
tion. On the basis of information supplied by Charles
Camsell of the Geological Survey of Canada following
an investigation of the wood buffalo range in 1916, Dr.
C. Gordon Hewitt, consulting zoologist of the Depart-
ment of Agriculture, made a strong plea for the creation
of a national park, a step that he believed would not only
save the wood buffalo from extermination but would also
ensure repopulation of the species in adjacent territory.’

Developments which were to influence the economy of
the Mackenzie District of the Northwest Territories,
were triggered by the discovery of oil in commercial
quantities on the Mackenzie River about 50 miles north
of Fort Norman in August. 1920. Anticipating an oil
stampede into the district on the opening of navigation
in 1921, the Minister of the Interior established the
Northwest Territories Branch at Ottawa for the purposes
of administering the natural resources of and the trans-
action of Departmental business relating to the
Territories.

Administrative headquarters was established at Fort
Smith on July 1, 1921, and sub-offices were opened at
Fort Resolution and Fort Norman. During the same year
the administration of the Northwest Game Act was
transferred to the new branch from the Commissioner of
National Parks, together with the responsibility of ad-
ministering the wood buffalo herds.*

By May 1922, the Director of the new branch, O.S.
Finnie, was able to forecast the creation of a national
park which would encompass the ranges of both the
northern and southern herds of wood buffalo known to
exist. F.H. Kitto of the National Resources Intelligence
Service of the Department, had visited the southern
range in 1920 and his report was to influence govern-
ment action. ““As a result of my recommendations, the
Government decided to set aside a large tract of country
including the whole of the range as a bison reserve.
Further exploration was decided on to determine the
extent of the boundaries”.”

In May 1922, F.V. Seibert, also of the National
Resources Intelligence Service, was assigned to make a
reconnaissance of the wood buffalo ranges. He was
joined later by Maxwell Graham, officer in charge of
wildlife administration for the Northwest Territories
Branch. By late autumn, observations made by the two
investigators had determined within reasonable limits,
the bison population and the approximate northern and
southern ranges of the buffalo. Graham conservatively
estimated that the southern range contained 1,000 wood
buffalo and the northern range 500.'° Seibert described
the limits of the northern range as lying between the
Nyarling River on the north and the Little Buffalo River
on the south. The southern range was believed to be
within an area bounded by the Little Buffalo, Salt, Slave
and Jackfish rivers.
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Wood Buffalo Park Created

On December 22, 1922, Wood Buffalo National Park,
containing an area of 10,500 square miles was created by
order in council, under authority of the Dominion Forest
Reserves and Parks Act.!! The order in council explained
that the new park formed the original habitat of the
wood buffalo in the vicinity of Fort Smith and that unless
the area was reserved for the preservation of the species,
great danger existed that the only remaining herd in its
native wild state would become extinct. The order in
council also stipulated that, for purposes of administra-
tion, the new park was being placed under the jurisdic-
tion of the Northwest Territories Branch of the Depart-
ment of the Interior.

Following the establishment of the park in 1922, the
District Agent for Mackenzie District, whose headquar-
ters were at Fort Smith, was also appointed Park Super-
intendent. The herder or warden service which had
existed for some years previously was reorganized and
expanded by the appointment of a Chief Park Warden
and a staff of five. A warden headquarters later was
established at Hay Camp on Slave River about 45 miles
south of Fort Smith. Gradually, an effective game and
forest protection service was developed, warden stations
were connected to Fort Smith by telephone, fire detection
towers were erected and development of a road system
undertaken to link Pine Lake and Hay Camp stations
with the Fitzgerald-Fort Smith Road.

In 1925, the transfer of surplus plains buffalo from
Buffalo National Park at Wainwright, Alberta, to Wood
Buffalo Park was commenced —a move which pro-
foundly affected the character and health of the existing
herds of wood buffalo. Between June 1925 and July 1928,
a total of 6,673 plains buffalo were shipped north from
Wainwright to Waterways by railway. From Waterways,
the buffalo were transported by scows down the Athaba-
sca and Slave Rivers to LaButte and adjacent areas on
the west bank of the Slave River south and north of Hay
Camp, where they were liberated. The plains buffalo
rapidly adjusted to their new range, which embraced
vast reaches of primordial forest interspersed with grassy
plains and meadows. By 1926, some of the buffalo had
crossed the Peace River to the south and in order to
incorporate their new range, Wood Buffalo Park was
enlarged in April 1926, to an area of 17,000 sq. miles.'?
The new boundary took in territory north and south of
the Peace River east of the Fifth Meridian and the north
of the 27th Baseline, but excluded Buffalo Lake and a
small area in the northwest corner of the original park. In
September 1926, Buffalo Lake and adjacent lands were
reinstated in the park by order in council. thereby
increasing its area to 17,300 square miles.'?

Buffalo Policy Criticized

The decision to transfer surplus plains buffalo from
Buffalo National Park at Wainwright to Wood Buffalo
Park was made at departmental level after lengthy
deliberation. The Wainwright herd, developed mainly
from buffalo purchased in Montana from 1907 to 1912
had, by March 1923, increased to more than 6,600 head.
The condition of the range, which also supported elk.
moose and deer numbering at least 1,200 head, had



deteriorated to the stage where it could not sustain the

increased animal population. Proposals for reduction of

the buffalo by slaughter had brought letters of objection
from the public and alternative propos‘lls for shipment

to northern areas. It was realized that an infusion of

plains buffalo into the wood buffalo herds would result in
hybridization, but the proposed action was forecast in a

press article issued under the authority of the Director of

the Northwest Territories and the Yukon Branch, O.S.
Finnie.

In this article, published in The Canadian Field Natu-
ralist, reference was made to the opinion expressed by
Charles Camsell following a brief investigation of the
wood buffalo range in 1916, that there was no contact
between the herds occupying the northern and southern
ranges.'* Consequently, it was assumed that any integra-
tion would be confined to wood buffalo occupymo thc
southern range and that the northern herd would *
main inviolate so far as admixture with the introduced
bison is concerned ™.

Publication of the article resulted in letters from
prominent zoologists and conservation societies protest-
ing the introduction of the plains bison to the wood
buffalo range as it was believed the action would result in
deterioration of the northern strain. Another objection
raised was the danger that the wood buffalo would be
subjected to the risk 0( tubercular infection. Park author-
ities had been aware of the existence of bovine tuberculo-
sis in the Wainwright herd since 1919, when several
buffalo had been autopsied after slaughter.'s At an early
conference on the proposed shipments, tuberculin testing
of the buffalo selected had been agreed on, but later it
was decided to forego this precaution and the trans-
planted buffalo, confined mainly to one-year and two-
year olds, were sent north without benefit of a tuberculin
test. The primary purpose of the experiment was to save
the calf crops, which by 1923, were exceeding 1,000 head
ayear.

The decision to waive the tuberculin test apparently
was reached in the belief that only the older buffalo in the

Wainwright herd were susceptible to disease and that if

the young animals were segregated from the adults, there
would be little chance of them becoming tubercular. At
least one departmental official disagreed with the
decision.

In April, 1924, the Supervisor of Wildlife Protection,
Hoyes Lloyd, advised the Commissioner of Parks by
memorandum that It is thought to be very bad epidemi-
ology to ship buffalo from a herd known to be diseased
and place them in contact with the buffalo at Wood
Buffalo Park which are not known to be diseased, so far
as am aware”.!'0

Infectious Diseuses

Following the introduction of plains buffalo to the
southern range of the wood bison, the combined buffalo
populations of the park increased slowly. In 1929, the
number was estimated to be 10,000. Scientific investi-
gations of the buffalo range were undertaken from 1932
to 1934 by J. Dewey Soper, of the Department of the
Interior at Ottawa, who estimated the buffalo population
in 1934 to be 12,000. His studies in the park resulted in a

remarkable description of the wood buffalo, its habits. its
range in summer and in winter, and the physical charac-
teristics of the park.'” Periodical reductions of the buffalo
herd, now hybrid, usually not exceeding 100 a year, had
been undertaken from 1930 to 1950. In 1947, W.A.
Fuller, mammalogist on the staff of the Canadian Wild-
life Service at Fort Smith, discovered tuberculosis in the
wood buffalo herd following a slaughter of older
animals.'® Observations continued in 1948 and 1949
confirmed earlier findings of the disease. Aerial surveys
undertaken in 1949 and 1950 had indicated a buffalo
population in thepark of from 10,000 to 12,000. In 1950,
studies were instituted with a view to establishing a herd
management program in which buffalo would be tested
for tuberculosis and reactors selectively slaughtered.
Another disease, in the form of brucellosis, was discov-
ered in the buffalo herd in 1956."

The first of a series of management slaughters of
buffalo was made in portable abattoirs at Prairie River
north of Lake Claire in the winter of 1951-52, when 223
buffalo were killed. This slaughter confirmed a high
incidence of tuberculosis. Late in 1952, the abattoir
facilities were moved to Hay Camp where annual reduc-
tions by slaughter were continued over the following
four years. A modern abattoir was built in the Sweetgrass
area north of Lake Claire in 1957, and herd reductions
were carried on there during the winters of 1957 to 1962.
The Sweetgrass abattoir suffered heavy damage from
flood conditions on the Peace River in 1958 and 1960.
and in 1961 construction of another abbatoir was under-
taken at Hay Camp. This building was completed in
1962.

In 1962, the buffalo in Wood Buffalo Park were
subjected to the threat of a dreaded infectious disease.
when anthrax broke out among buffalo near Hook Lake
in the Northwest Territories northeast of the park. This
outbreak was discovered close to the site of a camp
operated by an outfitter to accommodate hunters engag-
ed in sport buffalo hunting which had been authorized in
1959. Additional outbreaks of the disease in 1963 and
1964 at points farther south infected animals within the
park and vigorous steps to control and eliminate the
disease were undertaken under the direction of officers of
the Canadian Wildlife Service. A management program
to control tuberculosis and other diseases by testing.
innoculation or vaccination has since been carried on. In
1965, 24 head from the “‘northern” herd of Wood
Buffalo Park were captured, tested for disease, and
transferred to Elk Island National Park in Alberta where
they were installed in an isolated area separate from the
main herd of plains buffalo. This subsidiary herd of
wood bison has had a satisfactory reproduction, and it is
hoped the herd being built up will perpetuate the unique
subspecies which, in its original habitat, had suffered
from well-intended but disastrous game management
policies undertaken earlier in the century.

Whooping Crane Located

A more encouraging event in the park’s history was the
discovery in 1954 of the nesting grounds of the whoop-
ing crane between the huidwatexs of the Nyarling, Sass
and Klewi Rivers.
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The tallest and one of the most imposing of all North
American birds, the whooping crane had declined in
number to less than 100 in the 1920’s and by the early
1940’ it appeared to be headed for extinction. The
gradual disappearance of the whooping crane in central
North America followed the destruction of its habitat, as
farming, cattle grazing, settlement and hunting en-
croached on former nesting ranges. From 1922 until
1954 not a single active nest had been found in settled
regions. In 1937, the United States Government estab-
lished a national wildlife refuge at Aransas, Texas to
preserve a remnant of habitat suitable for whooping
cranes. During forest fire suppression operations in
1954, the Superintendent of Forestry at Fort Smith,
G.M. Wilson, observed from a helicopter two adult white
birds and a young bird in an area south of Great Slave
Lake. The birds were identified as whooping cranes the
following day by Dr. W.A. Fuller. The nesting grounds
were definitely established after very difficult ground
search in 1955.20

In June, 1967, co-operative action was taken by
scientists of the Canadian Wildlife Service and United
States Fish and Wildlife Service to perpetuate the spe-
cies. Eggs taken from a nest in Wood Buffalo Park were
flown to a special reservation at Patuxent, Maryland, for
artificial incubation. From six eggs hatched, four young
birds survived. Additional eggs were flown from the park
to the research station in Maryland in 1968-69 and
twelve chicks survived the hatchings. In August, 1970,
the whooping crane population in North America was
estimated to be 76 of which 56 were observed during the
northern migration period that year.

For more than 40 years following its establishment,
the park had been administered as a buffalo range and as
a hunting and trapping ground for Indians with heredi-
tary rights. The inception of the Canol Project in the
lower Mackenzie River Valley had a impact on Fort
Smith which developed into a zone headquarters for the
transfer of supplies and personnel. In 1943, a winter road
for military use was bulldozed across the northern
section of Wood Buffalo Park to connect Fort Smith with
the settlement of Hay River.

Resource Exploitation

Forestry inventory studies undertaken in western
Canada by the Federal Forestry Branch were extended in
1949 to Wood Buffalo Park, and by 1950, it had been
established that exceptional stands of white spruce exi-
sted in the valleys of the lower Peace and the Athabaska
Rivers. In 1951, the Northern Administration Branch,
which then controlled the administration of the park,
authorized the first major harvesting of mature and over-
mature timber along the Peace River. The permit was
issued to Eldorado Mining and Refining Limited to cut
timber for operations outside the park. Prior to 1955,
three large areas of timber-lands, designated the Peace
Delta, Big Island, and Athabasca Blocks, had been
selected for forest management—or in simple terms,
logging. During 1955 and 1956, four timber berths in
the Peace Delta and Big Island blocks were disposed of
by public competition, and in 1962, a fifth berth on the
Athabasca River was granted. Of the original operators
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of these berths only one, Swanson Lumber Company,
managed to conduct a successful economic operation.
This company gradually acquired all cutting rights and,
by 1970, operated three mills on the Peace River. These
included the Sweetgrass mill located about 10 miles
upstream from the Athabasca, one near Garden River
eight miles east of the parks west boundary, and a third
mill just west of the boundary. Company townsites were
developed at these mill-sites, complete with schools and
churches. At the Sweetgrass and Garden River mills,
airstrips also were constructed. The mills provided em-
ployment for about 100 Indians or Metis. Special conces-
sions made by the Department in the establishment of
timber dues or stumpage rates on timber cut helped keep
the mills in operation, but conversely, substantially
reduced the revenue accruing to the Crown from the
forest operations.

Indian Rights

Prior to the establishment of the park, the area for years
has been a hunting ground for northern Indians, many of
whom resided along Peace River or in the vicinity of
Fort Chipewyan on Lake Athabasca and at Fort Smith.
Consequently, in accordance with ancient treaty rights,
Indians and half-breeds leading the life of an Indian, and
later their descendants were granted hunting and trap-
ping rights within the park under permit, provided they
had hunted and trapped there before the park was
established. The hereditary rights of persons other than
Indians and half-breeds who had hunted and trapped in
the park south of Peace River prior to its establishment,
also were recognized within that area of the park.
Originally, the National Parks Game Regulations, with
amendments, were made applicable to the park, but in
1949, distinct game regulations for Wood Buffalo Park
were established. The prevailing closed season for buf-
falo was continued, but provision was made for the issue
of special permits authorizing the taking of specimens
for scientific or propagation purposes. The principal fur
crop taken by trappers in the park was muskrat, and
assistance from the park superintendent in maintaining
water levels in choice trapping areas was extended over a
period of years by the construction and maintenance of
dams on Dempsey and Murdock Creeks, north of the
Peace River delta.

Road Development

Another development carried on in the park from 1954
to 1966 was a commercial fishery for goldeye on Lake
Claire. The fishing industry provided summer employ-
ment for native residents of Fort Chipewyan and supple-
mented income normally derived from trapping.

A major road construction program supplementing
earlier development in Wood Buffalo Park was com-
menced in 1957 and carried on for the next six years. On
completion, the expanded road system provided connec-
tion between Fort Smith and Pine Lake, Peace Point,
Carlson Landing, Rocky Point, Sweetgrass and Hay
Camp. The program also included the clearing of the
right-of-way of a proposed road from Peace Point to the
western boundary of the park. The clearing was com-
pleted in 1959, and although actual road construction



was not undertaken, the right-of-way has since been
maintained and used by the Swanson Company as a
winter road connecting Peace Point with a provincial
road leading east from High Level, Alberta, to a point 80
miles west of the park boundary.

Mineral development at Pine Point on Great Slave
Lake led to the construction in 1963 of a road linking
Hay River on the Hay River Highway with Pine Point
and Fort Smith. The work involved about 180 miles of
construction including a 14-mile access road from the
main route to Pine Point. The work was carried on over a
period of three years and completed in 1966. The right-
of-way traverses the northern portion of Wood Buffalo
Park, incorporating part of the route of the military
winter road constructed in 1942-43.

Major developments in the park exclusive of roads
have been the buffalo management stations at Hay Camp
and Sweet Grass, where abattoirs, staff dwellings, cor-
rals, water systems and accessory buildings were con-
structed. Warden stations located at Hay Camp Pine
Lake, Peace Point, Carlson Landing, Little Buffalo
River, Twenty-seventh Base Line, and Jackfish River
incorporate dwellings and essential accessory buildings.
Patrol cabins and forest fire detection towers also were
established at strategic points in the park. In 1958 a
summer cottage division was surveyed at Pine Lake and
lots later were leased to residents of Fort Smith and other
points in the Territories. A campground and recreational
area also was developed at the Lake for the use of
visitors.

Boundary Changes Proposed

By 1959, the development of natural resources in Wood
Buffalo Park had attracted the attention of the Govern-
ment of Alberta. In July 1959 the Provincial Minister of
Lands and Forests wrote the Minister of Northern
Affairs and Natural Resources questioning the consist-
ency of a policy which encouraged industry in a national
park originally established for the purpose of preserving
its buffalo herds. The letter also suggested that if the area
of the park within Alberta were returned to the province,
steps would be taken to ensure the preservation of the
buffalo. In reply, the provincial minister was advised that
the harvesting of timber was restricted to mature and
over-mature timber and the policy was, in a sense,
comparable to sanitation cutting carried on by the staff
of the Department in other national parks, although on a
wider scale. Assurance also was given that the preser-
vation of the buffalo and the nesting grounds of the
whooping crane, was an important function of the park.
On April 5, 1962 the Legislative Assembly of Alberta
passed a resolution calling for the return to the province
of the ownership and control of that portion of Wood
Buffalo Park lying within the provincial boundaries.
Since then, negotiations have been carried on relating to
the possibility of altering the park boundaries to delete
areas having possibilities for resource development
while at the same time assuring the retention of lands
sufficient for the adequate protection of the wildlife of
the park. The Federal Government also has taken the
position that if lands within the park were released to the
province, alternative areas within the province suitable

for national park purposes should be provided in ex-
change. Although a number of proposals have been
advanced and considered, a satisfactory basis of settle-
ment has not yet been reached.

Changes in Park Administration

From 1922 till 1954, the duties of the Park Super-
intedent were carried on by the District Agent, later
termed the Administrator of the Mackenzie District of
the Northwest Territories. In 1954, the Chief Park
Warden, Evan Essex, was appointed as the first superin-
tendent having exclusive supervision of the park. He was
succeeded in 1957 by R.E. Olson, who retired in 1968.
Many of the administrative responsibilities of the park
superintendent were unavoidably integrated with the
administration of the Mackenzie District, and forest
protection, engineering stores and accounting services
were extended to meet park requirements. By 1964, it
became apparent that developments which had occurred
within the park including the exploitation of timber
resources, the extension of the park road system and
expansion of buffalo management facilities, together
with negotiations with the Province of Alberta concern-
ing alterations in boundaries, had created problems
which could best be resolved by a transfer of the adminis-
tration of the park to the National Parks Branch. Subse-
quently, on June 1, 1964 the Minister of Northern
Affairs and National Resources, the Honourable Arthur
Laing, announced the change in park administration
which was made effective on October 1, 1964. The
transfer of some essential services including those relat-
ing to forest protection and engineering, was phased
over an extended period, but by April 1, 1969, all
administrative functions had been assumed by the Na-
tional Parks Branch.

Although by accepted standards Wood Buffalo re-
mains an anachronism in Canada’s system of national
parks, steps are being taken to bring its management into
conformity with accepted national park policy. The
future of the buffalo herds is under study, negotiations
are under way with the holders of timber-cutting rights
with the objective of transferring operations from the
core area of the park, and attention is being given to
meeting the recreational needs of park visitors.

The possibility of reaching agreement with the Prov-
ince of Alberta on park boundaries which will diminish
or eliminate natural resource development and assure
perpetuation of outstanding wildlife species, is also
envisioned. Meanwhile, a large wilderness area is being
maintained in its original state, except for comparatively
small areas of development. If present boundaries are
maintained, the park will offer to adventurous visitors,
unique experiences in the enjoyment of its flora, fauna,
geology, and other physical attractions.
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Prince Albert National Park

On May 9, 1927, the Honourable Charles Stewart,
Minister of the Interior, announced the establishment of
Prince Albert National Park. Containing an area of
1,377 square miles, it was created ““for the purpose of
preserving in perpetuity a portion of the primitive forest
and lake country of Northern Saskatchewan and to
provide for the people of Saskatchewan as well as other
parts of the Dominion, a great recreational area’’.! This
impressive addition to Canada’s National Park system,
situated at the gateway to the vast unsettled North, was
welcomed by Canadians. To the citizens of the City of
Prince Albert the evolution of the park was particularly
gratifying, for it was there that its creation had been
conceived and promoted.

Animal Park Proposed

In June 1921, the secretary of the Prince Albert Board of
Trade had written the Commissioner of National Parks
at Ottawa requesting assistance in the establishment of a
buffalo park in a portion of the Pine Forest Reserve,
situated southeast of Prince Albert between the north
and south branches of the Saskatchewan River.? At that
time, the increase of bison in Buffalo National Park at
Wainwright, Alberta, had led the National Parks Service
to consider a reduction of the herd. The Commissioner
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instituted an investigation to determine the suitability of
the forest reserve as a buffalo park, and on the basis of
reports obtained from several government departments
relating to precipitation, pasturage, shelter and other
conditions, the proposal was turned down. The request
was renewed in February, 1926, by the Saskatoon Board
of Trade which stressed the value of a buffalo park as a
tourist attraction.?

After further study, in which the existence of three
separate government buffalo herds in western Canada
was considered, the Saskatoon Board was advised that
the Department could not assume any additional ex-
pense in the establishment of new buffalo parks.

A more rewarding approach towards the establish-
ment of a national park was made late in April, 1926,
when Commissioner Harkin was interviewed in Ottawa
by the Honourable T.C. Davis, Minister of Labour and
Industry for Saskatchewan, accompanied by his Deputy.
T.M. Malloy.* They proposed the creation of a large
scenic and recreational park north of the City of Prince
Albert, incorporating the Sturgeon Forest Reserve and
surrounding territory. Mr. Davis strengthened his case
by interviews with the Minister of the Interior, the
Honourable Charles Stewart, and with Prime Minister
Mackenzie King, who had recently been elected Member
of Parliament for Prince Albert.

National Park Established
Although anxious to extend the national parks system to
every province, Commissioner Harkin considered that
an assessment of the proposed area should first be made
to ensure that any new park would meet national park
standards. Financial restrictions precluded an inspection
of the proposed area that year, and the Department
proposed to withhold action until 1927. Mr. Davis, a
former Mayor of Prince Albert, maintained pressure on
the Minister of the Interior, with the assistance of a local
national park committee headed by H.J. Fraser, Mr.
Davis’ former law partner, and President of the Prince
Albert Liberal Association. Mr. Davis reminded the
Minister that Prime Minister King had provided encour-
agement by advising residents of the constituency of the
Government’s intention to create a national park north
of Prince Albert.> Another factor compelling an urgent
decision was proposed federal legislation which would
require the establishment of national parks by act of
parliament instead of by order in council. Finally on the
basis of information made available to the Department
by several of its branches, the Minister of the Interior
recommended the establishment of a park, having an
interim area of 1,377 square miles. The enacting order in
council, which was approved on March 14, 1927, also
reserved from disposal a large area of federal public land
east of the new park, pending an investigation to deter-
mine what portion, if any, was suitable an as extension to
the new park.®

As originally established, Prince Albert National Park
included all lands within the former Sturgeon Forest
Reserve. It also included eight additional townships to
the north containing Crean and Kingsmere Lakes and
the western half of Waskesiu Lake, together with an
extensive area situated east of the Third Meridian and



south and west of Montreal Lake. Located north of the
limits of settlement, the park embodied a region of rocks,
woods and waters, which appeared to have been formed
by nature as a special playground for lovers of the great
outdoors. As described by M.B. Williams in an early park
booklet. **Here thousands of crystal lakes—from tiny
rock basins only a few hundred yards across to great
bodies of fresh water over 50 miles long--reflect in
summer the intense blue of the Canadian sky. Between,
tying one to another like crystal threads, run innumera-
ble little rivers and streams, weaving the whole region
together into a jewelled network of waters intricate as
some pattern of the silversmith’s art, and providing
continuous waterways for hundreds of miles””.”

Early Exploration
Prince Albert National Park lies between the Churchill
and Saskatchewan Rivers, historic water highways of the
early explorers and traders. The amazing network of
lakes and streams must have provided an almost contin-
uous waterway from the North Saskatchewan to the
Athabasca country, through Lake Ile-a-la-Crosse. Lac
Loche and historic Methye Portage, first crossed by Peter
Pond in 1778. At the mouth of the Sturgeon River, which
has its source in the park, once stood Sturgeon Fort,
believed to have been founded by Pond in 1776. Situated
on the North Saskatchewan about four miles above the
site of Prince Albert, it was abandoned in 1779.
Alexander Henry noted in his journal the ruins of
several old trading establishments near the mouth of the
Sturgeon River in 1808. The Hudson’s Bay Company
maintained a trading port on Red Deer (new Waskesiu)
Lake from 1886 to 1892. This post, with Charles Garson
in charge, was established as an outpost of Montreal
Lake to compete with a free trader named Stevenson
whose headquarters were located on the south shore of
the lake in 1887.% By 1888, the Company’s Red Deer
Lake post was considered to be an outpost of Prince
Albert, and although it was not a financial success, its
operation was considered desirable to keep Indian furs
from going farther south to Prince Albert where they
might be obtained by private traders. On the opening of
the West to settlement the disappearance of those early
posts was inevitable, and evidence of their former exis-
tence has been obliterated by time.

Park Development

Following the establishment of the park in 1927, little
time was lost in making its attractions accessible to
visitors. An experienced park officer, J.A. Wood of Banff,
was appointed superintendent and a park warden service
was established. An examination of park was undertaken
personally by the Commissioner of Parks in company of
the superintendent. The existing road which had served
the forest reserve was little better than a logging trail,
and a location survey for an all-weather highway to link
the southern boundary with Waskesiu Lake was carried
out late in 1927. A site was cleared for a campground,
existing trails were improved, and temporary adminis-
trative headquarters established. A small subdivision
had been surveyed at Waskesiu Beach in 1925 by the
federal Forestry Branch, and a few lots had been made

available for business and residential purposes under
permit. To meet the expected demand for sites for
commercial enterprise and for summer cottages the
survey of a new townsite was undertaken early in 1928.
A location survey for a scenic road along the south shore
of Waskesiu Lake to Waskesiu Narrows was made, a
residence was erected for the superintendent, and several
administrative buildings constructed. Local interest in
the park was maintained through the efforts of the Prince
Albert National Park Committee. Although develop-
ment of the new access road was still under way and the
townsite had not yet been developed, an official opening
of the park was held on August 10 and 11, 1928. The
guest of honour was the Prime Minister of Canada, the
Honourable W.L. Mackenzie King who was presented
with a summer cottage by his constituents. A program of
boating. fishing, and aquatic sports rounded out a two-
day celebration and although prospective visitors had
been warned in advance that overnight accommodation
was limited to space in the public campground, an
attendance of more than 2,500 made the opening an
outstanding success.”

By the end of 1928 the new access road through the
park had been completed, and lots in the business
residential subdivision had been opened for lease. Or-
derly development of the park and the Townsite of
Waskesiu was well under way in 1929 and was continued
in the years following. The park superintendent and staff
moved from a log cabin to a new administration building
in 1920. The following year an electrical generating
plant serving government and private buildings was
built and in 1932 a summer water system was installed.
Projects undertaken between 1932 and 1935 to relieve
prevailing unemployment conditions resulted in the
completion of numerous works and buildings. Camp-
grounds were extended, a park museum and a commu-
nity building were built, a golf course and well-ap-
pointed club-house constructed, and a park work camp
accommodating 100 men completed. Developments
undertaken by private enterprise included construction
of stores, summer hotels and bungalow camps, restau-
rants and a roller-skating rink.

Early recognition was given by the park administra-
tion to the unique opportunities available for outdoor
recreation. In 1930, a large breakwater was constructed
at Waskesiu Beach to provide shelter for swimmers. boat
owners and the operators of boat liveries. Later a shore
wharf was installed and individual boat stalls provided
for rental by the public. The use of park waterways was
facilitated by the construction of light railways at por-
tages linking Waskesiu Lake with Kingsmere Lake and
the Hanging Heart Lakes. Satellite campgrounds estab-
lished at suitable locations on several of the large lakes
encouraged overnight excursions by water. For the less
adventurous, trips up Waskesiu Lake by licensed passen-
ger boats were available.

Park Boundaries Extended

Meanwhile, the future dimensions of the park had been
receiving departmental attention. By mid-summer of
1928, the Minister of the Interior had ascertained that
the large reservation of some 1,800 square miles set aside
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for consideration as an extension to the park was more
suitable for settlement. Consequently. the reservation
was withdrawn by order in council on October 18.
1928.1" Investigation and appraisal of lands within and
adjoining the park undertaken by the superintendent
resulted in his recommendation that the park be ex-
tended to the north and northwest to incorporate a
number of large lakes. Of these, Lavallée Lake supported
one of the largest colonies of cormorants and white
pelicans in northwestern Canada, and Wasaw, Wasse-
gam and Tibiska Lakes contained several varieties of
game fish. The addition was authorized by Order in
Council of February 6, 1929 and increased the park’s
areato 1,869 square miles."

Eight years prior to the establishment of the park.
much of its southwestern portion had been devastated by
a forest fire. Although regeneration had been satisfac-
tory, park authorities considered that some of this area
could be dispensed with. Another section of the park
having doubtful potential for future development and
use, was that located east of the Third Meridian. which
surrounded the Montreal Lake Indian Reserve and south
end of Montreal Lake. Superintendent Wood’s appraisal
of the park lands had led him to recommend the
withdrawal of the entire area east of the Third Meridian,
as much of it had little attraction for the visitor. The
Indian Reserve included the shore line of Montreal Lake,
the interior of the area was low-lying with extensive
muskeg areas, and the expenditure required for game
and fire protection services was not oftset by any scenic
or recreation values. Following consultations with the
Indian Affairs Branch and the Province of Saskatche-
wan, the Minister, the Honourable T.A. Crerar, intro-
duced legislation to amend the park boundaries during
the 1941 session of Parliament. The bill, which provided
for the withdrawal of lands surrounding the Indian
Reserve as well as two small areas along the southern
park boundary, met unexpected opposition. Members of
the opposition party, led by R.B. Hanson, opposed the
deletion of timbered lands. The Member for Lake Cen-
tre. John G. Diefenbaker, expressed the opinion that the
stand of timber in the eastern part of the park was being
sought by certain interests in northern Saskatchewan.'?

The Minister assured members that the purpose of the
legislation was to eliminate land not suitable for park
purposes. Actually, the area in question had never been a
partof the former forest reserve. One-third of it had been
burned over and the remainder was low-lying muskeg
and swamp. After opposition to the bill continued, it was
withdrawn from the legislative program.

No further action to withdraw lands from the park was
attempted during the war years. After a reconnaissance
survey of the disputed area had been undertaken by a
departmental forest engineer, the proposed reduction in
the park area was accomplished by an amendment to the
National Parks Act. It was piloted through the House of
Commons in 1947 by the Honourable C.D. Howe after
mild opposition from some of the members.' This
action left the park with an area of 1,496 square miles.
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Boundary Change Proposed

When the north and west boundaries of the park were re-
established by a legal survey in 1963, the Province of
Saskatchewan requested that road allowances along the
west boundary of the park be excluded. Such action
would have relieved the park administration of building
roads to serve provincial lands adjoining the park.
Although legislation to effect the proposed withdrawal
was prepared in 1970, it was later withdrawn and the
surveyed boundary has been retained.

Residential Subdivisions

From the date of its formal opening, Prince Albert
National Park received an ever-increasing patronage by
the residents of Saskatchewan. They made full use of the
campgrounds, waterways and recreational amenities;
built summer homes on the sites made available for the
purpose; and leased lots in the townsite for the erection
of business premises required to provide essential visitor
services. The residential area on Prospect Point was
augmented in 1938 by the survey of the Lakeview
Subdivision in which the construction of low-cost cot-
tages was permitted. This subdivision was extended in
1946 and 1951. The business section of Waskesiu
Townsite was expanded by survey in 1933 and 1950. The
first bungalow cabin developments in the park were
completed in 1932 and 1933 and were supplemented by
lodge and hotel accommodation. A park museum con-
structed in 1933 and a block of tennis courts provided
additional attractions for visitors.

Highway Improvement

Access to outstanding points of interest was facilitated by
the construction of scenic drives. A road along the south
shore of Waskesiu Lake to the first narrows was com-
pleted in 1931, and a companion drive along the north
shore of the lake to Hanging Heart Lakes was opened in
1937.In 1961, work was initiated on an extension to the
Hanging Heart Lakes Road, planned as a link in the
Waskesiu Scenic Way, which when completed, would
encircle Waskesiu Lake. By 1963, twelve miles of the new
drive had been completed to Kingsmere River before
construction was temporarily discontinued. The main
park highway, completed in 1928, was improved in
subsequent years. The right-of-way. noted for its curves,
was substantially relocated prior to its reconstruction
during the period 1948 to 1952. The project included the
hard surfacing of the entire route.

A new access to park headquarters at Lake Waskesiu
was completed in 1968 and hard-surfaced in 1969, with
the co-operation of the highways department of the
Province of Saskatchewan. For years, the park highway
which formed a link in Provincial Highway No. 2.
carried a heavy traffic to points northeast of the park
where fishing, lumbering, and mining were carried on.

In 1965. the Government of Saskatchewan announced
its intention of building a new highway to serve mineral-
ized areas in the vicinity of Lac la Ronge, which would
by-pass the park. Following negotiations between the
Director of National Parks and the Deputy Minister of
Highways for Saskatchewan, the provincial authorities



agreed to relocate the new route closer to the park in
order to facilitate access to Waskesiu Townsite. The
province also entered into an agreement with the Gov-
ernment of Canada to construct an access road about
seven miles in length from the new highway to Waskesiu
Townsite. with the Federal Government paying all
relevant costs. On completion in 1968, the new route
shortened the distance from Prince Albert to the park by
five and a half miles, diverted heavy traffic from parks
roads, and substantially reduced the cost of maintaining
the original park highway.

Year-Round Administration

For more than thirty years after its establishment, the
park was administered from Waskesiu Townsite during
the summer months. During the winter, the park super-
intendent and his staff, exclusive of the warden service.
occupied quarters in the City of Prince Albert, where a
central garage and a work shop were maintained. In-
creasing winter use of the park highway, and the super-
vision of winter work programs confirmed the needs for
a centralized headquarters. The park engineer was sta-
tioned in the park during the winter of 1957-58 and,
following the construction of a new central garage and
additional staff quarters in 1959, maintenance opera-
tions were centralized in the park. The superintendent
and his administrative staff continued the semi-annual
moves until 1967, when a new administration building
was built at Waskesiu. The final change in the park
operation was facilitated by the provision. during the
preceding years, of adequate staff accommodation.

Over the years, amenities for visitor use were im-
proved. The popularity of boating was recognized by the
repair and reconstruction of a large breakwater at
Waskesiu Beach which provided shelter for boat liveries
and docking facilities. Eventually, the ever-increasing
use of watercraft resulted in congestion, which accentu-
ated the need for adequate launching, berthing and
control equipment. Following a study undertaken by
consultants, the construction of a marina three miles
northeast of Waskesiu Beach was commenced in the
winter 1961-1962 and completed in 1964. The marina,
sheltered by a large breakwater. incorporated five dock-
ing piers, a berthing dock, and loading ramps, together
with office and living accommodation for the concession-
aire by whom the marina is operated. Washroom facili-
ties and adequate parking for patrons and visitors also
provided.

Campground Extension

The park’s first campground at Waskesiu enjoyed a
popularity which necessitated almost continuous expan-
sion. The original site was extended in 1930 by an
addition of 25 acres, and during the next four years
kitchen shelters, toilet buildings and other amenities
were added. Satellite campgrounds developed at
Waskesiu Narrows. Sandy Lake and on the shores of
some of the larger lakes also were well patronized.
Waskesiu Campground witnessed the development of
the tent house—better known as the shack tent—a
collapsible structure which the owner was required to
dismantle and store during the non-camping season.

Requests of campers for permission to leave their shack
tents on the campground the year round resulted in the
allocation in 1951 of a section of the campground for the
erection of small cabins mounted on skids. known later
as “‘portable cabins’’. An increasing use of automobile
trailers influenced the development of a large trailer
park between 1959 and 1964.

The unrelenting demand for more camping space was
met in 1962 by the development of a new campground,
the Beaver Glen, on the Heart Lakes road north of
Waskesiu Campground. The first section was opened in
1965, and additions have provided space for more than
200 tents, together with service buildings and an outdoor
amphitheatre. The area occupied by shack tents orig-
inally comprised choicer sections of Waskesiu Camp-
ground adjoining the beach. In earlier days when park
attendance was lower, the presence of these structures
did not seriously affect day-use of the areas adjacent to
the lake by casual visitors. However. changing patterns
of visitor use and the introduction of more sophisticated
types of camping equipment such as the tent trailer,
brought about over-crowding in tent and trailer camping
areas.

This transition in visitor camping practice, together
with a plan for the redevelopment of Waskesiu Townsite
and vicinity, led to the announcement of a new depart-
mental policy in 1967. Under proposed arrangements. it
is hoped to phase out from use the semi-permanent tent-
houses, and vacated sections of the campground will be
redeveloped for occupation by a more mobile type of
equipment. Owners of cabin tents however, will retain
camping privileges so long as their camping permits are
renewed annually on a personal basis.

Grey Owl’s Activities

Recollections of the history of Prince Albert Park would
be incomplete without a reference to Archibald Belaney,
known to thousands the world over as “*Grey Owl”’. A
native of Hastings in Sussex County, England, Belaney
came to Canada in 1905 as a youth, lived the life of an
Indian in the Temagami and Biscotasing areas of On-
tario, served overseas in the World War 1, and later
trapped for a living in the vicinity of Temiscouata.
Quebec. A convert to wildlife preservation about 1929.
Belaney wrote numerous articles under his adopted
name of Grey Owl about the antics and habits of a pair of
wild beaver which he had tamed. Publication of these
articles in England and Canada aroused attention and in
1931. he was induced to enter the employ of the National
Parks Service of Canada to promote a wider public
Interest in conservation practices. He was first located
with his beaver on a small lake in Riding Mountain Park
where some remarkable motion pictures of his charges
were filmed. When it was ascertained, late in the autumn.
that the lake would freeze too deeply during the coming
winter, the Commissioner of National Parks transferred
Grey Owl and his beaver to Ajawaan Lake in Prince
Albert Park.

Here he continued his writing. assisted in the produc-
tion of additional wildlife films, and obtained leave to
undertake lecture tours which took him to England and
the United States. Following his return in the Spring of
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1938 from his latest tour, he contracted pneumonia and

died in a Prince Albert hospital. He was buried on the
shore of his beloved Ajawaan Lake, where his memory is
perpetuated by the preservation of one of the cabins in
which he lived during his seven-year sojourn in the park,
and by the maintenance of his grave which continues to
be an object of interest to many park visitors. His pet
beavers, Jelly and Rawhide. were released to the wilder-
ness and later investigation disclosed the existence of a
substantial beaver population in the area surrounding
Ajawaan Lake.
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Riding Mountain National Park

The establishment in 1929 of Riding Mountain National
Park was a significant event, for it was the last park to be
created from unalienated public lands administered by
the Government of Canada. The new park also perpetu-
ated public use of a popular recreational area located in a
unique part of Manitoba, and its selection as a link in
Canada’s chain of national parks reflected the expressed
wishes of a great many residents of the province.

First Park Proposals

A proposal that a national park be established in eastern
Manitoba, south of the Winnipeg River and west of the
Ontario boundary, was under consideration as early as
1919." The area, drained by the Whiteshell River,
constituted a veritable lakeland, relatively primitive in
character through which the construction of the Trans-
Canada Highway was planned. The proposal, however,
lay dormant for several years until a new interest was

stimulated in 1927 by Dr. E.D.R. Bissett, Member of

Parliament for Springfield. Dr. Bissett solicited support
from Premier John Bracken of Manitoba, the Ho-
nourable Charles Stewart, Minister of the Interior at
Ottawa, and J.B. Harkin, Commissioner of National
Parks at Ottawa. By April, 1927, Dr. Bissett had written
assurance that the National Park Service, with depart-
mental approval, was prepared to recommend creation
of a park in eastern Manitoba subject to certain condi-
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tions.* These conditions provided for the perpetuation of
existing park policy in matters of resource conservation:
that the area would be served by the interprovincial
highway then under construction; and that the section of
the highway in the proposed park would be built by the
Province of Manitoba. The proposal later was endorsed
by all 19 members of the House of Commons represent-
ing Manitoba, and in May 1927 a decision was made to
withdraw from settlement or disposal, all vacant lands
within the proposed area, containing 850 square miles.
Later. Premier Bracken notified Mr. Stewart that the
proposal was acceptable to the provincial government
provided mineralized areas having development poten-
tial were excluded from the park area. Formal reser-
vation of the land from disposal was made by order in
council on April 19, 1928.3

The prospect of a national park in a wilderness area of
eastern Manitoba, however, was not universally fa-
voured. By June, 1927, the Honourable Charles Stewart
was receiving numerous resolutions from city and town
councils and secretaries of rural municipalities in central
and western Manitoba, urging the establishment of a
national park in Riding Mountain Forest Reserve. Mem-
bers of parliament who had endorsed the Whiteshell
River site, now supported that at Riding Mountain.
Among these were J. Allison Glen, member for Russell.
and J.T. Thorson, member for Winnipeg, South Centre.
In August, 1927 Mr. Thorson advised the minister that
he had changed his mind after receiving objections from
a number of constituents. Arguments against the
Whiteshell area stressed its inaccessibility, lack of central
location, and a general absence of big game. Mr. Thor-
son, later to become President of the E\chcquer Court of
Canada, also enclosed a communication from a leading
citizen of Dauphin, J.A. McFadden, advocating the
Riding Mountain Forest Reserve as the most desirable
site for Manitoba’s national park.*

The forest reserve, established in 1906, previously had
been one of the first federal timber reserves set aside in
Manitoba.” It occupied a commanding location in the
west-central part of the province, as its eastern escarp-
ment rose sharply above the surrounding plains to a
height of 1,000 feet. The reserve Lomamed a number of
attractive lakes and supported one of the largest herds of
wild elk in Canada.

On the shores of Clear Lake, there already existed a
thriving summer community known as Clear Lake Re-
sort in which lots surveyed by the Forestry Branch of the
Department of the Interior had been made available by
lease. Consequently, the attractions of the Riding Moun-
tain Reserve in contrast to those of the Whiteshell area,
were known to hundreds of summer visitors.

Mr. McFadden, a member of a legal firm in Dauphin,
in collaboration with the Mayor, D.D. McDonald. orga-
nized a Riding Mountain Park Committee representing
many of the municipalities in the province. The commit-
tee published a pamphlet describing the attractions of
the Riding Mountain area, and through its members.
mounted an aggressive campaign in support of its cause.



Riding Mountain Favoured

By November. 1927. the volume of correspondence
received in the Department of the Interior favouring the
western site prompted the Deputy Minister, W.W. Cory
to inform the Commissioner of National Parks that **1
am inclined to think that the weight of public opinion in
Manitoba supports the creation of a park in the Riding
Mountain Forest Reserve rather than in Eastern Mani-
toba”.® The Winnipeg Tribune on January 20, 1928
favoured the eastern site and recommended its develop-
ment as a national park. The Tribune suggested that the
Riding Mountain Reserve could be l\cpl in mind for a
provincial park when the province obtained control of its
national resources. On February 7, 1928, the legislative
assembly of Manitoba passed a resolution by a vote of 23
to 10. favouring the western area:

“In the opinion of this House, the National Park for
Manitoba should be established by the Dominion
Government in the vicinity of Rldmg Mountain, as
well as in the eastern part of Manitoba™.’

The Honourable Charles Stewart had advised mem-
bers of parliament from Manitoba that as far as he could
see, there would be only one national park in Manitoba
and it was up to the members to place their preference on
record. During the course of a tour of western Canada,
Mr. Stewart attended a picnic at Clear Lake in Riding
Mountain Forest Reserve on August 11, 1928 where, in a
public address, he forecast the reservation of land within
the reserve for a **Federal National Playground”

“I am not going to say that we will call this a National
Park, but I do say this —you will have all the facilities

of a National Park. We will develop a small golf

course for you; we will provide facilities for cottages
here and give you sufficient ground for a playgr ()zmd
and camping ground, and then your committee will
have to get to work again to get a road which will
provide facilities for people coming in here every
day”*

Whiteshell Area Examined
Meanwhile, an examination of the alternative national
park sites by an experienced investigator, R:-W. Cautley.

D.LS.. had been arranged by the Commissioner of

National Parks. Mr. Cautley, who had carried on exten-
sive boundary surveys in the Rocky Mountain parks.
visited the Whiteshell area in July, 1928.

From Minaki, Ontario, Cautley travelled with guides
by canoe down the Winnipeg River and up the
Whiteshell River, passing through the extensive inter-
connected lake system of the region. The journey in-
volved more than 200 miles of travel, and 33 portages.
permitting critical assessment of a wilderness area. Later
he reported that he did not consider the eastern Mani-
toba area of sufficiently high standard to be created a
national park, as it was “‘not truly representative of the
best river, lake and rock island type of country to be
found in Canada’. On the basis of this report. the
national park reservation made in 1928 later was
cancelled.

In reporting on the Riding Mountain site, Mr. Cautley
disclosed that he was favourably impressed with Clear
Lake and the abundance of big game but considered the
balance of the area to be more valuable as a forest
reserve. Consequently, he recommended the creation of a
summer recreation centre, taking in an area of 109
square miles surrounding Clear Lake.

Copies of Mr. Cautley’s reports were made available
to Dr. Bissett and to Mr. McFadden, spokesmen for the
groups sponsoring alternative park areas. Again the
Department was flooded with resolutions from towns
and municipalities, rejecting the recreational park pro-
posal and recommending instead, the conversion of the
entire Riding Mountain Forest Preserve to the status of a
national park. On behalf of the Riding Mountain Park
Committee, Mr. McFadden wrote the Minister express-
ing the opinion that the forest reserve in its entirety
should be retained, administered and developed as a
park by the Federal Government, or alternatively it
should be transferred to the province, under the impend-
ing transfer of natural resources.

A final decision on the establishment of a park was
deferred until December 1929. when Premier Bracken
visited Ottawa in the company of two members of his
cabinet, to negotiate the terms of a formal agreement for
the transfer to Manitoba of its natural resources. On his
return to Winnipeg the Premier announced that the
Riding Mountain Forest Reserve was being set aside as a
national park. Formal authority for its creation was
provided by order in council on December 28. 1929.”
and the new national park achieved ultimate status on its
proclamation in the Canada Gazette on February 8.
1930 for the fourth time.

The escarpment of Riding Mountain is believed to be
the result of pre-glacial erosion which occurred prior to
the Ice Age. when much of the land now forming Canada
lay under a vast sheet of ice. As the ice receded, large
lakes fed by waters from the melting ice remained. and
their shrunken remains exist in Lakes Winnipeg, Winni-
pegosis. Manitoba and Dauphin. During the post-glacial
period. Riding Mountain probably stood like an island
surrounded by lakes and rivers.

Early Explorations

Although lying between the travelled routes of the early
explorers along the Churchill River to the north and the
Red Assiniboine Rivers to the south, the Riding Moun-
tain area for years was relatively untouched by civili-
zation. The great central plain to the southeast was the
former territory of Assiniboine and Cree Indians, who
were on friendly terms with the powerful Blackfoot of the
west. Following the acquisition of fire-arms by western
Indians, bitter hostilities broke out and Cree and As-
siniboines joined in raids against the Blackfoot and
Sarcee. As the buffalo, staple of the western tribes, began
to disappear, the Assiniboines moved westward and the
Crees remained in the Riding Mountain region.

One of the first white men to explore the region was
Henry Youle Hind, a professor of geology and chemistry
at Trinity College in Toronto. During 1857 and 1858.
Hind headed an expedition sponsored by the Canadian
Government which explored the country between the
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Assiniboine and the South Saskatchewan Rivers from
the Red River west to the vicinity of present-day Sas-
katoon. Hind left a remarkable record of his travels and
observations in his report **Assiniboine and Saskatche-
wan Exploring Expedition”."" In October, 1858, Hind
reached the shores of Lake Dauphin and from there,
proceeded to Riding Mountain which he climbed. Hind
commented on the view from the summit from which he
observed the pattern of lakes, rivers and swamps left by
the retreating waters and the beach lines of the ancient
post-glacial sea. While at Lake Dauphin, Hind met an
old Indian named Ta-Wa-Pit who lived with two sons
and their families on the western shore. Hind was
presented by the old man with a pipe carved from soft
shales found on the slopes of Riding Mountain and in
exchange Ta-Wa-Pit received two pounds of buckshot.
Ta-Wa-Pit also described the appearance and virtues of
some gigantic bones exposed in the bank of the Valley
River near where it cut through the old lake ridge. **Ta-
Wa-Pit™", Hind wrote, ““calls these bones a great medi-
cine and he now and then takes small fragments, bruises
them to powder, and uses them as a medicinal prepara-
tion. From his description, I infer that the bones are
those of a mammoth; his rough drawing in the sand, of
the ribs and teeth correspond, in point of dimensions,
with those of that gigantic animal™."" Hind found that
the Indians he employed were reluctant to ascend the
Riding Mountain as it was ““full of devils”’. However.
Indian occupation of lands now within the park followed
later, and a small Indian reserve at the northwest end of
Clear Lake was in existence when the park was estab-
lished. This reservation, set apart to facilitate fishing in
the lake by the native population, later was cancelled.

Park Development Initiated

Plans for the development of the new park were initiated
early in 1930, although administration of the former
forest reserve was carried on for a few months by officers
of the Forestry Branch. Clear Lake, the largest and most
attractive in the park. had been the focal point of visitors
for some years and it was selected as the local seat of
administration. James Smart, an experienced officer of
the Forestry Branch at Prince Albert, was appointed
acting superintendent and he assumed his duties in June,
1930.

The Superintendent established temporary adminis-
trative quarters at Dauphin, and later at Neepawa. He
recruited the nucleus of an administrative and protective
staft from former Forestry Branch personnel and insti-
tuted major development proposals. These included
improvement of roads within the park, the development
of an adequate campground at Clear Lake. the construc-
tion of a new road from Clear Lake to the eastern
boundary of the park, and development of a golf course.
The improvement of the existing route to the north
boundary was commenced in 1930. It incorporated a
road around the north shore of Clear Lake to Lake Audy
and a section of the “*Strathclair’ road between Lake
Audy and the boundary. By the end of 1931, the 25-mile
stretch to Lake Audy had been improved and the balance
of the route was brought to satisfactory standard in 1932.
The new Norgate road from park headquarters to the
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eastern boundary was completed in 1932. The develop-
ment of a modern highway from Clear Lake to the north
boundary which would provide a shorter route to Dau-
phin also was undertaken and clearing of the right-of-
way was completed in 193 1. Construction was carried on
through the following four years and the road, known as
No. 10 Highway, was completed in 1935.

The re-survey and expansion of the Clark Beach sub-
division on the south shore of Clear Lake, had priority in
development plans. The original plan of survey made in
1916 and extended later to incorporate additional lots.
did not comply with park regulations which required the
lots to be setback at least one hundred feet from the
lakeshore. The new survey, carried out in the winter of
1931-32 revised the boundaries of several existing
blocks, expanded the subdivision to include a business
section, and made adequate provision of a large new
campground and a picnic ground.

An area on the lakeshore was developed as a public
park and selected sites in the townsite were designated
for the erection of park administration and maintenance
buildings. Cottage owners who had previously held lots
under permit, were granted the privilege of applying for
leases following compliance with park building regula-
tions. The new townsite was renamed Wasagaming, Cree
for “clear water”, following a competition held in May.
1932, among pupils of Manitoba schools.

A cottage subdivision on the north shore of Clear Lake
had been surveyed and opened to the public when it
formed part of the forest reserve. Following the creation
of Riding Mountain Park, the disposal of lots in this
subdivision was suspended until 1948, when applica-
tions for leases were accepted. The privilege of leasing
lots in this subdivision was terminated in 1957, and in
1958, similar action was taken in respect of residential
lots iIn Wasagaming Townsite.

Riding Mountain National Park was established on
the eve of the “*Great Depression’ and much of its early
development was undertaken with funds provided for
unemployment relief. Four work camps were established
in the park in 1930 and throughout the next five years.
several hundred men were employed on a variety of
projects including road, bridge. campground and build-
ing construction. A park administration building, mu-
seum, golf club-house. and superintendent’s residence.
all built of logs and stone from native materials, exempli-
fied the craftsmanship of men from Scandinavian settle-
ments south of the park. During the winter months the
relief camps accommodated as many as 1.200 men.
Artistic landscaping undertaken around public buildings
in the townsite later drew much favourable comment
from visitors.

Visitor Amenities Provided

In 1933, year round administration of the park from
Wasgaming was commenced, and development of visitor
services in the townsite by private enterprise was encour-
aged. By 1934, modern summer hotel and bungalow
camp accommodation, together with several restaurants,
stores and shops were in operation. The earliest accom-
modation had been provided by a small building com-
bining the functions of a store and an hotel, which was



erected in 1925 facing Clear Lake. By arrangement with
the owner, this building was moved across the road in
1933 and on its former site a modern summer hotel, the
Chalet, was built. It continued in operation until 1959
when it was destroyed by fire. The original bungalow
camp, the Idylwyld, was opened in 1931, and later was
expanded to incorporate additional units. As park at-
tendance increased, additional visitor accommodation
was developed in the form of rooming-houses, bungalow
camps and motels. The park was formally opened on July
26, 1933, by the Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba, the
Honourable J.D. McGregor, assisted by the Minister of
the Interior, the Honourable Thomas G. Murphy.

Natural attractions of the park were augmented by a
number of recreational features including a group of
hard-surfaced tennis courts, a bowling green, and a
children’s playground. The original pier or dock on the
waterfront at Wasagaming was replaced in 1934 by a
breakwater which extended in to the lake for a distance
of nearly 700 feet.

The breakwater was designed to provide berthing
space for sightseeing and privately owned water craft.
The park golf course, originally planned to include nine
holes, was extended in 1934 to 18 holes and has attained
aremarkable patronage by Manitoba golfers.

Campgrounds Popular

The popularity of the park was reflected by the intensive
use of the original Clear Lake campground. From the
date of its opening in 1931, it was subjected to heavy use
which reached the saturation point in 1959. Much of the
space was occupied by seasonal campers in tents, trailers
and tent-houses. To reduce the camping pressure, the
clearing of a new campground within the limits of the
surveyed townsite of Wasagaming was commenced in
1959. Construction was continued to completion in
1965. By July, 1962, it was possible to open some
completed sections of the new campground, which ac-
commodated nearly 450 tents and 100 trailers. Its
amenities included modern kitchen shelters, outdoor
stoves, and sanitary service buildings. Patrons of trailer
lots enjoyed water, sewer and electrical connections. In
the early years of development, small road-side camp-
sites with modest facilities were developed at Audy Lake,
Moon Lake and Lake Katherine. In 1963 the Lake
Katherine campground was enlarged and improved, and
an adjoining area developed for day-use and picnics.

Winter Recreation

Although Riding Mountain is considered a “‘summer”’
park and the use of commercial and residential proper-
ties in townsites and subdivisions is restricted to the
period from May to October inclusive, winter recreation
in the form of skiing is available to visitors. A lack of
suitable ski terrain in the vicinity of Winnipeg and other
large centres of population in Manitoba led in the early
1950°s, to representations from ski associations and
individual skiers that the Federal Government develop a
ski hill in the park. In 1953 and 1957, reconnaissance
surveys were carried out by qualified personnel in the
National Park Service and an area drained by MacKin-
non Creek on the eastern slope of Riding Mountain was

selected. Clearing for an access road from Provincial
Highway No. 5 was commenced in 1958 and clearing of
ski slopes was undertaken as a winter project in 1959-60.
By 1961 the ski slopes, which had been graded and
seeded, were in use.

In 1962, a concession was awarded by tender to a
Winnipeg company for the operation of lifts and com-
plementary services. The company later installed a T-bar
lift, two rope tows and a chalet. The park administration
completed the access road in 1963, and in 1965 erected a
combination ski patrol and toilet building. Flood control
of MacKinnon Creek, which crosses the lower slopes,
was accomplished by the installation of steel culverts.

Resource Development

Regulations governing the administration of federal
forest reserves had permitted the harvesting of timber
under permit for a variety of purposes, and the sale of
large stands of timber in areas known as berths. Farmers
and ranchers living in the vicinity could obtain permits
for the purposes of grazing live stock on reserves and
removing wild hay for forage. When Riding Mountain
Forest Reserve became a national park, its forests had
been a source of lumber and other wood products for
settlers in the vicinity, and several portable saw-mills
were operating within the boundaries. The prevailing
arrangements by which non-residents obtained timber
were honoured until 1937, when the last mill was
removed from the park and a forest management plan
was inaugurated. Under the plan, which was adminis-
tered by a resident forester, selected areas were desig-
nated for management and cutting rights were allocated
in a manner intended to ensure a perpetual supply of
timber. The remaining two timber berths were surren-
dered in 1947. The privileges of grazing cattle and the
cutting of hay under permit on parklands also were
extended for many years.

Perpetuation of these concessions brought to those
responsible for the administration of the park, the
realization that not only were these practices in contra-
vention with national park concepts but that the preser-
vation as a natural heritage of unique examples of native
flora was being jeopardized. The continued harvesting of
timber for a period of more than 50 years in the forest
reserve and in the park not only had impaired aesthetic
values of the park landscape, but also had debilitated
greatly the quantity and quality of mature timber in the
more accessible areas. In addition, numerous fires
believed to be of an incendiary character, depleted
forested areas. Following the adoption of a national park
policy in 1964, which ruled out grazing and the harvest-
ing of land resources as detrimental to park land values,
restrictions on the issue of permits were introduced.
Later, in 1966, the Honourable Arthur Laing, Minister
of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, an-
nounced that grazing and hay cutting in the park would
be phased out by the end of 1970. All permittees were
notified in order that alternative arrangements could be
made in areas outside the park.

Applicants for timber cutting privileges apparently
were aware of the situation, for permits declined drasti-
cally in the 1960°s. By 1969 it was evident that future
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plans for park zoning and the establishment of repre-
sentative wilderness areas in the park were not compati-
ble with continued impairment of the forest, and that the
park could no longer provide lumber to farmers in
acceptable quantity and quality. Consequently, a deci-
sion was reached at ministerial level in June of that year
whereby no timber permits would be issued following
the close of the logging season of 1971-72.

Later Improvements

Over the years. many improvements were made in the
park which resulted in greater convenience to park
visitors. The main north-south highway through the
park, No. 10, was hard-surfaced during 1952 and 1953
and satellite roads providing access to places of interest
were renovated or improved. A small herd of buffalo
installed in a fenced area of 330 acres near Lake Audy in
1931 became an outstanding visitor attraction. Addi-
tional bungalow cabin and motel accommodation devel-
oped by private enterprise has hetped meet the demand
of an increasing number of visitors. On the administra-
tion level, the need for improved office accommodation
led to the construction in 1956-57 of a new park
administrative building at Wasagaming. Relocation of
the park work compound from the townsite was com-
menced in 1957, and resulted in the construction of a
group of modern maintenance buildings. On the vacated
area, a commodious new assembly hall was erected in
1969 and brought into use in 1970. The inauguration in
1965 of a park interpretation service, supervised by a
park naturalist, has been instrumental in acquainting
visitors with a wider knowledge of the natural attrac-
tions, characteristics and wildlife of the park.

Land Acquisition

When originally set aside in 1906, Riding Mountain
Forest Reserve included little of the southern shore of
Clear Lake that now forms part of the townsite of
Wasagaming. An amendment to the Dominion Forest
Reserves and Parks Act in 1923 added a marginal strip
to the reserve along the shore line. This action, however,
left the southern boundary in several places, only a few
yards from the lake.'? After Riding Mountain Park was
established, the Commissioner of Parks instituted action
to protect the townsite area from undesirable fringe
development. This was partially accomplished by the
acquisition of two quarter-sections of land comprising
320 acres which flanked the highway at the southern
entrance. This acquisition extended the boundary half a
mile southerly from the townsite, and assured future
visitors of an approach to the park uncluttered by
unsightly commercial .developments. The buffer zone
between the park and settled lands to the south was
expanded by land purchases carried out between 1936
and 1955, and resulted in a straight line boundary east of
the No. 10 highway for nearly six miles. Immediately
west of the townsite, only a narrow strip of land sepa-
rated Clear Lake from privately owned property. Oppor-
tunities to deepen the buffer zone by land acquisition
were exercised between 1965 and 1969, when nearly
1,300 acres were purchased for park purposes. A sub-
stantial portion of the properties acquired adjoined the
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shore line of South Lake, which is nearly a mile and a
half in length, and is separated from Clear Lake by a
narrow bar. By 1973, only one parcel of 60 acres fronting
on South Lake remained in private ownership.

Riding Mountain Park has long fulfilled its original
destiny as a summer playground for Canadians. Its man-
made attractions have been expanded to provide outdoor
sport in winter. The park continues to function as a vast
wildlife preserve, containing a very large herd of elk, the
largest member of the deer family in Canada. Now that
the end of resource exploitation is in sight, future
planning, involving a wider use of outlying areas will be
facilitated, and examples of unique native flora can
safely be perpetuated in an authentic wilderness setting.

References
I National Parks Branch File. U. 2-16-3, Vol. I.
2 Ibid. Letter April 7, 1927.
3 Orderin Council P.C. 612, April 19, 1928.
4 National Parks Branch File U. 2-16-3, April 25,
1927.
5 Annual Report, Department of the Interior, 1899, p.
IX.
6 National Parks Branch File U.2-16-3 Nov. 18, 1927.
7 National Parks Branch File R.M. 2 (vol. 1) Feb. 29,
1928.
8 Dauphin Herald, Aug. 23, 1928.
9 Order in Council P.C.2510, Dec. 28, 1929.

10 Hind, Henry Youle. A Preliminary and General
Report of the Assiniboine and Saskatchewan Explor-
ing Expedition. John Lovell, Toronto, 1859.

Il Ibid, p. 98.

12 13-14 George V, Chapter 13, June 13, 1923.



Chapter 3
Parks of Eastern Canada

~1904 TO 1972 ~



Introduction

Although the first components of Canada’s National
Park system were situated in the Rocky and Selkirk
Mountains regions of western Canada, action to extend
these public reservations to eastern provinces was taken
early in the 20th century. A major factor in the establish-
ment of the earlier parks in the mountain and prairie
regions of Canada was the existence of large areas of
undeveloped public lands, which were administered by
the various branches of the Department of the Interior.
Moreover, park legislation in force from 1911 until
1930, facilitated the creation of new parks. A strong
recommendation from the Minister of the Interior to the
Governor General in Council, with support from Cab-
inet colleagues, was the essential requirement. Following
the enactment of the National Parks Act in 1930,
however, the merits of prospective parks were subject to
parliamentary debate, as each addition to the park
system required an amendment to the National Parks
Actor, alternatively, a separate act of parliament.

The first national parks established in Eastern
Canada —St. Lawrence Islands, Point Pelee, and Geor-
gian Bay Islands,—comprised lands held in trust for
Indians which were purchased, or, in the case of Point
Pelee, former Admiralty land administered by the De-
partment of the Interior. After 1930, however, title to
almost all unalienated public lands previously under the
Department’s control had passed to the provinces, and
new procedures became necessary. For the next 40 years,
additional national parks came into being through co-
operative action by the federal and provincial govern-
ments. The selection of sites for new parks was made
following joint inspections. Subsequently, the province
concerned conveyed to the Federal Government, under
authority of appropriate legislation, a clear title to the
land selected. In turn, the Federal Government under-
took to meet the costs of developing and maintaining the
new area.

In the pages following, historical sketches of the
national parks established in eastern Canada between
1904 and 1967 will be found. In comparison with their
western counterparts, only one of the parks in eastern
Canada—Cape Breton Highlands —exceeds 160 square
miles in area. None contains a townsite or a major visitor
services centre, in which municipal and visitor services
normally are concentrated. Consequently, details of
development undertaken by the National Parks Admin-
istration and by private enterprise have been outlined in
greater detail than was done in previous chapters.
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St. Lawrence Islands National Park

One of the most beautiful examples of river landscape on
the North American continent is the picturesque stretch
of the St. Lawrence River between Lake Ontario and
Brockville. Along this section of the great inland water-
way, the river is studded with upwards of 1,700 islands,
ranging in size from tiny rocks or islets to areas of several
square miles. Growths of pine, oak, maple and birch rise
above bluffs of gneiss and granite or sweep down to the
river’s edge and cast darker shadows of colour across the
blue-green waters. Known to the earliest explorers as
“Les Milles Iles”’, the Thousand Islands have formed a
holiday retreat and summer playground for more than a
century. This superb island group lies between Canada
and the United States, and the International Boundary
threads in a meandering line through the archipelago.
The boundary line however, which is mainly invisible,
presents no aesthetic barrier, for the beauty of the river
and the opportunities it provides for outdoor sport and
enjoyment, have long been shared by the peoples of both
nations.

Early Island Parks
The Thousand Islands within Canada at one time
formed Indian lands. After their surrender by the Indi-
ans under treaty, the islands were held in trust by the
Government of Canada. By the end of the 19th century,
many of the larger islands had been sold as sites for
summer homes, many of which were erected on palatial
lines. On the mainland, which was privately owned,
visitor resorts, complete with large hotels, gradually were
developed. Fortunately, some of the larger islands were
reserved from disposal early in the present century for
private use, and these formed the nucleus of the St.
Lawrence Islands National Park. The initial steps in the
establishment of the park were taken in 1904 when nine
islands fronting on the Townships of Leeds, Lands-
downe and Yonge, were reserved for park purposes. The
islands had been designated for sale but strong represen-
tations made by local residents to the Federal Govern-
ment urging that they be reserved for public use resulted
in their retention. On September 20, 1904, they were
formally transferred from the administration and con-
trol of the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs to
that of the Minister of the Interior *“for park purposes™.!
The islands included Aubrey, Mermaid, Beau Rivage,
Camelot, Endymion, and Gordon near Gananoque,
Georgian and Constance near Ivy Lea; and Adelaide
near Mallorytown Landing. The Department of the
Interior paid the minimum valuation placed on the
islands, $9,150, and the funds were credited to the
Mississauga Band of Alnwick. Previously, in June, 1904,
five members of the Mallory family, whise name is
commemmorated in the Village of Mallorytown, do-
nated to the Government of Canada for park purposes a
small island and an adjoining mainland area at Mallory-
town Landing, containing about four acres.? In 1909, the
park was enlarged by the purchase of Stovin or Picnic
Island west of Brockville, and a five-acre parcel at the
western end of the Grenadier Island just east of Rock-
port. These acquisitions also came from Indian lands
held in trust by the Department of Indian Affairs.?



In the initial purchase of nine islands, the Department
of the Interior undoubtedly obtained a bargain. for their
initial development had been instituted by the Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs. In April, 1904, a contract had
been let to J.D. Warwick of Brockville for the construc-
tion of pavilions, steamboat wharves and boat landings.
and the provision of tables, benches and outdoor stoves
for the convenience of persons using the islands. The
initial contract, which included improvements on the
parcel of land donated by the Mallory family. was
extended to incorporate additional items, and on com-
pletion the contractor was paid $16,482.# The islands on
which improvements had been made were then placed in
charge of a caretaker who resided in Gananoque. He was
paid at the rate of $10 per month.

Administration Transferred

Early in 1908, the island parks, together with other
representative units in the federal parks system, were
placed under the administration of the Forestry Branch
of the Department of the Interior. An inspection of the
island parks made by the Superintendent of Forestry in
June of that year revealed that some of the pavilions had
been poorly designed, and had either collapsed or lost
their roofs during heavy winds which swept the river.
Effective repairs were made by the Department of Public
Works and the pavilions provided an essential public
service for many years. In 1911, the recently-formed

Dominion Parks Branch took over the administration of

the park islands and regular maintenance was inau-

gurated. Caretakers for the larger islands or for groups of

islands were engaged on a seasonal basis. and periodical
inspections by members of the Park Branch staff at
Ottawa were initiated. It was not until December, 1914,
that the twelve island units existing at that time were
formally established as national parks under the Domin-
ion Forest Reserves and Parks Act.’

Park Extensions

The island park system was extended in 1919, when
Canada or Doran’s Island, an attractive area of 20 acres
facing the Town of Morrisburg, was obtained for na-
tional park purposes. The island had formed part of the
St. Regis Indian Reserve, and a long-term lease granted
by the Indian chiefs had expired. Its acquisition for park
purposes, subject to payment of an amount to be fixed by
valuation, was authorized by an order in council under
the Indian Act. Later, it developed that the island could
not be expropriated for park purposes under the Indian
Act, and it was necessary to amend the Forest Reserves
and Parks Act to permit the acquisition of Indian lands
under that authority. This legislation was passed in June,
1919.° After the necessary expropriation was carried out
under authority of the new legislation. the island was
proclaimed Broder Island Park, after Andrew Broder,
who had represented the constituency of Grenville-
Dundas for many years in the House of Commons.’

The five-acre parcel adjoining the lighthouse property
at the west end of Grenadier Island was enlarged in
January, 1924, when the Deparment of Marine and
Fisheries transferred to the Department of the Interior
for park purposes an additional five acres from the

lighthouse reserve. The enlarged area of 10 acres was
procLumed as Grenadier Island Park.® In July. 1924,
another valuable addition was made to the park. Cedar
Island, located opposite Fort Henry in the St. Lawrence
River, a mile and one-half east of the City of Kingston,
had been in the custody of the Department of National
Defence for many years following its transfer to Canada
by the Imperial Government in 1870. Its transfer to the
Department of the Interior in 1924 resulted in the
creation of an attractive island park at the western end of
the park system, incorporating an interesting relic of
early defence construction in the form of a martello
tower, which had been erected as an outpost of Fort
Henry in 1846.” These acquisitions, which brought to
fourteen the number of island parks, were the last to be
incorporated in St. Lawrence Islands National Park
prior to the enactment of the National Parks Actin 1930.

Historical Associations

The St. Lawrence River is linked firmly with the early
history of Canada. Following the first ascent of the river
by Jacques Cartier in 1535 to the site of Montreal, it
gradually developed into a water highway to the west,
and along its course travelled the early explorers, fur-
traders, and missionaries, followed by settlers and com-
merce. The native population of the upper portion of the
river in early days was composed principally of members
the Iroquois confederacy. as the south bank of the St.
Lawrence marked the northern boundary of territory
occupied by the Mohawks, Oneidas, and Onandagas. To
the north and northwest of the river were the Hurons.
and farther north again, the Algonquin tribes. The island
region was known to them as ““Manitoana.”” or Garden
of the Great Spirit, and Indian associations with the
islands have given birth to numerous legends.

The Thousand Islands stretch of the St. Lawrence
witnessed in turn the struggle of the French and English
for the control of North America which ended in 1763;
the War of the American Revolution; the War of 1812-
14; and the so-called Patriot War of 1837-38. which
terminated shortly after an unsuccessful invasion of
Canada from Ogdensburg was repulsed. Memories of the
War of 1812-14 are preserved in the names of several of
the national park islands, which were given by Captain
William Fitzwilliam Owen, who made a survey of the St.
Lawrence River following the end of hostilities.'” En-
dymion. Camelot and Mermaid Islands were named
after gunboats which operated on the Great Lakes:
Gordon Island after Commander James A. Gordon;
Stovin Island after Major-General Richard Stovin; and
Grenadier Island after the famous British regiment.

The Thousand Islands also provided the setting for the
story of the **Lost Channel,”’, referred to in J. Fenimore
Cooper’s famous novel, ““The Pathfinder”. The name of
this passage in the islands had its origin from an incident
which occurred in 1760, during the Seven Years War.
On the way from Oswego to Montreal, a British force
under Lord Ambherst, transported by two vessels, the
Onandaga and the Mohawk, was ambushed in the islands
by a group of French and Indians. During the skirmish,
the crew of one of the boats lowered from the Onandaga
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became confused by the myriad of channels, and the boat
was lost.!"!

First Visitors

It is believed that a Jesuit missionary, Father Poncet, was
the first European to visit in 1653, the St. Lawrence
Islands.'* Count de Frontenac, appointed Governor of
French Canada in 1672, ascended the St. Lawrence from
Lachine in July, 1673, with a flotilla 120 canoes and two
flat-boats, carrying 400 men including some Indians. His
mission was to establish a fortified post at the mouth of
Cataraqui River, which later was to be known as Fort
Frontenac and eventually as Kingston, Ontario. Fronte-
nac left a vivid description of his journey through the
upper St. Lawrence.

“On the 4th (July) we pursued our journey and came
to the most beautiful piece of country that can be
imagined, the river being strewn with islands, the trees
of which are all either oak or other kinds of hardwood,
while the soil is admirable. The banks on both sides of
the river are not less charming, the trees, which are
very high, standing out distinctly and forming as fine
groves as you could see in France”."?

The islands between Kingston and Brockville were
surrendered by the Mississauga Indians of Alnwick by
Treaty No. 77, dated June 19, 1856. The first sale of units
in the Thousand Island group was made on May 18,
1868. The earliest plans of survey in the custody of the
Indian Affairs Branch are dated April 30, 1893, from
surveys carried out by Unwin and McNaughton in 1874,
and Beatty in 1892. Descriptions of the islands now
forming the national park are based mainly on plans of
survey dated January 23, 1912.

For nearly 40 years after their proclamation as na-
tional parks, the federally-owned islands in the St
Lawrence River provided summer visitors with opportu-
nities for picnicking, bathing, and camping. The original
wharves were gradually replaced as they became obsolete
and some of the early pavilions gave way to more
functional kitchen shelters. Annual attendance based on
estimates provided by the islands’ caretakers rarely
exceeded 15,000 up to the year 1948. General super-
vision of the islands and their part-time caretakers was
undertaken by officers of the National Parks Branch at
Ottawa, who functioned as acting superintendents.

St. Lawrence Islands Bridge

A significant event in the history of the St. Lawrence
Island Parks was the opening on August 18, 1938 of the
Thousand Islands International Bridge near Ivy Lea.
Dedication addresses were delivered by the Prime Min-
ister of Canada, the Honourable W.L. Mackenzie King
and the President of the United States, Franklin D.
Roosevelt. The company responsible for the erection and
maintenance of the bridge had been incorporated in
1934, and subsequently obtained permission by federal
order in council to erect piers supporting the bridge on
Georgina and Constance Park Islands.'* A rental agree-
ment, effective April 1, 1938, authorized the use of park
lands for the lifetime of the bridge.
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The new bridge was located to function as a connect-
ing link between Collins Landing in the State of New
York and Ivy Lea, Ontario. On the Canadian side. access
was provided by a new provincial highway originally
designated Number 401, and now designated Number
28, which followed the St. Lawrence River from a point
west of Brockville to Gananoque. The right-of-way
crossed the national park area at Mallorytown Landing
and its construction at this point was facilitated by an
exchange of lands between Canada and the province in
1939 which had the effect of extending the park water-
front area.

Superintendent Appointed

A growing automobile traffic along the scenic highway
soon was reflected in an increase in visitors, especially at
Mallorytown Landing. In 1949, a labour foreman was
appointed to supervise maintenance of the park’s island
units in the vicinity. In August, 1952, the Superintendent
of Georgian Bay and Point Pelee National Park, J.C.
Browne, was also placed in charge of the St. Lawrence
Islands Parks with the title of Superintendent. Subse-
quent inspections of the park revealed that the prevailing
practice of employing part-time caretakers on the islands
was unsatisfactory and in 1954 the park was placed
under the. immediate supervision of a resident park
warden with headquarters at Mallorytown Landing. The
new post was filled by Frank Jervis, an experienced park
warden from Prince Albert National Park.

In 1953, an area of about three acres of farm land
bordering the park north of Provincial Highway 401 had
been purchased to facilitate the extension of camping
and picnicking amenities. This area provided a site for a
combination residence and office erected in 1954 for the
new warden. The following year, a stores and workshop
building was added to the park establishment. The park
warden now functioned as a local superintendent and
with the aid of a seasonal staff, initiated a program of
development and expansion required to meet the in-
creasing use of the island parks. With the aid of new
patrol boats and a large steel scow. regular refuse
collections on the park islands were instituted, many new
wharves and kitchen shelters were constructed, change-
houses for bathers were provided on islands having
suitable natural attractions, and picnic sites were en-
larged and improved by the provision of outdoor stoves.
tables and benches. The repair and maintenance of park
boats was facilitated by the construction in 1960 of a
large three-bay boathouse at Mallorytown Landing. On
January 1, 1968, the title of Chief Park Warden was
changed to that of Park Superintendent.

Broder Park Withdrawn

The establishment of the St. Lawrence Seaway Authority
in 1951 by the Parliament of Canada and reciprocal
legislation by the Congress of the United States in 1954
led to the development of an International Deep Water-
way with remarkable changes in the geography of the St.
Lawrence River Valley. Canadian national park units in
the upper section of the river were not affected. but
Broder Island, the most easterly park unit, was destined
for serious defacement. As early as 1940, it had been



known that the island, located in the Internation Rapids
section of the proposed waterway, would be wholly or
partially submerged in any international power develop-
ment scheme. An examination of the island carried out
by officers of the National Parks Service determined
what improvements could be salvaged and in March,
1955, legislation providing for the withdrawal of the
island from the National Parks System was prepared.
This was accomplished by an amendment to the Na-
tional Parks Act. Considerable portable equipment was
removed for use elsewhere, but improvements having
replacement value of more than $20,000 had to be
abandoned. An unsuccessful effort was made to obtain
another island in exchange. In 1957, the Hydro-Electric
Power Commission of Ontario offered to return what
was left of Broder Island after some land-fill and land-
scaping had been undertaken. As the island had been
bisected by the new ship channel and all natural vegeta-
tion removed, the offer was rejected. Eventually, a cash
settlement was obtained from the Commission, and title
to Broder Island, required by the International Rapids
Power Development Act. was transferred by order in
council in 1959.13

Additional Land Required
The loss of this island, coupled with an ever-increasing
use of existing park islands, confirmed the need for
additional land acquisition for park purposes along the
river between Brockville and Kingston. In 1956, an
opportunity to purchase a parcel of farm land compris-
ing 84 acres north of provincial highway 401 at Mallory-
town Landing was presented. Title to the property was
obtained in 1957, and made possible the extension of the
headquarters area. Its acquisition also removed the
threat of undesirable commercial development in the
immediate vicinity of the park. Additional property at
Mallorytown was purchased in 1958 in the form of two
cottage lots facing the river front which had been
excepted from the original grant by the Mallory family
in 1904. A remaining lot was acquired in 1970.

Although land purchases at Mallorytown Landing had
provided additional space for mainland developments,
the existing island parks which offered picnic and camp-
ing amenities were suffering from over-use. This situa-
tion resulted from an amazing increase in private boat-
ing activity which strained the capacity of docks and
mooring areas and put a premium on space in areas
favoured by visitors. By 1960, actual counts by park
employees disclosed that up to 500 boats were using park
docks each week. Unfair practices of private boat owners
in monopolizing available dock space, embarrassed the
captains of commercial tour boats from nearby towns
and cities. Some improvement in the situation was
effected by the adoption of regulations which restricted
periods of tie-up to 48 hours. Offshore mooring in
congested areas was facilitated by the installation of
additional mooring buoys, and tour boats were accom-
modated by the reservation of designated sections of
park docks for that class of boat.

The purchase of suitable island property presented
difficulties as almost all large islands other than those
reserved for park or other public purposes had been sold

years before. Consequently, islands of acceptable stan-
dard and in suitable locations could be acquired only on
the open market at prices determined by negotiation
after appraisal. An exception was a group of 82 islets and
rocks scattered throughout the island system which
represented the balance of the ungranted Indian lands
held in trust by Indian Affairs administration. While of
no great scenic or recreational value, many of these
islands were located near or in the vicinity of park
islands and their purchase in 1965 removed any possibil-
ity of their sale and development under private owner-
ship to the detriment of the national park.

Islands are Purchased

In 1966, an area of 211 acres in the central part of
Grenadier Island was purchased. Additional parcels on
the same island, totalling some 125 acres, later were
acquired in 1968, 1969 and 1970. A small group of
adjacent islands including Squaw, Car, and Shoe, was
bought in 1967. These additions permitted the develop-
ment of plans of a visitor centre on Grenadier Island,
which will provide opportunities for bathing, picnicking.
and camping. Other notable island areas acquired for
park purposes between 1967 and 1970 included three
large islands accessible from Gananoque. They included
Thwartway or Leek Island containing 90 acres: Mul-
caster Island containing 13 acres; and the major part of
McDonald Island containing 35 acres. The purchase of
Milton or Pitcairn Island east of Kingston Harbour in
1960 established a new western outpost in the chain of
island parks.

An ever-increasing demand for recreational ameni-
ties, associated with picnicking, camping and boating
activity led the National and Historic Parks Branch in
1966 to make a reconnaissance survey of the current and
future potentialities of the park. From the studies under-
taken, a provisional master plan was prepared for the
orderly development of the St. Lawrence Islands Parks.
The plan provided for the use of the mainland area as a
highway visitor services centre, and the development of
intensive use areas on Grenadier Island, and on another
large island to be acquired. The plan also contemplated
the development of nature and hiking trails on large
islands together with facilities for docking, picnicking
and bathing. Other islands would remain in an undevel-
oped state to reinforce the natural environment. The
development of a visitor centre on Grenadier Island has
since been undertaken, and further implementation of
development plans will be possible as additional island
parks are acquired.
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Point Pelee National Park

Pointing southerly like a long finger into the western end
of Lake Erie, Point Pelee contains one of Canada’s
smallest but unusual national parks. It takes the form of a
huge inverted triangle, six miles long and three miles
wide at its base. Its sides are formed by broad beaches
built up by wind and wave action, which terminate at
their extremities in a slender spit that changes its
position and form as currents and winds dictate. The
southern portion of the park supports, by reason of its
geographical position and climate, trees, plants and bird
life normally found in more southerly latitudes. The
northern portion of the park is principally marsh-land
containing large ponds, which provides food and shelter
for waterfowl, muskrat and numerous other aquatic
species. Located on one of the main routes followed by
birds during their spring and autumn migrations, the
park offers unequalled opportunities for the study and
observation of birds. The unique natural attractions of
the park have been made more accessible through the
provision of man-made amenities, and attract large
concentrations of visitors during the summer months.
The park boundaries enclose an area of about six square
miles or 3,840 acres. Of this area, less than 1,100 acres
form dry land, the balance being made up of marshland
interspersed by ponds.

Early History

Point Pelee owes its name to the French word ‘pelée’,
meaning bare, presumably from the long treeless spit
that forms its tip.' It was known from the earliest days of
exploration, and the portage across the beaches through
the intervening ponds was frequently used in early
navigation on Lake Erie. A bronze tablet, mounted on a
stone cairn, was erected at the western end of the portage
in 1927 by the National Parks Branch to commemorate
events in Canadian history associated with Point Pelee.?
In the course of their notable explorations of 1669-1670,
the Sulpician priests, Fathers Dollier and Galinée, en-
camped on the east beach in April, 1670. Here, an
overnight storm carried off part of their luggage. During
the Pontiac conspiracy or war, a detachment of Royal
Americans and Queens Rangers under Lieutenant Abra-
ham Cuyler suffered severe losses during a surprise
attack by Wyandot Indians on May 28, 1763. In the war
of 1812-1814, a British expedition under General Isaac
Brock landed on the Point on August 12, 1812, four days
before the capture of Detroit and General Hull’s army.
The tablet also commemorates the Battle of Pelee Island
fought on March 3, 1838, during the Upper Canada
Rebellion.
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Naval Reserve Established

The southerly two-thirds of Point Pelee was set aside as
the Point Pelee Naval Reserve during the first half of the
19th century —one of several established on the Great
Lakes. It is doubtful if the point ever functioned in naval
operations, for on December 2, 1871, the reserve was
transferred by the British Admiralty to Canada. Four
years later, it was deemed to be no longer required for
naval purposes, and on March 28, 1875, the reserve was
placed in custody of the Department of the Interior for
administration as Ordnance and Admiralty Lands.? Its
earliest human occupation was probably by Chippewa
Indians, who subsisted mainly by hunting and fishing.
They also grew crops of Indian corn on small clearings.
In 1842, the band numbered about 250, but by 1856, the
Indian population had shrunk to less that 60. Members
of the band had a tendency to roam and many moved in
1847 to Walpole Island in Lake St. Clair.*

First Legal Survey

The early occupation of the point was shared by white
squatters, mostly fishermen, the first of whom arrived
about 1830. Although an inspecting officer of the De-
partment of the Interior reported in 1881 that the land
had no agricultural value, the squatters grew vegetables
and planted small orchards. A condition of the transfer
of the naval reserve to Canada in 1871 stipulated that, in
the administration of the public lands, the rights of the
squatters were to be protected. By 1881, the presence of a
small settlement, and the unauthorized cutting of trees
on the point by the squatters, became a matter of concern
to the Department of the Interior. That year, Peter
Conover of Leamington was appointed caretaker of the
reserve, and steps were taken to provide the squatters
with a title to their holdings.® A survey of the reserve was
carried out on the instructions of the Surveyor General
by Alex. Baird, P.L.S., in 1882.

Unfortunately, details of the plan of survey were
insufficient to permit the preparation of land grants and
a second survey of the squatters’ holdings was carried
out in 1889 by George McPhillips, D.L.S. His plan
formed the basis for all subsequent surveys in the Naval
Reserve. After the claims of the squatters had been
investigated and substantiated, titles were granted in
1892 and 1893 to the occupants of 20 individual parcels
or lots. The squatters obtained in effect a free title, for the
only charge made was a share of the cost of the survey,
which amounted to $1.70 per acre.®

Gun Club Lease

After it assumed control of the Naval Reserve, the
Department of the Interior proved to be an indulgent
custodian, as it sanctioned systematic exploitation of the
natural resources. The Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty had consented in 1873 to the issue of a licence
of land in the reserve ““for the preservation of game”’.
Action on the Admiralty’s consent was deferred until
May, 1884, when tenders were called for the right to
lease 3,190 acres of the reserve, excluding the squatter’s
holdings. The successful applicants comprised a group of
sportsmen from Leamington and St. Catherines. They
incorporated as the “South Essex Gun Club’’ and were



granted a lease for a term of 21 years from April 6, 1885,
at a yearly rental of $400.7 The exclusive use of most of
the Naval Reserve for “*the preservation and purposes of
game only”” did not meet with the approval of the
permanent residents, who, by petition, claimed interfer-
ence with their rights. Their objections, however, were
over-ruled, and the lease remained in force until 1902,
when it was cancelled for non-payment of rent.”

Natural Resources Exploited

Destruction of the abundant stands of red cedar or
juniper on the Naval Reserve was threatened in 1893,
when a resident of Leamington, Everett Wigle, obtained
the right to cut and remove for fence posts, all cedar on
the reserve having a butt of five inches or more in
diameter. This operation, authorized by order in council,
was sanctioned on the presumption that removal of the
larger trees would result in their replacement by thou-
sands of smaller ones.” Although provision was made for
a clean-up of brush, and the retention of sufficient larger
trees to form an effective wind-break on the point, strong
protests were registered with the Department. These
came from not only the residents and members of the
gun club, but also from officers of the merchant marine
sailing Lake Erie. By March, 1894, when the concession
was cancelled, Mr. Wigle had been able to harvest 11,400
fence posts and a large number of logs from overage or
decaying black walnut trees.

Although unrestricted use of the lands in the reserve,
exclusive of the squatter’s grants, was not authorized by
the Admiralty until 1911, additional concessions had
been granted by the Interior Department. During the
term of the gun club’s lease, applications for the right to
carry on natural gas and petroleum exploration had been
refused. On the termination of the club’s privileges in
1902, a lease permitting drilling was authorized. Al-
though the lessee held this right for three years, no
drilling was carried on. Four separate leases for the
removal of sand from the reserve were issued between
1910 and 1913."" One lease, covering 41 acres at the end
of the point, was cancelled in 1915, when the land was
transferred by request to the Canadian Naval Service,
for the purposes of a life-saving station. The other leases
remained in force until the national park was established
in 1918.

Scientific Studies

Before the end of the century, the unusual opportunities
for the study of bird and plant life began to attract the
attention of naturalists. Among these were W.E Saunders
of London, Ontario, and P.A. Taverner of Ottawa, both
well known ornithologists. Conservation groups also
became interested in preserving the habitat of waterfowl.
In its annual report for 1915, the Commission of Conser-
vation at Ottawa published a report by Taverner, recom-
mending the creation of an national park at Point
Pelee.!' A zoologist on the staff of the National Museum
of Canada, Taverner had carried on observations in the
Naval Reserve since 1905. His report also described the
variety of fauna and flora found there.

“Point Pelee is the most southerly point of the Domin-

ion, biologically as well as geographically, and thus we
find a fauna intruding from the south that occurs in
no other part of Canada in so marked a manner. Such
trees and plants as the paw-paw, prickly pear, sassa-
[fras, sycamore, black walnut, hackberry, wahoo, red
mulberry and other strictly southern forms thrive
there. Birds like the cardinal, Carolina wren, yellow-
breasted chat, blue-grey gnat-catcher, and golden-
winged warbler are common residents or regular
migrants ... . Point Pelee is a place of unusual and
peculiar beauty, resembling strongly in many particu-
lars the landscape of the Bermuda Islands.”

The paper also called attention to the serious erosion
of the point which Taverner believed to be the result of
off-shore removal of sand by dredges for use in the
United States. In the period between 1905 and 1913.
Taverner had seen the point recede in length by almost
half a mile. Operations in 1913 alone, he stated. had
accounted for sufficient sand to cover 15 acres to a depth
of two feet.

National Park Endorsed

The Government of Canada had established an inter-
departmental Advisory Board on Wildlife Protection in
December, 1916. The Board included representatives of
the Commission of Conservation, the Department of
Indian Affairs, the National Museum of Canada and the
National Parks Branch of the Department of the Interior.
A fifth member of the Board, Dr. C. Gordon Hewitt,
Dominion Entomologist of the Department of Agricul-
ture, served as secretary. Resolutions submitted to the
government by several groups interested in the preser-
vation of Point Pelee as a wildlife sanctuary were
referred to the new board. Included were those from the
Essex County Wild Life Protective Association, the Essex
County Game Protective Association, and the Canadian
Society for the Protection of Birds.

Dr. Hewitt undertook an inspection of the Naval
Reserve and interviewed a number of the residents. Later
he had discussions with executives of the Essex County
protective associations among whom were Forest Co-
nover, a son of the first caretaker of the Naval Reserve,
and Jack Miner, who had successfully developed a
private migratory bird sanctuary at Kingsville, Ontario.
The results of these consultations were then reviewed
with the Commissioner of National Parks, J.B. Harkin.
and with Dr. R.M. Anderson and P.A Taverner of the
National Museum of Canada. On May 30, 1917, the
Advisory Board forwarded a strongly-worded resolution
to the Deputy Minister of the Interior, recommending
that the Naval Reserve be created a national park. The
submission received sympathetic consideration, and the
proposal was approved by the Minister of the Interior,
Dr. W.J. Roche.'?

The co-operation of the Province of Ontario was then
sought in the enactment of provincial regulations that
would effectively control shooting on privately-owned
lands, should the proposed park materialize. This co-
operation was obtained, together with agreement that
the cancellation of permits authorizing underwater sand
removal was desirable. By the spring of 1918, a decision
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had been reached that all unalienated land in the Naval
Reserve should be included in the proposed Point Pelee
park, and its establishment was confirmed by order in
council on May 29, 1918.'3 In deference to sportsmen
who for years had hunted waterfowl in the marshes of
Point Pelee, the order in council provided for the
shooting of wild duck under permit from the Commis-
sioner of National Parks, during a season to be decided
by the Governor in Council.

Administrator Appointed

Following the establishment of the park,steps were taken
to protect its natural features and install facilities that
would promote its public use and enjoyment. An honor-
ary superintendent, Forest Conover, was appointed; a
park warden was engaged, and a general clean-up of the
park undertaken. Suitable areas for camping and
picnicking were designated, wells drilled, and outdoor
stoves, tables and benches made available. Later devel-
opments included the erection of pavilions and shelters,
and a change-house for bathers. The main road into the
park was improved, a rustic arch erected at the entrance,
and efforts made to control erosion of the beaches. As the
park’s attractions became better known, visitor use
increased and, by 1925, the annual attendance was
estimated to be 50,000.

Unfortunately, much of the best land in the park was
privately owned, for 30 years earlier, 525 acres had been
Crown-granted to the squatters. As visitor use of the park
increased, property-owners began to sell portions of their
land, and many of the original lots were subdivided for
cottage sites. Eventually, privately-owned property in the
park was owned by several hundred persons, many of
them residents of the United States.

Real Estate Promotion

One of the most ambitious real estate developments in
the park got under way in 1921. The Point Pelee
Company Limited, backed by promoters from Detroit,
Michigan, purchased 170 acres in the southern part of
the park from J.W. Post, an original grantee who had
acquired other holdings. The company wished to include
in its development about 20 acres of park land along the
eastern shore. On the understanding that the company
would carry out certain works beneficial to the park, and
would permit extension of the park regulations to its
property, the Minister of the Interior entered into an
agreement with the company.'* The terms of the agree-
ment provided for an exchange of lands, the develop-
ment of a landscaped park area, and the posting of a
performance bond by the company. The initial subdi-
vision consisting of 351 lots, was widely advertised, but
the company experienced financial difficulties, and was
unable to carry out the terms of its agreement with the
Department. Later the company defaulted in its mort-
gage commitments to the vendor, and the land reverted
to Mr. Post. In 1937, the park superintendent reported
that the property might be purchased from the estate of
Mr. Post. After negotiation with the executors, and an
appraisal of the land, the Department obtained title to
170 acres for $45,000. Fortunately, the developers had
sold only three lots in the subdivision. Two of these lots
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were acquired by the Department at a tax sale, and the
third by expropriation.

This purchase not only extended the public land in the
park but provided an area of great ecological value. It
incorporated a portion of the point that had remained
quite primitive and undeveloped, sustaining examples of
the trees, shrubs, vines, plants and mosses which contrib-
uted to the unique character of the park.

Roads Taken Over

In 1938, the National Parks Branch instituted an en-
trance fee on vehicles entering the park. Roads within
the park, however, in accordance with subdivision law,
were vested in the Township of Mersea, and considerable
discretion was exercised in collecting fees from perma-
nent residents. The existence of road allowances on the
subdivision plan of the recently acquired Post property
led to discussion with township officials, which in turn
led to the transfer of all roads and road allowances
within the park to the Crown. In January, 1929, the
Township Council, by resolution, indicated its willing-
ness to surrender its rights to all road allowances,
provided the rights of residents were recognized. Legal
difficulties in the proposed transfer were solved, with the
approval of Township officials, by the expropriation of
all roads and road allowances shown on the Plan of
Squatters” Holdings of 1889, and the plan of the Point
Pelee Company’s subdivision. The order in council
authorizing the expropriation was approved on Septem-
ber 21, 1939, and made provision for the free use of the
park roads by all vehicles owned by permanent residents
of the park, their families, servants, agents and assigns. 1§

Encroachments on Land
After the park was established, officers responsible for its
administration found that in addition to developments
which had occurred on the privately-owned lands
granted in the 1890’s, encroachments had been made
without authority at various points along the park
beaches. Most of these were fishery establishments incor-
porating boat-houses, ice-houses, stables, dwelling and
tar vats, which presented untidy and unsightly intrusions
on the landscape. In full knowledge that the claims of the
original squatters had been satisfied following the
McPhillips survey of 1889, the Commissioner of Na-
tional Parks in 1919 offered to the fishermen, leases
covering the areas occupied by buildings. The offers were
ignored or refused, and although agents of the Minister
of Justice were appointed in 1921 and 1922 to negotiate
agreements, efforts to have leases accepted were ineffec-
tual. A final effort made by the Commissioner in 1934 to
enforce a settlement ended when advice was received
from the Deputy Minister that “the matter might be
allowed to remain in abeyance at the present time™”.'¢
Eventually, a number of the more unsightly or objec-
tionable buildings were removed or disappeared, and in
1941, the owner of one fishery accepted a permit of
occupation. Similar documents were issued by the Park
Superintendent in 1943 and 1950 for the two fishery
sites remaining. In 1950, all three fishermen were re-
quested to obtain licences required by the National Parks
Business Regulations, and in 1951, to accept licences of



occupation in lieu of permits. Two operators, complied,
but the third, William Krause, refused. This fisherman
claimed property rights by prescription, on grounds that
the land he occupied had been used continuously by
predecessors and himself, for more than 60 years.

Crown’s Title Confirmed

After all attempts to negotiate a lease had failed, the
Attorney General of Canada in 1953 instituted action in
the Supreme Court of Ontario to establish the right of the
Crown, to the lands in the park occupied by the Krause
fishery. The action was heard at Windsor, Ontario in
December, 1954, and judgment was given in 1955 in
favour of the defendant. The decision was reversed in the
Court of Appeal in 1956 by unanimous opinion of the
presiding judges, and the Crown’s right to the foreshore
of the park was established for all time. On payment of
all arrears of rental and licence fees, Krause was granted
a licence of occupation for his fishery site and he
continued operations for several years. By 1970, all
licences authorizing occupation of sites in the park for
fishery operations had been surrendered or had expired.

Park Development
For many years after its establishment, Point Pelee was a
‘“poor relation’’ in the national park family. Appropria-
tions voted for its administration were small, and al-
though they had assistance from a park warden, early
superintendents held office in an honorary capacity only.
In 1937, RJ. Grant, who had been both honorary
superintendent and labour foreman, was appointed su-
perintendent on a permanent basis, and the warden
position was dropped. Also in 1937, the first administra-
tion building was erected at the northern boundary. It
combined a gateway and park offices. This structure
functioned until 1961, when the superintendent and staff
moved into a new building sited a short distance south of
the boundary. New entrance lanes were laid out and
traffic controlled from kiosks. The original work com-
pound was developed from a group of buildings erected
in 1932 during unemployment relief operations. Some of
these were replaced in 1954 by a new warehouse and
stores building. In 1951, J.C. Browne was appointed
superintendent and his duties were expanded to include
supervision of Georgian Bay Islands and St. Lawrence
Islands National Parks. A park warden position was re-
established and filled by C.E. Doak. A warden’s resi-
dence was built in 1954 and following the appointment
of Chief Warden McCarron as Park Superintendent in
1957, the building became the superintendent’s resi-
dence. Other members of the staff were accommodated in
dwellings located on properties acquired for park use.
Most of the park buildings constructed since 1954
have taken the form of campground and picnic shelters,
bath-houses, and public service buildings equipped with
washrooms and toilet facilities. They have been located
principally at the south end of the park on both the east
and west beaches, and at strategic points served by the
main park roads. A modern refreshment booth erected in
1959 at the southeast beach, supplanted earlier structures
situated in less advantageous locations. It was leased to a
concessionaire by tender.

Park Planning

The acquisition of private property in 1938 led officers of
the National Parks Branch to undertake studies which it
was hoped would facilitate planning for a better use of
available park lands. In May, 1939, a team of scientists
which included Dr. HF. Lewis, Dr. HA. Senn, and
W.E.D. Halliday, investigated administrative problems
generated by an increasing patronage of the park. Their
report recommended the reservation of areas as nature
sanctuaries accessible by walking trail only; the employ-
ment of a nature guide; improved measures for control of
beach erosion; the consolidation of camping areas; the
rehabilitation of areas suffering from over use; and the
provision of adequate car-parking.'’

The outbreak of war in 1939 and reductions in park
appropriations  postponed many desirable im-
provements, but some of the team’s recommendations
were implemented. A portion of the former Post prop-
erty was fenced as a nature preserve, indiscriminate
camping along the park highway was curtailed, and
designated areas were opened for use by campers and
picnickers. Post-war developments in the park were
instituted in 1948, when the main road was paved.
Earlier measures taken in 1937 and 1938 to control
beach erosion were reinstituted in 1949, and continued
for several years. Much of the work undertaken involved
the installation of large concrete crosses designed to
build up sand deposits along the beaches during heavy
wave action.

For some years after the purchase of the Post property
in 1938, opportunities for acquiring privately-owned
land in the park were negligible. By 1954, however, the
number of visitors to the park was exceeding half a
million, placing demands on useable space which could
not be met. A study of administrative problems under-
taken that year by the Chief Engineer of the National
Parks Branch, G.L. Scott, and Dr. D.A. Munro, of the
Canadian Wildlife Service, led to the recommendation
that all remaining privately-owned land in the park be
acquired.'® In 1956, an intensive program of land
acquisition got under way with the purchase of 80 lots in
a registered subdivision. Another substantial purchase of
free-hold land in 1957 was approved by the Treasury
Board of Canada on condition that a special study would
be devoted to the acquisition of all alienated land in the
park.

Land Acquisition Program

Later that year, an inspection and appraisal of the
private land holdings in the park was undertaken for the
National Parks Branch by officers of the Central Mort-
gage and Housing Corporation. It disclosed the existence
of approximately 255 individual holdings having an
estimated value of $1,500,000. In 1959, Treasury Board
approval was obtained for the proposed land acquisition
program, phased over a 10-year period, with individual
consideration to be given by the Board to each
transaction.

In years following, excellent progress was made in
recapturing title to land within the park boundaries.
Notable acquisitions included those involving the Tilden
garden properties in 1960 and 1970, and the Point Pelee
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Orchard lands in 1966. These transactions accounted for
157 acres. An impetus to land sales was provided by an
announcement made in 1967, at a public presentation of
a proposed development plan for Point Pelee National
Park, that its implementation was contingent on the
acquisition of all remaining privately-owned land in the
park. By the end of 1970, agreements for sale had yet to
be reached with fewer than 80 property owners.

Additional Conservation Measures

By 1952, park administrators realized that open camp-
ing was destroying the forest cover and prohibiting
regeneration of shrubs, plants, and trees. Steps were
taken to consolidate camping in a special area, and
development of a suitable site was commenced. A new
serviced campground was opened on May 1, 1955,
making available to campers modern kitchen shelters,
toilet buildings with laundry facilities, a water supply
and a large number outdoor stoves. Picnic areas, comple-
mented by suitable service buildings and parking areas,
also were developed at the southern end of the park and
along the northwest beach.

Additional studies undertaken between 1942 and
1954 had stressed the need for a nature trail and the
employment of nature guides. A start on a nature
interpretation program was made in 1954 when a
woodland trail through the nature reserve was located by
Dr. G.M. Stirrett of the Canadian Wildlife Service.
Development of the trail was completed in 1956, with
plants, trees, shrubs and vines along the route indentified
by labels. Ready observation of the interesting wildlife in
the park marsh was assured following the construction of
a board walk for a distance of two-thirds of a mile into
the marsh in 1963. An elevated platform built at the end
of the walk permitted views of the entire marsh. The
inception of an Education and Interpretation Division of
the National Parks Branch in 1959 and the appointment
of Dr. Stirrett as chief park naturalist, was followed by
the development of a detailed interpretation program at
Point Pelee.

In 1960, an attendant was engaged for the nature trail.
A seasonal park naturalist was appointed in 1961, and a
full-time naturalist was engaged in 1965. The success of
the nature program pointed the need for a Nature Centre
which would combine the functions of a natural history
museum, lecture hall and headquarters for the naturalist
service. By 1965, the construction of a suitable building
was under way and it was formally opened on August 19,
1966 by the Minister of Northern affairs and National
Development, the Honourable Arthur Laing. It con-
tained a theatre, library. and information centre, and
permitted the display of exhibits calling attention to the
unusual flora and fauna of the park.

Park Planning Progress

Progress made in the purchase of alienated land within
the park, and the impairment of the landscape by an
ever-increasing number of visitors, called attention to the
need for additional studies related to future park devel-
opment. Following the end of World War 2. visitor
attendance at Point Pelee Park increased rapidly. From
annual visits of 200,000 in 1950, attendance by 1955
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had reached 600.000. In the years following, the annual
increase was slower until a peak of 745,500 was recorded
in 1959.1In 1960, it was evident that, if the natural values
of the park were to be protected for future generations,
both visitor control and planning for the future should be
instituted.

In 1962, the Planning Division of the National Parks
Branch produced an interim development plan. Its con-
tents reflected the belief that the nature and extent of
public use of the park, and the developments required,
should be so planned that they would not encroach upon
or be in conflict with the requirements for protection and
preservation of the native flora and fauna in its natural
state. Through appropriate zoning of park land, it was
proposed to make provision for recreation. camping.
bathing, picnicking, and for the reservation of certain
areas as nature preserves.

In 1964, a firm of consulting landscape architects,
Sasaki. Strong and Associates of Toronto, was engaged
to develop a working plan for future land use. The
consultant’s report was completed in 1966 and presented
at a public hearing held in the park in November, 1967.
Its recommendations included relocation and extension
of camping areas, reorientation of recreational and
picnic areas, extensive relocation of the park road sys-
tem, and the banning of public motor vehicle traffic in
the southern part of the park.

Acceptance of the some of the consultant’s recommen-
dations, especially those related to new road patterns and
the relocation of major public use areas, would have
necessitated substantial clearing of valuable wooded
areas. Objections raised by park officers, the local advis-
ory council and others, led to modification of the propos-
als and the preparation by the Planning Division of a
revised provisional master plan for the park.

The three main functions of the new development plan
which received formal approval in April, 1972, were the
conservation of natural resources, park and nature inter-
pretation, and the provision of day use recreation.
Realization of these objectives would entail radical
changes in park land use. Involved were the eventual
elimination of overnight family camping in the park, a
greater emphasis on the development of day use facili-
ties, and a gradual reduction, by phases, of motor vehicle
use in the park. The new concept in the park’s adminis-
tration was forecast in February. 1971, by the Park
Superintendent in a press release which received a wide
circulation.

Implementation of the new development plan actually
began in 1971. In May of that year, a very substantial
increase in the fees for an annual park motor licence, and
for one-day admission to the park was instituted.'
Motor traffic on the park highway southerly from the
Nature Centre to the southerly loop was prohibited for
the period May | to September 30, and an alternative
form of transportation was provided free to visitors. This
took the form of trackless tractor trains operated on a
schedule during the summer visitor season. Plans call for
further curtailment in the use of private vehicles, exten-
sions in the routes covered by the tractor train transpor-
tation, and eventual relocation of vehicle parking to a
site outside the park’s north boundary.



Sites available for family camping in the park were
reduced in 1971 from 152 to 55, and the campground
was closed to use at the end of the visitor season.
Provision for the accommodation of youth and other
groups desiring limited camping facilities has been
continued.

A change in the operation of refreshment concessions
was made in 1971, when mobile food canteens were
licensed. Their operation was facilitated by the construc-
tion, at various day-use recreational areas, of concrete
pads from which the canteens are permitted to conduct
business. The operation of a permanent refreshment
stand at the East Point Beach was discontinued at the
close of the 1971 season, when the term of operator’s
licence of occupation expired.

Opportunities for healthful outdoor recreation were
enhanced by the granting of a concession for the rental of
bicycles and of row-boats for use in the park marsh.

Expansion of the park interpretation program is
expected, and nature trails will be utilized to provide
pedestrian access to areas of interpretative interest. The
observation of the unique marine life in the park
marshes has been facilitated by the construction of a
floating extension to the previously existing marsh
boardwalk. Public amenities at the main park beaches
are being improved, and a new bathhouse or change-
house was opened at Black Willow Beach on the west
side of the park in 1972.

Duck-hunting Permitted

A long-standing anomaly in the administration of the
park remained unsettled in 1976. The legislation which
established the park in 1918 also made provision for
duck-hunting during a season to be fixed by the Gover-
nor in Council. Despite recommendations from park
administrators and protests from numerous organi-
zations devoted to the conservation of wildlife, this
controversial activity within the park has not been
abolished. The duck-hunting sportsmen of southwestern
Ontario, represented largely by the Green Head Duck
Club have, over the years, maintained a forceful lobby
against curtailment of their hunting privileges. Although
legal officers of the Crown have offered the opinion that
duck-hunting within the park can be terminated by an
order of the Governor in Council, successive ministers of
the Department have not yet decided to initiate such
action.
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Georgian Bay Islands National Park

Since the early days of the Twentieth Century, the
Georgian Bay region of Ontario has formed an outstand-
ing holiday resort. Its cool blue waters, jutting capes, and
an unbelievable variety of picturesque islands, have
combined to attract increasing numbers of cottagers,
campers, boating enthusiasts, sport fishermen and artists.
Along its northeastern and northern shores, Nature was
lavish in the provision of islands, which form an archi-
pelago believed to contain at least 30,000 units. Like
raany other parts of Canada, the waterfront areas of the
Georgian Bay including the islands, have passed largely
to private ownership. Through commendable foresight,
however, a small segment of this vacation wonderland
was preserved for public use as a national park. In
December, 1929, title to Beausoleil Island, containing
2,712 acres, and 29 other islands opposite the Townships
of Freeman, Baxter and Gibson was acquired by the
Department of the Interior for the establishment of
Georgian Bay Islands National Park. The following year,
Flowerpot Island, situated in the mouth of Georgian Bay
off the head of Bruce Peninsula, was added to the new
park.

Indian Occupation

The park lies within the region of Ontario known as
Huronia, once the home of the Huron Indian nation,
which was practically obliterated by the ruthless attacks
of invading Iroquois. Years later, the former Huron
territory including the islands in Georgian Bay, was
occupied by the Ojibwa or Chippewa Indians. Eventu-
ally, the march of settlement, and an influx of white
settlers, resulted in the withdrawal of the native popula-
tion, as the Indian lands were successively surrendered
under treaty. The islands forming the park were among
those surrendered by the Chippewa chiefs in January,
1856, to be held in the trust by the Department of Indian
Affairs.

Explorers and Missionaries

Etienne Brulé, a youthful protégé of Samuel de Cham-
plain, was the first European to reach Georgian Bay. In
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1610, at Champlain’s request, Brulé accompanied an
Algonquin chief and a party of Indians from the St
Lawrence River to Huron territory where he spent the
following winter and learned the Huron language.' In
1615, Champlain, accompanied by Brulé, retraced the
latter’s route of 1610 up the Ottawa, Mattawa, and
French Rivers to Georgian Bay. Here in Huronia, Cham-
plain carried out extensive exploration, and was per-
suaded to join the Hurons in an invasion of Iroquois
country south of Lake Ontario, which ended in disas-
trous retreat. Champlain spent the winter of 1615-16 in

the Indian village of Cahiague near the present site of

Orillia, and visited a number of Indian villages including
those of the Tobacco or Petun Nation to the west.>
Missionary work among the Indians of Huronia began
in 1615. Following his arrival at Quebec with Cham-
plain that year, Father Joseph Le Caron of the Récollet
Order preceded Champlain up the Ottawa River route,

and celebrated his first mass at the Indian village of

Carhagouha in August.* Father Le Caron left for France
the following year, but returned in 1623 accompanied by

two associates. The Récollets, however, found the field of

endeavour beyond the competence of the order, and the
Jesuits were invited to assist. Father Jean Brebeuf, a
Jesuit, entered the Huron country in 1626. His work was
interrupted by the fall of Quebec to the English under
Kirke in 1629. Following the restoration of Quebec to
France in 1632, Brebeuf returned to Huronia in 1634,
and with the assistance of other priests built several
mission stations including Ossossané, St. Joseph and St.
Ignace.* Brebeuf was succeeded in 1638 by Father
Jerome Lalemant as Superior of the Huron mission, and
in 1639, Sainte-Marie on the Wye River was established
as the central residence of the mission.

Iroquois Invasions

Meanwhile, conflict between the Hurons and the Iroqu-
ois had intensified. The Iroquois trade with the Dutch
had been impaired by the decline of fur-bearing animals
in their territory. The Hurons controlled superior fur-
trading routes, and became middlemen, gathering furs
from distant points and transporting them to French
settlements on the St. Lawrence. Raids by the Iroquois
into Huron territory and the ambush of fur-laden flotil-
las on the Ottawa and St. Lawrence, were followed in the
late 1630’s by an all-out war of extermination. In July,
1648, the Iroquois swept into St. Joseph II, the most
southerly of the Jesuit missions. Father Daniel was
murdered, the village destroyed, and several hundred
prisoners were taken away for torture. In March, 1649,
St. Ignace on the Sturgeon River and St. Louis to the west
were overwhelmed. Father Brebeuf and his assistant,
Gabriel Lalemant, were tortured to death at St. Ignace.
In the face of the Iroquois attack, the Hurons fled the
vicinity, many of them to St. Joseph Island. In June,
Father Paul Ragueneau evacuated Ste. Marie, after
setting it on fire. At the urgent request of the Hurons, he
led the remaining clergy to St. Joseph, now known as
Christian Island, where a new and well fortified Ste.
Marie II was constructed. The winter following was one
of disease and starvation and by Spring half the natives
had died. On June 10, 1650, the survivors of the Huron
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mission, consisting of about 60 Frenchmen and 300
Indians, left for Quebec, carrying with them the bones of
the martyred Brebeuf and Lalemant.®

Archaeological Research

A period of nearly 150 years ensued before a positive
interest in locating the sites of the early missionary
endeavours was evident. The Society of Jesus (Jesuits)
gradually stimulated interest in archaeological investi-
gation, involving officers of the federal and Ontario
governments and the University of Western Ontario.
The sites of Ste. Marie I, St. Louis and St. Ignace II were
definitely established. A restoration of Ste. Marie I on the
Wye River east of Midland. Ontario, has been completed
by the Government of Ontario, under the direction of an
outstanding Canadian archaeologist, Dr. Wilfrid Jury of
the University of Western Ontario. The Martyrs’ Shrine,
a large stone church built in 1926 overlooking the site of
Ste. Marie I, commemorates the brave souls who. more
than 300 years earlier, gave their lives for the Christian
faith.

Beausolelil, the largest island in the national park, was
believed by local historians to have formed a temporary
refuge for Hurons fleeing from the Iroquois attacks of
1648 and 1649. The remains of stone construction.
located west of the Y.M.C.A. camp near the centre of the
Island and known as “The Chimneys”’, attracted atten-
tion in the early 1920°s. The ruins appeared to be the
foundations of fireplaces and chimneys equally spaced
and built of flat stones without mortar. A.C. Osborne of
Penetanguishene, Ontario, referred to them in 1921 as
follows:

“At one time there were three well-defined stone
foundations with partially demolished chimneys situ-
ated in line on a natural terrace about three feet in
height. An instrument for moulding wafers for com-
munion service was found there which I think was
taken to England, also a double cross which was
presented to the late Father Labourou.”®

However, much of the stone later disappeared, having
been removed by campers on the island for the construc-
tion of fireplaces and other purposes. The remains of
excavations nearby which are known locally as the
“treasure pits’’, reflect the activities of treasure hunters,
but no records remain of any valuable discoveries.

Beausoleil Island Settled

A more acceptable explanation of the existence of the
“‘chimneys’’ is that they were the remains of a much later
occupation by the Chippewa Indians of Lakes Huron
and Simcoe. These nomadic Indians, who had sporadi-
cally occupied various lands along Georgian Bay. were
settled in 1830 by Sir John Colborne on an area of 9.800
acres between Coldwater and Lake Simcoe. This tract
was surrendered in 1836 by treaty, and two of the three
bands were resettled in 1838 in the Township of Rama,
and on Snake Island in Lake Simcoe. The third band
from the Coldwater area under Chief John Aissance.
eventually moved to Beausoleil Island.” In 1841. the
Indian office at Toronto arranged for the construction of



six houses and two barns on the island for the use of the
band.® The report of a commission appointed in 1856 to
investigate Indian affairs in Canada, disclosed that the
band, then consisting of 232 Chippewas had moved to
the island in 1842. In 1857, the settlement contained 20
houses and a school house. The soil on Beausoleil Island
was found to be unproductive, and by 1849, the Indians
were contemplating a move to the Christian Islands to
the west. However it was not until 1856, when Beausoleil
and other islands in Georgian Bay were surrendered by
treaty, that the move was possible. Meanwhile, the
Beausoleil band had established a reputation for indus-
try. The report of the 1856 Commission disclosed that in
1857 the harvest had included 1,200 bushels of corn and
1,000 bushels of potatoes, in addition to 5,000 pounds of
maple sugar and 150 barrels of cured fish.® Much of the
produce, however, had been grown on islands other than
Beausoleil, including those comprising the Christian
group.

By 1857, the Beausoleil settlement was in decline. As
the Commissioners reported, “The village is gradually
falling into decay and the band having surrendered this
island, contemplate removing to the Christian Islands
which have been reserved for their permanent occupa-
tion, and which are estimated to contain 10,000 acres’’.'?
The final move was probably made about 1858. A few
Chippewas probably remained on Beausoleil Island as
squatters, for in 1929, when the park was established,
three Indian families were in residence. They were
resettled on the mainland by the Department of Indian
Affairs. Evidence of this early settlement remains in the
form of a well preserved Indian cemetery west of park
headquarters, and the site of another burial ground and a
church near the ““chimneys”’.

Indian Legends

Indian legends concerning the islands forming the park
have been passed down through generations. One of the
most interesting concerned Kitchi-Kiwana, a Great
Wendigo or Rockman who lies buried on Giant’s Tomb
Island. According to the legend, Kitchi-Kiwana was a
giant two miles in height, the last of a race of giants to
survive internal wars in the region of Hudson Bay.
Alone, Kitchi-Kiwana stepped overland to Lake Huron
where, for amusement, he tossed boulders around. These
are still visible along the north shore of Georgian Bay.
One day while walking with a mountain in his arms, he
slipped and fell. The mountain shattered into pieces
which are now visible as the 30,000 islands of Georgian
Bay. Kitchi-Kiwana slept each night on Beausoleil Island
and even today, the marks of his shoulders are visible.
Eventually, Kitchi-Kiwana became ill and could not
reach his favourite island. He lay down on the most
accessible one and died. The Indians of the region were
unable to move him so they covered his remains with
rocks and sand. Thus the island became the Giant’s
Tomb. The high flat rock on the island is said to cover his
head and the flickering of the northern lights on the
horizon presage a visit of his spirit to the island, for the
great Manitou is lighting the fires to guide the spirit on
its way.!!

National Park Advocated

The establishment of a park in Georgian Bay stemmed
from a recommendation received in 1920 by the Com-
missioner of National Parks, J.B. Harkin, from Dr. C.B.
Orr, Director of the Provincial Museum of Toronto. Dr.
Orr, who had been engaged in archaeological work at
Penetanguishene Bay, called attention to the attractions
of Beausoleil Island, the largest island remaining unsold
by the trustees of the former Indian lands, which he
believed warranted reservation as a park.'? Consultation
with the Department of Indian Affairs revealed that
although about 150 acres of the island had been leased
for the purposes of a summer camp, its acquisition for
national park purposes was possible. Support for the
creation of a park was given by Senator W.H. Bennett of
Midland. In a letter to the Minister of the Interior, the
Honourable Charles Stewart, Senator Bennett expressed
great interest in the proposal which he believed would
result not only in recreational benefits to the community,
but also would stimulate the tourist industry of the
region.

An examination of Beausoleil Island was undertaken
in August, 1921, for the National Parks Branch by
Brigadier-General E.A. Cruikshank, then chairman of
the Historic Sites and Monuments Board of Canada.
General Cruickshank’s report confirmed the suitability
of the island for the purposes of a national park. The
possiblity of expanding the proposed park by the inclu-
sion of additional islands was then explored. On request,
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs furnished
the Commissioner of Parks with a list of islands and
portions of islands located south of Moose Deer Point
which remained unsold. A review of the list, which
incorporated descriptions of each unit and their esti-
mated value, disclosed that of 75 islands available, about
28 met national park requirements. By January, 1923,
Commissioner Harkin was in a position to recommend
the purchase of Beausoleil Island at a cost of $25,000,
and the reservation of the smaller islands for further
examination.

In a submission to the Minister, the Commissioner
recalled a somewhat parallel situation which had existed
about twenty years earlier, when the timely acquisition
of a group of large islands in the Thousand Islands
section of the St. Lawrence River had made possible the
establishment of a national park. The wisdom of that
step, Mr. Harkin asserted, was confirmed in the
knowledge that all the large islands and every foot of the
St. Lawrence River mainland were now privately owned.

Island Park Established

The proposed purchase of Beausoleil Island received
Departmental approval on January 10, 1923, and the
necessary reservations were confirmed with the Indian
Affairs Department. By October, 1924, a favourable
decision had been reached by national parks officers on
the 28 additional islands desired for inclusion in the
proposed park, and approval for their purchase was
obtained from the Minister. The transfer of title, how-
ever, was to be deferred for several years. Although the
funds required to complete the transaction were included
annually in National Parks estimates, they were system-
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atically deleted. Finally, in August, 1928, the Depart-

ment of Indian Affairs informed the Commissioner of

Parks that several applications for the purchase of land
on Beausoleil Island had been received, and it would be
necessary to exercise the existing option or the lands
would be disposed of for the benefit of the Indians. This
advice had the desired result and during the 1929 session
of Parliament, the required appropriation was voted.
The purchase of the Beausoleil and 28 additional islands
and their transfer to the Department of the the Interior
for parks purposes were authorized by order in council
on December 3, 1929.'3 Later, on December 28, 1929, a
proclamation in the Canada Gazette established the
islands as the **Georgian Bay Islands National Park ™.

Park Development

Beausoleil, the largest and most attractive island in the
park. was selected as the site for the local administrative
headquarters. Known to the early Hurons as **Schionde-
kiaria”, it was later named Prince William Henry on a
British Admiralty chart. The current name, **Beausoleil
was derived from an early resident of that name who
arrived at Beausoleil Point, the island’s southern extrem-
ity, from Drummond Island in 1819."* Initial develop-
ment was commenced in 1931 following the appoint-
ment of a park warden, George Lynn. Limited
appropriations made available permitted the construc-
tion of a warden’s residence, the clearing of several
campsites along the shore of Beausoleil Island, and the
construction of docks and wharves to facilitate boat
landings. Between 1932 and 1934 the system of small
campsites, equipped with outdoor stoves, benches and
tables was extended, sanitary features provided, and the
development of a system of walking trails undertaken. In
1934, a change-house for bathers was erected at the
beach in front of park headquarters. It was replaced in
1951. Until 1940, general supervision of the island was
extended by officers of the National Parks Branch at
Ottawa who made periodical inspections and provided
direction to the park warden. In 1941, Mr. Lynn re-
signed and J.C. Browne of Ottawa was appointed officer
in charge of the park. Later he was confirmed as Park
Superintendent.

In 1951, J.C. Browne was appointed superintendent of

all three national parks in Ontario, and during the
summer season he resided on Beausoleil Island. On his

retirement in 1957, the duties of superintendent of

Georgian Bay Island Park were assumed by the Superin-
tendent of Point Pelee Park who made regular inspec-
tions from there. From 1957 until 1968, the local
administration of Beausoleil and other islands was
supervised by a chief park warden. In 1968, J.A. Hodges
became the first resident superintendent having exclu-
sive supervision of Georgian Bay Islands National Park.
He was succeeded in 1970 by E.B. Wilson. In November,
1972, Mr. Wilson was transferred to Jasper Park and
D.G. Harris became park superintendent.

Post-war Activity

For the duration of World War 2, little development was
possible, but in 1950 increased appropriations permitted
the extension of visitor amenities. During that year, 13
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new campsites were brought into use, five permanent
campsite shelters were erected, a new wharf was built at
Toby’s beach near park headquarters, and additional
docks installed at new campsites. Regular patrols of the
islands were facilitated by the purchase in 1950 of a new
boat designed for rough water. ‘

A notable improvement made during the winter of
1950-51 was the reconstruction of the main dock at Park
Headquarters by the Department of Public Works. This
was accomplished by driving steel sheet piling, 31 feet
long. around the existing wharves, and removing the
superstructure of the original installations. The entire
area enclosed by piling was then filled with gravel and
decked with planking, providing a dock area 200 feet
long and 75 feet wide. In 1952 and 1953, a new gravel-
filled approach to the dock was constructed by park
forces, and suitably landscaped. The north side of the
approach later was contained by a masonry wall. In
1953, the Hydro-electric Power Commission of Ontario
extended its power line from the mainland to Beausoleil
Island permitting the use of electricity in park work-
shops, headquarters’ buildings and in camp develop-
ments sponsored by private enterprise.

Park administrative quarters were contained in the
warden station on Beausoleil Island until 1954, when an
administration building was constructed near the head-
quarters dock. In 1955, the original warden’s cabin was
replaced by a modern dwelling and in 1959 a second
residence for occupation by the park caretaker was built.
Local administration was facilitated by the construction
of a carpenter shop, store house and a combined bunk-
house and cookhouse in the headquarters area.

Campground Extension

Up to 1957, campers were accommodated in relatively
small areas containing space for from five to 15 tents. A
steadily increasing volume of visitors, particularly at
Toby’s Beach emphasized the need for improved camp-
ing accommodation. A start was made in 1957 on the
development of a semi-serviced campground at this
location by the erection of a modern kitchen shelter. The
following year a combination laundry and toilet building
was added and in 1959, four additional kitchen shelters
and a second toilet building were erected. The construc-
tion of additional docks. the clearing of additional tent
pads, and the development of an outdoor amphitheatre,
broadened the attractions of the new campground, now
known as Cedar Spring, which accommodates 125 tents.
By 1970, 20 outlying campgrounds, nearly all equipped
with kitchen shelters, docks and other facilities, were
located at strategic points on the island. Of these sites,
one at Christian beach on the western shore, and one at
Beausoleil Point at the southern tip of the island, were
designated for group camping. Visitors requiring day-
use accommodation were directed to a large picnic area
near the Cedar Spring campground and to other picnic-
grounds on the island.

Youth Camp Development

Following its inclusion in the national park, Beausoleil
Island became a favoured site for youth camps sponsored
by organizations such as boy scouts, YMCAs and



churches. When title to the island was obtained in 1929,
one of the best sites, situated immediately north of Tonch
Point on the eastern shore. was under lease to the
Midland, Ontario, YMCA for summer camp purposes.
The lease expired June I, 1929 but contained provision
for renewal. Existing park policy then permitted occupa-
tion of park lands under permit for groups engaged in

youth training activities, and continued occupation of

the site was authorized. The Midland *Y”” camp known
as “*Kitchi-Kiwana”’, consisted of a central building used
for administration and dining hall purposes and a
number of tents in which campers were accommodated.
With assistance from private benefactors, the camp
buildings were greatly improved and extended. The most
notable improvements were the replacement of the main
building in 1948 by a large well-equipped structure, and
the gradual phasing out of tent accommodation which
was replaced by permanent cabins.

A second camp, accommodating senior members of

the Cincinnati, Ohio, YMCA began operations in 1932
at Simmonds Beach near the site of the former Indian
village. Accommodation was provided by tents and a
large marquee until 1937, when the sponsors constructed
a central building which served as an auditorium, dining
hall and kitchen. By 1960, interest in the camp had
waned. and a surrender of the site was accepted. The
camp building was razed and the area formerly utilized
was converted to a group camping site.

Several other organizations obtained permission to
develop youth camps on Beausoleil Island. In 1938, the
Lions Club of Toronto was granted a campsite on the
west side of the island at Turtle Bay and erected a main
building that year. Later, the camp was expanded by the
erection of cabins, staff quarters and accessory buildings.
In 1962 the camp administration was taken over by the
Toronto Metropolitian YMCA. The Kitchener-Waterloo
YMCA undertook development of a camp on Frying
Pan Bay at the north end of the island in 1940, and the
Navy League of Canada erected a well planned camp to
accommodate sea scouts in 1942. After eight camping
seasons, the sea scout operations were transferred to
another site in the Georgian Bay region, and the licence
of occupation covering the campsite was assigned in
1952 to the London YMCA and YWCA.

Camp Manitomono, developed by Calvary Baptist
Church of Toronto, came into use in 1940. Its site at the

northwest extremity of the island, covered much of

Cogawa Point east of Pirates Cove. In the 1930°s. several
boy scout troops were granted permits for tent camps at
suitable sites but after one or two seasons the scouts
transferred their activities to sites outside the park. In the
early days of their development, these youth camps
received considerable assistance from the park adminis-
tration. Most of the docks and wharfs located on the
waterfront of the campsites were installed by the park
superintendent and maintained by him for some years
thereafter. Later. the camp sponsors were requested to
assume the obligations of maintaining all facilities on
their leaseholds.

It is unlikely that additional campsites for exclusive
use by groups or organizations will be sanctioned. The
future of group camping in national parks was affected

profoundly by the adoption of a national park policy in
1964. The new policy precludes the leasing of land and
the construction of permanent building for group camps
by private organizations. Instead, adopted policy re-
quires group camping areas to be designed, developed
and maintained by the National Parks Administration
and made available to suitable groups. In keeping with
the new policy, all organizations occupying private
campsites on Beausoleil Island were notified in 1967 that
leases presently held would, on expiration, be renewed
for a further term of five years. On expiration of such
leases in 1975, occupation would then be permitted on a
year-to-year basis, consistent with the requirements of
the park administration for suitable sites on which group
camping amenities might be developed.

Representations made to the Department by the orga-
nizations operating youth camps on Beausoleil Island.
coupled with the anticipated inability of the National
Parks Administration to provide by 1975, alternative
facilities to those provided in the existing youth camps,
led to a reappraisal of the program under which the
operation of private camps would be discontinued. In
May, 1972, the various organizations operating youth
camps were notified that following the expiry of existing
leases in 1975, the Department would be prepared to
consider a further extension of 10 years in the lease term.
Such an extension, it was believed, would permit the
operators of camps to plan future activities with a
reasonable measure of certainty and continuity.

Meanwhile, the campsite formerly occupied by the
Kitchener-Waterloo Y.M.C.A. was surrendered volun-
tarily following a fire which, in August 1970, destroyed
the main camp building. Another group, the Calvary-
Baptist Church of Toronto, decided to relocate the site of
its camp operation, and offered to sell its buildings,
which could not be moved economically, to the Depart-
ment. The offer was accepted and the transaction was
completed in January, 1974. Later in April, 1974, the
Department entered into an agreement with the church
trustees whereby the camp buildings might be occupied
during the months of July and August for the next five
years.

Flowerpot Island

The inclusion of Flowerpot Island in a national park was
first advocated in July, 1921, by Harry Tucker, a barris-
ter of Owen Sound, Ontario. Mr. Tucker called attention
to the remarkable features of the island which included a
series of caves and the rock formations from which the
island received its name. These take the form of large
limestone pillars formed by the erosion of the adjacent
cliffs on the southeastern shore. Growths of bushes and
plants on the tops and in crevices of the columns have
accentuated their resemblance to flowerpots.

A possibility that Flowerpot Island might have his-
toric or prehistoric significance was drawn to the atten-
tion of the Historic Sites and Monuments Board of
Canada in 1923. The Board offered no opinion pending
further investigation. In February, 1924 the Department
of Indian Affairs advised the Commissioner of National
Parks that the sale of ths island was under consideration.
At that time, Beausoleil Island was under reservation for
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the purposes of a park, and the Indian Affairs Depart-
ment evidently considered that the “flowerpots” on
Flowerpot Island also were worthy of preservation in a
park. The island was then reserved from sale, but definite
steps to acquire title were withheld until 1929 when the
Commissioner of Parks learned that the flowerpots were
in danger of toppling if erosion from wave action was
not controlled. An inspection of Flowerpot Island under-

taken in August, 1930, by the Deputy Commissioner of

Parks was followed by its acquisition. Authority for the
purchase of the island as an extension to Georgian Bay
Islands Park for $165 was obtained by order in council
on December 6, 1930.'* The transfer of title to the island,
which contains an area of 500 acres, excluded 25 acres
held as a lighthouse site by the Department of Transport.
Little time was lost in preserving the flowerpots from
further disintegration. A park engineer was assigned
early in 1931 to supervise remedial work which would
preserve the eroding stems of the pillars while retaining

o
their ex1st1ng contour and appearance. Cavities were

filled with cement, fissures were grouted, and the bases of

the flowerpots were built up so that water would be
directed from seams in the rock. In 1933. additional
preservation work was carried out when a large crack in
the smaller flowerpot was filled with cement and a
portion of the top covered with a concrete cap. The base
of the taller pillar was reinforced with concrete and
veneered with rock. Additional repairs to the larger
flowerpot were necessary in 1956, when a fissure in the
top was filled and capped with concrete.

The appointment on a non-resident caretaker in 1931
ensured patrols of the island and maintenance of visitor
amenities which included a small campsite equipped
with outdoor stoves. Approach to the island was nor-
mally made on the southeast side where a small harbour
located within a reef provides good anchorage. In 1935,
the channel into this harbour was deepened to permit
easier access in periods of low water, and a landing dock
was built. A small pavilion or shelter was erected near the
dock in 1936 and trails on the island were opened up and
additional improvements made to the entrance channel.

Caves Investigated
The existence of caves on Flowerpot Island which are
located high on the cliffs of the northern and southeast-

ern sides had been known for years. Trails to some of

these caves were opened soon after the park was estab-
lished. Concern for the safety of visitors prompted an
examination of the caves in July, 1938. This was under-

taken by Dr. L.F. Caley of the Geological Survey of

Canada, and disclosed that seven caves on the island
were sufficiently large for entry at elevations of from 32
to 97 feet above the lake level.'® The largest cave
extended inward from the entrance or a distance of 200
feet and was accessible by two openings separated by a
rock pillar. It was determined that the caves were formed
by ground water circulation and are very old. In only one
cave was there any evidence of falling blocks of stone
with fresh surfaces and consequently the caves were
considered to be reasonably safe. Later, two caves in
which fallen rock was observed, were closed to public
entry.
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For many years before the park was established.
Beausoleil Island was located on the passenger steamer
route which followed the “inside’” channel of Georgian
Bay from Midland and Penetang to Parry Sound. The
improvement of the early motor roads, and increased
volume of automobile travel, however, resulted in a
dwindling patronage for steamers, and regular stops at
the headquarters wharf on Beausoleil Island terminated
about 1950. One of the last of the old passenger steamers.
the ““Midland City”, continued to call at Beausoleil
Island on cruise trips until 1958, when its last stop was
made. Cruise boat service supplied by smaller craft.
however, results in regular calls at the park wharf.

The nearest mainland point for mail and supplies is
Honey Harbour and the most direct approach for small
boats from that point to the park headquarters is through
Little Dog or Big Dog Channels which separate Beau-
soleil. Little Beausoleil, and Roberts Islands. Periods of
low water, which recur regularly on the Great Lakes.
make passage through these channels difficult. Represen-
tations by local tourist associations and from the Na-
tional Parks Branch, have resulted in assistance from the
federal Department of Public Works, which periodically
has undertaken dredging and rock removal operations.
These improvements date back to 1913, when Little Dog
Channel was first dredged. The latest channel im-
provement work was undertaken in 1965.

By 1957, an increasing visitor use of Georgian Bay
Islands National Park and Beausoleil Island in particu-
lar. brought to attention, the need for extensions to the
park. As all large islands in the vicinity had long since
passed to private ownership, the only source of addi-
tional land lay in the real estate market. In 1957, an offer
to sell Quarry Island was received from the owner. This
island located a few miles southeast of Beausoleil Island
and containing about 145 acres, possessed features
worthy of its consideration as a park unit. The value
placed on it by the owner, however, was considered
excessive, and its purchase was declined. A number of
small islands in the immediate vicinity of Beausoleil.
some of them barely more than rocks, were acquired
between 1958 and 1970. Their principal value. however.
was mainly aesthetic. and lay in their preservation in a
primitive state.

A reconnaissance of large islands in the general area of
the park undertaken in 1966 revealed the potential for
park use of Giant’s Tomb Island, located a few miles
west of Beausoleil Island. An examination of the island.
containing about 1,400 acres, confirmed its suitability
for the development of a recreational program including
bathing, boating, hiking and camping. Negotiations
were entered into with the owners of the largest undevel-
oped portion of the island. consisting of about 1.250
acres, and a firm price for an unencumbered title was
obtained. However, because of budgetary considerations.
statutory authority for its purchase is still under
consideration.

During the period of more than 40 years since its
establishment, Georgian Bay Islands Park has brought
recreation and pleasure to many Canadians. It has also
served to perpetuate as a public possession, outstanding
units of a scenic archipelago - one of the largest in North



America. Development of the park for recreational use.
however. has almost reached the point where further
encroachment on the primitive landscape will impair its
natural beauty and its ecology. Further expansion there-
fore. appears possible only by the acquisition of addi-
tional lands either in the form of islands or as a mainland
area. It is to be hoped that ways and means can be found
to accomplish this most desirable end.
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Cape Breton Highlands National Park
The creation of Cape Breton Highlands National Park in
1936 reserved for the use of Canadians in perpetuity an
exceptionally scenic region. The Island of Cape Breton
presents attractions that are unique in North America.
Although separated from the mainland of Nova Scotia
by the deep and narrow strait of Canso. it is easily
accessible from the mainland by causeway. The coastline,
rugged and picturesque, is broken by bays and inlets
which offer shelter for small sea-going craft. Rising
abruptly from the water are rugged hills and mountains
which sweep back, particularly in the north and west, to
form a broad plateau. From the ocean may be seen
panoramas of hillside, cliff. bay and valley; from the
land, equally beautiful vistas of sandy cove, rocky cape
and jagged tide-worn rocks, against the blue background
of the Atlantic Ocean or the Gulf of St. Lawrence.

The National Park stretches across the northern part

of Cape Breton Island from the Atlantic to the Gulf and
contains an area of 367 square miles. Along its western
shore, steep hills rise almost precipitately from the Gulf
to a height of 1,400 feet. The upper slopes are forested
and to their rugged sides clings the Cabot Trail. a
modern motor highway that encircles much of the park.
The eastern shores are also rocky, but with numerous
coves at the mouths of valleys that recede to the highland
plateau forming the interior of the park. In the soft roll of
hill and vale, the scenery is reminiscent of the highlands
of Scotland. In the vicinity of the park, but outside its
boundaries, are numerous little villages inhabited
mainly by fishermen of highland Scottish, Irish and
Acadian ancestry. For generations, these people have
made a livelihood from fishing, supplemented by small
agricultural operations carried on in the vicinity. These
small settlements, some of which contain visitor accom-
modation, lend an unusual interest to the park.

National Park Promoted

The establishment of Cape Breton Highlands National
Park rewarded the efforts of prominent citizens of Nova
Scotia who, over a period of 22 years, had advocated the
reservation of a suitable area in the province for park
purposes. The earliest representations, made in 1914,
suggested the use of an area in the vicinity of the Bras
d’Or Lakes. Later it was proposed that Fort Beausejour
near Amherst be made a national park. This objective
was realized in 1926," but the size and characteristics of
this historic area in no way met the criteria of a
representative national reservation. The first proposal
that a national park be established on Cape Breton
I[sland was made in 1928.7 It was followed in 1930 by
strong recommendations that Cape Blomidon, a promi-
nent feature overlooking Minas Basin at the head of the
Bay of Fundy, be considered as a future national park. By
1932, however, economic conditions had forced the
Government of Canada to suspend temporarily, action
on proposals to establish new national parks in any of the
provinces.

By January, 1934, a new movement directed to the
creation of a national park in Nova Scotia had been
generated by the Yarmouth Fish and Game Protective
Association. This group, headed by Seymour Baker.
received support from other conservation-minded orga-
nizations. Mr. Baker induced the Minister of the Interior
to sponsor a series of talks on the advantages of national
parks, which were given in several cities and large towns
in Nova Scotia by an officer of the National Parks
Service, J.C. Campbell. Additional support for the park
cause was provided in April, 1934, when F.W. Baldwin.
Member for Victoria, advocated in the Provincial Legis-
lature, the extension of Canada’s park system to Nova
Scotia.* The following month, Premier Angus Macdon-
ald requested the Hon. T.G. Murphy, Minister of the
Interior at Ottawa, to have an inspection made of areas
in the Province which might meet the requirements of a
national park. After an exchange of letters in which the
formalities leading to the creation of a park were
explained by Mr. Murphy, Premier Macdonald on Au-
gust 17, 1934, made a formal request for the examina-
tion of three sites in Nova Scotia, one at Cape Blomidon,
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one in Yarmouth County, and a third in northern Cape
Breton Island.* The inspection was undertaken by R-W.
Cautley, D.L.S. of Ottawa. He was accompanied by the
Inspecting Engineer of the Nova Scotia Highways De-
partment, H.F. Laurence. The inspection team carefully
examined possibilities of all three areas, and Mr. Caut-
ley’s report strongly advocated the selection of a site in
northern Cape Breton.?

In February, 1935, Premier Macdonald confirmed
that the Government of Nova Scotia was prepared to
grant to Canada for a park purposes, a clear title to lands
which would be mutually satisfactory to both govern-
ments.® The province in May of that year, enacted
legislation authorizing the acquisition of lands not
exceeding 400 square miles in area.” By March, 1936,
agreement had been reached between Premier Macdon-
ald, and the Hon. T.A. Crerar, now Minister of the
Interior, that the choice of the Cape Breton site was
mutually satisfactory. The Premier also agreed to the
preparation of an agreement that would set out in detail
the responsibilities of the two governments concerned in
the establishment and operation of the proposed park.
This agreement later was completed and signed.

Cape Breton Park Established

The transfer of title from Nova Scotia to Canada cover-
ing the lands agreed upon was made by deed of June 15,
1936. and the park was established by proclamation
under authority of the Nova Scotia and Prince Edward
Island National Parks Act.® This legislation had received
assent in Ottawa on June 23, 1936. The new park was
named **Cape Breton Highlands National Park™ with
the concurrence of Premier Macdonald. Not only was
Cape Breton Highlands the first national park to be
formed of land not previously owned or controlled by the
Government of Canada, but it also was the first having
an area of more than a few square miles to be established
east of Manitoba.

The lands selected for park purposes were described in
the enacting Federal Government legislation as compris-
ing two parcels. The larger parcel containing 458 square
miles, exceeded the area imposed by provincial legisla-
tion. It included the northern portion of Inverness county

extending northerly from an irregular line south of

Cheticamp River to Cape St. Lawrence. The parcel also
incorporated a substantial area in Victoria County
between the Cabot Trail on the north, and a line drawn
westerly from North Ingonish on the South. The second
parcel constituted a corridor 400 feet in width enclosing
10 miles of the Cabot Trail between its junction with the
road to White Point and the westerly crossing of the
North Aspy River. The area of this parcel was 492 acres.

Adjustment of Boundaries

The western portion of the park in the vicinity of

Pleasant Bay contained a substantial settlement of small
free-hold properties. In planning future development,

park administrators began to question the wisdom of

retaining in the park an area which might assume the
proportions of a townsite on which excessive expendi-
tures might have to be made. In turn, the province was
learning with dismay. the prospect of having to settle
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what it considered to be exorbitant claims for private
lands included in the highway corridor. Examinations of
the area west of Ingonish Bay by the acting park
superintendent, James Smart, and the Controller of the
National Parks Bureau, F.H.H. Williamson, led to a
proposal that the Middlehead Peninsula, together with
the watershed of Clyburn Brook, be acquired for inclu-
sion in the park. Later. agreement was reached with the
provincial government after discussion and correspon-
dence, that a revision of the park boundaries was
desirable. This action involved the withdrawal from the
park of nearly 74 square miles of land in Inverness
County north of the Cabot Trail, and six other parcels,
including the corridor enclosing 10 miles of the Cabot
Trail. These reductions would be compensated for by the
inclusion in the park of an area of 34 square miles west of
Ingonish Bay, including Middlehead, and lands near
Neil Harbour and along the south boundary of the park.
Surveys of the various parcels of land to be withdrawn
from, or added to the park, were made by John Russell,
D.LS., and legislation giving effect to the withdrawals
was authorized by the National Parks Amendment Act,
1937.° The Province of Nova Scotia then expropriated
and transferred to Canada, the lands obtained in the
exchange. These additions were incorporated in the park
by proclamation as provided for in the 1936 legislation.
On completion of the boundary revisions, the area of the
park was 390 square miles.

Further adjustments in the park boundaries were
made some years later. In 1956, an area in the southwest-
ern section of the park south of Cheticamp River was
withdrawn at the request of the province to facilitate
mineral development.'’ Again, in 1958, land in the
vicinity of Cheticamp Lake was withdrawn from the
park to facilitate hydro-electric development sponsored
by the Province of Nova Scotia.!' These reductions left
the park with an area of 367 square miles.

Early History

The early history of Cape Breton Island is clouded and
inconclusive. Historical references to voyages by Norse-
men along its shores in the 10th century have long
existed. John Cabot, who discovered the mainland of
North America in June, 1497, is believed by some
historians to have made his landfall off the northeast
coast of Cape Breton. His memory is perpetuated by the
Cabot Trial, a spectacular highway that girdles the
northern part of the island. The shores of Cape Breton
were glimpsed by Verrazano in 1524, and by Jacques
Cartier on the homeward leg of his voyage to North
America in 1535-36. The fisheries of the nearby waters
attracted English, French, Spanish and Portuguese with
resulting early settlements at English Harbour, now
known as Louisbourg; Ste. Ann’s; St. Peter’s; Baie
D’Espagnol, now Sydney; and Niganis or Inganiche,
presently known as Ingonish. An early attempt at settle-
ment in 1629 by Lord Ochiltree of Scotland at Baleine on
the eastern coast of Cape Breton was terminated the
same year by a French naval squadron under Captain
Daniel.'> A French settlement existed at Inganiche in
1729.13 The site of an early burying-ground was discov-



ered there in 1938, during the construction of the
national park golf course.

Following the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713, when Cape
Breton was ceded by the English to France, the walled
city and fortress of Loumbourgj was constructed. Around
this stronghold revolved a long struggle for supremacy in
North America. Its final capture by the English in 1758
was followed by the capture of Quebec in 1759 and the
end of French rule in Canada. Settlement of parts of the
Island by Acadians from Nova Scotia, notably at Cheti-
camp, about 1775, was followed by extensive Scottish
immigration from 1791 to 1828. Descendants of these
early pioneers still constitute a large proportion of the
island’s present population.

Park Development

The task of converting a sparsely-settled and primitive
area to a condition which would encourage visitors was
commenced in July, 1936. James Smart, who had been
largely responsible for the development of Riding
Mountain National Park in Manitoba, was appointed
Acting Superintendent in June. He established a tempo-
rary administrative quarters at North Ingonish and
engaged the nucleus of an administrative staff. A park
warden service for the protection of forests and game
was organized, and radio telephone communication
installed at park headquarters and in the warden sta-
tions. Much of the early appropriations made available
were devoted to the improvement of the Cabot Trail, the
erection of administrative and maintenance buildings,
and to provision of amenities which would facilitate
visitor use of the new park.

In 1938, when the original boundaries of the park had
been altered to include the Ingonish area, plans were
made for a permanent park headquarters near Ingonish
Beach. The park addition included not only the penin-
sula of Middlehead, which extended into Ingonish Bay
for nearly a mile. It also embraced an area to the west, a
small portion of which about 200 years earlier had
formed part of the French settlement of Inganiche.
Middlehead, prior to its acquisition by the Government
of Nova Scotia for national park purposes, had been
owned by the widow of H.C. Corson, a wealthy industri-
alist of Akron, Ohio. The Corsons had occupied property
there since the end of the 19th century, and had devel-
oped their summer estate to include a livestock opera-
tion. In addition to a 17-room dwelling, the property also
provided sites for a farmhouse, two barns, a carriage
house, a six-room boathouse, and several minor struc-
tures. Their holdings included an ocean frontage con-
taining one of the finest beaches in the vicinity and most
of what is known as Freshwater Lake.

The site chosen for the Park Administration Building
and a superintendent’s residence overlooked the fresh-
water lake, which was cut off from the Atlantic by a wide
bar or “*barrachois,”” built of boulders by the action of
the sea. These buildings were completed in 1939. An
information and registration building was erected a few
yards to the south on the Cabot Trail. Faced with stone
masonry, and topped by a thatched roof, it imparted a
highland Scottish character to the eastern park entrance.
Visitor amenities were not overlooked. A change-house

for bathers was erected on a site overlooking Ingonish
Beach., which stretches southerly for several hundred
yards from Middlehead. Development of a sand beach
on Freshwater Lake provided visitors with the unusual
opportunity of both salt-water and fresh-water bathing,
within a distance of 200 yards. Adjacent to the beach, a
large open area was converted to an athletic field com-
plete with an oval track. Near the sports field, tennis
courts were built and surrounded by a suitable fence. A
parking area and a picnic ground rounded out the early
development program in the vicinity.

The Cabot Trail

The Cabot Trail, named after John and Sebastian Cabot.
was originally constructed by the Province of Nova
Scotia. Commencing and ending at Baddeck on Bras
D’Or Lake, it encircled the northern part of Cape Breton
Island providing access to Pleasant Bay, Neil Harbour
and the Ingonish settlements. Inspections of the route by
park officers in 1934 had revealed that the road, com-
pleted in 1932, was below the standard of national park
highways. Excessive grades, which reached 17 per cent in
crossing French Mountain, gave timid motorists a bad
time. A program of reconstruction was undertaken in
1936 and carried on for the next four years. The work
entailed major revisions in the route at Cap Rouge.
French Mountain and McKenzie Mountain on the west-
ern side of the park. The elimination of the tortuous
climb over French Mountain in favour of a new route up
the valley of Jumping Brook was a major achievement.
The grade down McKenzie Mountain to Pleasant Bay
also was modified, and a lookout established near the
summit. Improvements to a two-mile stretch of road
north of the park boundary at Ingonish Beach improved
the entrance to the park. Revisions of the park boundary
in 1938 left sections of the highway at Pleasant Bay and
near the settlement of Cape North outside the park, and
their maintenance and improvement was undertaken by
the Provincial Department of Highways.

Unfortunately, World War 2 commenced shortly after
development of the new park got under way, and after
1941, appropriations for new work were quite limited
for several years. Funds, however. were provided to
complete some important undertakings. Second only to
the improvement of the Cabot Trail was the completion
of the park golf course. It was designed and built under
contract by Stanley Thompson, a leading Canadian
landscape architect. Although Thompson started and
ended the layout on Middlehead, a number of holes were
constructed west of the highway up the picturesque
valley of Clyburn Brook. Of Celtic origin, Thompson
emphasized the highland character of the park by giving
Scottish names to many of the 18 holes. As a temporary
measure, a barn from the former Corson estate was
relocated and renovated as a golf clubhouse. Incorporat-
ing dressing-rooms, a small lounge, and a pro-shop, it
functioned for more than 30 years. Although the course
was completed and opened for play in 1940, its formal
opening was deferred until July 1, 1941. On this date, the
park was “officially opened’” by the Minister of Mines
and Resources, the Honourable T.A. Crerar, with the
assistance of the Honourable A.S. MacMillan, Premier of



Nova Scotia. The ceremonies. held at Ingonish beach.
were featured by highland games and dancing. a bagpipe
contest, and the driving of a ball off the first tee of the
golf course by Mr. Crerar.

Post-War Development

Development of the park was resumed in 1947. Admin-
istrative and park warden staff had been required to
provide their own quarters or had occupied buildings
acquired by the Department when the park was estab-
lished. Staff residences in the vicinity of the park head-
quarters at Ingonish were built in 1947, 1949 and 1954.
New warden stations were completed at North Ingonish
and at Big Intervale in 1953, and at the Cheticamp
entrance in 1959. A warehouse erected in 1942 formed
the nucleus of a park industrial compound at Ingonish
Beach, to which was added a garage and workshop in
1947. This complex was expanded later by a trades shop
in 1952, an additional warehouse in 1956, a warden’s
equipment building in 1963 and stores buildings in
1966. A maintenance compound was developed near the

park entrance at Cheticamp in 1941 from a nucleus of

buildings left on the site by a highway contractor. These
structures were replaced by a new warehouse in 1953, a
vehicle garage in 1957, and equipment and storage
buildings in 1961. Requests for information from visi-
tors at the Cheticamp or western park entrance, led to the
construction of a reception and information bureau
adjacent to the Cabot Trail in 1954.

Auxiliary services essential to the public interest also
received assistance from the park administration. A
detachment building was built at Ingonish Beach in 1949
for the use of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. In
1953, a site within the park near Neil Harbour was made
available for the construction of a community hospital.
Electric power requirements for park headquarters were
first provided from a small generating plant put into
operation in 1939. The following year, the Nova Scotia
Power Commission installed a diesel-powered generat-
ing station in an area adjoining the park compound at
Ingonish. The commission was permitted in 1950 to
extend its power line through the park to serve commu-
nities near Dingwall, and later to Pleasant Bay. Power
also was brought to Cheticamp campground in 1959
from Belle Marche. In 1960, the Nova Scotia Power

Commission hooked up its lines in the eastern section of

the park to the provincial power grid, permitting discon-
tinuation of the power plant at Ingonish Beach. The
building however, was retained for some years on' a
standby basis.

A water supply essential for park headquarters. the
Ingonish Beach campground, and Keltic Lodge. was

obtained for several years from wells, the largest of

which was located adjacent to the golf course. An
increasing demand, including Keltic Lodge require-
ments, led to the development of a new source of supply
from Cann and MacDougall Lakes, located about two
miles northwest of park headquarters. A gravity system.
supplemented by two large woodstave tanks, came into
operation in 1948. Seasons of low precipitation greatly
lessened the storage capacity of the lakes, and in 1964, an
investigation was undertaken to locate a more satisfac-
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tory source of supply. Eventually Clyburn Brook was
selected. and by 1969 a new water supply system had
been developed at a cost of $400,000. This outlay was
shared in part by the Government of Nova Scotia under
an agreement which made provision for the water
requirements of Keltic Lodge.

Highway Improvement

Post-war road and highway improvement was inau-
gurated in 1946 by the construction of a new approach
road from the Cabot Trail to Keltic Lodge on Middle-
head. The same year. access to Warren Lake west of
North Ingonish. a popular picnic and fishing spot. was
made possible by construction of a gravelled road. A
major project was undertaken in 1948 involving recon-
struction of 11 miles of the Cabot Trail between North
Ingonish and Neil Harbour. The new routes, located as
closely to the ocean as feasible, provided motorists on its
completion in 1949 with new vistas of the Atlantic and
its picturesque coastline. The new route also made
possible in later years, the development of attractive
picnic and campground areas at Black Brook Cove and
Broad Cove. Completion of the highway program in
1951 resulted in a greatly improved Cabot Trail from
Neil Harbour to Effies Brook, from Big Intervale over
North Mountain to Pleasant Bay, and over a section in
Jumping Brook Valley which was widened. The eastern
leg of the highway from Ingonish to Effies Brook was
pavedin 1954 and 1955.

Further improvement to the Cabot Trail was com-
menced in 1956 under the National Park Trunk
Highway Program. This phase of reconstruction in-
volved a major diversion in the western section of the
park. from a point near the head of Jumping Brook to
Fishing Cove River, eliminating a winding stretch on the
plateau of French Mountain. By 1961, the route from the
western boundary at Cheticamp River through Pleasant
Bay to Big Intervale had been rebuilt and hard-surfaced.
The project was completed with the widening and
repaving of portions of the highway from Effies Brook to
Neil Harbour in 1962.

Visitor Accommodation

When the park was established, overnight accommoda-
tion was limited to a few small hotels and guest houses in
the adjoining settlements. Efforts made by the National
Parks Service and the Government of Nova Scotia to
have an hotel erected by private enterprise in the
Ingonish area were unsuccessful. Eventually, following
discussions and correspondence, the Province of Nova
Scotia agreed to develop accommodation on Middlehead
peninsula, provided a lease of the site was granted by the
Federal Government, and an adequate fresh-water sup-
ply was provided. The offer was accepted, and develop-
ment of what is now called Keltic Lodge was undertaken
in 1940. The former Corson residence was remodelled to
accommodate administrative quarters, a lounge. dining
room and kitchen. Guests were accommodated in com-
modious four-room and eight-room bungalows, heated
from a central system. The first units were opened to
public use in July, 1940, and additional cabins were
constructed in 1941 and subsequent years.



A growing patronage of the hotel prompted the
province to demolish the old central building and replace
it in 1952 with a modern three-storey hmldm(7 Incorpo-
rating a large dining room. lounge, gift shop and 32
bedrooms. The hotel management added a large recrea-

tional building to its complex in 1948 for the use of

guests, and in 1963 installed an outdoor swimming pool
and cabana on the north side of the hotel. Accommoda-
tion was augmented in 1968 by a large motel building.
designed for winter operation. A new building, combin-
ing a coffee shop and gift shop was opened in 1970, and
the space vacated by the former coffee shop in the hotel
was remodelled to accommodate a cocktail lounge.

Cape Breton Highlands Park shared the experiment of

the National Parks Service in providing low cost bun-
galow cabin accommodation in three of the Atlantic

Region parks. In 1950, the first 10 units of a cabin

development were constructed under contract. An addi-
tional 15 cabins, together with a central administration
building containing a snack bar and small store were
added in 1951. The development was completed in 1952
with the erection of a small building providing refriger-
ated lockers for the use of guests. The entire development
was leased to concessionnaires following a public call for
tenders. Eventually, the buildings were sold to the
operator, who was granted a lease covering the site
which overlooks Freshwater Lake at Ingonish Beach.
Gradually. additional accommodation was provided by
private enterprise at Ingonish Beach, Ingonish Centre.
North Ingonish and at Cheticamp. Much of this accom-
modation took the form of motels or cabins. supple-
mented in some cases by dining facilities and souvenir
shops.

Campground Development

Like its companion parks in the Atlantic provinces, Cape
Breton Highlands has shared in the phenomenal popu-
larity and growth of camping. The park’s four major
cdmporounds border the ocean, and this characteristic,
along with other maritime attractions, have contributed
to their popularity. The first campground was developed
in 1939 at Ingonish Beach on the site of a camp utilized
in the National Forestry Program. Its first buildings were
a kitchen shelter and basic sanitary conveniences. Dur-
ing World War 2, camping activity was at a low ebb. but
a post-war patronage necessitated expansion. In 1948, a
campground water system, connected with the park
headquarters main. was installed. An extension to the
campground was developed in 1951 and opened to
visitors in 1952. New kitchen shelters were erected in
1953, 1957 and 1958, and combined toilet and laundry
buildings constructed in 1952, 1958 and 1960. Expan-
sion of the site necessitated an extension to the water
system in 1957. Sewage disposal was improved in 1961
by the development of a sewage lagoon.

On the western side of the park, a small campground
had been laid out near the mouth of Cheticamp River in
1941. A new kitchen shelter and two sanitary buildings
were erected in 1951. By 1955, the need for a new
campground had been established and a suitable area
was surveyed that year. Site development was under-
taken in 1956 and the following year three kitchen

shelters and two combined laundry-toilet buildings were
built. Nearby Robert Brook assured an ample supply of
water. During the period from 1959 to 1966, several
additional service buildings were erected, four large
kitchen shelters added. a new checking station con-
structed. and electrical, water and sewage systems in-
stalled in the campground. This period also saw the
development of a trailer section, to which 38 lots were
added in 1966. An increasing use of the Cabot Trail
influenced further expansion of the Cheticamp camp-
ground. Work on an extension, located west of the
highway along Cheticamp River, was undertaken in
1968. It was designed to provide an additional 116
campsites. By September, 1970, all service buildings had
been completed, a new access road from the Cabot Trail
constructed and paved, and a pedestrian overpass in-
stalled. The new campground extension was opened to
public use in 1971,

By 1958, officers of the National Parks Branch had
recognized the need for more campground accom modd—
tion in the park. Statistics had revealed that campers’ use
of available space had risen more than 250 percent over
that for 1956. Consequently, in December, 1958. a 20-
acre site at Broad Cove, about three miles northeast of
North Ingonish was surveyed for campground purposes.
Development was commenced in January. 1959, and by
June, 1963, it was possible to open the first stage of the
campground. Incorporating many improved features
including electrical, water and sewage systems, the
Ldmporound accommodated 17,556 campers in its first
season of operation. Completion of a trailer park area in
1966 provided 34 serviced lots or sites. In 1967, 34 tent
lots were added. Early in its history. this campground
suffered severe damage during a storm which hit the area
in December, 1963. Several buildings were damaged.
and a great many trees, mostly spruce, were blown down.

Another major campground development was under-
taken in 1963 at Black Brook on the Cabot Trial. In the
vicinity, fronting on a delightful sandy beach. a small
camping and picnic ground had gradually developed.
The newly developed area, south of Black Brook. was
opened for use on July 15, 1966, with more than 80
campsites available. The amenities provided included
four combination kitchen and toilet buildings, a water.
and sewage systems, and a small registration building or
kiosk. More camping space was made available in July.
1968, when 105 individual sites were added. An exten-
sion to this campground, on the west side of the Cabot
Trail was opened for use in 1969. The original site on the
beach north of Black Brook was restricted to day use
activity.

Additional campgrounds, developed on a less preten-
tious style, were opened for use at Corney Brook on the
Gulf of St. Lawrence in 1951; at MacIntosh Brook in
Grande Anse River Valley in 1957, and at Big Intervale,
in the Upper North Aspy River Valley in 1951, Day use
areas, which provide automobile parking, picnic accom-
modation, playground equipment for children, and, at
some points, facilities for bathing, also were developed at
suitable points along the Cabot Trail.
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The Lone Shieling

One of the most interesting picnic sites in the park along
the Cabot Trail is the Lone Shieling, situated about four
miles east of Pleasant Bay on the Cabot Trail. Here in the
valley of the Grande Anse River, the National Parks
Service in 1942 erected a replica of the type of shelter
used by crofters on their shielings in the Scottish
highlands while pasturing their livestock in the summer.
The ““shieling”” or ‘““bothan’’ as it is known, was con-
structed of heavy masonry with a thatched roof and an
open hearth on the floor. Accommodation provided by
the building was supplemented by tables, benches, wash-
rooms and a water supply outside the structure.

In 1947, the Lone Shieling was formally opened at a
ceremony attended by Premier Macdonald of Nova
Scotia, and the hereditary chieftain of the Clan MacLeod
from the Island of Skye, Scotland, Mrs. Flora MacLeod.
She unveiled a tablet to the memory of Professor D.S.
Macintosh, a native of Pleasant Bay, who had donated
100 acres of land to the Government of Nova Scotia for
park purposes, with the expressed hope that it provide a
site for a shieling. Part of the inscription on the tablet,
taken from a poem ascribed to John Galt, reflects the
origin of many of the early settlers of the Island of Cape
Breton:

“From the Lone Shieling of the misty Island,
Mountains divide us and the waste of seas —

Yet still the blood is strong, the heart is Highland,
and we in dreams behold the Hebrides.”

Wildlife Repopulation

The area constituting the park at one time supported a
substantial wildlife population including moose and
woodland caribou. However, this important natural
resource was dissipated by indiscriminate slaughter, and
long before the park was established, these species were
extinct. An attempt to restore the moose population in
the park was made in June, 1947, when eight head were
transported by railway from Elk Island National Park,
Alberta, to Cape Breton Island. They were released in the
park in mid-August. In June of the year following, an
additional 10 moose—five male and five female —were
brought from the same source and transported from Bras
D’Or Station to the park by truck for release in Roper’s
Brook Valley.

A second experiment in the restoration of wildlife was
commenced in 1965. Range studies were undertaken in
the park by a mammalogist of the Canadian Wildlife
Service to select a site suitable for the reintroduction of
woodland caribou. This species had not been seen in
Cape Breton for 40 years. A suitable range was located
and in March 1968, 18 caribou were flown from Lauren-
tides Provincial Park, Quebec, to Sydney, and trans-
ported from that point to the park for release. In March,
1969, the experiment was repeated, again with the co-
operation of the Department of Tourism, Fish and
Game of the Province of Quebec. A shipment of 40
caribou, captured 150 miles northwest of Sept Iles, was
flown to Sydney and later released in the park. Success
attended both experiments, and in the case of the
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caribou, several calves were born to adult animals the
year following their arrival.

Winter Recreation

Although essentially a summer park, Cape Breton
Highlands offers many attractions in the winter. The
extension of highway maintenance programs during the
winter seasons by the provincial and federal govern-
ments led to proposals by ski organizations that ski areas
be opened to public use. In 1961, the National Parks
Service sponsored a survey of potential ski areas in the
park which was undertaken by Franz Baier, an expert on
the engineering staff at Ottawa. An additional study
undertaken by a research company from Montreal in
1967, confirmed a site on South Mountain northwest of
Neil Harbour as the most promising. A public call for
tenders for the right to develop a lift and a day lodge in
that area was issued in October 1968, but no bids were
received. The aspirations of skiers, however were real-
ized when a group of sportsmen, incorporated as Cape
Smoky Development Corporation Limited, cleared a hill
and built a chairlift on the northern slopes of Cape
Smoky across the harbour from Ingonish Beach in 1970.
The development included a large lodge building incor-
porating dressing-rooms, ski shop, cafeteria and dining
lounge.

Future Extensions

A steadily increasing use of the park, together with
studies related to its future development, had empha-
sized by the mid-1960’s, the need for additional lands
suitable for the purposes of recreation. The popularity of
the main bathing area at Ingonish Beach, which in some
years is impaired by storms, led to the proposal that
beach lands on North Ingonish Bay be acquired. By
1972, agreements had been reached with several prop-
erty owners, and title to 43 acres of choice waterfront
property had been obtained. Negotiations for other
lands also were proceeding.

A provisional master plan for future development of
the park was unveiled at a public hearing in Sydney,
Nova Scotia, in June 1970. The primary purpose of the
hearing was to acquaint the public with the development
proposals, and to solicit comment on their appropriate-
ness. The plan called attention to the potential for
national park purposes of an area of some 80 square
miles in Inverness County which was withdrawn from
the park in 1938. The possibility of extending park
boundaries to re-include this spectacular region remains
a matter for consideration, as it would involve participa-
tion by both federal and provincial governments. It is
planned to continue investigations in the area, following
which future policy may be determined.
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Prince Edward Island National Park

The creation of Prince Edward Island National Park in
1937 provided an unusual yet interesting area for the use
and benefit of Canadians. Comprising a coastline strip
extending for nearly 25 miles along the north shore of
the island, it includes some of the finest salt-water
beaches in Canada. Reddish in colour, and beaten
smooth and broad by the surf, they permit bathing in
water that is warmer than at many points along the
Atlantic coast to the south. Landward from the beaches,
sand dunes and red sand-stone cliffs rise to considerable
heights. Deep harbours or bays divide the park into three
main sections, all of which front on the Gulf of St.
Lawrence. In the Cavendish and Stanhope sections, the
park extends southerly from the sea for some distance,
affording examples of the pastoral landscape that has
earned for the province the title of “Garden of the
Gulf”.

Public interest in the establishment of a national park
in Prince Edward Island was first displayed in 1923,
when the Member of Parliament for Queens, D.A.
Mackinnon, wrote to the Commissioner of National
Parks about the desirability of having a park established
in his province. Although the proposal was received with
sympathetic interest, a lack of funds in the National
Parks Branch appropriation deferred any positive ac-
tion. In 1930, the proposal was revived by the Ho-
nourable Justice A.E. Arsenault, President of the Provin-
cial Publicity Association. He was supported by A.C.
MacLean, Member for Prince. The Honourable Charles
Stewart, Minister of the Interior, informed Mr. MacLean
that ““it is our hope that eventually there will be a
national park in each province of the Dominion and
there is no reason why Prince Edward Island should not
be so favoured, provided the local authorities are pre-
pared to transfer to the Dominion, unencumbered land
for that purpose”’.!

During the next few years, negotiations leading to the
establishment of national parks in both Nova Scotia and
New Brunswick had taken form. This activity generated
a new proposal for a park in Prince Edward Island.
Premier Thane Campbell in February, 1936, advised the
Honourable C.D. Howe, Minister of Transport, that his
government had under consideration the steps necessary
to have a national park established in the province
during the coming year. Mr. Campbell requested than an

item for the establishment of a park be included in the
Federal Government estimates for the coming year.?
Exchanges of letters between Premier Campbell and the
Minister of the Interior, the Honourable T.A. Crerar,
followed, and by the end of March, agreement was
reached that funds would be included in the estimates of
the Department of the Interior for the establishment of
the park. Also confirmed were proposals that officers of
the Department would make an inspection of potential
park sites in the province, and, provided an area in the
vicinity of Dalvay by the Sea was made available, the
Federal Government would pay for the improvements
on the Dalvay property.? In turn, the legislative program
of the province for 1936 included an act providing
authority for the expropriation of land required for a
national park. The Federal Government co-operated by
introducing in Parliament, legislation which would per-
mit the proclamation of a national park when title to a
satisfactory area had been furnished by provincial
authorities.

Inspection of Sites
By arrangement, an inspection team composed of the
Deputy Commissioner of National Parks, F.H.H. Wil-
liamson, and the Chief of the National Park Architec-
tural and Landscaping Service, W.D. Cromarty, com-
pleted an inspection of more than 22 separate areas in
June, 1936. The report of the inspection team, which was
completed in July, stressed the desirability of including
in the proposed park examples of the remarkable sea
beaches for which Prince Edward Island was known. The
report accordingly recommended the inclusion of nearly
25 miles of coastline, extending from New London Bay
on the west to Tracadie Bay on the east. The report also
recommended the inclusion of lands in the Cavendish
area surrounding the farmhouse known as Green
Gables, associated with the novels of Lucy M. Montgom-
ery; Rustico or Robinson’s Island; a portion of Brackley
Point; and an area in the vicinity of Tracadie which
would incorporate the well known land-mark known as
Dalvay by the Sea.* In making this recommendation, the
inspectors were fully aware that features of the proposed
park would be quite different from those of the larger
scenic parks already established in Western Canada. It
was emphasized that the outstanding characteristic of
the proposed area lay in its magnificent beaches, and that
in planning the development of a seaside park, recrea-
tional aspects should have a predominant place.
Following consideration of the inspectors’ report, the
Government of Prince Edward Island, through the
Executive Council, approved of the recommendations
made with the exception of that relating to the inclusion
of the area surrounding Dalvay by the Sea. National
park officers, however, were most reluctant to have this
area omitted from the park. At a hastily-called confer-
ence held in Charlottetown and attended by provincial
representatives and a member of the National Park
Inspection Team, agreement was reached that a portion
of the area selected in the Dalvay-Stanhope area includ-
ing that surrounding Dalvay House, would be retained.
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Park Establishment
With the component sections of the park agreed upon.
steps were taken to have a legal survey made of their
proposed boundaries. This action was mandatory, in
order that satisfactory descriptions would be available
both for the acquisition of the necessary lands and
transfer of title to the Federal Government. The survey
was made in November, 1936, by R.W. Cautley, D.L.S.
of Ottawa. Plans of the survey were subsequently regis-
tered with the Registrar of Deeds at Charlottetown, and
the Province of Prince Edward Island conveyed title to
the areas agreed on under authority of the Lieutenant
Governor in Council. The new park, containing about
7.65 square miles, was formally established by proclama-
tion in the Canada Gazette on April 24, 1937, under the
terms of the Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island
Parks Act, 1936.7

Much of the area selected for national park purposes
was settled land and most of the property owners
involved were direct descendants of the original settlers.
Many objected to parting with portions of their farms
and the province resorted to expropriation so that
prompt transfer of the land to the Federal Government
could be made. Where buildings were located on lands
acquired, the provincial government permitted the
owners, with a few exceptions, to remove them. By
today’s standards, the compensation paid was low, but in
1937. land values were only a fraction of those prevailing
three decades later. Most settlements were made on the
basis of $50 per acre for improved farm land and $6 for
dune land.® The boundaries of the park were modified by
the withdrawal in 1938, at the request of the province. of
five small parcels of land. Several of these adjustments,
authorized by the National Parks Amendment Act,
1938. were made to accommodate farmers who objected
to moving farm buildings. The Act also confirmed the
name of the park as the Prince Edward Island National
Park, and reduced the area to seven square miles.’

Early History

The history of Prince Edward Island goes back to the
sixteenth century. On his first voyage in 1534, Jacques
Cartier sailed along the north shores of the island and
made a few landings by long boat. His journal for June
30 in that year records some of his impressions. ** All this
coast is low and flat, but the finest land one can see and
full of beautiful trees and meadows ... the shore is low
and skirted all along with sand-banks and the water is
shallow”.® The first known inhabitants of the Island
were the Micmac Indians who called it ““Epagwit”
meaning “‘resting on the waves™.” This Indian name is
also spelled **Abegweit””. The island later was settled by
emigrants from France, and later still by Acadians.

Prior to the fall of Louisbourg in 1758, Ile St. Jean. as
it was known, had a population of more than 4,500. Most
of the French inhabitants were deported during the two
years following by the British, but a few Acadian families
remained around Malpeque, Rustico and Rollo Bay.
Ceded to Britain by France in 1763, the island was called
St. John until 1799, when it was named Prince Edward
I[sland after the Duke of Kent, father of Queen Victoria.
In 1765, the entire island was surveyed by Captain
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Samuel Holland into counties and lots, and British
emigration followed. Covehead was settled about 1770.
and immigrants arrived later at New London. Stanhope
and Rustico. Many of the names of features and places
on the Island appear on Holland’s map. Rustico owes its
name to an early French settler. Rene Ressicot, from
Avranches, Normandy.'” Cavendish was named by Wil-
liam Winter, an army officer and settler. after his
commanding officer, Field Marshal Lord Frederick Cav-
endish. Brackley bears the name of an early resident who
arrived there in 1770, and Stanhope commemorates
William Stanhope. Viscount Petersham. '

From the early days of settlement, many residents of
the province have gained a livelihood from agriculture
and by fishing the abundant waters of the Gulf of St.
Lawrence. Small fleets of fishing boats still operate from
their home ports in the picturesque villages which lie
within the bays and inlets. Occasionally, storms have
taken their toll of the hardy fishermen, and the infamous
“Yankee gale” of October 3-4. 1851, was long remem-
bered. About 70 fishing vessels caught in the fury of the
storm were lost in the Gulf. Many of the bodies of those
drowned were washed ashore, and buried in a small
cemetery now situated within the park boundaries near
Stanhope.

Shipwrecks along the coast also occurred. Notable was
that of the famous Marco Polo, which foundered off Cape
Cavendish in August, 1883. Built at Saint John. New
Brunswick, in 1851 for the lumber trade, the Marco Polo
was sold in England and converted there for passenger
and freight service to Australia. On her first voyage to
Melbourne and return, she set a new and incredible
record of 76 days for each of the outward and homeward
voyages. Her inglorious end came after 32 years of
service when caught in an August storm while heavily
laden with timber.'?

First Developments

Development of the new park was commenced in 1937.
A labour foreman was appointed, administration offices
established in Dalvay House, and a limited program of
works commenced. Exterior repairs were made to Dal-
vay House: a start made on a road from the eastern
boundary of the park near Dalvay House along the coast
toward Covehead Inlet: several miles of boundary fence
were erected. and construction of bath or change-houses
was commenced at Dalvay and Cavendish beaches.
Supervision was extended by officers of the National
Parks Bureau at Ottawa and a Departmental engineer. A
permanent park superintendent, E.A. Smith. was ap-
pointed in 1938. A dwelling on the Dalvay House
property originally occuplcd by a caretaker was reno-
vated and designated as the superintendent’s residence
i 1939. A maintenance compound was established in
the Dalvay Section of park in 1939 with the erection of a
combined work-shop. stores and garage building. Brack-
ley Beach was made accessible from the park boundary
by road. Primitive campgrounds, equipped with shelters.
were developed at Dalvay, Brackley and Cavendish
Beaches. Repairs also were made to the Green Gables
farm house at Cavendish. Extensive landscaping was



undertaken in areas where improvements had been
made.

Development plans for the park included an 18-hole
golf course in the Cavendish area. Stanley Thompson, a
well-known landscape architect, designed and built the
Green Gables course under contract. It extended from
the dune land along the sea to the southern limits of the
park. Thompson made the most of the rolling land which
was coursed by a meandering brook, and named many of
the holes after features associated with or described in
the novels of L.M. Montgomery. Consequently, the
names of Anne Shirley, Matthew’s Field. Haunted
Wood, Shining Waters, and Avonlea have been perpetu-
ated. The first nine holes were opened for play in July,
1939, and the second nine in August, 1940. Construction
of a golf club-house, containing lounge, locker, shower
and washrooms, was commenced in 1939 and completed
in 1940. Tennis courts were constructed for public use at
Dalvay House in 1940 and at Green Gables and Brack-
ley Beach in 1949. A bowling green was installed on the
lawn of Dalvay House in 1947.

Dalvay by the Sea

Dalvay by the Sea, or Dalvay House as it is generally
known, was to become both an asset and a liability of the
National Parks Service in years to come. It represented a
splendid example of the large summer homes erected by
opulent citizens in an era when land and building costs
were relatively low and income taxes were non-existent.
The site was acquired in 1895 and the original portion of
the building was erected in 1896 by Alexander MacDon-
ald of Cincinnati, a director of Standard Oil. MacDon-
ald’s investment followed a visit to the Tradadie area in
1895, where he was a guest at the long-vanished Acadian
Hotel. An addition to the building, which contains the
present drawing room, was made in 1909.

The MacDonald family occupied their summer home
for about 15 years after its construction, and entertained
on a large scale. Part of the property, containing about
160 acres, was cultivated, and accessory buildings in-
cluded a farmhouse occupied by a caretaker, a barn,
stable, bowling alley, poultry house and stores buildings.
After MacDonald’s death in 1910, family use of the
property declined, and the annual visits ended in 1915
when a final one was made by one of the former owner’s
grandchildren, Princess Rosspigliosi of Italy, and her
family."?

The property eventually was acquired by the former
caretaker, William Hughes, who later sold it to William
O’Brien of Montreal. In 1932, it was purchased by
Captain Edward Dicks, who operated it for a few years
as a summer hotel. Although Dicks developed a ninehole
golf course on the property, and spent a substantial sum
on furniture and improvements, the operation proved
unprofitable. The buildings and land were next sold to
the Honourable George DeBlois, of Charlottetown, who
owned property nearby. In 1937, the Government of
Prince Edward Island acquired title to the buildings and
surrounding property for inclusion in the national park.
By prior agreement, the Federal Government reim-
bursed the province for the actual cost of the main and
accessory buildings in the amount of $15,000.'4

Before title to Dalvay House was obtained, officers of
the National Parks Service had hoped to interest the
Canadian National Railways in operating it as a summer
hotel. Negotiations were opened with the railway com-
pany early in 1937 through the Minister of Transport,
but after a thorough inspection, the general manager of
the railway company’s hotel system, Joseph Van Wyck,
rejected the proposal. In his opinion, the building was
too old and too small for profitable operation.'* In 1940,
the building, with the exception of space occupied by
Park offices, was leased to the North Shore Hotels
Company Limited, which also operated Stanhope Beach
Inn. In 1947, the park superintendent and staff moved to
offices created in his residence and Dalvay House was
leased to Wendell Worth of Charlottetown. Worth oper-
ated the hotel from 1947 to the end of the 1958 season,
and died early in 1959. Dalvay House was next leased in
May, 1959, to Raoul Reymond of Charlottetown, follow-
ing a public call for tenders. Reymond had acquired title
to Stanhope Beach Inn in 1948, and brought to the
operation a wide experience in the provision of visitor
accommodation.

Over the years, Dalvay House has required a great
deal of maintenance and improvement. Some repairs,
especially kitchen and plumbing improvement, were
undertaken by tenants, but much of the work has been
the responsibility of the park superintendent. Im-
provements have included a new kitchen wing, extension
of the main dining room, substantial plumbing and
bathroom installations, reconstruction of verandahs and
the porte cochére, replacement of roofs, and installation
of a fire-deterrent sprinkler system. In addition, succes-
sive concessionnaires have made substantial expendi-
tures on furnishings. Although the total outlay on main-
tenance and improvements has exceeded by many times
the original cost, the preservation of the building has
been considered desirable. It forms a landmark in the
eastern portion of the park; it provides an interesting
relic of Victorian architecture and opulence; and, most
important it makes available a valuable service to park
visitors.

Green Gables

Long before it was incorporated in the national park,
Green Gables had become a point of interest in the
Cavendish area. The farmhouse, which is believed to
have been erected about the mid-1850’s, had a literary
connection with the novels of Lucy Maud Montgomery,
who, in 1911, married the Reverend Ewan MacDonald.
Following the publication of ““Anne of Green Gables’” in
1908, the white farmhouse, trimmed in green, attracted
an increasing number of visitors, many of whom as-
sumed that the principal characters of Miss Montgom-
ery’s early books, Ann Shirley and her adopted parents,
Marilla and Matthew Cuthbert, had actually existed and
lived there.

When the property, then owned by E.C. Webb, was
acquired for national park purposes in 1937, the prov-
ince was compensated by the Federal Government for
the value of the buildings.'® Mr. Webb was engaged as a
park employee, and permitted to occupy the dwelling on
a rental basis. Green Gables was vacated by the Webb
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family in 1946 and remained empty until 1949. In that
year, furnishings believed to be contemporary with those
utilized around the turn of the century were purchased
by the National Parks Service, with the assistance of the
local Women’s Institute. In 1950, the building was
opened to the public in charge of a hostess. This em-
ployee was granted the privilege of operating a tea-room
in Green Gables, selling souvenirs, and serving refresh-
ments in the adjoining golf club-house.

Originally these services were performed under con-
tract, and later under the terms of a concession granted
following a public call for tenders. By 1963, it had
become obvious to the park administration that the
continued operation of Green Gables in the dual charac-
ter of a concession and a period museum was undesir-
able, and that a more authentic interpretation of Green
Gables and its relationship to the imaginary ““Anne”
was imperative.

Steps to effect this change were taken late in 1967
when substantial alterations and improvements were
made to the golf club-house. The tea room and souvenir
concession was transferred to that building in 1968.
Improvements to Green Gables required to reflect a
more accurate image of a late 19th century farmhouse in
the tradition of the ““Anne’’ stories, including the pur-
chase of additional furnishings, are now under consider-
ation. Meanwhile, the building has been open to visitors
under the supervision of a guide service since 1968.

Inquiring visitors are informed that neither the fic-
tional heroine Anne, nor her creator, Lucy Maud Mont-
gomery, ever resided at Green Gables. Lucy Maud’s
mother, Mrs. Hugh Montgomery, died when her
daughter was less than two years old, and the child lived
for many years with her grandparents, Mr. and Mrs.
Alexander MacNeill. Their home was located within a
few hundred yards of Green Gables. Lucy Maud was a
frequent visitor to the home of her older cousins, David
and Margaret MacNeill, now know as Green Gables. As
a child, she wandered at will over the farm, traversing
paths in the adjoining woods and exploring its brook and
ponds. Later in life, as Mrs. MacDonald, she frequently
visited Green Gables as the guest of Mrs. Webb, a niece
of David and Margaret MacNeill. Similarities in the
topographical and physical features described in the
““Anne’” books with those of the Green Gables property
give credence to the belief that the old farmhouse and its
surroundings may have been envisioned by the author as
the home of her story-book heroine.

Administration Building

Administration of the park was facilitated gradually by
the erection of additional maintenance buildings and
provision of staff accommodation. The original buildings
at Dalvay were augmented in 1942 to accommodate staff
and supplies. A new garage was completed in 1954 and
extended in 1961. A central stores building was added to
the work compound at Dalvay in 1961. Maintenance
activity in the Cavendish area necessitated the construc-
tion of an equipment building in 1940. To this was
added a combined workshop and store house in 1951.
The first warden’s residence was erected in 1947 on the
Mayfield Road in the Cavendish area. It was supple-
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mented by a modern structure in 1959. Staff housing was
made available in the Dalvay area in 1947, 1959, 1960
and 1962.

A recreational hall built in 1950 at Cavendish Beach
permitted the development of a recreational program
undertaken on behalf of campers and visitors for several
years. In 1965, the building was moved to a site in the
vicinity of the new Cavendish campground for use by the
park interpretation service. An innovation in 1950 was
the erection of bandstands at Cavendish and Stanhope
Beaches. Lack of use led to their conversion, a few years
later, to refreshment stands for lease to concessionaires.
From 1947 until 1967, the building containing the park
administration offices also functioned as the superin-
tendent’s residence. In, 1967, the superintendent took up
residence in Charlottetown, and the vacated space per-
mitted expansion of administrative quarters.

The Gulf Shore Road

Early planning envisioned a highway extending
throughout the length of the park, which would not only
provide magnificent views of the Gulf but also link
together the four western segments of the park. The
Tracadie-Stanhope section from the eastern park en-
trance was the first to be undertaken. By the end of 1939,
a gravel highway had been completed to a point east of
Covehead Harbour. The following year this stretch was
connected with Stanhope Beach. In 1950, the road was
completed to Covehead Harbour Inlet and in 1951 the
entire section was hard surfaced. Construction on the
longest stretch of the proposed Ocean View Highway
from North Rustico through Cavendish to New London
Bay, was commenced in 1948. That year 7.5 miles were
graded and gravelled. Hard-surfacing was completed in
1952. A right-of-way which would link Rustico Island
and Brackley Beach with the easterly or Stanhope section
was surveyed in 1949. Completion of a road would first
require bridging or other means of crossing the salt-
water Inlets at the eastern and western end of Brackley
Point. A decision was reached to build a causeway over
the Little Harbour Inlet between Rustico Island and
Brackley Point and to bridge the inlet at Covehead
Harbour. Construction of the causeway was undertaken
by the federal Department of Public Works in 1953. By
1955, piling and other works installed had induced
accretion of sand by wind and wave action which
completely filled in the gap of Little Harbour, joining
Rustico Island with Brackley Beach.

In 1955, a major trunk highway program in the
National Parks of Canada was authorized. Appropria-
tions were provided in 1956 and subsequent years to
permit construction of what is now called the Gulf Shore
Road. Existing sections of the Dalvay-Stanhope and the
Rustico-Cavendish roads were seal-coated and a start
made on the Brackley-Rustico Island section. During
1957, a pile trestle bridge over Covehead Harbour inlet
was completed and clearing of a right-of-way on Rustico
Island was carried on. Work continued on sections of the
road for the next three seasons and by 1960, the Brack-
ley-Rustico section had been completed and paved.

The Dalvay-Brackley section also was improved and
hard-surfaced. The final paving of the Rustico-Caven-



dish section was finished in 1961. An unfortunate dis-
ruption of traffic occurred in December, 1963, when a
storm which attained hurricane proportions damaged a
section of the Covehead Inlet bridge. Reconstruction of
the bridge was carried on throughout 1964 and it was re-
opened for trafficin 1965.

The completion of the construction and paving pro-
gram in 1961 had made possible a continuous drive over
the 23-mile length of the Gulf Shore Road except for one
major break. This was the gap formed by Rustico
Harbour which lies between the Cavendish-New London
area to the west, and the Rustico Island-Brackley-Stan-
hope area to the east. A location survey of bridge
approaches undertaken by the Department of Public
Works in 1948 had determined the most feasible route
across the inlet to Rustico Island. The survey also had
indicated the need for a model study to assess the tidal
and current problems which would affect the design of
bridge piers. The closing of the Little Harbour estuary in
1954-55 by the development of the causeway at the
eastern end of Rustico Island had affected the channel
providing access to Rustico Harbour, and storms had
contributed to a severe erosion of the western end of
Rustico Island. The results of a study undertaken by the
National Research Council in Ottawa, has led national
park authorities to believe that construction of the
proposed bridge is not economically feasible. Mean-
while, road connection between the eastern and western
sections of the Gulf Shore Road is provided by sections
of the provincial highway system outside park
boundaries.

Visitor Accommodation

The need for accommodation in the park was met in part
by the leasing of Dalvay House for hotel purposes.
Available accommodation there was expanded in 1948,
when a picnic shelter on the grounds was converted to
cabin accommodation, and an additional two-bedroom
cabin was erected by the provincial government to
accommodate the Governor General and Lady Alexan-
der during an extended visit to the park. This building
was purchased in 1960 by the National Park Service and
incorporated in the Dalvay House leasehold. Several
summer hotels were in operation on sites outside the
park in the Dalvay-Stanhope and Brackley Beach areas.
These were supplemented by lodge and cabin accommo-
dation erected by private enterprise.

In the Cavendish area, a small cabin development had
been built before 1936 on a site which later was encom-
passed by the Cavendish Beach picnic grounds. This
development was below park standard and park authori-
ties proposed to have the property vacated. The owner,
however, objected and eventually was granted a site
within the park farther south on Cawnpore Lane. The
original buildings were moved in 1940, remodelled, and
improved. Later, several new units were added to the
concession, now known as Avonlea Lodge.

In 1949, the National Parks Service obtained appro-
priations for the construction of low-cost visitor accom-
modation in Prince Edward Island, Cape Breton
Highlands, and Fundy National Parks. This took the
form of single house-keeping cabins, containing kitchen-

ette and bathroom facilities. In each cabin development a
central building containing office space and accommoda-
tion for the operator was provided. The first 13 units of
Green Gables Bungalow Court were builtin 1949 and an
additional 12 the following year. The development was
opened to the public in 1950, after being leased to a
concessionnaire following a call for tenders. Four more
units were added in 1952. In 1956, the development was
sold to the operator, who later enlarged some units and
added others. The new owner also expanded the accom-
modation by erecting five large cabins on property
adjoining, but outside the park boundary. Additional
lodges, cabins, and motels built outside the park by
private enterprise, helped meet the demand for visitor
accommodation in the Cavendish area.

Camping

From three small campsites established in 1930, the park
campground system was developed to the stage where
the major units had the density of small villages. The
tendency of Canadians to live ‘on wheels’ during the
summer months is exemplified in Prince Edward Island
Park where the campgrounds, having a capacity of
nearly 3,600 persons, are filled to capacity during the
height of the visitor season. A continued demand for
camping space has induced the development of pri-
vately-owned campgrounds, adjacent to park bounda-
ries, which help accommodate the park overflow.

Cavendish campground, always popular, was orig-
inally located on the beach area near the foot of
Cawnpore Lane. Closed and open type kitchen shelters,
erected close to a bath or change-house, functioned until
1955 when camping was phased out and the site reserved
for picnickers only. Development of a new campground,
with a greater potential for expansion, had been com-
menced in 1953 northwest of Clarke Pond. It was opened
for use in 1955. Major expansion of the campground was
undertaken in 1959 and continued until 1962. Water
and sewer systems were installed, community-type shel-
ters erected and a variety of public service buildings
constructed. A trailer park also was developed and
provided with water, electricity and sewer services. By
1962, accommocation for 226 tents and 78 trailers was
available.

Stanhope campground, the second largest in the park,
had its start in 1939. It received moderate patronage
until 1950 when its area was extended. Trailer runways
were added in 1953, and in 1954 the tenting site was
relocated west of the trailer area. The Stanhope picnic
area was moved north of the Gulf Shore road in 1955,
when underground electrical installations in the trailer
area were completed and a new water system installed.
During the next five years, additional shelters, sanitary
buildings and complementary services were extended. By
1962, the campground had accommodation for 158 tents
and 14 trailers.

Camping amenities were first provided at Brackley
Beach in 1939. An additional kitchen shelter was added
in 1950. For many years the site accommodated both
campers and picnickers, and improvements were made
from 1956 to 1960, including a sewage disposal system.
Overnight camping privileges were withdrawn in 1961,
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when the area was restricted to day-use only. Visitor
services were expanded. an enlarged parking area made
available and re-development of the area completed in
1964, when a new bathers’ change-house and service
building was built.

Development of camping and picnic areas on Rustico
Island was undertaken in 1961 when outdoor stoves,
sanitary conveniences, and a water supply were made
available. During 1962, all access and camping circles
were cleared and grubbed. Sites for 148 tent sites were
developed in 1963, water and electrical services installed,
and kitchen shelters and toilet buildings erected. The
campground was opened for use in 1964 and attracted
nearly 9500 campers in its first season of operation.

The development of day-use areas which meet the
needs of picnickers has taken the pressure off camp-
grounds which originally functioned in a dual capacity.
Picnic grounds gradually were made available at Dalvay,
Stanhope, Brackley and Cavendish Beaches, and at
Stanhope Lane, Cape Turner. North Rustico, Rustico
Island and New London Bay. In 1970, they had a
combined capacity of 5,650 persons. Refreshment pavil-
ions are operated under lease at Cavendish and Stan-
hope Beaches. The day-use area at Rustico Island con-
tains a combined change-house and canteen which was
completed in 1968.

Lifeguard Service

The safety of bathers using the park beaches was en-
hanced by the provision of a lifeguard service. An
unfortunate drowning accident at Cavendish Beach in
1947, involving four victims, led to the appointment of a
lifeguard there in 1948. The lifeguard service was ex-
tended to Dalvay Beach in 1949. Later these services,
maintained from distinctive huts painted in red and
white stripes, were extended to all main beaches in the
park. Equipment in the form of observation towers,
dories, and surfboards is provided at each supervised
beach. Bathers are encouraged to stay within safety zones
which have been enclosed by ropes suspended from
floats.

Erosion Control

Most of the park beaches were formed by the erosion of
sandstone cliffs and littoral drift of eroded material.
Consequently, the beaches and the dunes behind them
are affected by winds, tides and heavy seas, and in places
deterioration had occurred during winter storms. Ero-
sion control was first attempted in 1941 when a log sea-
wall was installed in front of the Dalvay beach-house. In
1960, and for years following, a program of beach and
cliff protection was carried on. The work varied in
character, from the use of sand-bags to construction of
stone walls and the installation of wire baskets filled with
field stone. In 1965, an improved type of rock container
manufactured commercially and known as a “‘sea
gabion”’, was employed with satisfactory results. Control
of shifting sand dunes also was undertaken by the
installation of stone cribs, wood sheet-piling and by
brush fences. Erosion control at the western end of
Rustico Island was undertaken by the Federal Depart-
ment of Public Works in 1962-63, by the installation of
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groynes. Stone and clay levees also were installed by this
Department in 1966 to close gaps in a line of dunes at the
head of New London Bay.

Land Acquisitions

Like many popular vacation areas, Prince Edward Island
National Park was subjected to a fantastic increase in
visitors which reached a temporary peak in the mid
1960’s. From a modest figure of 108,000 in 1951, the
annual attendance rose in 1960 to 386,000; in 1961 to
952.000; and in 1962 was estimated to have exceeded
one million. This exceptional growth in visitor use
continued during the following eight years with excep-
tions in 1965 and 1967. The demands placed on park
facilities, including camp and picnic grounds by this
exceptional patronage led to planning studies which it
was hoped would permit maximum land use and yet
preserve certain unique features in the park which
otherwise might be impaired.

Planning was initiated in 1963 and expanded in 1967.
The objectives included the accommodation of the larg-
est possible number of visitors; preserving natural,
ecological and wildlife features; and the improvement of
traffic patterns. The relatively small area of the park also
suggested the acquisition of additional lands. if the
proposed plans for development were to be realized. The
area of the park had undergone little change since its
establishment. A few additions, each restricted to several
acres, had been acquired to facilitate highway revisions
and bridge construction. Consequently, any major ex-
pansion of the park could be assured only by the
purchase of additional lands from private owners. Plan-
ning studies had indicated that lands adjoining the park
in the Cavendish area offered exceptional opportunities
for development and a land acquisition program was
instituted in 1968. By the end of 1972, the National
Parks Service had acquired title to more than 170 acres
and had reached agreement with owners of other lands.
Additional lands had been examined and found accepta-
ble for park purposes. Much of the land acquired was
located east of Cawnpore Lane, which was transferred
from the Province to the Government of Canada in
1963. This road, which forms an extension to Highway
No. 13, provides the main access to the park from the
settlement of Cavendish to Cavendish Beach. Other
acquisitions included lands adjoining the golf course
west of the Lake of Shining Waters. Additional develop-
ments within the park that will help accommodate the
every-increasing flow of visitors may be expected as the
land acquisition program is implemented.
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Fundy National Park

The Bay of Fundy, which separates the provinces of New
Brunswick and Nova Scotia, has unusual physical and
historical attractions. The Bay is remarkable for its
tremendous tides, believed to be the highest in the world.
Spring tides attain a rise of from 60 to 70 feet, while
during periods of ordinary flow, the tides vary in height
from 40 to 50 feet. Known to Europeans since the 16th
century, the Bay of Fundy was shown on the Cabot map
of 1544. It was called La Baie Francaise by Sieur de
Monts. who spent a winter on Dochet Island in the St.
Croix River in 1604-05, and who later in 1605 estab-
lished the settlement of Port Royal on Annapolis Basin.
By the end of the 16th century, the bay was known as the
Bay of Fundy. For many years, it was believed that the
name was derived from the Portuguese ““fondo’” mean-
ing deep. Later research led to the opinion that the name
was an English corruption of the French word **fendu ™,
meaning split.! This name was applied to the cape which
guards the entrance to Minas Basin, the southeastern
extension of the Bay of Fundy.

An area overlooking the Bay of Fundy was selected in
1947 for the establishment of the first national park in
New Brunswick. It incorporates an area of nearly 80
square miles of rolling forested land, rising in steps from
the bay. High swift tides, aided by wind and wave action,
have carved and sculptured the rugged shoreline into
sheltered coves and bold promontories. The rugged
grandeur of the park’s coastline provides a strong con-
trast to the sylvan solitude of its well-wooded uplands,
which reach a height of about 1,200 feet above sea level.
The park area is dotted with numerous small lakes, many
of which provide the source of streams which feed the
main rivers of the parks, the Upper Salmon and the
Point Wolfe.

Many of these small streams course steep. narrow
valleys, and their waters tumble in musical cascades on
their rapid journey to the sea. The forests, which com-
bine a mixture of broad-leaved and evergreen trees,
attain a rare beauty in autumn, when the gold and
crimson of the deciduous species provide a contrast to
the darker shades of the conifers. The name ““Fundy”’
was selected for the new park by the Premier of New
Brunswick, the Honourable J.B. McNair, following an

essay competition conducted throughout the school sys-
tem of the province.

Early Representations

Although representations leading to the establishment of
a national park in New Brunswick were instituted in
1926. a period of 22 years was to elapse before the park
actually was proclaimed. The New Brunswick Fish and
Game Protective Association, through its president.
Allan G. McAvity of Saint John, spearheaded the
lengthy campaign undertaken by conservation societies,
boards of trade, and individuals to have a national park
established in the province.? Additional support was
forthcoming from the Saint John Board of Trade and the
New Brunswick Tourist Association. A national park
committee, composed of members of boards of trade and
conservation groups throughout the province was
formed following a general meeting held in Moncton in
September, 1928. A year later, the committee recom-
mended to the provincial government for consideration,
six widely separated sites.* These included an area in
Northumberland County incorporating Mount Carle-
ton. and two sites fronting on the Bay of Fundy-one near
Lepreau in Charlotte County, and the other in Albert
County. The other sites proposed were situated in the
vicinity of the Chiputneticook Lakes on the western
boundary of the province, on the upper reaches of the
Miramichi River, and in the Canaan Game Refuge near
Canaan.

The Government of New Brunswick signified its
interest when the Honourable C.D. Richards, Minister of
Lands and Mines, accompanied by Allan McAvity and
Byron Tozer, representing the New Brunswick conser-
vation groups, interviewed the Honourable Charles
Stewart, Minister of the Interior at Ottawa on January
16, 1930. After a discussion of the merits of several sites,
Mr. Stewart agreed to have an examination made of all
proposed sites by a representative of the Department.
Later in May, Mr. Stewart announced in the House of
Commons that “It is the policy of the Government to
develop a national park in each province, provided the
province makes available for this purpose, free of charge
to the Dominion, and free of encumbrance, a compact
area of national park standard.*”’

Proposed Sites Examined

R.W. Cautley, D.L.S. of Ottawa was selected to carry out
the inspection in September, 1930. Mr. Cautley was
accompanied by Col. H.H. Ritchie, Chief Game Warden
of New Brunswick. The six areas previously mentioned
were examined and Mr. Cautley’s first choice was a site
near Lepreau. The area incorporated an excellent sand
beach on the Bay of Fundy near New River. His second
choice was an area in Albert County, also fronting on the
Bay of Fundy. The Mount Carleton site, in Mr. Cautley’s
opinion, had no outstanding scenic features and also was
the most inaccessible of all the areas examined.” In
March, 1931, the province enacted legislation providing
authority for the expropriation of lands for national
parks purposes, and their subsequent transfer to the
Government of Canada.® In April, 1933, Premier
Richards of New Brunswick made a formal offer of the
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Lepreau site, provided the Government of Canada
would undertake development of the area during the
current year by the construction of roads and buildings,
and would compensate the province for the value of
improvements in the area.” The offer was not accepted.

Economic conditions during the early 1930’s, in
which public expenditures were severly curtailed, had a
dampening effect on the park negotiations. Interest,
however, was revived in 1936, following changes in the
governments of Canada and New Brunswick. In January,
1936, the Honourable F.W. Pirie, now Minister of Lands
and Mines for the province, wrote the Honourable T.A.
Crerar, Minister of the Interior at Ottawa, recommend-
ing the establishment of a park in the vicinity of Mount
Carleton. Mr. Pirie was advised in reply that although an
earlier report on the area had not been encouraging, a re-
examination of the site would be undertaken. The inspec-
tion was carried out by R.W. Cautley, in August and
September, 1936. The Albert County site was revisited,
and an additional site proposed for park development,
located on the Long Reach of the St. John River and
incorporating Mount Champlain, was examined in de-
tail. Once again Mr. Cautley recommended against
acceptance of the Mount Carleton site. He was however,
enthusiastic over the possibilities of the site encompass-
ing Mount Champlain, and gave it top priority among
the areas which he had examined to date. The Lepreau
and the Albert County sites now formed his second and
third choices.®

By 1937, the Government of Canada was prepared to
proceed with the establishment of a national park in
New Brunswick as soon as agreement was reached with
the provincial authorities on a suitable site. Legislation
enacted by the Parliament of Canada in April, 1937,
authorized the establishment of a park by proclamation,
on receipt of a satisfactory title to lands acceptable for
park purposes.” Although anxious to get the national
park project under way, New Brunswick authorities were
reluctant to accept the recommendations of park officials
concerning the three areas given top priority. It was
believed that the cost of acquiring the land for the Mount
Champlain, Lepreau and the Albert County sites would
be excessive, and that long-established settlers would
resent their removal by expropriation proceedings.

In April, 1937, the Honourable F.W. Pirie requested
an inspection of a new site south of Mount Carleton,
incorporating a number of attractive lakes. This was
undertaken by James Smart, Chief Inspector of National
Parks, in the company of Mr. Pirie. The examination was
made with the aid of a seaplane and included flights over
the Lepreau, Mount Champlain and Albert County sites,
as well as that south of Mount Carleton. Mr. Smart’s
report confirmed the Mount Champlain site on the St.
John River as the most attractive for national park
purposes. In November, 1938, an inspection of yet
another site was made by Mr. Smart at Mr. Pirie’s
request. This area, situated in the vicinity of St. Martins
on the Bay of Fundy, was found unsuitable for develop-
ment as a future park.
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The Park Established

The outbreak of World War 2 in 1939 had the effect of
suspending all activity relating to the establishment of
the proposed park. The proposal was revived in Febru-
ary, 1947, when the Honourable J.A. Glen, Minister of
Mines and Resources, was invited by the Honourable
R.J. Gill, provincial Minister of Lands and Mines, to
send a senior park officer to Fredericton for a discussion.
At a meeting held on March 27, the merits of three sites
acceptable to the Federal Government —those at Mount
Champlain, in Albert County, and at Lepreau—were
fully reviewed by Mr. Smart with Provincial authorities.
The meeting led to a final examination of the Albert
County site in May, 1947, by Mr. Smart, whose report
outlined boundaries which would be acceptable to the
Federal Government. The selection of an area in Albert
County as the first national park in New Brunswick was
confirmed by Mr. Gill in a letter to the Honourable C.D.
Howe, acting Minister of Mines and Resources.'” A
formal grant of title to an area of 79.5 square miles from
the Government of New Brunswick to the Federal
Government was received by the Controller of National
Parks at Ottawa in February, 1948. The new park
became a reality when it was formally proclaimed in the
Canada Gazette on April 10, 1948, under authority of
the National Parks Amendment Act of 1937.

Early History

The earliest visitors to the Bay of Fundy were Sieur de
Monts and Samuel de Champlain, who entered the
mouth of the River Saint John on June 24, 1604, and
named the river in honour of the feast of St. John the
Baptist, which fell on that day. Later de Monts and
Champlain returned to St. Croix or Dochet Island where
their 1ll-fated settlement was abandoned the following
spring for a more attractive site at Port Royal on
Annapolis Basin. This developed into the first permanent
settlement by Europeans north of the Gulf of Mexico.

Permanent settlement of the lands north of the Bay of
Fundy did not occur until the arrival of the United
Empire Loyalists in 1783. A wave of colonization led to
the establishment of the Province of New Brunswick in
1784. The City of Saint John was the first to be incorpo-
rated in the new province. Albert County, in which the
park is situated, was formed in 1846 from Westmorland
County. Alma Parish, named after the Battle of Alma in
the Crimean War, was created in 1857. The village of
Alma, the largest settlement in the vicinity of the park,
dates back to 1825, when an army officer named Brown
settled near the mouth of the Upper Salmon River. A
substantial Irish settlement developed in what is now the
northern part of the park along the Shepody Road
between 1830 and 1835, when grants to some 25 indi-
viduals were made. This settlement known as New
Ireland, has long since disappeared.

Title to much of the land along the Bay of Fundy was
obtained through grants by retired army officers. Colonel
J. Coffin held title to 1,000 acres which extended across
the mouth of the Upper Salmon River, Salmon Brook
and Flat Brook. Another grant was made to Major John
Ward at Point Wolfe, southeast of Alma. Lumbering
became the main industry and provided employment to



many residents of the vicinity for more than 100 years. A
sawmill was built at Point Wolfe in 1832 and another
was established in the vicinity of what is now Alma in
1836. During the peak years of the lumber trade, three-
and four-masted schooners were loaded from wharves at
Point Wolfe and Alma. and larger vessels were loaded
off-shore from barges. Mills also were operated inland at
Hastings. about two miles northwest of Alma and at
Bennett Lake adjacent to the present Highway No. 114.
Shipbuilding also provided employment at Alma for
some years.

Eventually the lumber industry waned. The mill at
Point Wolfe, which had operated for years, and had
produced annually as much as several million board feet,
was closed in 1948. The site is now occupied by a park
picnic ground. The mill at Alma, which also had pro-
vided employment for years, was destroyed by fire in
1952 and was not replaced.

When the park was established in 1948, about 50
families occupied small farms or holdings in settlements
known as Hastings. Alma West, and Point Wolfe. All
frecholds were expropriated by the Government of New
Brunswick, and the former inhabitants moved to points
outside the park. Interesting mementoes of the former
inhabitation remain in the form of small cemeteries,
dams and picturesque covered bridges. Vestiges of the
once expansive wharves at Point Wolfe also remain
below the dam as well as the covered bridge which now
provides access to the Point Wolfe Campground. A
number of early roads have been retained as fire or
secondary roads and others are maintained as trails.

Park Development

Steps to develop essential services in the new park were
taken late in 1947, when location surveys were made by
park engineers. In March, 1948, E.G. Saunders, an
experienced forestry officer, was appointed park superin-
tendent, and contracts were awarded for construction
projects in the park. Early operations were concentrated
on a park administration and recreation site situated on
a rolling bench between the Upper Salmon River and
Dickson Brook. Development plans required the re-
moval of a number of buildings owned by former
residents, and an extensive earth-moving operation
which involved the use of 20,000 cubic yards of top soil.
During 1949, an administration building, superintend-
ent’s residence, a large bunk-house, staff dining room
with kitchen, stores, and vehicle repair and storage
buildings were erected. Sites were selected for recrea-
tional developments, which included a large outdoor
swimming pool with adjoining bath-house, tennis courts,
a bowling green, and a public campground. A major
project undertaken was a nine-hole golf course, which
was complemented by a commodious club-house.

An administrative staff was recruited, a park warden
service developed, warden staff quarters built at strategic
locations and a start made on the reconstruction or
improvement of existing roads and trails. By July, 1950,
sufficient progress had been made to permit public use of
visitor services. The park was formally opened on July
29, 1950, by the Minister of Mines and Resources, the
Honourable Robert H. Winters. Distinguished guests at

the opening included the Lieutenant Governor of New
Brunswick, the Honourable D.L. MacLaren, and the
Premier. the Honourable J.B. McNair. The day’s pro-
gram included the official opening of both the park golf
course and the outdoor swimming pool.

Expansion of the park administrative staff and addi-
tions to the park warden service necessitated additional
development. Staff quarters for the park engineer and
the chief park warden were constructed in 1952 and
1953. A wardens’ equipment building was added to the
headquarters complex in 1953. Warden stations were
established at Wolfe Lake in 1950, at Point Wolfe in
1952 and at Lake Brook on the eastern boundary in
1956. A vehicle checking station, which doubled for
some years as an information bureau, was built at the
northwestern entrance in 1950. but its functions later
were changed. A building to accommodate various trade
shops was added to the work compound area at head-
quarters in 1961-62. Garages for the storage of park
vehicles were built at all warden stations, at the head-
quarters housing complex, and at the Superintendent’s
residence. Fire protection in the park was facilitated by
the erection of a fire observation tower on the slope of
Hastings Hill in 1950. An additional tower was built
northwest of Laverty Lake in 1963. Communication
between park headquarters and field stations was im-
proved by the installation of a very high frequency radio
system, which went into operation in October, 1961.

Highways

A major undertaking following establishment of the
park was the realignment and reconstruction of Provin-
cial Highway No. 14 (now 114) within the park from the
Alma River bridge at the southeastern boundary to the
northwestern boundary at Wolfe Lake, then called Lake
View. In 1948, this was a winding gravelled road which,
over the next three years, was converted to a modern
highway. Several major relocations were made, the most
notable of which occurred on Hastings Hill. By 1950, the
entire 12.5 miles had been rebuilt, gravelled and given a
seal coat. Paving was carried out in 1951. Following a
relocation of Provincial Highway 114 immediately
northwest of the park in 1954, a section of new park road
half a mile in length was constructed in 1955, to provide
a link between the new provincial and the old park
highway. This addition was paved in 1956. A major
portion of the Point Wolfe road, one of the most popular
drives in the park was rebuilt in between 1948 and 1950.
The last half-mile was reconstructed in 1956 and the
entire road was improved and hard surfaced in 1960. A
spur road leading from the Point Wolfe road to Herring
Cove was relocated in 1950 and widened and recon-
structed in 1953-54. It received a seal coat in 1960.
Secondary roads in the park, including the Old Shepody
and the Forty-five roads, were improved between 1953
and 1956. The Forty-five road crosses the river of that
name by means of one of the two picturesque covered
bridges remaining in the park.

Bridges

Several covered bridges existed when the park was
established. One, which crossed the outlet of Bennett
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Lake, was removed in 1955 after Highway 114 was
relocated. Those on the Forty-five and the Point Wolfe
roads have been preserved and maintained. Major re-
pairs were made to the latter structure in 1957. The
longest covered bridge in the vicinity of the park was that
providing access from the Village of Alma on Highway
I'14. It crossed the Upper Salmon River in four spans.
three of which were covered. and formed a land mark
until it was replaced in 1967.

This bridge had an interesting political history. for
title to the structure. including lhc approach from the
east. was vested in the Federal Government by a provin-
cial act in 1949. Title, however. was not accepted by the
Minister of Resources and Development. As the bridge
carried much of the visitor traffic to the park. mainte-
nance was carried on by the park administration for
many years, including redecking in 1954 and repainting
in 1957.

Reconstruction of the bridge by the province under a
Roads to Resources Agreement was contemplated in
1960 but the project failed to materialize. Gradual
deterioration of the structure to the stage where public
safety was endangered led to negotiations between offi-
cers of the National Parks Branch and those of the
provincial Department of Public Works at a meeting
held in Fredericton in September. 1965. Following this

meeting, agreement was reached between the Minister of

Northern Affairs and National Resources and the pro-
vincial Minister of Public Works that a new bridge
would be built. Under the terms of the agreement. the
Federal Government shared 25 per cent of the cost and
absorbed the entire outlay made in constructing a new
approach at the western end. The remaining costs were
borne by the province. The agreement was signed on
May 31. 1966, and the new bridge was completed and
opened to traffic in June. 1967. The former dangerous
approach to the old bridge from the east was eliminated
by re-siting the new structure 100 yards downstream.
The discarded bridge was demolished in November.
1967. with the cost shared by the federal and provincial
governments.

Townsite and Cottage Subdivisions
The provision of sites for buildings providing essential
visitor services was made in 1950, when a small subdi-
vision was surveyed in the administrative area. The first
lot was leased in 1951 for a small automotive service
station. A second lot was made available in 1953 for the
erection of a souvenir shop. An essential visitor service —
a public restaurant—was lacking for several years. de-
spite the best efforts of the park administration to attract
a concessionaire. A site was widely advertised in 1954
and a concession awarded but the applicant later with-
drew. Finally, in 1959. a combination restaurant and
supply store was developed in the business subdivision
by the operators of a nearby cabin concession. The needs
of visitors for dining services was partially met in the
meantime by the leasing of space in the golf-clubhouse
for a tea-room. This concession was gradually expanded
into a full scale restaurant operation.

Before the park was established. a small cottage
development existed at Herring Cove on privately-
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owned land. Owners of buildings were required to vacate
their sites following expropriation by the Provincial
Government. With a view to providing replacement sites
for summer homes. the Bayview Subdivision was sur-
veyed by the National Parks Service in 1950, on a ridge
overlooking the Bay of Fundy west of the swimming
pool. Known locally as the Devil’s Half-Acre, the area
contained sufficient space for three blocks containing a
total of 25 lots. An access road to the subdivision from
the Point Wolfe Road was completed in 1952, but plans
to lease lots for cottage developments were cancelled
owing to the high cost of providing essential water and
sewer services. Early in 1956, a site for a bungalow cabin
development in the subdivision was advertised but no
tenders were received. In 1957, a portion of the subdi-
vision was made available to the New Brunswick School
of Arts and Crafts.

Visitor Accommodation
Normally, visitor accommodation in national parks is
provided by private enterprise. Because of a lack of
interest by the public in meeting the demand. the
Department of Resources and Development undertook
the construction of bungalow cabin developments in
three national parks in the Atlantic Provinces. Plans
were developed for a distinctive style of housekeeping
cabin in Fundy Park and 14 units were constructed in
1949. These buildings were leased to a concessionaire in
1950 following a pub ic call for tenders. That year. an
additional 15 cabins together with an administration
building were added to the development and their use by
the lessee authorized. In 1957 the cabins and appurte-
nant buildings were sold to the operator.

An increasing need for visitor accommodation led the
Department to undertake as an employment measure in
the winter of 1957-58, the construction of a 20-unit
motel and a 24-unit cabin development on the slopes of
Hastings Hill east of Highway 114. Both developments
pr0v1dL magnificent views of the Bay of Fundy. Actual
building construction began in February. 1958, and the
motel dlld cabins were complcled early in 1959. Conces-
sions for the separate operation under lease of the motel
and the bungalow cabin camp were awarded in Aprll
1959, after a public call for tenders. Later in 1959. a
administrative building was added to the cabin dcvclop-
ment. since known as the Alpine Chalets.

Camping

Since its establishment, Fundy National Park has en-
joyed an exceptional patronage by campers. The first
campground, located on a bench overlooking the Village
of Alma and the Upper Salmon River, was opened in
1950. Amenities. including kitchen shelter and service
buildings were added and in 1953 the campground was
extended to provide an additional 50 sites. The original
campground had space for a few trailers. In 1959, a
separate trailer park with essential services was devel-
oped and on completion accommodated 29 vehicles.
Small satellite camping areas were opened at Lake View
(now Wolfe Lake), at Bennett Lake. and at Herring
Cove. Later, Herring Cove was restricted to day use. and
an unserviced campground was developed at Houston



Place. since renamed Mic Mac. It has been utilized for
group camping since 1968.

By 1958, the number of campers using park facilities
had increased by 3.000 over the total for 1957 and 8.000
over 1956. In 1959, construction of a modern serviced
campground at Point Wolfe was commenced. Service
buildings erected in this campground were faced with
brick. In 1962, 100 camp sites were opened for use and in
1963 an additional 150 sites were in operation. An
innovation at this campground was the installation in
1967 of coin-operated shower-stalls in the combination
toilet and shower buildings.

Continued camping pressure led to the development of
another serviced campground on Highway No. 114
about two miles north west of park headquarters. The
campground site, originally known as the Bogle Farm
and later changed to Chignecto, had been used to
accommodate overflow from other camping areas. De-
velopment of the new campground was commenced in
1964 and its design made provision for camping sites on
both the north and south sides of the highway. The north
side was open for use on July 1. 1967, and during the
next nine weeks accommodated 21,800 campers. The
southern section of the campground was completed in

July. 1968. By the close of the 1968 season, visitor use of

campground had shown an increase of 37.5 per cent over
1967. Plans were made in 1968 to develop an additional
serviced campground on the south east side of Wolfe
Lake near the north west corner of the park. By the end
of the year, work was well under way and 200 individual
camp sites together with access roads had been cleared.
Development of this new campground was continued
through 1969 into 1970, when a portion of the area was
opened to visitors.

Water Systems

The original water system supplying park headquarters
was installed in 1949-50. Its source of supply was
Dickson Brook. in which a covered catch-basin was
installed. Water was pumped to a hillside reservoir
located at an elevation above the golf course. Although
the storage capacity was enlarged in 1955, the water
supply was inadequate to meet requirements during
periods of low precipitation. In order to meet the antici-
pated demand following construction of additional visi-
tor accommodation, development of a water system was
commenced in 1957. During 1958 and 1959 two con-
crete reservoirs having capacities of 350,000 and 10,000
gallons, together with a valve-house, were constructed on
the slopes of Hastings Hill above Park headquarters.
Water was obtained from the Upper Salmon River by

means of a pump-house constructed at the mouth of

Kinnie Brook. The new system was brought into opera-
tion in April 1969, and the installation of a new distri-

bution system, which involved the laying of 6,200 feet of

cast iron pipe, was completed in November 1960. An
adequate water supply for a new campground at Point
Wolfe was provided by the construction of a brick pump-
house in 1959 and 2,000 gallon concrete reservoir in
1960. Water for the system is drawn from Point Wolfe
River. Chignecto campground is supplied by water from

the headquarters reservoir, from which it is pumped to a
campground reservoir for distribution.

Swimming Pool

A major recreational development in the park was the
construction of a large outdoor swimming pool on the
shore of the Bay of hlndy at the mouth of Dickson
Brook. Construction was commenced in 1948 and com-
pleted in 1950. The pool is fed with salt water drawn
from the bay which is filtered and heated within the pool
building. Incorporated in the structure are dressing
rooms for men and women together with administrative
quarters. For several seasons after its opening in 1950, a
refreshment concession was operated in the building. By
1955, increasing use of the pool necessitated the exten-
sion of the men’s dressing room. In order to provide the
space, the refreshment concession was moved that yezlr
to a new building erected on a site adjoining the public
pdrkmo area. Patrons were given protection from winds
off the bay when a glass windbreak was erected around
the southern end of the pool in 1957.

Golf Course

The park golf course has been a populdr attraction since
its Lompletlon. Located in the valley of Dickson Brook,
the site was selected in 1947 by Stanley Thompson. a
wellknown Canadian landscape architect. Under con-
tract. Thompson later surveyed the area and prepared a
plan for an 18-hole course, together with detailed plans
for the immediate development of nine holes. Construc-
tion was commenced in 1948 and virtually completed in
1949. The course, which is featured by a number of water
hazards, was opened for play in July. 1950. Comple-
menting the course is a large golf club-house built of
sandstone containing a lounge. offices. and men’s and
women’s dressing rooms equipped with showers and
toilets. In 1953, a tea-room concession in the building
was granted after a call for tenders. To meet the visitor
need for dining accommodation. the concession was
expanded to occupy the most of the lounge, after the
kitchen and refrigeration facilities had been improved
and enlarged. A small professional shop adjacent to the
first tee was constructed in 1950 and was replaced by a
larger building in 1962. The contract of the golf course
consultant also provided for the preparation of plans and
specifications for tennis courts and a bowling green.
These amenities were constructed in 1950 on a site
adjoining the golf club-house and were enclosed by
suitable fences. East of the courts and bowling green, a
large area was landscaped and made available for out-
door sports.

Other Attractions

Additional amenities for visitors were developed in
1951. Included was a large assembly hall constructed in
the vicinity of the park campground at headquarters.
This building was designed for community use, conven-
tions and the entertainment of park visitors. Within the
headquarters area and overlooking a small lake.
McLaren’s Pond, an outdoor amphitheatre was devel-
oped, capable of seating 800. The plans incorporated a
combination bandshell and motion picture screen per-
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mitting the staging of a outdoor

entertainments.

variety of

Sport Fishing

Opportunities for angling in the park are diversified.
Speckled and rainbow trout are found in many of the
small lakes and streams and Atlantic salmon occur in
both the Upper Salmon and Point Wolfe Rivers. Biolog-
ical studies of park waters were undertaken in 1950 and
subsequent years, and the restocking of lakes and streams
was carried out with gratifying results. Fishing in Ben-
nett Lake was improved following construction of a dam
and spillway at the outlet in 1952, which raised the water
level by six feet. This lake and Wolfe Lake have yielded
the largest trout taken in the park by anglers.

An attempt to induce salmon to ascend the Point
Wolfe River was made in 1953, when the dam near its
mouth was opened. This action, however, failed to
improve the fishing appreciably, and unfortunately had
the effect of draining the picturesque pond above the
dam. In 1958, the opening in the dam was closed, and

hatches were incorporated to permit the passage of

salmon at high tide during the autumn months.

An increase in the salmon run in the Upper Salmon or
Alma River was noticeable a few years after a fire which
destroyed a mill near Alma in 1952. This improvement
was credited to the disappearance of a dam formerly
used in the lumbering operation, which was washed out
by flood waters. Re-stocking of the upper waters of the
Point Wolfe River and the Upper Salmon River with
salmon fingerlings was undertaken in 1967. It is hoped
that further studies, complemented by restocking, will
help restore the salmon population of these major
streams.

Arts and Crafts

Visitors to the park who enjoy hobbies make full use of

facilities provided by New Brunswick School of Arts and

Crafts, an organization sponsored by the Government of’

New Brunswick. Following the construction of the park
assembly hall at park headquarters in 1951, its tempo-
rary use by the school was permitted for several seasons.
The main hall was used for the display of handicrafts and
the basement was utilized for practical instruction. By
1956, the provincial Department of Industry and Devel-
opment was in a position to proceed with the construc-
tion of workshops. Following a review of possible sites,
Block *“C” in the Bayview Subdivision overlooking the
Bay of Fundy was made available. Two buildings were
erected in August, 1956, and three additional workshops
were completed in 1957. A summer water service was
provided by an extension from the park mains, the cost
of which was borne by the provincial authorities. In
1960. the school was given permission to extend the site
of its operations and two parcels adjoining the original
area were made available following survey. In August
1960, a sixth building was erected. The school has since
become a popular attraction and numerous visitors each
year acquire practical instruction in handicrafts includ-
ing weaving, and leather, wood and metal work. Patrons
retain for their own use, the results of their efforts.
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Interpretation

The park’s topographical features, which combine forest.
open meadow and picturesque coastline washed by the
remarkable tides of the Bay of Fundy, offer an ideal field
for nature study. Prior to the initiation of an interpreta-
tion program in 1961, a wildlife study of the park had
been undertaken in 1948 by an officer of the Canadian
Wildlife Service who identified 77 species of birds. A
botanical survey undertaken in the summer of 1949 by a
seasonal park officer revealed a wealth of flowering
plants, of which 200 were collected and later mounted.
The first nature trails, along Kinnie Brook and at
Dickson Brook Falls, were opened in 1959. A program of
guided walks and camp-fire programs was undertaken
following the appointment of a seasonal park naturalist
in 1961. A permanent naturalist was appointed in 1965
and a seasonal assistant was engaged in 1966. Extension
of the nature trail system was accomplished with the
opening of the Coppermine Trail in 1960 and the
development of the Beaverlodge Trail in 1965. By 1968,
the seasonal interpretation program was receiving par-
ticipation by more than 65,000 visitors. Development of
an on-site interpretation exhibit was commenced that
year at Herring Cove, to explain the unique tides of the
Bay of Fundy. The exhibits, which included a scale
model of the bay and four illustrative panels, were
installed in 1969. Additional interpretative exhibits are
planned at other points in the park, to illustrate interest-
ing historical and ecological features of the past and
present.

Potato Research Station

An unusual feature in Fundy National Park was a potato
research station situated on a high upland west of
Herring Cove. Prior to the establishment of the park, the
Federal Department of Agriculture had been conducting
potato-breeding experiments there for some years. Due
to its comparative isolation, the area occupied was
eminently suited for the purposes of potato-breeding.
and continued use of the property for a period of 10
years was authorized in 1947. The cultivation of a small
auxiliary field near Herring Cove was discontinued in
1949, and in 1951 the area of the station was extended to
include 25 acres. In 1958, the use of an additional 15
acres was authorized. Over the years, the station was
improved by the construction of new administration and
storage buildings. A water supply was obtained by
drilling, and the potato fields were enclosed by a wire
fence to exclude deer from cultivated areas.

Occupation of the site was condoned as the nature of
the research carried on provided a service to Canadians,
and was of particular benefit to one of the basic agricul-
tural industries of the province. Although the original
deadline for termination of the experimental work in the
park was extended indefinitely, planning proposals for
park lands eventually brought about a relocation of the
research station. Following public hearings in October,
1970, on provisional master plans for the future develop-
ment of Fundy National Park, the termination of potato-
breeding research in the park was arranged by negotia-
tion between officers of Parks Canada and the Depart-
ment of Agriculture. A new location was obtained by the



Department of Agriculture at Benton, New Brunswick,
and the site near Herring Cove was evacuated by Decem-
ber 31, 1974.

Future Extensions

Although one of the smaller units of Canada’s National
Park system, Fundy Park rapidly attained a popularity
that strained its capacity for public enjoyment. Camp-
grounds attracted patronage in ever-increasing volume,
not only from Canadian sources but also from the eastern
United States. In 1950, its first full year of operation, the
park had nearly 63,000 visitors. Two years later, the total
exceeded 100,000, and by 1960, this figure had more
than doubled. The 1960’s however, were to witness a
remarkable increase in visitors, with a new record of
753,000 visits established in 1966. During the balance of
the decade, the attendance figures were slightly lower,
but the yearly average was well over 600,000. In 1971,
attendance rose to 760,000.

From time to time, proposals have been made by
organizations and citizens of New Brunswick advocating
the westerly extension of the park to include land along
the Bay of Fundy in Saint John County. One of the
objectives of the proposal was the continuation of the
park road system westerly to permit construction of a
coastal road to be known as the ““Fundy Trail”’. In the
absence of any firm proposals by the provincial govern-
ment, the scheme has made little headway. A small
extension to the park, however, was achieved in 1967,
when two small parcels adjoining Highway 114 at the
northwest corner of the park were purchased to prevent
undesirable development along the park boundary. Ne-
gotiations leading to the acquisition of additional land in
the vicinity bordering Highway 114 and the Old She-
pody Road were completed in 1972, when the Crown
acquired from J.D. Irving Limited, title to two parcels
having a combined area of 132 acres.

Meanwhile, Fundy National Park functions in many
ways for the benefit of Canadians. It preserves as a public
heritage a unique example of the national landscape,
including the upland plateau of the Caledonian
Highlands, and the marine environment of the Fundy
coastline. The park supports a varied wild life, and
provides exceptional opportunities for many forms of
outdocr recreation. Proposals for future use and develop-
ment of the park should help expand its value to the
nation.
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Terra Nova National Park

Canada’s most easterly national park, Terra Nova, forms
an outstanding example of Newfoundland’s Atlantic
coastal region. Situated on Bonavista Bay, about 48 miles
south of Gander, it presents spectacular panoramas of
rocky headlands and a deeply indented shoreline, aga-
inst a rolling forested background. The park lies between
the Northwest Arm of Alexander Bay and Clode Sound,
and contains an area of 153 square miles. It also incorpo-
rates a number of the islands which lie offshore from the
eastern extension of the park mainland.

The fiords or ‘sounds’ which border or indent the
park’s land area are among its distinctive features.
Glaciers of the Ice Age sculptured the rock formations
and also left behind deposits of sand, gravel and large
boulders. Tidal flats at the head of Newman and Clode
Sounds are formed of this glacial sand and gravel, while
the numerous small freshwater lakes and bogs within the
park were formed as depressions gouged out of the
surface by the action of the ancient glaciers. The park
environment has been influenced by its proximity to the
sea. The climate, affected by a branch of the cold
Labrador current in the Atlantic, is featured by cool
summers, mild winters, and considerable precipitation.
Arctic icebergs are frequently seen off-shore in the
months of May and June.

The park’s forest cover is of a northern type, domi-
nated by black spruce and balsam fir. Stands of white
birch and poplar are found throughout the park, inter-
spersed in stream valleys by alder and red maple. Bogs,
thickly matted with wet, spongy spagnum moss are
numerous. One of the largest is the Gros Bog in the
southwestern portion of the park. Sprouting from the
moss may be found shrubs such as the bog laurel,
leatherleaf, pitcher plant and Labrador tea. The variety
of wild animal life is limited, mainly by the comparative
1solation of the island from the mainland of Canada. The
Newfoundland caribou which once migrated across the
island in thousands, is seen occasionally in the vicinity of
the park. However moose, which were introduced to the
Colony of Newfoundland in 1878 and again in 1904 are
prevalent, and may be observed grazing along the Trans-
Canada Highway. Black bear also are found in the park.

Early Park Proposals

The extension of Canada’s system of national parks to
Newfoundland was first given consideration in 1947. In
that year, members of the National Convention of the
Crown Colony met with representatives of the Govern-
ment of Canada in Ottawa to ascertain if a fair and
equitable basis of confederation with Canada might
exist. The Newfoundland delegation included F.G. Brad-
ley, K.C. as chairman and six other leading citizens
including Joseph R. Smallwood. Members of the Cana-
dian Cabinet headed by the Right the Honourable Louis
S. St. Laurent, Secretary of State for External Affairs,
formed the Canadian representation. The meetings were
held in the central parliament building from June 25 to
September 29. Information on the Canadian constitution
and the functions of the various government depart-
ments and agencies was made available to the New-
foundland delegation. In turn, information on New-
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foundland was provided for the use of the Canadian
representatives. At the request of the Newfoundland
delegation, special information concerning the establish-
ment of national parks was furnished. In the material
provided, it was made clear that the Federal Govern-
ment would consider an offer from any province of an
area typical of its best scenic and recreational values for
establishment as a national park, provided title was
offered free of charge and free of encumbrance or
restriction. Details of the steps leading to the establish-
ment of a national park, and the obligations assumed by
a provincial government, also were furnished.!

Prior to and following Newfoundland’s entry into
Confederation on March 31, 1949, discussions between
senior officers of the Government of Newfoundland and
those of the National Parks Branch of the federal
Department of Mines and Resources were held in Ot-
tawa. These talks were followed by a formal request on
December 24, 1949, from the Honourable Edward Rus-
sell. Minister of Natural Resources, for an examination
of several areas in the new province which had been
tentatively selected for consideration as the site of a
national park.® The proposal was accepted by the Ho-
nourable Colin Gibson, then federal Minister of Mines
and Resources, and in May, 1950, James Smart, Director
of the National Parks Branch, was detailed to visit and
report on the proposed areas.

Mr. Smart first visited St. John’s for discussions with
provincial authorities. The Chief Game Warden for the
Province, Captain H.W. Walters was assigned to accom-
pany him on the inspections. The sites which had been
proposed included the Salmonier River and Placentia
Bay areas on the Avalon peninsula, the upper Burin
Peninsula between Placentia Bay and Fortune Bay, the
Bonavista Bay region and an area lying between Trinity
Bay and Conception Bay. Criteria adopted for the
selection of a suitable park area included its accessibility

to concentrated areas of population; scenery typical of

the province including sea-coast terrain; a location that
would encourage travel from points outside the prov-
ince; accessibility from the Trans-Canada Highway; and
minimum disturbance of permanent settlement in the
vicinity.

Mr. Smart’s report confirmed the Bonavista Bay site,
centred on Newman Sound, as the most satisfactory for
park purposes, and recommended its acceptance if of-
fered by the province.? In his opinion, the area, contain-
ing about 250 square miles, was representative of the
best coastal scenery of the province. The proposed route
of the Trans-Canada Highway lay within its western
limits and consequently the park would be accessible to
St. John’s, the largest centre of population in Newfound-
land, as well as to Gander airport. Moreover, the area
proposed would embody many freshwater lakes and
streams, including a section of the Terra Nova River,
and thus provide angling for Atlantic salmon and trout.

Selection of the area also would result in a minimum of

disturbance to permanent settlements or private
ownership.

Although the report was forwarded to the Deputy
Minister of Mines and Resources for Canada in Febru-
ary, 1951, for the information of the Minister, its
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contents were not made available to Newfoundland. Mr.
Smart, however, advised Captain Walters on February
13 of his preference for the Bonavista Bay area as the
future park site. At the same time, Captain Walters was
cautioned that immediate development of any park was
doubtful as it was unlikely that the appropriations
necessary would be available.

No formal action in the establishment of a park was
taken by the Province until December 24, 1953, when
Premier Smallwood advised Prime Minister St. Laurent
by letter that the Government of Newfoundland was
quite satisfied with the proposed site on Bonavista Bay.
and that the Government of Canada would be asked to
accept it for the purposes of a national park in New-
foundland. Premier Smallwood also suggested that ac-
tual development of the park might be deferred for two
or three years, but that in the meantime, Canada might
consider the construction of an access road to the area
which would form a section of the Trans-Canada
Highway.*

The Prime Minister informed Premier Smallwood in
February, 1954, that following discussions with his
colleagues, the Federal Government had approved of the
establishment of a national park in Newfoundland. Mr.
St. Laurent also stated that the Government was pre-
pared to introduce legislation in the Canadian Parlia-
ment that would authorize the proclamation, as a park,
or such lands as the province and Canada agreed were
suitable for the purpose, subject to the condition that the
province would furnish Canada with a clear title. On
receipt of an undertaking that the Government of New-
foundland would convey the area, free of charge and free
of all encumbrances to Canada, the required bill would
be prepared and introduced in Parliament.*

[t also was made clear to Mr. Smallwood that although
the Federal Government was prepared to seek establish-
ment of the park, it was not the intention to develop it
until the necessary appropriations could be made availa-
ble. This reservation, the Prime Minister stated, did not
mean that construction of any part of the Trans-Canada
Highway that would pass through the park would have
to be postponed unduly.

Boundary Negotiations

Negotiations which would determine the boundaries of
the park were initiated in October, 1954, by P.J. Murray.
Deputy Minister of Mines and Resources for Newfound-
land in a letter to R.G. Robertson, Deputy Minister of
Northern Affairs and National Resources. Mr. Murray’s
letter questioned the choice of the Bonavista Bay—
Newman Sound area as the most suitable for a national
park, and asked to be informed of the considerations that
led to its selection. In his letter, Mr. Murray stressed the
value of forest resources to the provincial economy. and
the need of conserving for provincial use ’every available
area of good forest land’. He suggested that “*a forest
“management policy for the park woodlands based on the
maximum sustained yield principle would effectively
supply woods employment to our forest workers and raw
materials for our industries, and if such policy were
followed it would lessen to some degree the disadvan-



tages which we would suffer in passing over this particu-
lar area as a national park”’.6

Mr. Murray also called attention to the urgent need of
the province for additional electric power, and stated
flatly that he could not recommend the inclusion in the
park of the Terra Nova River, unless the right of
utilizing its power potential was reserved to the province.

The Director of the National Parks Branch, J.A.
Hutchison, was consulted in the preparation of a reply.
He explained the limitations imposed by the National
Parks Act respecting the use or harvesting of natural
resources in the parks. The Director offered the opinion
that commercial development of park forests on a sus-
tained yield basis should not be considered. He also
observed that hydro-electric power, under the Act, could
be developed only for use in the park.

Mr. Robertson’s reply was drafted to provide New-
foundland authorities with full explanation of why the
Newman Sound area had been given preference as the
site for the proposed national park. It also contained a
detailed summary of the observations made by James
Smart in his report of the various sites inspected. Mr.
Robertson explained to Mr. Murray that, with respect to
the Terra Nova River watershed, the development of
power within a park for export was precluded by the
National Parks Act. It was suggested that of several
courses open, one might be to exclude from the proposed
park any land that might be affected by water power
development. In return, a compensating area might be
added. As a possibility, Mr. Robertson mentioned Mac-
cles Lake to the west, which had outstanding scenic
attractions and was widely known for its salmon fishing.

Forest Resources Considered

Considerable discussion had developed on the proposal
that the forest resources of the park be harvested. The
Honourable J.W. Pickersgill, Minister of Citizenship and
Immigration and member of parliament for Bonavista-
Twillingate, who had received a copy of Mr. Murray’s
letter, and the Dominion Forester, D.A. Macdonald,
were consulted. Both favoured a forest management plan
for the park. Consequently, the Deputy Minister’s reply
to Mr. Murray offered a concession that departed from
prevailing forestry practices in national parks. The
relevant paragraph read:

“Under the Act and regulations it would be possible to
carry out a fairly extensive programme of cutting in
the interest of good forest management and protec-
tion. Of course, this would depend on the condition of
the forests. However, I would think that after an
inventory had been taken of the area, we would be able
to adopt a plan of annual cutting which would provide
considerable employment and substantial supplies of
lumber. I should point out that any cutting under such
a plan would have to be done in accordance with the
best forestry practices and would be done under the
immediate control of the officers of the park. It would
be a cutting of trees selected and marked by park
officers. Cutting on an ordinary commercial basis
even in accordance with forest management princi-

ples, is not possible if a forest is to be preserved in a
substantially natural state for park purposes™.’

In February, 1955, the provincial Minister of Mines
and Resources, the Honourable F.W. Rowe, advised the
Honourable Jean Lesage, Minister of Northern Affairs
and National Resources, that it would not be possible for
the Government of Newfoundland to indicate the limits
of the proposed park until his officials had an opportu-
nity of consulting with their federal counterparts. At the
same time he expressed the hope that it would be possible
for the Federal Government to proceed with legislation
that would permit establishment of the park, once
agreement on boundaries was reached. Later in May,
Mr. Rowe visited Ottawa, and arrangements were made
for the Chief Engineer of the National Parks Branch,
G.L. Scott, to undertake a reconnaissance of potential
park lands in Newfoundland.?

Mr. Scott made an inspection of the Burin Peninsula,
Bonavista Bay, and adjacent areas from available
highways and by helicopter, and had discussions with a
number of Newfoundland authorities, including Dr.
F.W. Rowe, and his Deputy Minister, P.J. Murray. Mr.
Scott found the provincial representatives extremely
reluctant to have included in any national park, forested
lands having a potential for commercial development.
The report of a Royal Commission of forestry conditions
in Newfoundland, recently tabled in the Provincial
Legislature, had indicated that any expansion of the pulp
and paper industry of the province would require full use
of the entire productive area of the Island.

In the course of his discussions, Mr. Scott suggested
that in lieu of lands within the Terra Nova River
watershed which now appeared to be withheld for future
power development, an area west of Clode Sound be
considered. This area, drained by Northwest Brook and
other streams had characteristics suitable for the support
of wildlife, and also for the enjoyment of sport fishing.
The provincial representatives, however, were reluctant
to commit themselves on this area until it had been
examined for its timber potential.®

Meanwhile, a bill amending the National Parks Act,
which contained provision for the establishment of a
new park in Newfoundland, was introduced in Parlia-
ment. It received assent on June 28, 1955, and authorized
the proclamation of the new park when clear title to
lands satisfactory to both Canada and the Province was
transferred to Canada.'®

Provincial Reports

On August 31, 1955, Premier Smallwood again wrote
Prime Minister St. Laurent concerning the proposed
park. He agreed that the most suitable site for the
proposed park was on the northeast side of Newfound-
land in what is known as the Terra Nova area. There
would be, he said, little difficulty in deciding the bounda-
ries and transferring the land, but for two considerations.
Firstly, there was a considerable potential for the devel-
opment of electric power on the Terra Nova River which
obviously would be exploited in the not distant future. It
was therefore, important not to include this area within
the park. Mr. Smallwood also referred to the report of the
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Royal Commission on Forestry —generally known as the
‘Kennedy’ report—which had indicated that there was
sufficient timber in the Island to warrant the establish-
ment of a third paper mill. Consequently, with his
colleagues, he felt that it was essential that land bearing
timber that would be required for a third paper mill
should not be surrendered to the Federal Government
for park purposes. The provincial government however,
proposed, with the co-operation of the two existing paper
companies, to make a detailed survey of the timber
resources of the Island, in which the proposed park area
would be given early attention.'' The survey was under-
taken by Frank Jenkins, a consulting forester.

The next major development occurred in late Decem-
ber, 1955, when Premier Smallwood advised the Ho-
nourable J.W. Pickersgill by letter that the ‘Jenkins’
report on the timber resources of the proposed park area
had been received. The report disclosed that about 60 per
cent of the area was productive forest land, containing a
large amount of merchantable pulpwood. This informa-
tion, stated the Premier, appeared to rule out the possi-
bility of the land being made available for park purposes
unless something could be done to assure that the timber
would be made available for the third paper mill, if and
when it materialized.'?

The contents of this letter were brought to the atten-
tion of the Minister of Northern Affairs and National
Resources, the Honourable Jean Lesage, and his deputy,
R.G. Robertson. The Director of Forestry, D.A. Macdon-
ald, was consulted concerning the possibility of cropping
the timber for commercial purposes or the establishment
of a forest experiment station within the proposed park.
Mr. Macdonald did not favour a forest experiment
station, as similar stations already were in existence in
Canada in five locations. Forestry Branch officials also
found it difficult to give an opinion on timber cropping
on the basis of information available at the time.

Matters remained static until October 2, 1956, when
Mr. Pickersgill discussed with Mr. Lesage and his dep-
uty, Mr. Robertson, the impasse which had developed in
the establishment of the park, mainly over the question
of harvesting the forested areas. Mr. Pickersgill ex-
pressed the opinion that some slight extension of the
formula for forest management in the park which had
been set out in Mr. Robertson’s letter of October 26,
1954 to Mr. P.J. Murray might be sufficient to secure
definite agreement on the park. Mr. Pickersgill proposed
that if and when a third pulp and paper mill was
established, consideration be given to the cutting of
timber for the purposes of the mill, subject to certain
conditions. These would ensure that cutting would be
carried out on a scientific and controlled management
basis by park authorities; that operations would be
confined to areas not visible to visitors; and that timber
so cut would be sold to the provincial government or the
operators of the paper mill at the full market price. '

After a review of the proposal by his senior staff, Mr.
Lesage advised Mr. Pickersgill on October 17 that in so
far as mature and over-mature timber was concerned,
the existing formula might be modified by the addition
of the following paragraph:
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“In general, the Department of Northern Affairs and
National Resources would be prepared to operate on
the basis that mature and over-mature timber would
be cut up to but not exceeding, the natural increment
of the forest—that is, the annual rate of regrowth.
Such timber would, in the first instance, be used in so
far as necessary for park purposes. Over and above
that amount, the Department would be prepared to sell
the lumber at commercial rates, a preference being
given in such sales to a third pulp and paper mill, if
and when one is established in Newfoundland”."*

A further stipulation imposed was that the formula
would be subject to total exclusion of trees along roads, in
the park headquarters district, and in areas of develop-
ment for tourist use.

Agreement is Reached

Apparently this information was passed on promptly to
Mr. Smallwood, for on November 13, the Premier
advised Mr. Lesage that he had been informed that it
would be possible to permit the harvesting of mature and
over-mature timber in the proposed park up to but not
exceeding the natural annual increment of the forest; to
sell timber not required for park purposes, and to give
preference in such sales to a third mill when one was
established in the province. The assurance of these
concessions evidently removed the last obstacle to the
creation of the park for, as Mr. Smallwood declared,

“I have consulted my colleagues and we have come to
the conclusion that such an assurance would remove
our fears. We are now prepared to have our officials
discuss with the officials of your Department the
appropriate limits of the park with a view to the
earliest possible transfer of the land so that there will
be no further delay in the establishment of the
park”.!3

Then followed discussions and correspondence involv-
ing officers of the federal and provincial government
departments concerned with the administration of na-
tional parks and natural resources. Mr. Lesage confirmed
by letter to the Honourable W.J. Keough, the provincial
Minister of Mines and Resources, the policy that would
govern the disposal of mature and over-mature timber in
the park.'® A proposal that the park should include an
area in the vicinity of Northwest River, west of Clode
Sound, collapsed when Mr. Keough reported that the
area had hydro-electric power development possibilities.
Eventually, on February 14, 1957, Mr. Keough, on
behalf of the Province of Newfoundland, offered title to
acceptable lands in two parcels, separated by a corridor
required to facilitate the development of power from the
Terra Nova River system, if undertaken. In his reply, Mr.
Lesage suggested that title to the two parcels be transfer-
red without the corridor, but that separate descriptions
for each parcel be included. He also proposed that,
should the province later require the smaller parcel for
power development, the Federal Government would by
joint agreement, have it withdrawn from the park by act
of parliament. This proposal was accepted, and agree-



ment on the boundaries of a park was reached in March.,
1957.'7 The westerly boundary extended in a irregular
line southerly from a point east of Traytown on Alexan-
der Bay to a point east of Northwest River on Clode
Sound. The area enclosed Newman Sound, the entire
northern coastline of Clode Sound, and the adjacent off-
shore islands including Swale Island, five miles in length.

By an order of the Executive Council, the Government
of Newfoundland on April 2, 1957, transferred to
Canada an area of 156 square miles which, by comple-
mentary federal order in council, was accepted on April
11, 1957. The proposed agreement providing for the
withdrawal from the park of any land required in future
by Newfoundland for the development of hydro-electric
power, was completed by Mr. Keough and Mr. Lesage on
March 12, 1957, under authority of the Governor in
Council."® In accordance with legislation enacted in
1955, the new park, later named Terra Nova, was
established by proclamation in the Canada Gazette on
May 11, 1957. Following a survey of the park bounda-
ries in 1958, the actual area of the park was determined
to be 153 square miles.

The creation of Terra Nova extended the national
park system to the most easterly part of Canada. It
reserved as a public possession an impressive and spec-
tacular section of Newfoundland’s Atlantic coastline.
Nevertheless, its area and characteristics fell short of
fulfilling the hopes of the national parks officers who
carried out the early field investigations. The park lacked
an area capable of sustaining the woodland caribou, a
species of the deer family that once inhabited the island
in thousands. The possibility of making available to
visitors the pleasures of salmon fishing was not realized.
Over the park forests hung the spectre of a quasi-
commercial cutting operation, destined to absorb their
annual growth, should the pulp and paper industry of the
province be expanded. As the St. John’s Evening Tele-
gram editorialized:

“The Newfoundland national park, according to
latest Canadian Press reports, has been cut in area
Sfrom the original 400 or more square miles to 150
square miles on either side of the pr oposed transinsu-
lar highway. The effect of the reduction in area will be
to destroy a great deal of the park’s value as a wildlife
refuge, a p[ace of scientific study and for holiday

recredation .

“It is a pity that out of 160,000 square miles a mere
400 or 500 could not be found some where for
conversion into a national park without putting our
whole industrial future in jeopardy. Ottawa has been
ready since 1950 to set up a national park in New-
JSoundland, but the Provincial Government has spent
seven years stalling. Their attitude has been that
they’d be delighted to set aside an area for a national
park provided the Federal Government would allow
them to build a pulp mill in the middle of it, or open a
mine, or start several sawmills, or build dams and
canals for a hydro-electric development . ..”

“Readers who recall the glowing articles and superb

pictures of the proposed national park area published
in The Telegram these past three years and who are
Sfamiliar at first hand with the beauties, by sea and by
land, of Clode Sound, Newman'’s Sound, and Alexan-
der Bay, will be greatly disappointed that the National
Park area could not have been extended to include
much of this ideal territory, instead of being chipped
down by political chisels to a mere right-of-way for a
highroad’."”

Early History

Newfoundland was one of the first sections of North
America to be discovered by Europeans. Some historians
believe that John Cabot made his landfall of Cape
Bonavista on May 24, 1497. The provincial capital, St.
John’s owes its name to the festival day of St. John the
Baptist, celebrated on that date. England’s first claim to
the island was made in 1583 by Sir Humphrey Gilbert. A
Crown or self-governed colony of Great Britain for more
than 300 years, Newfoundland became the tenth prov-
ince of Canada in 1949,

The fisheries of Newfoundland’s coastal waters at-
tracted world-wide attention and were responsible for
many of the early settlements. The first permanent
settlement of the island was attempted at Cupids on
Conception Bay in 1610. Permanent occupation of the
area in the vicinity of the park is believed to date from
the 17th century. R.H. Tait recorded in his history of
Newfoundland that Bonavista was one of its oldest
settlements, and that the first school on the island was
opened there in 1726.2% Salvage, located on Bonavista
Bay, also dates from the earliest days, and Happy
Adventure, just east of the park boundary, was founded
about 1868. Settlement later was extended to the New-
man and Clode Sound areas, and is perpetuated in
communities bearing such diversified names as Tray-
town, Sandringham, Eastport, Charlottetown, and Port
Blandford.

The use of timber for boat-building led to the develop-
ment of a lumber industry, and the population, scattered
in small communities along the numerous bays and
sounds, relied mainly on fishing, and lumbering for a
livelihood. Much of the area now within the park was cut
over extensively in forest operations, and, as late as 1957,
several small sawmills were functioning. Most of the
mills were operated by steam, generated in wood burn-
ing boilers. A few were water-powered. Fires on mill sites
were not uncommon, and occasionally surrounding
forests were ignited. By 1950, many of the small-mill
operators had been forced out of business, partly from a
shortage of suitable logs, and also as a result of competi-
tion from dealers who imported cheaper lumber from
the mainland of Canada. A few of the larger and better
organized mill owners were able to continue operations
until their sites were acquired for national park purposes
in 1957. Among the last mills to close were the Turner
mill at the mouth of Saltons Brook and the Lane mill at
the head of Newman Sound. Farther east at Minchins
Cove, also on Newman Sound, were the Powell and King
mills. One mill remains in operation in Charlottetown,
which together with a small surrounding area, were
excluded from the park on its establishment.
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Early Development

Following agreement between Canada and the province
on boundaries. development of the new park was com-
menced in May. 1957. Operations were concentrated at a
park headquarters site located at the head of Newman
Sound. Acting Park Superintendent, Fred Dunphy, su-
pervised contour surveys for the location of buildings.
access roads and visitor accommodation. A temporary
work camp was established at Lane’s wharf and admin-
istrative assistance was recruited. Early supplies and
materials were transported from railhead at Alexander
Bay to Happy Adventure by road and shipped from there
by boat to a wharf at headquarters. By July, 1957, access
from the railway to Salton’s Brook by highway and road
was possible. cutting the water route to less than two
miles. Temporary buildings erected in 1957 included
two bunk houses, a cook-house, wash-house and several
small structures. In June, 1958, a permanent superin-
tendent, J.H. Atkinson, was appointed and during that
year construction of roads, buildings and visitor services
in final locations was accelerated. A park warden service
was established under a Chief Park Warden, Ben Roper,
and a forest management plan embarked on. Progress
made in the construction of Trans-Canada Highway
from the north gradually facilitated its use by vehicles
transporting essential supplies.

Park Buildings

The headquarters site selected for the development of a
maintenance compound, an administration building,
and a staff residence area, was located on a bench
overlooking Newman Sound and accessible by roads
leading from the Trans-Canada Highway. Early perma-
nent buildings erected in 1958 included four single and
two duplex staff dwellings, a warehouse, workshop,
power house, and lumber storage shed. In 1959, a
handsome park-superintendent’s residence overlooking
Newman Sound was completed, a new wharfand adjoin-
ing boat gear building constructed, and a central garage
erected in the maintenance area.

A water system was developed by sinking two wells
near the mouth of Big Brook and construction of a
20,000 gallon reservoir served by pumps. A start was
made in 1959 on the construction of an administration
building which was completed and brought into use in
1960. During 1961, an information centre located on the
road serving the administration building was completed.
A concrete ramp adjoining the headquarters wharf was
poured in 1962 and a new 42-foot patrol boat was built
by park staff.

Visitor Accommodation

Early consideration was given to the provision of visitor
accommodation in the park. Plans were developed in
1957 for the construction by the National Parks Branch
of a bungalow cabin camp on Newman Sound about half
a mile south of the park wharf. The first ten cabins,
consisting of five single and five double units, were
erected in 1958 under a winter work program. An access
road to the cabins was completed in 1960 and the
buildings were leased that year to a concessionaire
following a public call for tender. In 1961, an additional
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nine single cabins were added to the concession. During
the first two years of operation, one double cabin was
allocated to the concessionaire for administration and
staff purposes, but in 1962 a combined administration
and services building was added. This structure accom-
modated a restaurant seating 32 patrons, a grocery and
souvenir store, a large kitchen, and living quarters for
the manager and his staff.

Official Opening

Progress made in the development of the park by May,
1960. prompted the Honorable Alvin Hamilton, Minis-
ter of Northern Affairs and Natural Resources, to fore-
cast its formal opening in 1961. The official host at the
function, held on July 15, 1961, was, however, the
Honourable Walter Dinsdale, who had succeeded Mr.
Hamilton as Minister in October, 1960. On ‘opening
day’. the 27 miles of the Trans-Canada Highway within
the park had been completed and paved, adequate
administration, staff, and maintenance buildings had
been erected, a start made on the development of a
modern serviced campground, and several picnic sites
had been provided along the main highway.

The ceremonies were staged in the vicinity of the park
wharf on Newman Sound. The Honourable William J.
Browne, M.P. for St. John’s West and Solicitor General,
presided as chairman. Dedication addresses were deliv-
ered by Premier Joseph R. Smallwood of Newfoundland.
and the Honourable Walter Dinsdale. Premier Small-
wood expressed the thanks of the people of Newfound-
land for the contribution of the Government of Canada
in the development of the park, which he termed “‘a
blessing from Heaven—a gift of God”.?! Mr. Dinsdale
commented on the choice of the name ‘Terra Nova’ for
the new park. He prophesied that ““this park will be new
land too, for Canadians, who will throng in increasing
numbers to see Newfoundland scenery at its finest. for
United States visitors who are finding in your province
new vacation vistas, and for Newfoundland expatriates
who can now return home to holiday in a superb
national park, so truly characteristic of the Island””. Mr.
Dinsdale concluded the program by unfurling the Cana-
dian ensign.

Highway Development

A dominant feature of the park is the 26-mile stretch of
the Trans-Canada Highway which traverses almost its
entire length. Original plans of the Provincial Govern-
ment called for construction of the highway along a route
situated from one to five miles east of the Newfoundland
railway, but during negotiations leading to the establish-
ment of the park, agreement was reached on a location
nearer to Newman Sound. In April, 1955, Premier
Smallwood had written to Prime Minister St. Laurent
explaining that by the end of the year, only a compara-
tively short gap in the trans-island road would remain,
much of which would pass through the area proposed for
the park. Anxious to have the highway completed, Mr.
Smallwood asked for assurance that, if any portion of the
right-of-way was included in the park, the Federal
Government would reimburse the province for the cost
of its construction. This request was acceded to. on the



understanding that the National Parks Branch was
consulted in the selection of the route, and that the
national park would be established within a year of the
completion of the grading of the road.

The feasibility of an alternative route was determined
by a reconnaissance survey undertaken in October 1955,
by G.L. Scott, Chief Engineer of the National Park
Branch. Mr. Scott was accompanied by two officers of the
Newfoundland Government and a member of the Cana-
dian Wildlife Service. The route chosen led easterly from
a point near Alexander Bay Station almost to the South-
west Arm of Alexander Bay, and thence southerly over
high land west of Newman Sound to Charlottetown on
Clode Sound. From Charlottetown, the road followed the
Sound westerly to the Park boundary.

A contract for the construction of a section of the
highway north of Big Brook was let by the Province of
Newfoundland in 1956, but after the park was estab-
lished in 1957, completion of this stretch and construc-
tion of the southern section was supervised by the
Federal Department of Public Works. A link-up between
the northern and southern sections was made in 1959
and by November, grading of the entire route had been
completed. The highway within the park was paved with
asphaltin 1960 to a width of 42 feet.

Most of the road system in the park headquarters area
was constructed between 1958 and 1960. These roads
provide access to the maintenance compound, the park
wharf, the staff housing area, administrative headquar-
ters and Newman Sound campground and picnic areas.
Access roads to fire detection towers at Blue Hill and
Ochre Hill were cleared in 1958 and gravelled in 1959,
but were not completed to secondary road standard until
1964. In 1958, the Federal Government co-operated
with the province in the construction of a road providing
access to the settlement of Terra Nova from the Trans-
Canada highway. The 2.2 mile section in the park later
was improved by widening, grading and gravelling
between 1959 and 1967. A major secondary road project
was undertaken in 1961 by the construction of a link in a
new road connecting the Trans-Canada Highway with
Eastport. The work within the park involved five miles of
difficult construction, including a rock-filled causeway
nearly a mile in length across the mouth of Broad Cove.
This new road was completed in September 1965 and
visitors using it obtain spectacular views of Alexander
Bay, Broad Cove and Southwest Arm.

Camping Amenities

Residents of Newfoundland are dedicated enthusiasts
for outdoor recreation, and early plans for park develop-
ment made provision for both campgrounds and picnic
areas. The principal campground was located at the head
of Newman Sound south of Park Headquarters, on a site
previously occupied by the dwellings of the Lane Saw-
mill employees. The first section of the campground was
cleared in 1959. In 1960, three kitchen shelters were
erected and the installation of water, sewage and electri-
cal services was undertaken. Although, not officially
open, the campground was used in 1960 and 1961 by
hardy campers. With the opening of the 1962 season,
100 individual sites were made available and the issue of

camping permits was instituted. Additional kitchen
shelters, a laundry building and combination toilet and
shower buildings were added, and by 1963 the develop-
ment of Area No. | containing 125 campsites had been
completed.

The development of Area No. 2, designed to accom-
modate 210 campsites, was commenced in 1964 at the
end of the 1966 season, kitchen shelters, a laundry
building, and toilet-shower buildings were available to
visitors, bringing the number of campsites to 332. The
final development of Newman Sound Campground got
under way in 1967 when work on Area No. 3 was
undertaken. Following the installation of services and
erection of buildings, this section containing 85 camp-
sites was available for use in 1968. During the 1968
season, more than 100,000 campers were
accommodated.

Construction of a new campground adjacent to
Highway No. 39 on Alexander Bay was undertaken in
1971.

A move to provide visitors with camping space in
more remote areas was made in 1967, when develop-
ment of two primitive campsites was commenced on
Newman Sound at Minchin’s Cove and at South Broad
Cove. Both areas were the sites of abandoned sawmill
communities, and are reached over water by boat.
Wharves were constructed at both sites, and by 1969 the
South Broad Cove area was equipped to accommodate
visitors. The Minchin’s Cove site has yet to be fully
developed.

Picnic Areas

Following completion of the Trans-Canada Highway,
the Park Superintendent developed several picnic or
day-use areas along the roadside to permit rest and lunch
stops. In 1960, picnic sites equipped with tables and
supplied with fresh water were opened at Cobbler’s
Brook on Clode Sound, at South West Brook north of
park headquarters, and at Burnt Point on the Eastport
road, a mile east of Traytown. Between 1961 and 1967, a
well-equipped picnic area was developed adjoining the
Newman Sound Campground. Another picnic site was
developed at the mouth of Salton’s Brook in 1962 and
made accessible by road from the Trans-Canada
Highway. More remote picnic grounds also were laid out
at Platters Beach on Clode Sound in 1967 and at the
head of South West Arm in 1969. The site at Platters
Beach remains accessible only by boat, but that at South
West Arm was made accessible from the Trans-Canada
Highway in 1969, when a commodious parking lot was
completed.

Sandy Pond Day-use Area

Early in 1964, the development of a public recreation
area at Sandy Pond about 4 1/2 miles south-west of park
headquarters was undertaken. Construction of an access
road and a parking area together with a clean-up of
proposed beach and picnic areas, were carried on that
year. The area was opened to the public in July 1965,
after construction of a change-house and a kitchen
shelter, and the provision of a water supply and sanitary
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features. The pond is fringed by a sloping sandy beach
which provides safe bathing for both adults and children.
Maintenance of a satisfactory water level throughout the
summer season was assured by the construction of a
temporary wooden dam at the outlet of the pond in
August, 1965. This structure was replaced by a concrete
dam in 1968. The popularity of the area, which was
enhanced by the construction of a board walk along the
beach, led in 1969 to the development of an additional
parking lot to accommodate the cars of visitors. In 1970,
the picnic area was expanded, a new section of artificial
beach developed, and both parking lots were paved.

Forest Protection

Action to protect the forests of the park was taken
immediately following its establishment. Authority was
obtained from Treasury Board to have forest fire protec-
tion carried on by the Newfoundland Department of
Resources during the fiscal year 1957-58 at cost, pending
the organization of a park protective service. In 1958 a
park warden service was established, staff dwellings
erected at park headquarters, and a warden station built
on the Trans-Canada Highway near the Village of
Charlottetown. A fire detection tower was erected on
Ochre Hill mid-way between Newman Sound and Clode
Sound in 1958, and a similar tower overlooking Blue Hill
Pond was constructed in 1962. Access to both towers was
provided by roads from the Trans-Canada Highway
which later were improved. Patrol cabins were built at
Dunphy’s Pond and at Park Harbour in 1961. The cabin
at Dunphy’s Pond is accessible by trail from the Trans-
Canada Highway and that at Park Harbour by boat.

In 1965, a third fire tower was erected on a site
overlooking the west side of Dunphy’s Pond. This tower,
known as Gros Bog. was put into operation in 1966,
having been made accessible from the Terra Nova Road
by bombardier trail. Situated at an elevation of 709 feet
above sea level, it provided a remarkable view of the
southwestern portion of the park. During the spring of
1970, an additional fire tower was located on Park
Harbour Hill. This building. incorporating a radical new
design, was airlifted to the site in sections by helicopter.
On completion, it provided an excellent coverage of
territory between Newman and Clode Sounds and ob-
viated the need for the Ochre Hill Tower for fire
detection purposes. Consequently, the latter structure
was made available to the Park interpretation service for
use in conjunction with the Ochre Hill Nature Trail. The
development of a park radio-telephone system which
permitted communication from park headquarters to
warden stations, fire towers, and most park vehicles,
made the work of protecting the forests much easier.

Water and Power

By 1965, the water supply at park headquarters was
inadequate to meet the demand resulting from camp-
ground and other developments. Steps were taken that
year to obtain water from Rocky Pond by installing a
pipe line. Development of the new water system involved
construction of a large underground reservoir and a
pump house on a site located a short distance from the
original wood-stave reservoir. The installation of a new
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distribution system, designed to provide water to Areas 2
and 3 in the Newman Sound Campground, was com-
menced early in 1966. The water line from Rocky Pond
and the main reservoir structure were completed by late
autumn that year but the installation of pumping and
chlorinating equipment, testing, and other essential
work delayed full operation of the new system until
1967.

An increasing need for electric power, originally
developed from a diesel plant in the compound area at
park headquarters. led to negotiations in 1965 with the
Newfoundland Light and Power Company in order to
have its power lines extended from Traytown. Following
completion of a franchise agreement in April 1966,
under the terms of which the Government of Canada
made a substantial cash contribution to the cost of
installation, the company built a three-phase power line
to park headquarters, a distance of about ten miles.
Clearing of a right of way and installation of the line was
carried out in 1966 and the final power hook-up was
completed in January 1967. By the agreement, the
company obtained the exclusive right to sell electric
power to the Federal Government, which in turn re-
tained the right to resell power to customers in the park.
A unit of the original diesel power plant was retained for
use in emergencies.

Park Interpretation

A national park interpretation program was inaugurated
in Terra Nova Park in 1967, when a park naturalist and
an assistant naturalist were appointed to the staff. That
year, visitors were invited to participate in conducted
walks in the Newman Sound area, and to attend talks
illustrated with slides and films held in the vicinity of the
Newman Sound Campground. The Sandy Point Nature
Trail also was developed that year along the shore of
Newman Sound north of the park wharf. In 1968, a
second nature trail was laid out in the vicinity of the
Ochre Hill fire tower, which later was turned over to the
Interpretation Service.

The interpretation program was broadened in 1969.
Office and laboratory space was made available in the
Park Information Centre, and a large trailer was ac-
quired for use in the vicinity as a temporary exhibit
centre. Projection equipment installed in the trailer
permitted the showing of slides accompanied by a sound
narrative. Additions to the seasonal Interpretation staff
in 1969 resulted in an expanded program. Better accom-
modation for park visitors attending the talks and film
showings arranged by the park naturalists resulted from
the completion, early in 1970, of a new outdoor amphi-
theatre in the vicinity of the Newman Sound picnic area.
Equipped with sound projection equipment, it seated an
audience of several hundred.

The first of several on-site exhibits planned for the
park was installed at the Ochre Hill Tower in 1970. It
explains the geological history of the park and the
influence of the Ice Age on the landscape as it exists
today.



The Future

Although it does not contain all the physical and aes-
thetic features originally envisioned by its sponsors.
Terra Nova National Park has achieved an ever-increas-
ing popularity with residents of, and visitors to, New-
foundland. The Trans-Canada Highway provides access
to the park both from the north and the south, and
satellite roads lead to numerous points of attraction. In
1960, a year before its formal opening. the park was
visited by some 20,000. The following year, with camp-
ground and other accommodation available, the park
was host to nearly 30,000 visitors. By the end of 1965,
the annual attendance had exceeded 100,000, and by
1969 it was more than 300.000.

Newfoundlanders are avid campers and picnickers,
and the areas provided for these forms of recreation also
received a growing patronage. Between 1963 and 1967,
the number of campers in the park quadrupled from
8,000 to 34,000. Currently, the extension of picnic or
““day use’ areas, which in 1971 could accommodate
1,000 persons, reflected the popularity of this form of
amenity.

[t seems unlikely that the area of Terra Nova Park will
be enlarged in the future. There are, however, many
interesting portions of the park that have yet to be made
easily accessible. Some of these lend themselves to
development as interpretation areas, in which the natu-
ral phenomena is explained by on-site exhibits and talks
by members of the Park Interpretation service. As access
to these areas is made possible by the construction of
secondary roads and walking trails, a growing apprecia-
tion of the park and its unique geological and physical
attractions may be expected.
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Kejimkujik National Park

Canada’s heritage of outstanding wilderness areas was
enhanced by the creation of Kejimkujik National Park in
Nova Scotia. In contrast to the maritime character of
Cape Breton Highlands Park, Kejimkujik Park forms an
excellent example of inland Nova Scotia. It lies in the
western part of the province, approximately midway
between Annapolis Royal and Digby on the Annapolis
Basin to the northwest, and Liverpool on the Atlantic
Ocean to the southeast. It is accessible both from north
and south by Provincial Highway No. 8, which intersects
the entrance road to the park just south of Maitland
Bridge. Incorporating an area of approximately 145
square miles, the park is a land of numerous lakes—
many of them dotted with islands —of tumbling streams,
and of rocky landscapes having a background of conifer-
ous and hardwood forests. The park takes its name from
the largest lake within its boundaries, Kejimkujik, a
Micmac word that has been given various translations.
One authority has stated that the name, which has
several spellings, means "attempting to escape’. Another
has alleged that the meaning is ‘swelled parts’.! A more
credible translation, suggested by Thomas Raddall, is
‘the stricture passage’, given by the Micmacs to the outlet
of the lake, when fish weirs constructed by them backed
up the water and caused the lake to “swell””.? The
spelling, ‘Kejimkujik’, adopted for the park, was ap-
proved by the Geographic Board of Canada on March
18, 1909.

Many of the physical features of the park were sculp-
tured by the last Ice Age in Canada. Thick glaciers and
sheets of ice then covered the area, scouring the rocky
outcrops and gouging out depressions which now con-
tain shallow lakes. After the climate became warmer and
the ice melted, huge granite boulders carried along by
the ice were left scattered across the land or in the lakes.
The layer of soil left behind after the retreat of the ice is
generally thin and rocky. In the eastern part of the park,
where the soil has more depth, it was pushed into dome-
shaped or elongated hills known as drumlins. The
western part of the park, which has a higher elevation, is
underlain by granite, and is quite rocky.

Kejimkujik Lake is about five miles long and three
miles wide. It is fed by three rivers and several streams,
and is drained by the Mersey River. The Mersey enters
Kejimkujik Lake at its northeastern corner and leaves it,
through George Lake, at the southeastern end. One area
of Kejimkujik Lake is so shallow and boulder-strewn
that it is hazardous for boating. Peskawa and Peskowesk
Lakes in the southwestern part of the park and Big Dam
and Frozen Ocean Lakes in the northwest, are among the
largest bodies of water. All drain southeasterly into the
Mersey River. Grafton Lake is the largest in the eastern
portion of the park.
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Early Park Proposals

Representations for the establishment of a second na-
tional park in Nova Scotia took form as early as 1945.
That year, the Annapolis Valley Boards of Trade at a
meeting in Kentville sponsored a resolution recommend-
ing the creation of a national park on Cape Blomidon,
overlooking Minas Basin. The proposal was referred to
Premier A.L. Macdonald of Nova Scotia, who, in turn
passed on the recommendation to the federal Minister of
Mines and Resources, the Honourable J.A. Glen. Mr.
Glen reminded Premier Macdonald that Cape Blomidon
had been one of the areas considered as a national park
in 1934, when the site had been rejected as it failed to
meet national park standards.® However, a lobby for
reconsideration of this area continued, and recurring
proposals that Cape Blomidon be made a national park
led to a re-examination of the area in May, 1949. This
was undertaken by James Smart, Controller of the
National Parks Bureau at Ottawa, in the company of E.L.
Boulter, Assistant Provincial Forester. Mr. Smart re-
ported that he could not recommend the acceptance of
the area for development as a national park.*

In December, 1960, Premier R.L. Stanfield discussed
at Ottawa with the Honourable Walter Dinsdale, Minis-
ter of Northern Affairs and Natural Resources, the
establishment of a second national park. Cape Blomidon
again was mentioned, but, as Mr. Dinsdale remarked, it
had been studied on two previous occasions and consid-
ered unsuitable.® Another area mentioned was one in
southwestern Nova Scotia, but no commitments were
made. The subject was discussed again by Mr. Stanfield
and Mr. Dinsdale in the summer of 1961. In October,
Mr. Dinsdale suggested to Mr. Stanfield by letter that the
matter of another park might be clarified if the province
would make a selection of several areas with park
potential that might be studied and reported on. This
proposal was accepted, and in May, 1962, arrangements
were made for the initial field examination of three
proposed areas.® These included an area around Kejim-
kujik Lake; an area in Cape Blandford on the southern
Atlantic coast west of Halifax; and Cape Blomidon. The
study group, consisting of two officers of the National
Parks Branch at Ottawa, and a representative of the
provincial government, reported favourably on the Ke-
jimkujik area after a brief field examination in June. A
recommendation that the site be examined in detail was
adopted and in September, 1962, it was implemented.
The inspection team was composed of two members of
the Planning Division of the National Parks Branch at
Ottawa, Lloyd Brooks and G.D. Taylor, and the chief
park naturalist, Dr. G. Stirrett. The province was repre-
sented by the Deputy Minister of Lands and Forests, Dr.
G.W.IL Creighton. With the aid of maps, aerial photo-
graphs, and land, water and air transportation, the area
was thoroughly examined and tentative boundaries were
outlined.

A comprehensive report prepared by the participating
National Parks officers indicated that an area of about
150 square miles surrounding Kejimkujik Lake would
constitute a valuable addition to the national park
system. The report also recommended that the park, if
established, should include a representative stretch of the

118

provincial coastline, as represented by areas at Cape La
Have Island east of Liverpool and Hell Bay at the
entrance of Medway Harbour.”

The Park Takes Form

A copy of the report was forwarded to Premier Stanfield
on December 28, 1962. In his covering letter, Mr.
Dinsdale advised the Premier that if the report was
acceptable to Nova Scotia, he would recommend to his
colleagues that the Federal Government accept the
obligations involved in developing a second park in
Nova Scotia.* At a meeting in Ottawa on February 25,
1963, Premier Stanfield confirmed that the province was
prepared to make the necessary lands available, subject
to the delimitation of boundaries and agreement that the
water supply for existing hydro developments outside
the park would not be impaired by future park develop-
ment.’ The offer was accepted and a boundary survey
proposed. A federal election held in April, 1963 resulted
in a change of government. However, Premier Stanfield
promptly reaffirmed the desire of the province to proceed
with the proposed park. The new federal minister re-
sponsible for national parks, the Honourable Arthur
Laing, concurred in the proposal and obtained the
approval of the Cabinet on June 6, 1963. A press release
issued jointly by Mr. Laing and Premier Stanfield on
July 24, 1963, committed both the federal and the
provincial governments to the establishment of a new
park.'’

Action to determine the final boundaries of the new
park was taken in August, 1963, when officers of the
National Parks Branch and those of the Provincial
Department of Lands and Forests met in Halifax. Aerial
reconnaissance flights were made over Kejimkujik Lake
and the coastal areas under consideration. In July, 1964,
a formal request was made to the province for an
additional 550 acres along the proposed northeastern
boundary of the Kejimkujik area to facilitate the con-
struction, in the best possible location, of an entrance
road from Highway No. 8.

The province commenced acquisition of privately-
owned lands in August, 1964. Land assembly was facili-
tated by an exchange made with a large paper manufac-
turing company in order to include in the park some
40,000 acres southwest of Kejimkujik Lake. The initial
transfer of title by the province to Canada was made in
October, 1964. The enacting order in council, however,
indicated that the lands had been acquired under the
Expropriation Act for a “‘recreational area”. On the
recommendation of the Department of Justice, it was
suggested to the province that special legislation be
enacted authorizing the acquisition of land for the
purpose of a national park. This legislation was passed
by the province in March, 1965, and opened the way to
the acceptance of title to lands by Canada.'' Additional
delay occurred when legal officers in Ottawa ruled that
the provincial order in council transferring the land to
Canada failed to transfer its administration and control
without qualification. It was suggested that exclusive
jurisdiction including that over mines, minerals, timber,
fishing and hunting might be effected by agreement
between the province and Canada.'? This information



was relayed to the Deputy Minister of Lands and Forests
for Nova Scotia, and a draft agreement, drawn along
lines of an agreement completed in 1936 between
Canada and Nova Scotia respecting the establishment of
Cape Breton Highlands Park, was enclosed.

An acceptable transfer of title to the proposed park
lands from Nova Scotia to Canada was made in May,
1967, and formal acceptance was authorized by the
Governor General in Council on July 26, 1967.!3 The
order in council also permitted the Government of
Canada to enter into the proposed agreement with Nova
Scotia. The agreement, signed in August, 1967, on behalf
of Canada by the Honourable Arthur Laing, Minister of
Northern Affairs and National Resources, and by the
Honourable E.D. Haliburton, Minister of Lands and
Forests for Nova Scotia, confirmed the transfer of the
lands, including mines and minerals, and gave Canada
exclusive jurisdiction to legislate in the management,
operation, maintenance and preservation of the lands as
a national park. The agreement also provided that
neither party would permit the construction of works
that, in any way, would alter the flow of or impair the
quality of water of the upper Mersey River system
flowing through the lands."*

Meanwhile, the formal establishment as a national
park of the two areas transferred was delayed. Normally,
new national parks were established by proclamation in
the Canada Gazette pursuant to statutory authority
authorizing the establishment of such park. A bill to
amend the National Parks Act was prepared and printed
in the Spring of 1964, but was not acted on. Legislation
which would have provided authority for the establish-
ment of the park was prepared in subsequent years, but,
for various reasons, the bills were not proceeded with.
Finally, on May 7, 1974, royal assent was given to an
amendment to the National Parks Act which authorized
including in the Schedule of the Act a description of the
lands forming Kejimkujik National Park. Pending this
legislation, the protection of game was facilitated by the
Province of Nova Scotia in October, 1967, when by
Order in Council, it established the proposed park area
as a game sanctuary.

Indian Occupation
Much of the land now forming the park was once the
home of the Micmac Indians. This branch of the Algon-
quins at one time occupied the entire area of what is now
Nova Scotia, as well as the northern part of New
Brunswick and all of Prince Edward Island. Evidence of
the popularity of Kejimkujik Lake with Indians as a
camping spot remains in etchings or petroglyphs found
on the slate outcrops along the shores. These ‘sketches’,
which represent drawings of animals such as moose and
caribou, hunting and fishing techniques, and Micmac
women’s headgear, are prominent at the entrance to
Fairy Bay, at Peter Point, and at George Lake. Their
existence was first noted historically by Joseph More in
1873. Artifacts in the form of arrowheads, spearheads,
and tomahawks have been found at former campsites
and along canoe routes.

About 1835, some of the Micmacs were encouraged by
government officials to abandon their nomadic life and

settle on reservations. One such reservation, described by
Joseph Howe in 1842 as the ““Fairy Lake Indian Re-
serve”’, was located within the present park
boundaries.'* The most prominent Indian in the settle-
ment was John Jeremy, who, with his family, lived on
what is now Jim Charles Point. Altogether, about 40
Indians lived around Fairy or Kejimkujik Lake. Some
years later, Jim Charles became a leading member of the
Kejimkujik Lake Indian settlement. He registered title to
land at Jim Charles Point in 1862, having acquired the
holdings of six other Indians. Jim Charles also attained
some fame as a discoverer of gold, and although he was
considered affluent for a few years, he died in poverty.
According to Thomas Raddall, the well-known Nova
Scotia author, the Jim Charles mineral find lay far to the
west of Kejimkujik Lake on the Tusket River. Eventually,
it was staked as a claim and developed by others. '

Pioneer Settlement

Early settlement of Queens County moved northerly
from Liverpool, which was established in 1764. Caledo-
nia, the largest village near the park, was settled in 1820,
and Grafton, Harmony and Kempt about 1821.!” Con-
current with settlement was the development of the
lumbering industry, which utilized the Mersey River for
Spring drives of logs downstream to mills at Milton and
other points near Liverpool. Large sawdust piles and
accumulations of slabs at various points in the park
remain as evidence of a vanished industry. Big Dam
Lake and Mill Falls no doubt owe their names to the
lumber trade which, about 1842, supported in Queens
and adjacent counties nearly 60 sawmills.'® Following
the discovery of gold in the vicinity, Caledonia became
the centre of a boom that reached its peak in the 1890°s.
A weekly newspaper, the ““Caledonia Gold Hunter™,
established there in 1888, continued publication, under
an expanded name, for nearly 50 years before its plant
was destroyed by fire.

The Resort Period
Early in the 20th century, Kejimkujik Lake began to take
form as a resort area. In 1908, A.B. Payne described a
canoe and fishing trip through the interior of Nova
Scotia, which had its start at Jacques Landing on the
Mersey River just above its entry to Kejimkujik Lake.
The visitor potential of the area was recorded in 1873 by
James F. More, who described the attractions of the
islands in Kejimkujik Lake —which he called Cegeme-
caga—and the abundance of game fish."” Gradually
lodge and cabin accommodation was erected, boat and
guide services established, and in years following, vaca-
tioners found in the area, a quiet and relaxing holiday.
Ked-ge Lodge, the largest of the tourist developments,
had its start as a rod and gun club. It was established in
1908 on Jim Charles Point by a group of sportsmen from
Annapolis Royal and the eastern United States. Paying
guests were accepted from 1909 on, when the original
central building was built. Ownership of the lodge and
cabins changed hands several times between 1944 and
1964, when the site was expropriated for park purposes.
Other developments on the lake included Merry-
makedgie, a group of buildings built by the Minard
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brothers about 1911. The last owner was Arthur Merry
who gave his name to the cabins. Rogers Cabins, located
at Jacques Landing on the Mersey River, hosted the
annual meeting of the Nova Scotia Guides Association
for many years. Baxter’s Camp on Indian point, a short-
lived development, was operated during the 1920’s and
later disappeared. A number of privately-owned cottages
scattered around the lake also existed for some years
before they also were acquired by the Government of
Nova Scotia during its assembly of the land that forms
the national park.

Park Development

Much thought and effort went into the planning and
development of Kejimkujik National Park. In contrast to
earlier units of the national park system, it contains no
townsites, no overnight accommodation for visitors
except campgrounds, and no retail outlets other than
small concessions for the sale of food and essentials to
campers. Its recreational amenities include no golf
course, tennis courts or other features normally associ-
ated with urban communities. On the other hand, plan-
ning was designed to accentuate opportunities for the
enjoyment of a healthful outdoor vacation. Generally,
development was directed to the provision of buildings
and services that would permit adequate administration
of the park, and the use by visitors of campsites, picnic
areas, beaches, waterways and other features that en-
hanced its image as a **family”’ park.

Field studies undertaken in 1964 by national park
officers led to the preparation of a conceptual or pro-
visional master plan. This was approved, subject to
future revision, in January, 1965. The plan, with later
amendments, provided for the zoning of the park into
areas having four distinctive classes. One class provided
scope for the development of outdoor recreation areas,
another for wilderness recreation. A third class made
provision for natural environment areas, which form a
transition zone between development and wilderness
areas. A fourth or special class of area is intended to
preserve unique ecological features. The development
plan also recognized the need for primary and secondary
access roads, the development of sites for administration
and maintenance buildings, and areas set aside for day
use, picnicking, camping and the enjoyment of other
forms of outdoor recreation. With the aid of professional
planning consultants, details of the development of
selected areas were worked out and a phased program
was adopted.

Legal complications had helped delay the transfer
from Nova Scotia to Canada of a satisfactory title to the
lands that would form the park. In order that essential
development might be undertaken, the Honourable Ar-
thur Laing requested and obtained early in 1965 from
the provincial Minister of Lands and Mines, the Ho-
nourable E.D. Haliburton, consent for park forces to
enter on the land. This permission cleared the way for
the completion of essential surveys for road and site
development, clearing of rights of way and sites for
buildings, and the demolition of existing buildings
surplus to park requirements.

An experienced park superintendent, C.E. Doak, as-
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sumed the administration of the park in April, 1965. He
carried out the duties of administration from the re-
gional national park headquarters at Halifax until July 6,
when he took up permanent residence in the park area.
Meanwhile, a park staff was recruited, and a resident
engineer, an accountant, a park warden and other staff
commenced their duties early in the summer of 1965. A
temporary headquarters was established on the site of
the former Rogers Cabins development at Jacques Land-
ing on the Mersey River. Several of the buildings
formerly used for the accommodation of visitors were
converted for use by park forces as an office, carpenter
shop, store buildings, and other purposes. A work camp
was established by the use of trailers, which provided
kitchen and dining, ablution and guest accommodation.
Complete water and sewage systems were installed to
service the trailers, temporary park headquarters, and
the field office of the Department of Public Works.
Improved office accommodation was provided by the
erection of a pre-fabricated building in February, 1966.
An area for a new headquarters complex about a mile
west of the park entrance on Highway No. 8 had been
selected late 1n 1967. Here, sites for an administration
building and a large parking lot were surveyed. Con-
struction of this building, which incorporates a visitor
information bureau, was commenced in September,
1968. Following installation of essential services it was
completed in the Spring of 1969. In 1968, the develop-
ment of a work and service compound in the vicinity of
the administration building also was undertaken, and by
the end of the year, the access road had been completed
and water, sewer and other services installed. The com-
pound building was completed and occupied in 1969.

Staff’ Accommodation

Following the appointment of a park superintendent and
staff in 1965, several cottages in the former Merry-
makedgie cabin complex on the eastern shore of Kejim-
kujik Lake were utilized as temporary staff quarters. In
the autumn of 1965, a staff trailer area was cleared
adjacent to Highway No. 8 and by March, 1966, all
temporary staff accommodation had been relocated on
this site. In 1967, a decision was reached that park
administrative staff, other than park wardens, would be
located permanently outside the park. Arrangements
were made by the Department of Indian Affairs and
Northern Development for the purchase of 12 lots in the
Municipality of Caledonia from the Nova Scotia Hous-
ing Commission.?® Construction of five houses was
commenced in November, 1967, and the buildings were
completed and occupied in September, 1968. Three
additional staff houses were built in 1969. The departure
from the normal practice of providing accommodation
within a park was made in order that employees and
their families might enjoy the economic, social and
educational advantages of living in an urban commu-
nity. Conversely, dwellings for the park warden staff
were erected in the park near the administrative head-
quarters and the industrial area where warden equip-
ment and vehicles are stored.



Highway Construction
Although tourist accommodation developments and
some privately-owned cottages on Kejimkujik Lake had
been accessible prior to the establishment of the park, the
access roads were relatively primitive and their use was
limited at times by seasonal conditions. During the early
development of the park, these roads, which branched off
from Highway No. 8, were maintained in passable
condition. Location surveys for roads envisioned by
planning proposals had been instituted in October, 1964,
and continued into 1965. By June, 1965, the final
location for the main park highway from a pointjust east
of Maitland Bridge on Highway No. 8 to the outlet of
Grafton Lake had been confirmed. General locations
also had been made for access to Jeremy Bay, Big Dam
Lake, Indian Point and Peskowesk Lakes from a pro-
posed road that on completion would encircle Kejimku-
Jik Lake. Work on the main highway from the park
entrance was started under contract in March, 1966, and
the seven-mile stretch was completed in August, 1967.
Second only in importance to the main highway was
the provision of an access road to Jeremy Bay, where the
first major park campground was to be located. An
important factor was the selection of a site for a bridge
over the Mersey River. The final location was made in
June, 1966, and construction of the bridge and an access
road to Jim Charles Point on Jeremy Bay got under way
in April, 1967. The main road, together with a short
access road to the site of the campground, was completed
in July, 1968. Erection of the Mersey River bridge was
finished in September, when it was opened to traffic.

Campground Development

A small campground had been operated by the owner of
the Merrymakedgie Cabins before the site was acquired
for park purposes. In the course of the park development
program, this area was tidied, a water supply provided
from an existing well, and picnic tables and outdoor fire-
places installed for the accommodation of campers on a
temporary basis. During the summer of 1964, the facili-
ties were utilized by 51 camping parties, and the follow-
ing season, over two hundred campers used the area.

The development of the park’s first major camp-
ground at Jeremy Bay on the northern shore of Kejimku-
]1k Lake was started in 1967. The overall plan called for
its phased development in three separate areas, bearing
the names of Meadow, Slapfoot and Jim Charles. Work
was concentrated on the Slapfoot or central area, and by
the end of the year 88 individual camping sites had been
laid out, access roads completed, and 44 outdoor con-
crete fireplaces built. Two service buildings containing
washroom and sanitary facilities were completed in
1968, and the area opened for public use early in July. A
temporary water service provided in 1968 was replaced
the following year when permanent water and sewer
services were mstalled

Work on Area No. | or the Meadow section also was
commenced in 1967 and continued during the next two
years. Following the erection of service buildings and
installation of water, sewer and electric services in 1969,
154 additional campsites were available to visitors.
Clearing for the third or Jim Charles area was com-

menced late in 1968. Individual campsite development,
service building construction, and installation of services
was carried on throughout 1969, and permitted the
opening of 78 camping sites in August, 1970. Develop-
ment of additional campgrounds planned for sites at Big
Dam Lake and on Indian Point, will be carried on as
funds become available.

Day-use Areas

The master plan for the park also provided for day-use
areas which would facilitate the enjoyment of picnicking,
bathing, boating and other outdoor recreations. The first
day-use area was developed on the eastern shore of
Kejimkujik Lake in the vicinity of the former Merry-
makedgie cabins. In 1965, one of the tourist cabins was
converted to a temporary change-house for bathers.
Later the beach fronting the area was improved by
hauling and depositing loads of sand. Picnic amenities
and sanitary features were provided, and a supply of
drinking water made available by drilling a well.

Development of the area according to plan was com-
menced early in 1968. A contract was awarded for the
construction of a large building designed to contain
change-rooms for bathers and a concession area for the
sale of light refreshments, tobacco and souvenirs. Two
kitchen shelters with stoves, benches and tables were
erected, and adequate parking for motor vehicles was
assured by the clearing and development of four areas.
The change-house building was completed late in June,
and the operation of the canteen as a concession was
commenced in July, 1968. A temporary outdoor amphi-
theatre constructed in the vicinity, permitted an exten-
sion of the park interpretation program.

Sites for less elaborate day-use areas were selected and
partially developed. These are located at Jacques Land-
ing near the site of the former Rogers Cabins, at Mill
Falls, which is accessible by trail from the main park
highway, and on the southern end of Jim Charles Point,
where the beach of the former Ked-ge Lodge was
utilized. The areas at Jacques Landing and Ked-ge Beach
provided opportunities for swimming, boating, bathing
and picnicking. Development of the Mills Falls area has
not been completed.

Boating

Kejimkujik Lake and some of the larger streams which
flow into it, offer fine opportunities for boating and
canoeing. A boat launching ramp was installed at
Jacques Landing for the convenience of boat-owners.
Boats and canoes may be rented from a boat livery
operated there. Although boulder-strewn, Kejimkujik
Lake is quite navigable, and parts of the lake have been
charted and marked for powered boats. Canoeing has
been encouraged by the park administration and shelters
have been erected for canoeists along two of the popular
routes. One of these follows the Little River from Big
Dam Lake to Kejimkujik Lake. The other route starts at
Jacques Landing and passes through Kejimkujik and
George Lakes to the Mersey River.



Forest Protection
A park warden service was inaugurated in June, 1965,
when an experienced warden from Cape Breton
Highlands Park, Freeman Timmons was assigned to
duty. A chief park warden was appointed late in 1965,
and two additional warden positions were created in
September, 1966. A V.H.F. park radio system was
installed at the temporary park headquarters in Febru-
ary, 1966, and relocated following the completion of the
park administration building in 1969. The system af-
fords point to point communication and connection with
park officers operating vehicles. Fire prevention equip-
ment, including portable pumps, hose and a pumper was
acquired in 1966, together with a supply of hand tools.
Improved quarters, including adequate stores facilities,
were made available to the warden service in the new
compound building on its completion. The wardens and
their families were accommodated in a group of four
modern dwellings completed in August, 1970, on a
landscaped site east of the Park Administration building.
Park detection was facilitated when a lookout tower
was erected in 1968 on a hill about a mile west of Minard
Bay on the west shore of Kejimkujik Lake. Access to the
site was provided by clearing a trail in 1967 from a point
on one of the existing logging roads in the southwestern
section of the park. This trail was improved to the status
of a secondary road in 1968.

Interpretation Service
Following the appointment of a park naturalist in
September, 1967, research of the natural and human
history of the park was inaugurated. Early in 1968, slide
lectures and talks were given by the park naturalist to
clubs and organizations in some of the larger communi-
ties near the park. Later, a summer program of con-
ducted walks and evening slide programs was carried on
in the park. The park naturalist also instituted the
development of a park library, a plant collection, a slide
library, and a natural history inventory.

In 1969, a field office and workshop was developed in
a building at Jacques Landing formerly utilized as a
temporary park administration headquarters. This was
augmented by a temporary exhibit centre, located in a
large trailer. The exhibit provides an introduction to
some of the natural features of the park, and visitors have
the opportunity of viewing a nine-minute show of slides
in colour depicting some of more interesting forms of
wild life in the park. The staging of evening programs by
the park naturalist and his staff was assisted by the
completion of a large outdoor amphitheatre at the
Jeremy Bay Campground in 1969. Rear-projection
equipment and a built-in screen were installed on the site
in 1970.

The Fish Hatchery

An interesting feature of the park which pre-dated its
establishment is the fish hatchery operated by the Fish-
eries and Marine Service of Environment Canada. Lo-
cated on Mill Brook, a short stream that connects
Grafton Lake with Kejimkujik Lake, it has been in
operation since 1937. The development functioned as a
seasonal rearing station until 1952, when a hatchery
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building was added, permitting operation the year
around. A water supply is obtained from a pond on Mill
Brook developed by the construction of an earth and log-
crib dam, which permits a flow of 2,500 gallons per
minute. The hatchery operations are now confined to the
production of Atlantic salmon, and are in charge of a
resident superintendent.

Until the production of trout was terminated in 1968,
the hatchery was one of the sources of supply for the
stocking of lakes and streams in the area surrounding
Kejimkujik Lake. The stocking program, utilizing speck-
led and brown trout, has been carried on in the park
since 1964. The hatchery is located at the terminus of the
main park road leading from the park entrance on
Highway No. 8 to Kejimkujik Lake. A parking area
constructed by the park administration at the end of the
road, facilitates inspection by park visitors of a very
interesting operation.

Official Opening

By early summer of 1969, most of the larger projects in
the park development plan had been wholly or partly
completed. The main access road had been built, a major
campground and a day-use area brought into use, and
the administrative staff moved to a large new building.
This progress in the development of the park permitted
its official opening which was held on August 9, 1969.
The Honourable Jean Chretien, Minister of Indian
Affairs and Northern Development, declared the park
open in a flag-raising ceremony staged in front of the
new administrative headquarters. In concluding his
remarks, Mr. Chrétien stressed the value of national
parks to the nation.

“In terms of strengthening the fabric of national
unity, national parks play a great role. Our national
parks are part of the original face of Canada,
inviolable spots which provide sanctuaries for man as
well as nature. But it is man who must extend and
. . . 2
preserve them. This is the task that lies ahead”.

Guests speakers at the opening included the Premier
of Nova Scotia, the Honourable G.I. Smith, and the
Honourable Allan J. MacEachen, Minister of Manpower
and Immigration and member of parliament for Inver-
ness-Richmond.

The Future
From its inception, Kejimkujik National Park attracted
visitors who came to picnic, camp, fish or merely observe
its development. No record of early attendance was
maintained, but weekend use of temporary facilities at
times taxed their capacity. During 1967, it was estimated
that nearly 3,500 bathers alone were accommodated.
Throughout the 1968 season, visitors took full advantage
of day-use areas and campgrounds, and attendance
exceeded 58,000. In 1969, this figure was almost dou-
bled, when 104,000 visitors were recorded, and by 1970,
the total had swelled to 125,000.

Public interest in the park and in the preservation of
its unique natural features was evident during a public
hearing held at Halifax, in April, 1970, to review the



park master development plan. Altogether, 62 briefs Scotia. Nova Scotia Printing Company, Halifax,

were received in advance by the National and Historic 1873.
Sites Branch. They contained numerous recommenda- 18 Ibid. p. 89.
tions dealing not only with proposed developments but 19 Ibid. p.215.

with park policy as well. The briefs also expressed 20 Order in Council P.C. 1967-2033, Oct. 26, 1967.
concern about the necessity of protecting and preserving

the wilderness character of the area. Following a detailed

study of each of the proposals contained in the briefs,

some modifications in the provisional master plan were

made.

A proposal for the development of a boating centre at
Fairy Bay north of the main day-use area was criticized
because the area was considered to be ecologically fragile
and valuable. Work on the proposed centre was sus-
pended and an alternative site is being sought. Similarly,
a decision on the boundaries of proposed zones in the
land classification of the park was postponed pending
thorough ecological study of the park. Another impor-
tant decision resulting from the hearing was the indefi-
nite deferment of the construction of a proposed road
around Kejimkujik Lake. The decision, however, will not
prevent the development of access roads to points north-
west of the lake at which campground and day-use areas
are proposed.

The inclusion in the park of satellite coastal areas has
not yet materialized. Investigations of potential areas by
national park officers, and negotiations carried on with
provincial authorities may help achieve this desirable
objective.
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